Effects of epilepsy on memory - therapeutic implications, biomarkers, and comorbidities

Edited by Yvonne Höller, Rosa Michaelis, Eugen Trinka and Julia Jacobs

Published in Frontiers in Neurology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83250-959-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83250-959-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Effects of epilepsy on memory - therapeutic implications, biomarkers, and comorbidities

Topic editors

Yvonne Höller — University of Akureyri, Iceland Rosa Michaelis — University Hospital Knappschaftskrankenhaus Bochum, Ruhr University Bochum, Germany Eugen Trinka — Paracelsus Medical University, Austria Julia Jacobs — University of Freiburg Medical Center, Germany

Citation

Höller, Y., Michaelis, R., Trinka, E., Jacobs, J., eds. (2023). *Effects of epilepsy on memory - therapeutic implications, biomarkers, and comorbidities*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83250-959-3

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Effects of epilepsy on memory—Therapeutic implications, biomarkers, and comorbidities Yvonne Höller. Rosa Michaelis, Eugen Trinka and Julia Jacobs
- 07 Working Memory and Language Contribution to Verbal Learning and Memory in Drug-Resistant Unilateral Focal Temporal Lobe Epilepsy Monica Bolocan, Claudia I. Jacob and Eugen Avram
- 19 Are High Frequency Oscillations in Scalp EEG Related to Age? Philipp Franz Windhager, Adrian V. Marcu, Eugen Trinka, Arne Bathke and Yvonne Höller
- 32 Remote Memory in Epilepsy: Assessment, Impairment, and Implications Regarding Hippocampal Function Sanya Rastogi, Kimford J. Meador, William B. Barr, Orrin Devinsky and Beth A. Leeman-Markowski
- 40 Mechanisms for Cognitive Impairment in Epilepsy: Moving Beyond Seizures

Mohamed R. Khalife, Rod C. Scott and Amanda E. Hernan

62 Emotional Word Processing in Patients With Juvenile Myoclonic Epilepsy

> Lucas Johannes Rainer, Martin Kronbichler, Giorgi Kuchukhidze, Eugen Trinka, Patrick Benjamin Langthaler, Lisa Kronbichler, Sarah Said-Yuerekli, Margarita Kirschner, Georg Zimmermann, Julia Höfler, Elisabeth Schmid and Mario Braun

77 Mesial-Temporal Epileptic Ripples Correlate With Verbal Memory Impairment

Jonas Christian Bruder, Kathrin Wagner, Daniel Lachner-Piza, Kerstin Alexandra Klotz, Andreas Schulze-Bonhage and Julia Jacobs

- 92 Verbal Learning and Longitudinal Hippocampal Network Connectivity in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy Surgery Jacint Sala-Padro, Ariadna Gifreu-Fraixino, Júlia Miró, Antoni Rodriguez-Fornells, Immaculada Rico, Gerard Plans, Mila Santurino, Mercè Falip and Estela Càmara
- 104 Effects of long-term supplementation of probiotics on cognitive function and emotion in temporal lobe epilepsy Xue Wang, Rui Ma, Xinyi Liu and Yongbo Zhang
- 113 Discrepancy between subjective and objective memory change after epilepsy surgery: Relation with seizure outcome and depressive symptoms Florian Johannes Mücke, Marc Petrus Hendriks, Christian Günther Bien and Philip Grewe

- 124 The correlation of temporal changes of neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio with seizure severity and the following seizure tendency in patients with epilepsy Hanli Li, Yujing Yang, Mingwei Hu, Xiaoyan Cao, Chuhan Ding, Qibing Sun, Ran Li, Ruonan Liu, Xihai Xu and Yu Wang
- 134 Relationship between brain activity, cognitive function, and sleep spiking activation in new-onset self-limited epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes

Yanzhang Li, Yihan Li, Jintao Sun, Kai Niu, Pengfei Wang, Yue Xu, Yingfan Wang, Qiqi Chen, Ke Zhang and Xiaoshan Wang

146 The effect of interictal epileptic discharges and following spindles on motor sequence learning in epilepsy patients Toshiki Okadome, Takahiro Yamaguchi, Takahiko Mukaino, Ayumi Sakata, Katsuya Ogata, Hiroshi Shigeto, Noriko Isobe and Taira Uehara

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Yvonne Höller Ø yvonne@unak.is

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 09 January 2023 ACCEPTED 30 January 2023 PUBLISHED 09 February 2023

CITATION

Höller Y, Michaelis R, Trinka E and Jacobs J (2023) Editorial: Effects of epilepsy on memory—Therapeutic implications, biomarkers, and comorbidities. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1140941. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1140941

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Höller, Michaelis, Trinka and Jacobs. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Effects of epilepsy on memory—Therapeutic implications, biomarkers, and comorbidities

Yvonne Höller^{1*}, Rosa Michaelis², Eugen Trinka^{3,4} and Julia Jacobs⁵

¹Faculty of Psychology, University of Akureyri, Akureyri, Iceland, ²Department of Neurology, University Hospital Knappschaftskrankenhaus Bochum, Ruhr University Bochum, Bochum, Germany, ³Department of Neurology, Christian Doppler University Hospital, Centre for Cognitive Neurosciences, EpiCARE, Paracelsus Medical University Salzburg, Salzburg, Austria, ⁴Neuroscience Institute, Christian Doppler University Hospital, Centre for Cognitive Neurosciences, Salzburg, Austria, ⁵Alberta Children's Hospital, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

KEYWORDS

epilepsy, memory, temporal lobe epilepsy, verbal memory, working memory, high frequency oscillations

Editorial on the Research Topic

Effects of epilepsy on memory—Therapeutic implications, biomarkers, and comorbidities

Epilepsies are well known to affect memory functions (1, 2), depending on multiple factors, such as type and frequency of seizures (3), the site of the epileptic lesion, the spread of epileptic activity over functional brain regions (4), and possibly processes of inflammation (Li H. et al.).

The best investigated memory disturbance in epilepsy is the common complaint about verbal memory problems among patients with temporal lobe epilepsy [TLE; (5)], especially regarding remote memory and its relation to hippocampal dysfunction (Rastogi et al.). Although reports on memory deficits in epilepsy are numerous, the relationship between memory subdomains and the mediating factors for the negative impact of epilepsy on memory is not clear, yet. For instance, it is less well-known that this deficit is not limited to the semantic domain of memory but interacts with working memory. In this Research Topic, Bolocan et al. demonstrated that patients with drug resistant TLE show impaired working memory, and this deficit contributes to learning deficits and verbal memory problems. Furthermore, the interaction between the number of antiepileptic drugs and the performance in verbal learning and story learning is moderated by working memory (Bolocan et al.).

Disturbance of acquiring verbal memory contents in TLE is also a potential consequence of treating TLE patients *via* surgical resection of the seizure generating tissue. Sala-Padro et al. could demonstrate that there might be additional means to predict the extent of memory decline after surgery. The authors focused on pre-operative resting-state connectivity in functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) in relation to verbal learning decline after anterior temporal lobe resection. They found in both, the pathological and non-pathological anterior connectivity pattern a difference between patients who would experience learning decline and those who remained unaffected. These findings suggest

using pre-operative connectivity patterns as a predictive biomarker for surgical effects on verbal memory in TLE. Indeed, networklevel approaches become more and more popular in epilepsy research. It was suggested that also cognitive impairment in epilepsy should be tackled beyond seizures, i.e., from a systemlevel perspective based on network analysis (Khalife et al.). One additional aspect has to be kept in mind when a patient complains about memory deficits after surgical intervention. In addition to objective factors that determine performance, the patient's subjective perception of memory functioning can differ from objective measures, which is an effect that interacts with depressive symptoms and quality of life (Mücke et al.). In general, depressive mood, and its bi-directional relationship with epilepsies (6), hampers cognitive functions and especially memory-depression screenings are of utmost importance in the neuropsychological assessment of patients with epilepsy.

Beyond TLE, also other forms of epilepsy such as juvenile myoclonic epilepsy (JME) show decreased verbal intelligence, verbal fluency and reading speed (Rainer et al.). These deficits, even when tested with emotional words, are however very subtle and might not be evident in assessments of brain activity (Rainer et al.), emphasizing the need for accurate neuropsychological assessment.

Furthermore, epilepsy-related sleep disturbances were shown to negatively affect memory (7), for example in children suffering from benign epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes a higher percentage of spike and slow wave duration during non-REM sleep is related to impaired cognitive functions and abnormal deactivation in the medial frontal cortex and the posterior cingulate cortex (Li Y. et al.). High frequency oscillations (HFOs, 80-500 Hz) represent another important biomarker that is related to memory consolidation during sleep, but in patients with epilepsy they appear to be rather related to pathology and can be linked to areas with poor memory function (Bruder et al.). In general, age should be taken into account when assessing HFOs as they might interact with aging and aging-associated pathology (Windhager et al.). This is a topic that needs to be investigated better in the future, especially regarding the increased vulnerability of patients with Alzheimer's disease to experiencing seizures (Windhager et al.). A third biomarker of sleep-related abnormalities in epilepsy that was investigated in this Research Topic are interictal epileptiform discharges (IED) that are coupled with sleep spindles. Okadome et al. found that these IED-coupled spindles correlated with lower

References

1. Elger C, Helmstaedter C, Kurthen M. Chronic epilepsy and cognition. Lancet Neurol. (2004) 3:663–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00906-8

2. Witt JA, Helmstaedter C. Cognition in epilepsy: current clinical issues of interest. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2017) 30:174–9. doi: 10.1097/WCO.000000000000430

3. Dodrill C. Neuropsychological effects of seizures. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2004) 5:21-4. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2003.11.004

4. Höller Y, Trinka E. Is there a relation between EEG-slow waves and memory dysfunction in epilepsy? A critical appraisal. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:341. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00341

5. Jokeit H, Luerding R, Ebner A. Cognitive impairment in temporal-lobe epilepsy. Lancet. (2000) 355:1018–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)74765-6 sleep-dependent consolidation of procedural memory, as assessed in a fingertapping task.

It is well known that medication affects cognitive function and especially memory in patients with epilepsy (8, 9). Medication can have a positive effect not only on seizures but also on psychiatric symptoms and on cognition, but effects on memory have yet to be shown for innovative treatments such as probiotics (Wang et al.).

This Research Topic contributed to an increased awareness for memory deficits in epilepsies and that the assessment of epilepsy effects on memory and cognition shall not be limited to the verbal domain. It highlighted electrophysiological biomarkers in a classical sense (e.g., spikes) as well as modern network approaches. We know today that epilepsies can affect various memory subdomains, such as verbal memory, remote memory, working memory, procedural memory, but also emotional responses that are linked to memory subdomains. Therapeutic implications of medication and surgical interventions should be investigated in future research in order to provide a better understanding for the origin and nature of memory problems in the individual patient.

Author contributions

YH drafted the editorial and was commented upon and approved by the co-editors/co-authors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

 Kanner AM. Mood disorder and epilepsy: a neurobiologic perspective of their relationship. *Dialog Clin Neurosci.* (2008) 10:39– 45. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2008.10.1/amkanner

7. Clemens Z, Clemens B, Janszky J, Szücs A, Rásonyi G, Halász P. Memory consolidation during sleep in epilepsy patients. *Epilepsia.* (2003) 44:72. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2003.t01-1-.x

8. Jokeit H, Kramer G, Ebner A. Do antiepileptic drugs accelerate forgetting? *Epilepsy Behav.* (2005) 6:430–2. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2004.12.012

9. Hermann B, Meador K, Gaillard W, Cramer J. Cognition across the lifespan: antiepileptic drugs, epilepsy, or both? *Epilepsy Behav.* (2010) 17:1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2009.10.019





Working Memory and Language Contribution to Verbal Learning and Memory in Drug-Resistant Unilateral Focal Temporal Lobe Epilepsy

Monica Bolocan*, Claudia I. lacob and Eugen Avram

Laboratory of Health Psychology and Clinical Neuropsychology, Department of Applied Psychology and Psychotherapy, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yvonne Höller, University of Akureyri, Iceland

Reviewed by:

Frank Van Schalkwijk, University of Tübingen, Germany Patricia Rzezak, University of São Paulo, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Monica Bolocan monica.bolocan2013@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 20 September 2021 Accepted: 09 November 2021 Published: 08 December 2021

Citation:

Bolocan M, Iacob CI and Avram E (2021) Working Memory and Language Contribution to Verbal Learning and Memory in Drug-Resistant Unilateral Focal Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. Front. Neurol. 12:780086. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.780086 We aimed to investigate the working memory (WM) and language separate contributions to verbal learning and memory in patients with unilateral drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy (drTLE); additionally, we explored the mediating role of WM on the relationship between the number of antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) and short-term verbal memory. We retrospectively enrolled 70 patients with left (LTLE; n = 44) and right (RTLE; n = 26) drTLE. About 40 similar (age and education) healthy controls were used to determine impairments of groups at WM, language (naming and verbal fluency), and verbal learning and memory (five trials list-learning, story memory -- immediate recall). To disentangle the effect of learning from the short-term memory, we separately analyzed performances at the first trial, last trial, and delayed-recall list-learning measures, in addition to the total learning capacity (the sum of the five trials). Correlation and regression analyses were used to assess the contribution of potential predictors while controlling for main clinical and demographic variables, and ascertain the mediating role of WM. All patients were impaired at WM and story memory, whereas only LTLE showed language and verbal learning deficits. In RTLE, language was the unique predictor for the most verbal learning performances, whereas WM predicted the results at story memory. In LTLE, WM was the sole predictor for short-term verbal learning (list-learning capacity; trial 1) and mediated the interaction between AED number and the performance at these measures, whereas language predicted the delayed-recall. Finally, WM confounded the performance at shortterm memory in both groups, although at different measures. WM is impaired in drTLE and contributes to verbal memory and learning deficits in addition to language, mediating the relationship between AED number and short-term verbal memory in LTLE. Clinicians should consider this overlap when interpreting poor performance at verbal learning and memory in drTLE.

Keywords: drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy, working memory, verbal memory and learning, language, picture naming

INTRODUCTION

Patients with temporal lobe epilepsy show heterogeneous cognitive phenotypes, including various deficits not only in verbal memory and language (1, 2) but also in working memory (WM) (3). WM, a dedicated system for short-term active manipulation of the information, serves as a foundation for various cognitive processes, including verbal learning, language comprehension, and production (4, 5).

Although WM and the short-term verbal memory span concepts significantly overlap (6), they represent distinct entities (7), functionally correlated within a multi-store memory model (8). Short-term memory span refers to the retention of a limited number of data (in the verbal domain, roughly the George Miller's "magical" number 7 ± 2 items) for a relatively short time (usually up to 30 s) (9). Instead, WM involves an active organization and manipulation of the stored information and relates to executive functioning (4).

Findings regarding the WM impairment in drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy (drTLE) are discrepant (10-13), most probably due to the different complexity of the tasks used to measure WM. The WM capacity is commonly measured with complex supra-span tasks involving both storage and processing components (14), and it highly depends on the item semantic grouping and complexity (15). Thus, verbal memory tests used in the drTLE assessment, like list-learning and story-learning (16), are differently influenced by WM, having different demands on the semantic processing (17). Although the verbal memory and WM were found to have a high degree of overlap for both tasks (18), other findings suggest that an executive dysfunction impacts the list-learning task performance more than the story memory task (19). In particular, the unrelated list-learning task puts a heavy accent on the rote learning and is considered to be critically dependent on WM (20).

At the same time, language is a powerful predictor for verbal learning and memory (21, 22) and interferes with the verbal memory performance in languagedominant drTLE (23, 24). Therefore, language abilities must be considered when interpreting the verbal memory performance (17, 25), particularly in patients with word-finding difficulties (26).

The poor cognitive outcome is generally associated with an early onset and a long duration of the disease, and with poor seizure control (27, 28). In particular, seizure-related variables, like age at onset, disease duration, and seizure frequency, seem to be more critical than sociodemographic variables, like age and intelligence quotient (IQ), when interpreting results of neuropsychological tests (29). Nevertheless, polypharmacy induces attentional or arousal deficits (30), affecting executive functioning and broader neuropsychological functions (31-33), contributing to cumulating deficits in learning and memory. Executive function and memory showed higher negative correlations with the number of AEDs than with the defined daily dose; therefore, the AED number is a sensitive measure for side effects (34). Executive functions are particularly sensitive to drug load, whereas learning and memory are less vulnerable (35, 36); therefore, the relationship between polytherapy and verbal memory is most likely mediated by executive functions, including the WM capacity (33).

This study aims to understand the unique contributions of the verbal/auditory WM and language in various stages of the verbal learning and memory (i.e., short-term, delayed) of patients with left (LTLE) or right (RTLE) foci, beyond the influence of the primary demographic and disease characteristics. Additionally, we explored the mediating effect of WM on the relationship between the AED number and the short-term verbal memory. We expect the performance at the last list-learning trial and delayed-recall measures to be predicted mainly by language. An opposite pattern of predictors (WM as the main predictor) is expected for the first list-learning trial and story memory (immediate recall), both measures of the short-term verbal memory. We emphasize the importance of the integrated interpretation of the neuropsychological tests used in the presurgical assessment of patients with drTLE to unravel the reasons behind the poor verbal memory performance of a patient, thus improving the postoperative cognitive decline prediction and informing the rehabilitation programs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

We retrospectively enrolled 70 consecutive patients with unilateral drTLE, further divided according to the seizure-onset lateralization into LTLE (n = 44) and RTLE (n = 26). Patients (right-handed adults, 55.71% male, age: M = 31.77, SD = 9.65years; age at seizure onset: M = 20.66, SD = 11.69 years; disease duration: M = 10.80, SD = 9.43 years; IQ > 80) were candidates for epilepsy surgery and have been referred between 2019 and 2021 for neuropsychological evaluation by the epileptologists from the Epilepsy Monitoring Unit of the University Emergency Hospital Bucharest. The medical records of patients concluded the diagnosis of unilateral focal drTLE based on the following factors: case history, seizure semiology, interictal and/or ictal video-EEG, and brain imaging (1.5- or 3-T MRI, interictal [18F] fluorodeoxyglucose-PET). Exclusion criteria: moderate or severe mood disorder (e.g., anxiety, depression, and stress); bilateral TLE features; incomplete data. About 40 healthy righthanded individuals (50% female; age: M = 33.90, SD = 9.98) were recruited from the broader community to provide an age and education equivalent control sample to the patient sample. Exclusion criteria for the controls comprised any history of neurologic disease or major psychiatric illness, current psychoactive medication, and IQ < 80. Controls signed a consent form detailing the study procedure under the guidelines from the local ethical committee.

The sociodemographic, clinical, and neuropsychological characteristics of participants are summarized in **Table 1**. There are no significant differences between groups in sex, $\chi^2(2) = 0.88$, p = 0.645, $\phi = 0.09$, age at assessment, $\chi^2(2) = 3.09$, p = 0.213, $\phi = 0.21$, education years, $\chi^2(2) = 1.63$, p = 0.443, $\phi = 0.12$, and IQ level, $\chi^2(2) = 1.13$, p = 0.568, $\phi = 0.10$.

Patient groups show similar disease characteristics for epilepsy duration, U = 572, z = 0.00, p = 1.000, frequency of seizures

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic, clinical,	and neuropsychological characteristics
of participants.	

	LTLE n = 44	RTLE <i>n</i> = 26	Controls $n = 40$	<i>p</i> -value
Age				
y, mean \pm SD	33.02 ± 9.92	29.65 ± 8.96	33.90 ± 9.98	0.209*
(range)	(18–57)	(18–49)	(18–56)	
Gender				
F, n, %	18 (41)	13 (50)	20 (50)	0.645*
Education				
y, mean \pm SD	13.80 ± 2.29	13.65 ± 2.23	14.20 ± 2.28	0.546*
(range)	(11–19)	(11–18)	(11–19)	
IQ				
Inferior (80–89), n, %	10 (23)	7 (27)	10 (25)	0.568*
Average (90–110), n,	21 (48)	15 (58)	19 (48)	
%				
Superior (> 110), <i>n</i> , %	13 (30)	4 (15)	11 (28)	
Age at seizure onset			-	
y, mean \pm SD	21.89 ± 11.39	17.35 ± 11.45		0.069*
(range)	(1–53)	(1-44)		
Duration of epilepsy			-	
y, mean \pm SD	10.75 ± 8.70	11.54 ± 10.67		1.000*
(range)	(1–39)	(2-46)		
Seizure frequency /			-	
year				
mean \pm SD	44.27 ± 99.29	133.73 ± 319.37		0.286*
(range)	(1–600)	(2–1500)		
HFC			-	
n, %	2 (5)	4 (15)		0.118*
History of TBI				
n, %	5 (11)	4 (15)	-	0.718*
History of FBTCS				
n, (%)	17 (39)	15 (58)	-	0.122*
No of AED				0.005*
mean \pm SD	1.98 ± 0.73	2.54 ± 0.81	-	
(range)	(1–3)	(1-4)		
List-learning capacity				
mean \pm SD	48.84 ± 8.96	50.62 ± 9.20	54.95 ± 5.86	0.001*
SEM	1.35	1.80	0.93	
List-learning trial 1				
mean \pm SD	6.20 ± 1.75	6.62 ± 1.47	7.35 ± 1.03	0.004*
SEM	0.26	0.29	0.16	
List-learning trial 5				
mean \pm SD	11.52 ± 2.44	12.42 ± 1.79	13.45 ± 0.93	< 0.001
SEM	0.37	0.35	0.15	
List-learning				
delayed-recall				
mean \pm SD	9.20 ± 3.02	10.38 ± 3.03	11.88 ± 1.49	< 0.001
SEM	0.45	0.60	0.15	
Story memory				
mean \pm SD	9.95 ± 4.05	11.31 ± 4.63	14.88 ± 2.74	< 0.001
SEM	0.61	0.91	0.43	
WM				
mean \pm SD	9.48 ± 3.50	8.87 ± 3.46	12.07 ± 3.08	< 0.001
SEM	0.53	0.68	0.49	
Picture naming				

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

	LTLE n = 44	RTLE n = 26	Controls n = 40	<i>p</i> -value
mean \pm SD	28.91 ± 2.02	29.96 ± 1.46	30.57 ± 0.64	<0.001*
SEM	0.30	0.29	0.10	
Semantic fluency				
$\text{mean} \pm \text{SD}$	19.43 ± 4.94	20.81 ± 5.80	23.52 ± 3.69	0.001**
SEM	0.74	1.14	0.58	
Phonological fluency				
$\text{mean} \pm \text{SD}$	16.05 ± 4.00	16.27 ± 4.57	17.80 ± 3.46	0.106**
SEM	0.60	0.90	0.55	

IQ, intelligence quotient; LTLE, left drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy; RTLE, right drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy; HC, healthy controls; HFC, history of febrile convulsions; TBI, traumatic brain injury; FBTCS, focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures; AED, antiepileptic drugs; *nonparametric tests (Chi-square test, Kruskal–Wallis test, or Mann–Whitney U-test); **ANOVA with post-hoc Bonferroni corrections, alpha value of 0.05.

per year, U = 484.5, z = -1.07, p = 0.286, history of febrile convulsions, $\chi^2(1) = 2.45$, p = 0.118, $\phi = 0.19$, history of secondary generalized seizures, $\chi^2(1) = 2.39$, p = 0.122, $\phi = 0.18$, history of encephalopathy, $\chi^2(1) = 0.24$, p = 0.627, $\phi = 0.06$, and age at onset, U = 721.5, z = -1.82, p = 0.069, except higher number of AED in RTLE, U = 357.5, z = -2.78, p = 0.005.

Measures

Verbal memory refers to storing verbally presented information, and tasks include learning word lists (i.e., list-learning) and short stories. The information can be recalled immediately after stimuli presentation or, usually, after 30 min (i.e., delayed recall) (37). Verbal memory was assessed with two tasks: five-trial unrelated list-learning and story memory (immediate recall). The unrelated list-learning test used in our study is an unpublished Romanian adaptation from Ray Auditory Verbal Learning test (38). The subject hears a list of 15 concrete, semantically unrelated words five times and, after each repetition, the subject is asked to immediately recall as many words as possible within 1 min, and freely recall the list after 30 min delay since the last repetition. To disentangle the effect of the short-term memory from learning, we analyzed the performance of patients in three stages of the list-learning test: trial 1-a measure of short-term verbal memory span; trial 5-a measure of learning ability; and delayedrecall, a measure of the retrieval capacity (39), and for the total number of correctly recalled items over the fifth trials (maximum 75), an indicator of the overall verbal learning capacity. The story memory test was an item of the Romanian Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)--2 Expanded Version (40), where subjects must immediately repeat as accurately as possible a short story that is read to them (one trial). The number of correctly rendered keywords (maximum 25) is considered a measure of short-term semantic memory.

For the assessment of verbal/auditory WM, we selected an adapted version (41) of the Letter-Number Sequencing (LNS), a subtest of the fourth edition of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (42). Subjects listen to an auditory presentation of several series of mixed letters and numbers, increasing in length, and

then reorder the numbers in ascending order and letters in alphabetical order, in increasing difficulty. LNS is a reliable complex span measure for WM used in both clinical and research settings (14, 43, 44).

Naming (or confrontation naming) is defined as the ability to label visually presented stimuli; the picture naming task requires the retrieval of the phonological and semantic information from the memory system (45). Naming abilities were assessed with the Neuropsychological Assessment Battery (NAB) Naming Test (46). The participants need to name the objects in a series of 31 colored pictures.

Verbal fluency is a cognitive function that facilitates information retrieval from memory, measured by asking subjects to retrieve specific information from a specific category or starting with a specific letter, usually within the 1-min time limit (47). Verbal fluency (phonemic and semantic) was assessed by asking participants to say as many words as possible within 1 min, starting with the letter "c," respectively from the "animals" category. The letter "c" was chosen based on the analysis of the frequency of words in the Romanian dictionary as proven to reflect a high-frequency category of words.

Intelligence quotient was assessed with the RAVEN Progressive Matrices Standard test (48), a reliable measure of fluid intelligence. Raw scores were categorized as inferior (corresponding to an IQ range between 80 and 89), average (IQ range between 90 and 110), and superior (IQ > 110). The mood was assessed with Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale (49), the 21 self-report items version, with the following cutoff scores: 13 for depression, 9 for anxiety, and 17 for stress.

Data Analysis

Demographic characteristics were assessed using one-way univariate ANOVA with the groups (LTLE, RTLE, and controls) as between-subject factors. Patient groups were compared with *t*-tests or Mann–Whitney *U*-test on continuous clinical variables and chi-square on categorical variables.

We computed analyses in three steps. In the first step, we compared participant groups using ANOVA with *posthoc* comparisons (Bonferroni corrections), based on an alpha of 0.05, supplemented with the Kruskal–Wallis test. The Spearman correlation analysis (alpha value 0.05) was used to explore associations between each criterion variables (verbal memory measures) and predictor variables (sociodemographic and disease characteristics: WM and language), and between predictor variables in each patient group. Kendall or point biserial correlation analyses were conducted between scale and ordinal, and between scale and categorical variables.

In the second step, hierarchical linear regressions were conducted in each patient group, with the verbal memory and learning variables as the dependent variable. The stepwise method was used, and standardized beta (β) values were reported. The hierarchical regression analysis results consist of model comparisons and a model interpretation based on an alpha of 0.05. Each step in the hierarchical regression was compared to the previous step using *F*-tests. The coefficients of the model in the final step were interpreted. For step 1, the relevant sociodemographic and disease characteristics were entered as predictor variables into the null model. Only sociodemographic and disease characteristics variables showing significant correlations with study variable (r > 0.30, p < 0.05) were first introduced in the regression models. Furthermore, depending on the specific research question for each criterion variable, either WM or language variables were separately added into the model in step 2 and step 3, respectively. At each step, variance inflation factors (VIFs) were calculated to detect the presence of multicollinearity between predictors. Then, variables generating the highest VIF values were subsequently excluded until all VIF values were <2. The following set of sociodemographic and disease-characteristic variables emerged as the most robust predictors in patient groups: education (years), age (at assessment), age at onset, epilepsy duration, frequency of seizures per year, and number of AEDs. However, age at onset was eliminated from almost all regression models as generating very high multicollinearity (VIF > 10). Where only one significant predictor was identified, linear regression was performed.

A Baron and Kenny mediation analysis (50) was conducted in each patient group to assess if WM mediates the relationship between the number of AED and short-term verbal memory measures: list-learning trial 1, learning capacity, and story memory. To determine whether a mediating relationship was supported by the data, three regressions were conducted. For mediation to be supported, four items must be met: (1) the independent variable (AED number) must be related the dependent variable (short-term verbal memory measure), (2) the independent variable (AED number) must be related to the mediator variable (WM), (3) the mediator must be related to the dependent variable but in the presence of the independent variable, and (4) the independent variable should no longer be a significant predictor of the dependent variable in the presence of the mediator variable (41). Only mediations supported by the data were further described in the results section.

Based on findings from the previous two steps, in the third step, ANCOVA was used to compare again the performance of groups at verbal memory while controlling for the relevant predictors.

Effect sizes were reported based on Cohen's standards (51), where coefficients between 0.10 and 0.29 represent a small effect size, coefficients between 0.30 and 0.49 represent a moderate effect size, and coefficients above 0.50 indicate a large effect size. There were no missing data. Correlation and regression analyses were performed with Intellectus StatisticsTM (52). All other analyses were performed with SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 23.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) (53). *Post-hoc* effect size and achieved power for regression analyses were computed using G*Power 3.1.9.7 tool (54).

RESULTS

Verbal Learning and Memory Performance in Patient Groups

Except for phonemic fluency, F(2, 107) = 2.297, p = 0.106, $\eta p^2 = 0.04$, participant groups performance analysis (**Table 1**) revealed significant differences between groups at all neuropsychological

Working Memory in drTLE

tests: list-learning capacity, $\chi^2(2) = 13.73$, p = 0.001; list-learning trial 1, $\chi^2(2) = 11.02$, p = 0.004; list-learning trial 5, $\chi^2(2)$ = 14.94, p < 0.001; list-learning delayed-recall, $\chi^2(2) = 19.03$, p < 0.001; story memory, $\chi^2(2) = 28.34$, p < 0.001; picture naming, $\chi^2(2) = 23.64$, p < 0.001; semantic fluency, F(2, 107)= 7.90, p < 0.001, $\eta p^2 = 0.13$; and WM, $\chi^2(2) = 19.12$, p <0.001. Pairwise post-hoc comparisons revealed that, compared to controls, both patient groups had impaired WM (LTLE: p =0.002; RTLE: p < 0.001), but only the LTLE group was impaired at verbal memory and language measures: learning capacity (p =0.001), trial 1 (p = 0.003), trial 5 (p < 0.001), delayed-recall (p < 0.001) 0.001), story memory (p < 0.001), picture naming (p < 0.001), and semantic fluency (p < 0.001), whereas the RTLE group showed only a story memory impairment (p = 0.002). Compared to the RTLE group, LTLE showed a lower performance only at picture naming test (p = 0.017).

Correlations Between Study Variables

Detailed correlations analysis results are included in Supplementary Material 1 for all participant groups, including 95% CI. In LTLE, WM showed a strong correlation with listlearning trial 1 ($r_s = 0.53$, p = 0.002), and moderate correlations with list-learning capacity ($r_s = 0.46$, p < 0.001) and trial 5 $(r_s = 0.39, p = 0.009)$. Language variables showed moderate correlations with all verbal memory measures (r_s between 0.31 and 0.39, p < 0.05). In RTLE, WM showed a strong correlation only with story memory ($r_s = 0.66, p < 0.001$), whereas language (mainly picture naming) showed moderate and strong correlations with all verbal memory measures (r_s) between 0.39 and 0.51, p < 0.05). We found no correlation between WM and language measures in either patient groups. Potential predictors showed no correlation with demographic and disease-characteristics in either patient groups, except a strong correlation between verbal fluency measures and education years in the RTLE group (rs between 0.54 and 0.56, p < 0.01), and a moderate correlation between WM and AED number in the LTLE group ($r_s = -0.37$, p = 0.014). The AED number showed moderate correlations with all verbal learning and memory measures only in the LTLE group (r_s between -0.33 and -0.41, p < 0.05). IQ level (three levels: inferior, average, and superior) showed small-to-moderate correlations with the list-learning measures not only in LTLE (r_k between 0.33 and 0.45, p < 0.05) but also having a strong correlation with education years ($r_k = 0.64$, p < 0.001). Education had moderate correlations with list-learning capacity and trial 5 only in LTLE, and with story memory in RTLE, whereas age moderately correlated with list-learning delayed-recall in both groups, and with list-learning capacity in LTLE (rs between 0.34 and 0.48, p < 0.05). We found no significant correlations between sex, history of traumatic brain injury (TBI) or focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures (FBTCS), and verbal memory variables in any patient group, except a moderate correlation between history of febrile convulsion (HFC) and list-learning capacity, trial 1 and delayed-recall in LTLE (r_{pb} between 0.31 and 0.41, p < 0.05).

In healthy control group, both WM and language showed moderate and strong correlations with verbal memory variables (r_s between 0.32 and 0.80, p < 0.001). In addition, WM had

strong correlations with all language measures ($r_{\rm s}$ between 0.61 and 0.67, p < 0.001). Education had strong positive correlations with all verbal memory measures ($r_{\rm s}$ between 0.68 and 0.79, p < 0.001), whereas age showed moderate correlations only with list-learning measures ($r_{\rm s}$ between 0.31 and 0.49, p < 0.05). The IQ level strongly correlated with all verbal memory measures ($r_{\rm k}$ between 0.61 and 0.72, p < 0.001), and with education ($r_{\rm k} = 0.77$, p < 0.001).

Predictors of the Verbal Learning and Memory in Participant Groups

The results of regression analyses for variables predicting verbal learning and memory in each participant group are described in Supplementary Material 2. Tables 2-4 summarize the model comparisons for variables predicting verbal learning and memory in each participant groups. Each step was compared to the previous model in the hierarchical regression analysis. After controlling for relevant demographic and disease-characteristic variables, we found an opposite pattern of predictors in patient groups. In LTLE, we found WM as the sole predictor for learning capacity, explaining an additional 10% of the variation $(f^2 = 1.23, \text{ achieved power 0.99}), \text{ and for trial 1 performance}$ (additional 17%; $f^2 = 0.51$, achieved power 0.98). Semantic fluency was the unique predictor for delayed-recall, explaining an additional 9% of the variation ($f^2 = 0.24$, achieved power 0.80). No significant predictors were identified for trial 5 and story memory. In contrast, in RTLE, we found picture naming as the unique predictor for all list-learning measures (except for trial 1), explaining an additional 40% of the learning capacity variation ($f^2 = 0.33$, achieved power 0.81), an additional 25% of the list-learning trial 5 variation ($f^2 = 0.35$, achieved power 0.83), and an additional 23% of delayed-recall variation ($f^2 = 0.60$, achieved power 0.92). WM was the unique predictor for story memory, explaining an additional 38% of the variation ($f^2 = 1.33$, achieved power 0.99). No significant predictor was identified for list-learning trial 1.

We additionally explored the relationships between WM, language, and verbal memory in the healthy control group. Education and age were introduced in the regression analyses in the first step. However, education was removed from all regression models as generating very high multicollinearity (VIF > 10). WM brought significant additional variation in all verbal memory measures: learning capacity (23%), trial 1 (24%), trial 5 (7%), delayed-recall (8%), and story memory (42%). From language measures, phonemic fluency added a significant amount of variation for all verbal memory measures except for trial 1: list-learning capacity (additional 10%), trial 5 (additional 23%), delayed-recall (additional 27%), and story memory (additional 7%). The regression model for list-learning trial 1 indicates that language did not account for a significant amount of additional variation (p = 0.066).

Table 5 summarizes the contribution of predictor variables to the verbal learning and memory performance (final model interpretation) in each of the participant groups (patients and healthy controls) after controlling for relevant disease characteristics and/or sociodemographic variables.

TABLE 2 | Model comparisons for variables predicting verbal learning and memory in LTLE.

Predictors	R ²	df _{mod}	df _{res}	F	p	ΔR^2
education, age, epilepsy duration, frequency of seizures, AED number	0.42	4	39	6.96	< 0.001	0.42
WM added	0.52	1	38	8.13	0.007	0.10
picture naming added	0.56	1	37	3.81	0.058	0.04
epilepsy duration, AED number	0.22	2	41	5.69	0.007	0.22
WM added	0.38	1	40	10.87	0.002	0.17
education, AED number	0.29	2	41	8.19	0.001	0.29
picture naming added	0.34	1	40	3.47	0.070	0.06
WM added	0.36	1	39	0.97	0.330	0.02
all						
age, AED number;	0.25	2	41	6.86	0.003	0.25
semantic fluency added	0.34	1	40	5.45	0.025	0.09
AED number	0.11	1	42	5.43	0.025	0.11
semantic fluency added	0.19	1	41	3.74	0.060	0.07
	education, age, epilepsy duration, frequency of seizures, AED number WM added picture naming added epilepsy duration, AED number WM added education, AED number picture naming added WM added all age, AED number; semantic fluency added AED number	education, age, epilepsy duration, frequency of seizures, AED number 0.42 WM added 0.52 picture naming added 0.56 epilepsy duration, AED number 0.22 WM added 0.38 education, AED number 0.29 picture naming added 0.34 WM added 0.36 all age, AED number; 0.25 semantic fluency added 0.34 AED number 0.11	education, age, epilepsy duration, frequency of seizures, AED number0.424WM added0.521picture naming added0.561epilepsy duration, AED number0.222WM added0.381education, AED number0.292picture naming added0.341wM added0.361added0.361added0.361AED number;0.252semantic fluency added0.341AED number0.111	education, age, epilepsy duration, frequency of seizures, AED number0.42439WM added0.52138picture naming added0.56137epilepsy duration, AED number0.22241WM added0.38140education, AED number0.29241picture naming added0.34140education, AED number0.29241picture naming added0.34140WM added0.36139allage, AED number;0.25241semantic fluency added0.34140AED number0.11142	education, age, epilepsy duration, frequency of seizures, AED number 0.42 4 39 6.96 WM added 0.52 1 38 8.13 picture naming added 0.56 1 37 3.81 epilepsy duration, AED number 0.22 2 41 5.69 WM added 0.38 1 40 10.87 education, AED number 0.29 2 41 8.19 picture naming added 0.34 1 40 3.47 WM added 0.36 1 39 0.97 all age, AED number; 0.25 2 41 6.86 semantic fluency added 0.34 1 40 5.45 AED number 0.11 1 42 5.43	Ite I

Each step was compared to the previous model in the hierarchical regression analysis. AED, antiepileptic drugs; LTLE, left drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy; WM, working memory.

TABLE 3 | Model comparisons for variables predicting verbal learning and memory in RTLE.

Variable							
(model)	Predictors	R ²	df _{mod}	df _{res}	F	p	ΔR^2
List-learning capacity*							
	picture naming	0.40	1	24	15.97	< 0.001	-
List-learning T5*							
	picture naming	0.25	1	24	7.87	0.010	-
List-learning delayed-recall**							
Step 1	age	0.10	1	24	2.60	0.120	0.10
Step 2	picture naming added	0.33	1	23	7.78	0.010	0.23
Story memory**							
Step 1	education, age at onset	0.21	2	23	3.12	0.063	0.21
Step 2	WM added	0.59	1	22	20.47	< 0.001	0.38
Step 3	semantic fluency added	0.59	1	21	0.03	0.862	0.00

Linear regression; "Each step was compared to the previous model in the hierarchical regression analysis; WM, working memory; RTLE, right drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy.

For the last step of our analysis, participant groups were again compared for verbal memory measures, taking relevant predictors as covariates. When controlling for WM, the results of the ANCOVA were not significant for list-learning trial 1, F(2, 106) = 2.709, p = 0.071, $\eta^2 = 0.05$, and significant for story memory, F(2, 106) = 10.527, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.17$; the mean of story memory for controls (M = 13.93, SD = 3.54) was significantly larger than for LTLE (M = 10.37, SD = 3.41), p < 0.001, but similar with RTLE (p > 0.05). WM confounds the performance at the short-term verbal memory measures: story memory in RTLE, and list-learning trial 1 in LTLE.

When controlling for age at assessment, education, picture naming, and WM, the results were not significant for learning

capacity, F(2, 103) = 2.128, p = 0.124, $\eta^2 = 0.04$. However, when each of the predictors were controlled separately, we found that only picture naming confounds the performance at the listlearning capacity measure, F(2, 106) = 2.157, p = 0.121, $\eta^2 =$ 0.04. When controlling for education years and picture naming, the results were significant for list-learning trial 5, F(2, 105)= 4.834, p = 0.01, $\eta^2 = 0.08$; the mean of trial 5 for control (M = 13.08, SD = 1.71) was significantly larger than for LTLE (M = 11.86, SD = 1.73), p = 0.007. When controlling for age at assessment, picture naming, and semantic fluency, the results of the ANCOVA were significant for list-learning delayedrecall, F(2, 104) = 4.419, p = 0.014, $\eta^2 = 0.08$; the mean of list-learning delayed-recall for control (M = 11.35, SD = 2.32) TABLE 4 | Model comparisons for variables predicting verbal learning and memory in healthy controls.

Variable	Predictors	R ²	df _{mod}	df _{res}	F	р	ΔR^2
List-learning capacity							
Step 1	age	0.29	1	38	15.45	<0.001	0.29
Step 2	WM	0.52	1	37	17.87	<0.001	0.23
Step 3	picture naming and phonemic fluency	0.62	2	35	4.48	0.019	0.10
List-learning T1							
Step 1	age	0.13	1	38	5.91	0.020	0.13
Step 2	WM	0.37	1	37	13.81	<0.001	0.24
Step 3	picture naming and phonemic fluency	0.46	2	35	2.94	0.066	0.09
List-learning T5							
Step 1	age	0.15	1	38	6.66	0.014	0.15
Step 2	picture naming and phonemic fluency	0.38	2	36	6.78	0.003	0.23
Step 3	WM	0.46	1	35	4.83	0.035	0.07
List-learning delayed-recall							
Step 1	age	0.21	1	38	10.39	0.003	0.21
Step 2	picture naming and phonemic fluency	0.48	2	36	9.41	< 0.001	0.27
Step 3	WM	0.56	1	35	6.17	0.018	0.08
Story memory							
Step 1	age	0.10	1	38	4.29	0.045	0.10
Step 2	WM	0.52	1	37	31.94	< 0.001	0.42
Step 3	picture naming and phonemic fluency	0.60	2	35	3.81	0.032	0.09

Each step was compared to the previous model in the hierarchical regression analysis.

TABLE 5 | Predictor variables for verbal learning and memory measures in participant groups, after controlling for disease characteristics and/or sociodemographic relevant variables (final model interpretation).

		ŀ	lealthy Co	ntrols			LTLE				RTLE	
Verbal	Predictor	β value	t-value	p-value	Predictor	β value	t-value	p-value	Predictor	β value	t-value	p-value
memory variable	variable(s)				variable(s)			variable(s)				
List-learning capacity	WM Phonemic Fluency	0.34 0.38	2.44 2.81	0.020 0.008	WM	0.30	2.42	0.020	Picture naming	0.63	4.00	<0.001
List-learning Trial 1	WM Phonemic Fluency	0.42 0.38	2.54 2.41	0.016 0.021	WM	0.44	3.30	0.002	-	-	-	-
List-learning Trial 5	Phonemic Fluency WM	0.44 0.37	2.78 2.20	0.009 0.035	-	-	-	-	Picture naming	0.50	2.81	0.010
List-learning Delayed-recall	Phonemic Fluency WM	0.44 0.37	3.06 2.48	0.004 0.018	Semantic Fluency	0.31	2.33	0.025	Picture naming	0.48	2.79	0.010
Story memory	WM Phonemic Fluency	0.62 0.37	4.30 2.73	<0.001 0.010	-	-	-	-	WM	0.61	3.97	<0.001

LTLE, left drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy; RTLE, right drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy; WM, working memory; β-value, standardized beta coefficient.

was significantly larger than for LTLE (M = 9.81, SD = 2.31), p = 0.014.

WM as a Mediator Between AED Number and Short-Term Memory Measures

Our data analyses revealed that the mediating relationship was supported only for list-learning capacity and list-learning trial 1 in LTLE. No mediation relationships were identified in RTLE between WM, AED number, and any of the short-term verbal memory measures.

List-Learning Trial 1 (LTLE)

In step 1 of the mediation model, the regression of AED number on list-learning, ignoring the mediator, was significant, $\beta =$ -0.95, t = -2.80, p < 0.01. Step 2 showed that the regression of the AED number on WM was also significant, $\beta =$ -1.76, t = -2.57, p < 0.05. Step 3 showed that the effect of WM on the list-learning, controlling for AED number, was significant, $\beta =$ 0.22, t = 3.16, p < 0.01, whereas in the presence of the mediator, the AED number was not a significant predictor of listlearning, $\beta =$ -0.56, t = -1.71, p = 0.09. Complete mediation is supported.

List-Learning Capacity (LTLE)

In step 1 of the mediation model, the regression of AED number on list-learning capacity, ignoring the mediator, was significant, $\beta = -5.32$, t = -3.12, p < 0.01. In step 2, the regression of the AED number on WM was also significant, $\beta = -1.76$, t = -2.57, p < 0.05. Step 3 showed that effect of WM on the listlearning capacity, controlling for AED number, was significant, $\beta = 0.89$, t = 2.45, p < 0.05, and AED number was still a significant predictor of list-learning capacity, whereas in the presence of the mediator WM ($\beta = -3.75$, t = -2.16, p < 0.05). Partial mediation is supported.

DISCUSSION

We conducted this study intending to understand the individual contributions of WM and language in the verbal learning and memory performance of patients with unilateral drTLE, beyond the influence of demographic and disease characteristics. Additionally, we explored the mediating role of the WM on the relationship between the number of AED and short-term verbal memory.

Similar to previous findings (10–12), we found patients with drTLE impaired at WM irrespective of their seizure onset lateralization. In line with the current neuropsychological literature, patients with LTLE were impaired at semanticrelated language tasks (picture naming and semantic fluency) and at all verbal-learning measures when compared to healthy controls while showing lower naming abilities compared to the patients with RTLE. Compared to controls, both patient groups were impaired at the story memory test, which is similar to previous findings (17, 55–59).

As we hypothesized, in the two groups, the short-term verbal memory measures were predicted by WM, but differently: the total learning capacity and the first trial of the listlearning task in the LTLE group, and the story memory in the RTLE group. The final comparison with healthy controls revealed that WM confounds the performance at these measures in both groups. The last list-learning trial, a measure of learning ability, was predicted exclusively by language in the RTLE group, while showing no relevant predictor in the LTLE group. In RTLE group, picture naming was the unique predictor for most list-learning measures, whereas in the LTLE group, semantic fluency showed a significant but small contribution on the list-learning delayedrecall measure. Finally, after controlling for relevant predictors, patients with LTLE performed worse than controls only at list-learning last trial, delayed-recall, and story memory tests. In addition, in line with previous research (26), we found that naming abilities confounds the performance at the listlearning capacity measure in the LTLE group. Thus, in line with the literature, only patients with LTLE have verbal memory consolidation and retrieval deficits and a semanticrelated impairment.

Many neuropsychological studies addressing the verbal memory performance in drTLE did not consider the contribution

of other cognitive processes, like WM and language, on the verbal memory performance. We found both WM and language as significant predictors of various verbal memory components, with WM confounding the performance at the short-term memory measures. Our analyses show that the magnitude of the effect of WM on verbal learning seems to decrease over the list-learning trials, showing no effect on the last trial and the delayed-recall measures, but only in the LTLE group. Conversely, in the RTLE group, WM was associated only with story memory but not with any of the list-learning measures, most probably due to the protective and compensatory role played by the better language abilities in this group. In healthy controls, we found that WM contributes, in addition to language, to all verbal memory measures, whereas being the strongest predictor for the shortterm memory measures (list-learning trial 1 and story memoryimmediate recall). Thus, our findings support the multistore memory model (60), where various memory components dynamically interact in the learning process, and control processes such as "rehearsal" play an essential role in the transfer of information from the short-term to the long-term memory (61).

In addition, the current study adds to the findings that semantic function, characterized by deficits in semantic information retrieval (naming, semantic verbal fluency) and impaired performance at semantic verbal memory task (i.e., story memory), is altered in language-dominant patients with drTLE (62). The interdependence between verbal memory and language networks within the left temporal lobe is supported by many neuroimaging studies (63).

Some essential observations can be drawn so far. Story memory is impaired in patients with LTLE independent of their WM abilities. In addition, the list-learning last trial can be considered a better verbal learning ability indicator than the overall learning capacity measure (i.e., the sum of the five trials), proving to be impaired in patients with LTLE independent of language and WM.

As previously suggested (33), our findings showed that WM mediates the interaction between the AED number and the short-term verbal learning measures (i.e., the list-learning first trial and the total learning capacity measure), but this effect was seen only in patients with LTLE. AED was shown to have a differential impact on verbal memory (64), particularly in patients with LTLE (65), mainly when administrated in high doses and polytherapy (66–69).

We found that none of the verbal memory measures differentiated LTLE from RTLE even after controlling for relevant predictors, consistent with other studies (17, 22, 55, 58, 70). However, the story memory task used in our study required immediate recall after only one presentation of the material; therefore, it is representative of the short-term verbal memory. The performance at memory for verbal passages in a learning paradigm showed a significant difference between patients with LTLE and RTLE (71). As such, it would be more informative to understand the contribution of WM and language on various stages of a story memory learning paradigm, including delayed-recall.

We observed that an opposite pattern of contributors emerged in patient groups. Several reasons might explain this discrepancy. First, the lexical-semantic retrieval adequacy (mainly naming abilities) may be the main reason for this discrepancy, playing a protective and compensatory role for patients with RTLE and overcoming their deficient WM.

Second, the Letter-Number Sequencing task used to measure WM in this study might measure the verbal buffer, a domainspecific "slave system" (43), rather than measuring more complex executive functions (72). Strong neuroimaging evidence connects verbal WM with the left hemisphere (73). In particular, the neuroanatomical basis of the phonological loop is mainly in the left hemisphere, reflecting a strong connection with language networks (74). The verbal learning and memory tests used in this study were delivered to participants in the auditory presentation modality, which presumably relies on the phonological loop (75).

Third, most probable, the language tasks used in our study did not capture the complexity of the language-memory relationship involved by the story memory test. Traditionally, language impairment is well recognized in drTLE for verbal fluency (76) and naming abilities (77), whereas other important language expressive functions, like spontaneous speech and discourse abilities, are much less addressed by the literature (78). Although basic language functions are generally considered unaffected in patients with TLE, the narrative discourse seems to be affected (79), particularly concerning discourse and high-level language abilities (80), probably associated with low WM capacity (81). Patients with early-onset TLE show mild discourse production impairments not associated with other language measures, but correlating with WM (82). In healthy subjects, WM emerged as a robust predictor for highlevel language abilities (83). Maintaining verbal information in the verbal WM system directly depends on the long-term representations and processes used in language comprehension and production (84, 85). Retelling a story must involve language production processes as it naturally involves the maintenance and ordering of linguistic information during spoken recall (86). LTLE is particularly associated with macro linguistic disturbances affecting discourse production (87) and spontaneous speech (88). Postoperatively, patients with LTLE were found to be impaired at the immediate recall of stories when compared to those with RTLE, although preoperatively they had similar impaired performance, and this result was not related to the WM capacity, being most probably due to the language network disturbance following left anterior temporal lobe resection (89). Similarly, Joo et al. (2005) (90) found correlations between the extent of left temporal lobe surgery and performance at the story memory test. Thus, the adequacy of the language system of patient, both receptive and expressive, critically influences the interictal verbal learning and memory and must be included in interpreting the memory tests results (78).

Clinical Implications

Working memory is impaired in drTLE and predicts verbal learning and memory deficit, in addition to the language. Clinicians should consider this overlap when interpreting poor performance in verbal learning and memory assessment by including a relevant WM task and examining the learning performance over the five trials of a list-learning test. This is particularly important when naming abilities or other language functions are within the normal range. Our findings suggest that the last list-learning trial is more informative for the verbal learning integrity of the language-dominant hemisphere than the traditional learning capacity measure (the sum of the five trials). Instead, the performance at the first trial showed the highest sensitivity to a WM impairment. Additionally, an impairment at the story memory test in the absence of a WM deficit may suggest that the functional integrity of the languagedominant hemisphere is affected. Concurrently, a deficit at the story memory test should be interpreted with caution when WM is impaired.

Limitations

Our patient group included various pathologies; therefore, we could not disentangle the effect of mesial or lateral temporal lobe epilepsy on study variables. In addition, besides hand-dominance, we did not use another modality to determine the language lateralization; therefore, we can only assume that the majority of our patients have the left hemisphere as language-dominant (91, 92). Although the sample sizes of patients are small, particularly for RTLE group, the *post-hoc* effect sizes and the achieved power for regression analyses showed significant results in each group. In addition to the AED number, further research should explore the mediating role of WM on the relationship between specific drugs (i.e., type, dosage, and combination) and verbal memory performance in drTLE.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The name of the repository and accession number can be found below: Mendeley Data, https://data.mendeley.com, doi: 10.17632/hhwh69wy6n.1.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Board of the University of Bucharest, Romania (notice no. 329/11.12.2019). The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB and CI contributed to the conception, the design of the study, and its implementation. MB wrote the first draft of the

manuscript. CI wrote sections of the manuscript. CI and EA reviewed the manuscript. All authors read and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the epileptologists from the Epilepsy Monitoring Unit of the University Emergency Hospital

REFERENCES

- Baxendale S, Thompson P. The association of cognitive phenotypes with postoperative outcomes after epilepsy surgery in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*. (2020) 112:107386. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107386
- Reyes A, Kaestner E, Ferguson L, Jones JE, Seidenberg M, Barr WB, et al. Cognitive phenotypes in temporal lobe epilepsy utilizing data- and clinically driven approaches: Moving toward a new taxonomy. *Epilepsia*. (2020) 61:1211–20. doi: 10.1111/epi.16528
- Stretton J, Thompson PJ. Frontal lobe function in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (2012) 98:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2011.10.009
- Baddeley A. Working memory: looking back and looking forward. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2003) 4:829–39. doi: 10.1038/nrn1201
- Cowan N. Working memory underpins cognitive development, learning, and education. *Educ Psychol Rev.* (2014) 26:197– 223. doi: 10.1007/s10648-013-9246-y
- Aben B, Stapert S, Blokland A. About the distinction between working memory and short-term memory. *Front Psychol.* (2012) 3:301. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00301
- Miller EK, Lundqvist M. Bastos AM. Working memory 2.0. Neuron. (2018) 100:463–75. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.09.023
- Atkinson RC, Shiffrin RM. The control of short-term memory. Sci Am. (1971) 225:82–90. doi: 10.1038/scientificamerican0871-82
- Cowan N. George Miller's magical number of immediate memory in retrospect: Observations on the faltering progression of science. *Psychol Rev.* (2015) 122:536–41. doi: 10.1037/a0039035
- Stretton J, Winston G, Sidhu M, Centeno M, Vollmar C, Bonelli S, et al. Neural correlates of working memory in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy — An fMRI study. *Neuroimage*. (2012) 60:1696–703. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.126
- Jones-Gotman 11. Wagner DD. Sziklas V. Garver KE. M. Material-specific lateralization of working memory in the medial temporal lobe. Neuropsychologia. (2009)47:112-22. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.08.010
- Zamarian L, Trinka E, Bonatti E, Kuchukhidze G, Bodner T, Benke T, et al. Executive functions in chronic mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res Treat.* (2011) 2011: 596174. doi: 10.1155/2011/596174
- Tudesco I de SS, Vaz LJ, Mantoan MAS, Belzunces E, Noffs MH, Caboclo LOSF, et al. Assessment of working memory in patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy associated with unilateral hippocampal sclerosis. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2010) 18:223–8. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.04.021
- Conway ARA, Kane MJ, Bunting MF, Hambrick DZ, Wilhelm O, Engle RW, et al. Working memory span tasks: A methodological review and user's guide. *Psychon Bull Rev.* (2005) 12:769–86. doi: 10.3758/bf03196772
- Eriksson J, Vogel EK, Lansner A, Bergström F, Nyberg L. Neurocognitive architecture of working memory. *Neuron.* (2015) 88:33–46. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.020
- McAndrews MP, Cohn M. Neuropsychology in temporal lobe epilepsy: influences from cognitive neuroscience and functional neuroimaging. *Epilepsy Res Treat.* (2012) 2012:925238. doi: 10.1155/2012/925238
- Helmstaedter C, Wietzke J, Lutz MT. Unique and shared validity of the "Wechsler logical memory test", the "California verbal learning test", and the "verbal learning and memory test" in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (2009) 87:203–12. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2009.09.002

Bucharest for their invaluable work in diagnosing patients with epilepsy, and for the trust they have placed in us.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2021.780086/full#supplementary-material

- Duff K, Schoenberg MR, Scott JG, Adams RL. The relationship between executive functioning and verbal and visual learning and memory. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* (2005) 20:111–22. doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2004.03.003
- Tremont G, Halpert S, Javorsky DJ, Stern RA. Differential impact of executive dysfunction on verbal list learning and story recall. *Clin Neuropsychol.* (2000) 14:295–302. doi: 10.1076/1385-4046(20008)14:3;1-P;FT295
- Constantinidou F, Zaganas I, Papastefanakis E, Kasselimis D, Nidos A, Simos PG. Age-related decline in verbal learning is moderated by demographic factors, working memory capacity, and presence of amnestic mild cognitive impairment. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2014) 20:822– 35. doi: 10.1017/S1355617714000678
- Hermann BP, Wyler AR, Steenman H, Richey ET. The interrelationship between language function and verbal learning/memory performance in patients with complex partial seizures. *Cortex.* (1988) 24:245– 53. doi: 10.1016/s0010-9452(88)80033-9
- Hermann BP, Seidenberg M, Haltiner A, Wyler AR. Adequacy of language function and verbal memory performance in unilateral temporal lobe epilepsy. *Cortex.* (1992) 28:423–33. doi: 10.1016/S0010-9452(13)80152-9
- Kim H, Yi S, Son EI, Kim J. Material-specific memory in temporal lobe epilepsy: Effects of seizure laterality and language dominance. *Neuropsychology*. (2003) 17:59–68. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.17.1.59
- Weber B, Fliessbach K, Lange N, Kügler F, Elger CE. Material-specific memory processing is related to language dominance. *Neuroimage*. (2007) 37:611– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.05.022
- Saling MM. Verbal memory in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: beyond material specificity. *Brain.* (2009) 132:570–82. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp012
- Busch RM, Chapin JS, Haut JS, Dulay MF, Naugle RI, Najm I. Wordfinding difficulties confound performance on verbal cognitive measures in adults with intractable left temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:e37– 40. doi: 10.1111/epi.12088
- 27. Elger CE, Helmstaedter C, Kurthen M. Chronic epilepsy and cognition. *Lancet* Neurol. (2004) 3:663–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00906-8
- Höller Y, Trinka E. What do temporal lobe epilepsy and progressive mild cognitive impairment have in common? *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2014) 8:58. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2014.00058
- Goldstein LH. Neuropsychological Investigation of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. J R Soc Med. (1991) 84:460–5. doi: 10.1177/014107689108400806
- Drane DL, Meador KJ. Epilepsy, anticonvulsant drugs and cognition. Baillieres Clin Neurol. (1996) 5:877–85.
- Eddy CM, Rickards HE, Cavanna AE. The cognitive impact of antiepileptic drugs. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord.* (2011) 4:385– 407. doi: 10.1177/1756285611417920
- Witt J-A, Elger CE, Helmstaedter C. Adverse cognitive effects of antiepileptic pharmacotherapy: Each additional drug matters. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2015) 25:1954–9. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.07.027
- Witt J-A, Helmstaedter C. How can we overcome neuropsychological adverse effects of antiepileptic drugs? *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. (2017) 18:551– 4. doi: 10.1080/14656566.2017.1309025
- Helmstaedter C, Witt J-A. How neuropsychology can improve the care of individual patients with epilepsy. Looking back and into the future. *Seizure*. (2017) 44:113–20. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2016.09.010
- Aldenkamp AP. Effects of antiepileptic drugs on cognition. *Epilepsia*. (2001) 42:46–49. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2001.00516.x

- Helmstaedter C, Elger CE, Witt J-A. The effect of quantitative and qualitative antiepileptic drug changes on cognitive recovery after epilepsy surgery. *Seizure*. (2016) 36:63–9. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2016.02.001
- Tatsumi IF, Watanabe M. Verbal Memory. In: *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience*. Binder MD, Hirokawa N, Windhorst U, editors. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. (2009) p. 4176–4178. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-29678-2_6266
- Schmidt M. Rey auditory verbal learning test: A handbook. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services. (1996).
- Saury J-M, Emanuelson I. Neuropsychological assessment of hippocampal integrity. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult*. (2017) 24:140– 51. doi: 10.1080/23279095.2015.1113536
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, White T, Messer MA, Munteanu C, Iliescu D, et al. Mini-Mental State Examination, Second Edition. User's Manual (Romanian adaptation). Bucharest: OS Romania. (2013).
- Miclea M. Platforma computerizata de evaluare psihologica (CAS++) [Measurement Instrument]. (2009). Available online at: https://www. cognitrom.ro/produs/evaluare-psihologica/
- 42. Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale—Fourth Edition. San Antonio, TX: Pearson Assessment. (2008).
- Egeland J. Measuring working memory with digit span and the letter-number sequencing subtests from the WAIS-IV: too low manipulation load and risk for underestimating modality effects. *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult.* (2015) 22:445–51. doi: 10.1080/23279095.2014.992069
- 44. Hill B, Elliott E, Shelton J, Pella R, O'Jile J, Gouvier W. Can we improve the clinical assessment of working memory? An evaluation of the WAISIII using a working memory criterion construct. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. (2010) 32:315–23. doi: 10.1080/13803390903032529
- Spezzano LC, Radanovic M. Naming abilities: Differentiation between objects and verbs in aphasia. *Dement Neuropsychol.* (2010) 4:287– 92. doi: 10.1590/S1980-57642010DN40400006
- Stern RA, White T. NAB Naming Test: Professional manual, 2009. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources. (2009).
- Patterson J. Verbal Fluency. In: *Encyclopedia of clinical neuropsychology*. Kreutzer JS, DeLuca J, Caplan B, editors. New York, NY: Springer. (2008) p 2603–2606. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-79948-3_1423
- Raven J, Raven J. Raven Progressive Matrices. In: *Handbook of nonverbal* assessment. New York, NY, US: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers. (2003) p. 223–237. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-0153-4_11
- Lovibond SH, Lovibond PF. Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales. (2nd. Ed.). Sydney: Psychology Foundation. (1995).
- Baron RM, Kenny DA. The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (1986) 51:1173–82. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.6. 1173
- Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers. (1988).
- 52. Intellectus Statistics. Intellectus Statistics [Online computer software]. (2019). Available online at: http://analyze.intellectusstatistics.com/
- IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 23.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp (2015).
- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A. Lang A-G. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 31: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav Res Methods*. (2009) 41:1149–60. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Tavakoli M, Barekatain M, Doust HTN, Molavi H, Nouri RK, Moradi A, et al. Cognitive impairments in patients with intractable temporal lobe epilepsy. J Res Med Sci. (2011) 16:1466–72.
- Giovagnoli AR, Erbetta A, Villani F, Avanzini G. Semantic memory in partial epilepsy: verbal and non-verbal deficits and neuroanatomical relationships. *Neuropsychologia.* (2005) 43:1482–92. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2004.12.010
- 57. Saling MM, Berkovic SF, O'Shea MF, Kalnins RM, Darby DG, Bladin PF. Lateralization of verbal memory and unilateral hippocampal sclerosis: evidence of task-specific effects. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol.* (1993) 15:608–18. doi: 10.1080/01688639308402582
- Giovagnoli AR, Avanzini G. Learning and memory impairment in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: relation to the presence, type, and location of brain lesion. *Epilepsia*. (1999) 40:904– 11. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1999.tb00797.x

- Wilde N, Strauss E, Chelune GJ, Loring DW, Martin RC, Hermann BP, et al. WMS-III performance in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: Group differences and individual classification. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2001) 7:881– 91. doi: 10.1017/S1355617701777120
- Atkinson RC, Shiffrin RM. Human Memory: A Proposed System and its Control Processes. In: Psychology of Learning and Motivation. Spence KW, Spence JT, editors. Academic Press. (1968) 89–195. doi: 10.1016/S0079-7421(08)60422-3
- Jaimes-Bautista AG, Rodríguez-Camacho M, Martínez-Juárez IE, Rodríguez-Agudelo Y. Semantic processing impairment in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res Treat.* (2015) 2015: doi: 10.1155/2015/746745
- Covington NV, Duff MC. Expanding the Language Network: Direct Contributions from the Hippocampus. *Trends Cogn Sci (Regul Ed).* (2016) 20:869–70. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2016.10.006
- Baciu M, Perrone-Bertolotti M. What do patients with epilepsy tell us about language dynamics? A review of fMRI studies. *Rev Neurosci.* (2015) 26:323– 41. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2014-0074
- Motamedi GK, Meador KJ. Antiepileptic drugs and memory. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2004) 5:435–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2004.03.006
- 65. Durwen HF, Elger CE. Verbal learning differences in epileptic patients with left and right temporal lobe foci–a pharmacologically induced phenomenon? *Acta Neurol Scand.* (1993) 87:1–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1993.tb04066.x
- 66. Durwen HF, Hufnagel A, Elger CE. Anticonvulsant drugs affect particular steps of verbal memory processing-an evaluation of 13 patients with intractable complex partial seizures of left temporal lobe origin. *Neuropsychologia*. (1992) 30:623–31. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(92)90067-v
- Jokeit H, Krämer G, Ebner A. Do antiepileptic drugs accelerate forgetting? Epilepsy Behav. (2005) 6:430–2. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2004.12.012
- Wang W-H, Liou H-H, Chen C-C, Chiu M-J, Chen T-F, Cheng T-W, et al. Neuropsychological performance and seizure-related risk factors in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: a retrospective cross-sectional study. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2011) 22:728–34. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.08.038
- 69. Wilby J, Kainth A, Hawkins N, Epstein D, McIntosh H, McDaid C, Mason A, Golder S, O'Meara S, Sculpher M, et al. Clinical effectiveness, tolerability and cost-effectiveness of newer drugs for epilepsy in adults: a systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technol Assess.* (2005) 9:1–157. doi: 10.3310/hta9150
- Rayner G, Tailby C, Jackson G, Wilson S. Looking beyond lesions for causes of neuropsychological impairment in epilepsy. *Neurology.* (2019) 92:e680. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000006905
- Jones-Gotman M, Harnadek MC, Kubu CS. Neuropsychological assessment for temporal lobe epilepsy surgery. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2000) 27 Suppl 1:S39–43; discussion S50-52. doi: 10.1017/s0317167100000639
- Mielicki MK, Koppel RH, Valencia G, Wiley J. Measuring Working memory capacity with the letter-number sequencing task: Advantages of visual administration. *Appl Cogn Psychol.* (2018) 32:805–14. doi: 10.1002/acp.3468
- 73. Shura RD, Hurley RA, Taber KH. Working memory models: insights from neuroimaging. JNP. (2016) 28:A4–5. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.15120402
- 74. Baddeley A. Working memory and language: an overview. *J Commun Disord*. (2003) 36:189–208. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9924(03)00019-4
- 75. Baddeley A. *Working memory: Theories, Models, and Controversies.* New York, NY, US: Clarendon Press/Oxford University Press. (1986).
- Metternich B, Buschmann F, Wagner K, Schulze-Bonhage A, Kriston L. Verbal fluency in focal epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2014) 24:200–18. doi: 10.1007/s11065-014-9255-8
- Hamberger MJ. Object naming in epilepsy and epilepsy surgery. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2015) 46:27–33. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2014.12.019
- Bartha-Doering L, Trinka E. The interictal language profile in adult epilepsy. Epilepsia. (2014) 55:1512–25. doi: 10.1111/epi.12743
- Drane DL, Pedersen NP. Knowledge of language function and underlying neural networks gained from focal seizures and epilepsy surgery. *Brain Lang.* (2019) 189:20–33. doi: 10.1016/j.bandl.2018.12.007
- Dutta M, Murray L, Miller W, Groves D. Effects of epilepsy on language functions: scoping review and data mining findings. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol.* (2018) 27:350–78. doi: 10.1044/2017_AJSLP-16-0195
- Yurchenko A, Golovteev A, Dragoy O. Single-word, sentence, and discourse comprehension in individuals with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 110: doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107140

- Bell B, Dow C, Watson ER, Woodard A, Hermann B, Seidenberg M. Narrative and procedural discourse in temporal lobe epilepsy. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2003) 9:733–9. doi: 10.1017/S1355617703950065
- Antonsson M, Longoni F, Einald C, Hallberg L, Kurt G, Larsson K, et al. High-level language ability in healthy individuals and its relationship with verbal working memory. *Clin Linguist Phon.* (2016) 30:944–58. doi: 10.1080/02699206.2016.1205664
- Acheson DJ, Hamidi M, Binder JR, Postle BR, A. common neural substrate for language production and verbal working memory. *J Cogn Neurosci.* (2011) 23:1358–67. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2010.21519
- Schwering SC, MacDonald MC. Verbal working memory as emergent from language comprehension and production. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2020) 14:66. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.00068
- Acheson DJ, MacDonald MC. Verbal working memory and language production: common approaches to the serial ordering of verbal information. *Psychol Bull.* (2009) 135:50–68. doi: 10.1037/a0014411
- Field SJ, Saling MM, Berkovic SF. Interictal discourse production in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain Lang.* (2000) 74:213–22. doi: 10.1006/brln.2000.2335
- Bartha L, Benke T, Bauer G, Trinka E. Interictal language functions in temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2005) 76:808– 14. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2004.045385
- Frisk V, Milner B. The relationship of Working memory to the immediate recall of stories following unilateral temporal or frontal lobectomy. *Neuropsychologia*. (1990) 28:121–35. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(90)90095-6
- Joo EY, Han HJ, Lee EK, Choi S, Jin JH, Kim JH, et al. Resection extent versus postoperative outcomes of seizure and memory in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Seizure*. (2005) 14:541–51. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2005.08.011

- Loring DW, Meador KJ, Lee GP, Murro AM, Smith JR, Flanigin HF, et al. Cerebral language lateralization: Evidence from intracarotid amobarbital testing. *Neuropsychologia*. (1990) 28:831–8. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(90)90007-B
- 92. Springer JA, Binder JR, Hammeke TA, Swanson SJ, Frost JA, Bellgowan PS, et al. Language dominance in neurologically normal and epilepsy subjects: a functional MRI study. *Brain.* (1999) 122:2033–46. doi: 10.1093/brain/122.11.2033

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Bolocan, Iacob and Avram. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Are High Frequency Oscillations in Scalp EEG Related to Age?

Philipp Franz Windhager^{1*}, Adrian V. Marcu¹, Eugen Trinka^{1,2}, Arne Bathke³ and Yvonne Höller⁴

¹ Department of Neurology, Christian-Doppler Medical Centre and Centre for Cognitive Neuroscience, Paracelsus Medical University, Salzburg, Austria, ² Neuroscience Institute, Christian Doppler University Hospital, Paracelsus Medical University, Salzburg, Austria, ³ Department of Mathematics, Paris Lodron University Salzburg, Salzburg, Austria, ⁴ Faculty of Psychology, University of Akureyri, Iceland

Background: High-frequency oscillations (HFOs) have received much attention in recent years, particularly in the clinical context. In addition to their application as a marker for pathological changes in patients with epilepsy, HFOs have also been brought into context with several physiological mechanisms. Furthermore, recent studies reported a relation between an increase of HFO rate and age in invasive EEG recordings. The present study aimed to investigate whether this relation can be replicated in scalp-EEG.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luiz Eduardo Betting, São Paulo State University, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Jacopo Lanzone, Sant'Isidoro Hospital Ferb Onlus Trescore Balneario, Italy Georgia Ramantani, University Children's Hospital Zurich, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Philipp Franz Windhager philipp.windhager@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 09 June 2021 Accepted: 20 December 2021 Published: 27 January 2022

Citation:

Windhager PF, Marcu AV, Trinka E, Bathke A and Höller Y (2022) Are High Frequency Oscillations in Scalp EEG Related to Age? Front. Neurol. 12:722657. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.722657 **Methods:** We recorded high-density EEG from 11 epilepsy patients at rest as well as during motor performance. Manual detection of HFOs was performed by two independent raters following a standardized protocol. Patients were grouped by age into younger (< 25 years) and older (>50 years) participants.

Results: No significant difference of HFO-rates was found between groups [U = 10.5, $\rho = 0.429$, r = 0.3].

Conclusions: Lack of replicability of the age effect of HFOs may be due to the local propagation patterns of age-related HFOs occurring in deep structures. However, limitations such as small sample size, decreased signal-to-noise ratio as compared to invasive recordings, as well as HFO-mimicking artifacts must be considered.

Keywords: high frequency oscillation, electroencephalogram, scalp-EEG, HD-EEG, epilepsy

INTRODUCTION

In the last 2 decades high frequency oscillations (HFOs) have been studied extensively (1, 2). These HFOs are considered as oscillatory field potentials in the gamma- or high gamma band standing out of the oscillatory background activity showing a regular morphology that can be classified as ripples (80–250 Hz) and fast ripples (>250 Hz) (3). Bragin et al. (4) found that HFOs, in particular fast ripples, are typical for the epileptogenic region and may be a correlate of pathological changes leading to hypersynchronously bursting pyramid cells (5, 6). Therefore, HFOs are considered as a candidate marker for epilepsy (1) not only in adults but also in neonates (7) and children with refractory epilepsy (8).

Besides the assumed importance of HFOs in epilepsy diagnosis, earlier studies have shown that activity in this higher frequency range can also represent a physiological mechanism for synchronization of interneural firing not only of coherent neurons but also of neurons in spatial separated cortical areas (9–11). Further, HFOs recorded in both healthy and unhealthy patients can be seen during various cognitive processes such as memory-consolidation

19

(12–14) motor-performance (15), and visual perception (16, 17). Thus, HFOs might not be displaying a genuine pathological characteristic in patients with neurological disease. However, the pathological relevance of this new biomarker may come into play when physiological mechanisms are disturbed.

What we know today about HFOs is largely based on empirical studies which investigated under what circumstances the phenomenon can be observed. Using invasive recordings as well as scalp EEG, scientists aimed to gather information about this promising biomarker in neuroscience (2, 18, 19). It is still a major challenge to identify potential indicators for a valid differentiation between pathological and physiological HFOs. By delineating particular characteristics like the background oscillatory activity (10), phase locking of HFOs and low frequencies recorded during sleep (20–22), spatial and signal characteristics (23) such as the amplitude (24), morphology (25), the occurrence in relation to an epileptic spike (26, 27), current research strives to contribute important information concerning the differentiation of physiological and pathological HFOs.

HFOs have been observed most often in invasive EEG recordings, using intracranial implanted macro- and microelectrodes in patients with refractory focal epilepsy therefore undergoing presurgical examination (28). These studies reported a link between fast ripples and interictal spikes which are a common marker for identification of the seizure onset zone (SOZ). It would be advantageous to be able to examine HFOs in scalp EEG, in order to make this biomarker available also to patient populations without the necessity for an invasive recording. Because of the small amplitude and local propagation characteristics of HFOs it was highly debated whether HFOs can be detected in scalp EEG (16, 29). Scalp-EEG measures the summated activity of large populations of neocortical neurons and is much more prone to exogenous artifacts and noise. Local propagation patterns of HFOs (30) and their small size in relation to prominent muscle and movement artifacts in scalp EEG put the undertaking of detecting HFOs in the scalp into question. Recent work suggests that it is indeed possible (31, 32). It was suggested that a high-density (HD-EEG) would be advantageous over a conventional 10-20 montage; more specifically, by using HD-EEG, corresponding areas could be identified between scalp and invasive recordings (31).

Identification of HFOs in scalp-EEG is not straightforward (33, 34). First, the presumed pathological form of HFOs is likely to co-occur with physiological HFOs in scalp EEG (35) such that methods for the distinction of these phenomena are highly warranted. Second, it is crucial to increase the signal to noise ratio (36, 37), third, to use adequate spatial sampling (31), and, fourth, to reduce and correctly identify non-neural signals, so called artifacts, in order to allow application of scalp-based HFO analysis in clinical routine. Recent developments of custommade low-noise amplifiers (34, 37) allow for a more accurate identification of HFOs in scalp EEG, which also correspond well with invasively recorded HFOs (34). However, the distinction of pathological from physiological HFOs in scalp EEG is a topic of its own merit, as these two phenomena are highly similar (33). A common approach is to compare HFOs in epileptic and non-epileptic EEG (33), but it is so far impossible to distinguish pathological from physiological HFOs on an individual case basis within a single recording. Nevertheless, because of their specificity scalp-HFOs bear a big potential to serve as interictal markers for epilepsy (38).

Scalp-EEG bears a further challenge, namely age. The EEG changes with age (39), and therefore it is also discussed as a factor that contributes to the development of epileptogenicity, due to a complex interaction between epilepsy and other diseases of the aging brain like stroke, dementia or traumatic brain injuries (40). From a structural view, the pathophysiology of temporal lobe epilepsy does resemble premature brain aging (41). As a consequence, the prevalence of active epilepsy increases with age (42) and might explain the high incidence of temporal lobe epilepsy in the elderly. Further investigations conducted by Tombini et al. (43) showing a link between the extent of neural degeneration resulting from diseases like Alzheimer's disease (AD) and epilepsy may be of interest since the number of HFO may predict the severity of epilepsy, therefore reflecting the extent of neural degeneration. Accordingly, HFO may also be used as a marker for the classification of neurodegenerative disorders such as AD in the future.

If we assume that the increase of HFOs in patients with epilepsy is due to structural changes resembling premature brain aging (41), it must be considered that HFO rate occurs to a greater extent in elderly patients independent of disease. Following this it can be hypothesized that a certain amount of HFO increase in elderly epilepsy patients is due to structural changes rather than simple pathological reasons. This implies that HFOs might not sensitively differentiate between aging effects and epileptogenic processes. Therefore, we claim that there is a need to understand how HFO rates change in elderly patients.

Previous research reported a link between age and HFO occurrence in invasive EEG (44). However, this finding was so far not replicated in scalp EEG. A recently conducted study by Cserpan et al. (45) found, that HFO activity in the ripple band is increased in a pediatric population of epilepsy patients compared to older subjects. They found that younger children showed a higher HFO compared to older children. Studies like these show that it is indispensable to estimate the contribution of age to the likelihood of HFO occurrence.

If older patients are more likely to exhibit HFOs regardless of epileptic pathology, HFOs may not be a reliable marker for epilepsy in this age group. The occurrence of high HFO rates in elderly patients with epilepsy might just be more diffusely related to physiologic than pathophysiologic changes that are a consequence of aging.

Using scalp-EEG we examined a possible relationship between age and HFO activity by comparing HFO rates between older and younger patients suffering from epilepsy as well as healthy controls.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Recruitment

We prospectively enrolled patients admitted to the Epilepsy Monitoring Unit (EMU) at the Department of Neurology, Christian-Doppler Medical Center Salzburg. Patients were

TABLE 1 | Patient information.

ID	Sex	Age	Hand.	AoO	Epilepsy	Seizure type
< 25 Years						
004	F	24	Right	5	TLE right	Focal aware and focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures
022	F	23	Left	20	MTLE right	Focal impaired awareness seizures
023	F	22	Right	3	PTME Left	Focal aware seizures; Focal impaired awareness seizures; Focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures
024	Μ	19	Right	4	OLE Right	Focal aware seizures; Focal impaired awareness seizures; Focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures
028	Μ	19	Right	5	FLE	Focal aware seizures; Focal impaired awareness motor seizures; Focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures
029	F	22	Left	20	NFD	Focal to bilateral tonic- clonic seizures
> 50 Years						
002	М	56	Right	42	TLE left	Focal aware seizures
007	F	59	Right	59	TLE left	Focal impaired awareness seizures
037	М	64	Left	63	NFD	Focal to bilateral tonic- clonic seizures
039	F	54	Right	53	NFD	Speech impairment; cognitive restrictions; vertigo
042	Μ	55	Right	53	NFD	Focal to bilateral tonic- clonic seizures

M, Male; F, Female; AoO, Age of Onset; Hand., Handedness; NFD, no final diagnosis; TLE, Temporal Lobe Epilepsy; MTLE, Mesial Temporal Lobe Epilepsy; PTME, Posttraumatic Multifocal Epilepsy; OLE, Occipital Lobe Epilepsy; FLE, Frontal Lobe Epilepsy.

admitted to the hospital for epilepsy clarification using video-EEG. Recruitment for the study was done one week prior to admission via phone. On the day of admission, patients who agreed to participate got informed about the purpose and possible side effects and signed informed consent prior to starting the experimental procedure.

Ethics

The study was conducted in accordance with the recommendations of good clinical practice and was approved by the local ethics committee (Ethik-Kommission für das Bundesland Salzburg: E/1755, 415-E/1806/4-2014, initial approval on 30/03/2014, latest amendment on 11/07/2016).

Participants

Between February 2018 and December 2020 48 participants had been enrolled to the study. For the analysis at hand only complete datasets of participants younger than 25 and older than 50 years with a sufficient signal to noise ratio (SNR) and minimal artificial distortions were included. We also excluded data from patients with extensive motor symptoms according to diagnosis. EEG segments with sufficient signal quality were exported. According to their age participants were assigned to one of two groups: < 25 Years vs. > 50 Years. In the < 25 Years group we excluded 2 patients because final diagnosis made by the physician did not confirm an epileptic disease (1 male patient with non-epileptic psychosis and 1 female patient suffering migraine). In the > 50years group we excluded 3 patients because final diagnosis made by the physician did not confirm an epileptic disease (2 women with epileptiform discharges of unclear cause and 1 woman with restless-legs syndrome). Excluded patients served as controls. In patients labeled with "no final diagnosis" physicians where not absolutely sure about hemispheric localization of seizure onset zone.

11 Patients met all Criteria ($n_{<25} = 6$; 4 Women; 2 Righthanded; $M_{<25} = 21.17$ Years, $SD_{<25} = 2.14$ Years; $n_{>50} = 5$; 2 Women; 2 Righthanded; $M_{>50} = 57.2$ Years, $SD_{>50} = 3.83$ Years). For a Detailed Overview of Patient Information see **Table 1**.

Regarding the control group, the study at hand used patients retrospectively diagnosed as "non-epileptic" by the physicians at the hosting institution. Since the under-25 age group contained only 2 and the over-50 age group contained only 3 subjects, controls were combined into a common control group (see **Table 2**). This results in a rather small sample ($n_{contr.} = 5$; 4 women; 5 righthanded; $M_{contr.} = 38.6$ years, SD_{contr.} = 17.9 years). In future studies this should be considered and larger control groups should be recruited in order to distinguish physiological aging from epilepsy-associated processes and their relation to HFO activity.

Data Acquisition

Recording of high-density (HD) EEG was performed at the first day of hospitalization before starting the video-EEG monitoring. We decided to use HD-EEG, because previous studies reported a higher correspondence of areas with high ripple rates between intracranial EEG and HD-EEG compared to 10–20 EEG (31). A study conducted by Avigdor et al. (46) retrospectively analyzed EEG post-surgical recordings of patients with drug resistant epilepsy and found that the highest rates of HFOs can be found within the resected areas. Using both HD-EEG and the reduced 10–10 as well as the 10–20 EEG they showed that the detection of HFOs is even more accurate when conducted using HD-EEG and can be used for the identification of the epileptogenic zone (EZ.) They stated that an increase of localization accuracy of 40–60 percent can be achieved.

TABLE 2 | Control group.

ID	Sex	Age	Hand.	AoO	No. of HFOs
026	F	20	Right	5	4
027	М	18	Right	20	9
020	F	52	Right	42	0
043	F	52	Right	59	17
046	F	51	Right	63	0

ID, Identification number; M, Male; F, Female; Hand., Handedness; AoO, Age of Onset; No. of HFOs, Number of HFOs.

The experiment was performed using Presentation (\mathbb{R} software (Version 18.1, Neurobehavioral Systems, Inc., Berkeley, CA). HD-EEG recording was performed using a 256 channel EGI Hydrocel Net (Net Station Acquisition 5.0, Electrical geodesics, Inc.). Prior to the EEG recording, impedances of the electrodes were checked and kept within a range of 50 to 100 k Ω . Electrode number 43 was excluded in all recordings because of a hardware problem.

To cut out powerline noise a 50 Hz notch filter was applied. Sampling rate was 1 kHz, fulfilling Nyquist- criteria and a high pass filter of 0.1 Hz enabled elimination of low frequencies outside the spectrum of interest. In order to guarantee high data quality, patients were asked to intentionally generate artifacts during an initial calibration recording, which served as a reference for postprocessing artifact exclusion. Participants were asked to blink, raise their eyebrows, swallow and chatter their teeth several times in succession. To control for facial muscle activity, an electromyogram (EMG) was recorded from the patients' cheek. Participants were encouraged to move as few as possible between the test segments in order to minimize artificial distortion in the EEG.

Experimental Procedure

Patients were seated in a comfortable chair. During the initial resting recording, patients were asked to sit as relaxed as possible with closed eyes for one minute. Next, a fingertapping task comprising 12 learning and 5 recall trials was conducted. Each of the trials lasted for 30 seconds and was separated by a short intertrial break of equal duration. The task used was the same as described by Gerner et al. (29). Participants were instructed to repeatedly type a five-digit sequence presented on the screen as fast and accurate as possible with their non-dominant hand. The task included a practice-, a learning-, and a recall-part. Following previous studies, showing a link between number of HFOs and neural learning processes in the somatomotoric cortex (5), we decided to analyze the learning part in the study at hand to maximize probability of event detection. During the intertrial breaks, participants were told to relax their fingers on the keyboard to minimize artificial activity. Prior to the experiments recall-phase, a resting phase of ten min was recorded. In total, the testing-procedure lasted for about 1.5 h.

HFO Identification/Marking Procedure

The marking procedure to identify HFOs closely followed the procedure as presented in previously published research (19, 29).

Data was analyzed using an in-house built software for HFO analysis called MEEGIPS (33). For the analysis we extracted EEG-segments with a maximal SNR and minimal artificial distortion of 198 seconds duration overall including initial rest, pause rest as well as the breaks between the single fingertapping segments (i-rest + p-rest + breaks of fingertapping). EEG-segments of 60 seconds duration were extracted from the learning-part of the fingertapping task (for composition of segments see **Figure 1**).

Segments were analyzed manually and independently by two experienced raters. HFO identification was blinded with respect to epilepsy- lateralization and diagnosis to minimize rater-bias. In a first step, the raters visually identified the events of interest independently. Due to several factors of manual analysis of scalp EEG in general and HD-EEG in special, interrater reliability was not available. Because of this, we decided to take into account all events marked by the two raters independently. For the final analysis, the detected events were reviewed by both raters until an agreement was reached regarding the classification of the specific events (ripple vs. unclear HFO vs. artifact).

A total of 124 channels per segment were analyzed. Prior to HFO marking, two different sets of filters were applied to the data. A *finite impulse response filter* (FIR) labeled as *multifilter* with a frequency-range of 50–500 Hz was applied. We used this filter to remove the harmonics of line noise from the EEG-data and the FIR provides a higher constancy in phase-delay. The so-filtered data was obtained to enable identification of frequency activity typically seen in non-neural events like motor-dependent muscle movement. Afterwards, the same segment was filtered using an FIR in the gamma band with a frequency range of 80–250 Hz for the purpose of a detailed HFO analysis. Both versions of data (filtered at 50–500 Hz and at 80–250 Hz) were viewed simultaneously (see **Figure 2**).

The gamma-range filtered EEG-segment (80-250 Hz) was viewed with a time resolution of 450 mm/s, a timescale of 0.6 seconds per view and an amplitude scaling of 3,00 μ V. Standard scaling with zero mean corrected and 50–500 Hz filtered data was placed on the right side of the desktop. Time resolution was 310 mm/s and amplitude scaling was 1,10 μ V. Timescaling was 0.2 second per view.

Raters always analyzed groups of 6 channels simultaneously plus an additional EMG channel. Grouping of channels was based on spatial proximity to each other. Channels with low SNR or continuous artifacts were excluded. However, excluded channels were not blinded but merely marked with a red layer to serve as a reference for artifact identification (See Figure 2). According to Wang et al. (47) the ROI was defined over the central (C3, C4), the adjacent frontal (F3, Fz, F4) and parietal (P3, Pz, P4) region corresponding to the 10-20 montage of the scalp EEG. HFOs recorded during motor task performance were previously related to motor planning (48) and motor action (49). Therefore, the ROI should cover the premotor, motor and somatosensory cortices. For HFO analysis in the resting EEG, the ROI should cover a large region including the fronto-parietal default mode network (50). To minimize contamination effects in statistics due to false positives generated by muscle artifacts mimicking HFO's we previously excluded channels spatially related to cranial muscles (e.g. orbicularis oculi muscle, occipitofrontalis muscle, temporal



muscle). The 124 channels were the same for all patients and were shared symmetrically between the hemispheres. Channels of interest were chosen relating to their corresponding areas associated with a higher activity during different tasks (48–50). Additionally, we excluded all channels that showed continuous artifacts, no signal at all as well as channels with poor signal to noise ratio. By doing so, we reduced the number of channels from 256 to 124. Events of interest (EoI) that correlated with eye blinks within a range of 200ms before and after the event were also excluded. To do so, we used some of the frontal electrodes of the HD-EEG net as electrooculographic electrodes.

An analysis pane (**Figure 3**) with a set of configurable tools for evaluation of the selected EEG data was enabled for each of the displayed windows (33). The following representations were used for analysis of potential HFOs:

- 1. Empirical Mode Decomposition (EMD): Highpassfilter based on EMD (51).
- 2. Differential Fourier Transform (DFT).
- 3. Discrete Wavelet Packet Decomposition (DWPD): Signal-Power extraction over the segments using discrete time and frequency steps.

4. CWT: Continuous Wavelet Transform.

Events of interest (EoI) were marked by each rater and then classified using the information provided by the analysis pane. EoI's were classified into 3 categories, based on recent research investigating HFO-identification on the scalp EEG (29, 38, 52). Events consisting of at least 4 consecutive oscillations showing a regular morphology were considered as HFOs. The signals should stand out significantly from the background with respect to their amplitude and a superimposed activity should be visible in the multi-filtered raw data. A superimposed activity is an oscillation of high frequency, which "rides" on an oscillation of lower frequency.

Classification of events was performed as follows:

- (i) Events showing an isolated high frequency activity in the high pass filtered EEG and a superimposed activity in the multifilter were considered as HFOs (ripple).
- (ii) Events showing both, a high frequency activity in the high pass-filtered EEG as well as discrete "blob" in the DWPD however no superimposed activity in the raw data, were designated as unclear HFOs (*uHFO*).



(iii) Events that did not fulfill the criteria of an isolated blob neither showed a superimposed activity in the raw data were considered as artifacts (genArt). Activity showing a correlation between the observed EEG and the EMG activity were assumed to be triggered by muscle activity and also marked as artifacts.

Table 3 gives an overview about event classifications. An isolated blob shows at which frequency the oscillation has its maximum, i.e. where the signal power is located. Thus, an isolated blob is a quality mark that gives information about the "clarity" of the oscillation. When oscillations of various frequencies overlap the pattern in the DWPD looks more widespread. Artifacts show a broader representation in the frequency spectrum whereas HFO events appear as isolated "islands". Thus, DWPD can be used to exclude artifacts and verify true events.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis aimed to answer the question whether there is a significant difference between the groups of young and elderly patients regarding mean HFO rates. Statistical analyses were carried out using the IBM SPSS Statistics Software (IBM Corp. Released 2011. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 20.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp). Due to the small sample size, we conducted non-parametric tests. Rates of ripples and unclear HFOs identified during resting phases as well as during learning trials of the fingertapping task were calculated for each patient. The resting phases included the events identified during initial rest, pause rest, and the resting trials of the motor learning task. Because of the relatively small number of identified ripples, we also looked at the overall HFO rate, where in addition to ripples, we also included unclear HFOs (HFO = ripples + uHFO).

To test for significant group differences between younger and older patients, *Mann-Whitney tests* were carried out, comparing the ripple rates and the overall HFO rates both during the motor learning task and during resting phases. Because of multiple comparisons, all results were interpreted at the Bonferroni corrected level of significance p = 0.05/6 = 0.008.

Furthermore, we also conducted a semi-parametric repeated measures ANOVA with the factors age and condition to compare the detected HFOs during rest with those recorded during motor tasks.

We chose this method that only requires metric data but allows for non-normality and variance heterogeneity (53). This method is implemented in the function RM of the R-package MANOVA.RM (54). We used it with the parametric bootstrap with 1000 iterations. The parametric bootstrap showed the most favorable performance in unbalanced designs.

Since the analyzed EEG segments differed between the tasks (resting vs. motor-task) with respect to their length (resting: 198





TABLE 3 | Classification criteria and categories of events: Filtered: HFOs visible in High pass filtered data; Blob: isolated Blob visible in DWPD; Raw Data: superimposed activity visible in multi filtered raw data; Eventtype: High frequency oscillation (HFO); unclear high frequency oscillation (uHFO); generic Artifact (genArt).

Filtered	Blob	Raw Data	Eventtype
\checkmark	×	\checkmark	HFO (Ripple)
\checkmark	\checkmark	x	uHFO
\checkmark	×	×	genArt

sec.; motor-task: 60 sec.), the HFO rate per minute was calculated for each patient. **Figure 4** provides an overview about mean HFO rate of patients.

A control group was included to test for significant differences between patients suffering from epilepsy and patients with no epilepsy diagnosis. The control group was composed of EMU patients whose clinical picture was determined not to be a form of epilepsy. *Mann-Whitney tests* were carried out, comparing the ripple rates and the overall HFO rates both during the motor learning task and during resting phases. Because of multiple comparisons, all results were interpreted at the Bonferroni corrected level of significance p=0.05/6=0.008.

To investigate a possible influence of sleep on mean HFO rate, we calculated a correlation between the two variables. The amount of sleep was based on patients' information about the hours they have slept the night before the testing.

To investigate a possible lateralization effect, we calculated correlations between the patients' age and the number of HFOs detected in the epileptic hemisphere, and in the non-epileptic hemisphere, respectively. Furthermore, we also calculated correlations between the patients' age and the number of HFOs detected during the motor task, and during resting phases, respectively. Because of multiple comparisons, all results were interpreted at the Bonferroni corrected level of significance p = 0.05/4 = 0.0125.

RESULTS

Difference of HFO Rate; Young vs. Elderly Patients

The analyses were conducted separately for ripples, and ripples including unclear HFOs. Regarding the events detected while patients rested, a Mann-Whitney test indicated that there was no difference in the number of ripples between the younger and the older group of patients (U = 10.5, p = 0.429, r = 0.3).

Even after including unclear HFOs in the analysis, the Mann-Whitney test indicated that there was no difference between the two patient groups regarding the mean HFO rate during resting (U = 8.5, p = 0.247, r = 0.36).

During the learning trials of the fingertapping task, no clear ripple was identified in any of the patients. Regarding overall HFOs (*ripple* + *u*HFO), again the Mann-Whitney test indicated that there was no difference between the younger and the older group of patients (U = 14.0, p = 0.931, r = 0.06).





The average number of detected events during resting and during the motor task are displayed in **Figure 5**.

Statistical analysis was based on the mean HFO rate of patients. The results of the semi-parametric repeated measures ANOVA revealed no significant difference for the factor age $(F_{(1,25,53)} = 0.09; p = 0.767)$. There was also no significant difference in HFO rate between conditions ($F_{(1,Inf)} = 0.93; p = 0.334$). Finally, the results revealed a significant interaction effect between the two groups during the tasks ($F_{(1,Inf)} = 5.09; p = 0.024$). During the motor tasks, more HFOs were identified in the elderly group, while the opposite was the case during resting, with more events detected in the younger group of patients.

Difference of HFO Rate; Epilepsy Patients vs. Control Group

Regarding the events detected while patients rested, a *Mann-Whitney* test indicated that there was no difference in the number of ripples between the group of patients with epilepsy vs. the group without epilepsy (U = 23.0, p = 0.661, r = 0.16).

Even after including unclear HFOs the analysis, the *Mann-Whitney* test indicated that there was no difference between the two groups (U = 27.5, p = 1.00, r = 0.0).

No ripples were identified during the learning trials of the fingertapping task. Regarding overall HFOs (*ripple* + *uHFO*), the *Mann-Whitney* test indicated that there was no difference between the two groups (U = 26.0, p = 0.913, r = 0.04).

HFO-Rate and Sleep

A Spearman's rank-order correlation was run to determine the relationship between the amount of sleep the patients had the night before the recording and the number of detected events, both while resting and during the motor task. There was no significant correlation between sleep and the number of detected

LE 4 Diagnosed epileptic hemisphere and absolute HFO activity.

ID	Epileptic hemisphere*	HFOs – Total number				
		Left hemisphere	Right hemisphere			
< 25 yea	nrs					
004	Right	2	0			
022	Right	4	7			
023	Left	14	11			
024	Right	5	5			
028	Front	6	5			
029	NFD	11	15			
> 50 yea	nrs					
002	Left	6	3			
007	Left	0	0			
037	NFD	1	2			
039	NFD	0	1			
042	NFD	13	8			

* As diagnosed by the responsible physician; NFD, no final diagnosis.

HFOs while patients rested ($r_s(9) = -0.002$, p = 0.995). The correlation between sleep and the number of detected HFOs during the motor task was also not significant ($r_s(9) = -0.300$, p = 0.369).

HFO-Rate and Age; Lateralization

Spearman's rho correlation coefficient was used to assess the relationship between the patients' age and the overall number of HFOs detected in the epileptic hemisphere, i.e. number of HFOs combined across the two conditions, motor task and rest. There was no significant correlation between the two ($r_s = -0.397$, p = 0.436). Furthermore, after correction for multiple comparisons there was also no significant correlation between the patients' age and the number of HFOs detected in the non-epileptic hemisphere ($r_s = -0.841$, p = 0.036).

To provide an overview about a possible hemispheric dominance of HFO activity, we created a table, displaying the epileptic hemisphere as diagnosed by the physician, as well as the total number of HFOs split up by their hemispheric occurrence. Events were merged across conditions of motor and rest, as there was also no significant main effect for condition. Furthermore, there was also no significant relation between the number of HFOs observed in the HD-EEG and the epileptic hemisphere diagnosed by the physician. However, when considering the data shown in **Table 4**, the relatively low numbers of HFOs must be taken into account.

HFO-Rate and Age; Motor Related HFOs vs. Resting HFOs

Spearman's rho correlation coefficient was used to assess the relationship between the patients' age and the number of HFOs detected during the motor task, and the number of HFOs detected during the resting phase, respectively. There was no significant correlation between the patients' age and the number

of HFOs detected during performance of the motor task ($r_s = -0.358$, p = 0.486). There was also no significant correlation between the patients' age and the number of HFOs detected during the resting phase ($r_s = -0.522$, p = 0.288).

DISCUSSION

Because HFOs are intended to be used as a diagnostic marker for the identification of the seizure onset zone (SOZ) and ideally also for the epileptogenic zone in patients with epilepsy, we posed the question whether HFO occurrence on the scalp needs to take into account age as a confounding factor. We claim that examining the relationship between age and HFO rate might be crucial in developing an accurate diagnostic biomarker. Through the investigation of HFO rates in both elderly as well as young patients, we examined a possible change in HFO activity that comes with age. Therefore, we formulated the hypothesis that the HFO rate is increased in older populations and that it can be detected using scalp-EEG.

However, we were not able to replicate the general relation between HFO rate and age with the data collected in this study. HFO rate was not significantly elevated in an older population of patients across tasks. We may critically ask the question whether HFO occurrence is only elevated due to aging in prior research, or whether there are also factors of young age that contribute to HFO occurrence that were so far ignored. Our data showed an interaction of HFO rate by task, which we could interpret as a sign for age-related processing differences with respect to motor tasks. The difference between tasks in the older group is very small, while the younger group showed more HFOs during rest. Future studies with larger samples that are recruited with a broad distribution in age could shed more light on the age dependency in both the younger and older subgroup and assess these differences under different conditions and task requirements.

The sample is, however, still so small such that important moderators as the duration of epilepsy, medication, and localization of the seizure onset zone could not be considered in the analysis. Future studies with larger sample sizes, including also a critical number of healthy controls, are warranted in order to address this question.

Regarding patients' amount of sleep, we could not find a link between HFO event rate and the amount of sleep the night before the hospitalization. According to recent reports about influence of sleep on mean HFO rates, future studies need objective methods for the examination of sleep to rule out limitations like biases of self-disclosure. Additionally, increased pre-hospitalization nervosity that may influence sleep-pattern and therefore HFO activity should be considered.

Due to the small sample size and the heterogenous diagnoses it was not possible to perform an analysis by epilepsy type or epileptic focus. Nonetheless, we performed correlation between HFO rates found in the epileptic hemisphere as well as the non-epileptic hemisphere. This analysis revealed no lateralization effect for mean HFO rate, although a tendency for a significant correlation between age and HFO rate could be observed for the non-epileptic hemisphere. However, this effect was not significant after correction for multiple comparisons and the sample for this sub-analysis is rather small (n = 6), as for the other patients there was no clear localization of the seizure onset zone available. The rather high correlation coefficients warrant replication of this analysis in a larger sample. Furthermore, as can be seen in **Supplementary Table 2**, there is no clear pattern related to the type of epilepsy in terms of HFO rate.

Our results might contradict previous findings, but limitations and challenges regarding scalp HFO detection need to be considered. In contrast to Nakano and colleagues (44), who found that in invasive EEG the latter part of single HFO is enhanced in older subjects, using scalp EEG we investigated the influence of age on the total number of events occurring when performing different tasks rather than the increase of isolated segments of single events. Thus, our study design differs with respect to both the recording method and the primary objective. Although we did not demonstrate an age effect, the study at hand provides relevant considerations of how age associated aspects as well as non-age associated factors may influence validity and therefore quality of studies in the field.

In the following we will discuss the special setting of HFO detection in the scalp EEG that might explain the non-replicability of a relation between HFO rate and age in our sample.

Signal to Noise Ratio

High- frequency somatosensory evoked potentials (HF-SEPs) have been the target of recent investigations examining focal epilepsy as a network disease rather than an isolated dysfunction of narrow cortical regions (55). It was found that these HF-SEP's had a significantly longer duration in the affected hemisphere compared to the unaffected hemisphere as well as compared to controls, therefore reflecting interictal functional impairments of the thalamo-cortical network. A study conducted by Nakano and Hashimoto (44) used invasive EEG to record somatosensory evoked potentials by median nerve stimulation. They found that the later part of HFO activity is increased in older patients. These invasive methods provide the advantage of a higher SNR, for example by minimizing artificial distortions due to cranial or facial muscle-movement. Additionally they show a higher sensitivity for small electrical signals arising from deep brainregions. This explains the better identifiability of HFOs in the invasive EEG. In the scalp-EEG, a low background level of noise is indispensable for the identification of these correlates of small generators of neural signals (38). It is not always possible to keep the background noise level low, such that the identification of small events is less likely. In addition, artifacts may overlap with genuine HFOs. It has been claimed that the use of automatic detection would help to overcome this problem by valid identification of small events even in data with a higher background noise like it can be seen in scalp-EEG (56). Additionally, it has been assumed by previous studies that HFOoccurrence is in general rare in scalp EEG (38) which would be an alternative explanation of the lower HFO rates found in the actual study.

Epilepsy vs. No-Epilepsy

In the study at hand, we were unable to find significant differences in HFO rates between patients suffering from epilepsy and patients with no epilepsy diagnosis. It has been shown by previous studies that HFOs are positively correlated with epileptic spikes arising from structural brain changes like they are observed in patients suffering from epilepsy (28). The fact that invasive EEG is almost exclusively conducted in patients with severe epilepsy could partly explain why some studies with invasive recordings report a higher rate of HFOs compared to our study, which exclusively analyzed scalp-EEG. Notwithstanding that HFOs can also be recorded in healthy subjects, they are less prominent than pathological ones. This was shown by Kandel and Buzsáki (57) where stimulation of mesial brain areas like the thalamus induced neocortical ripples. Because the study at hand was conducted on patients admitted to the EMU for epilepsy clarification it is possible that we recorded data from patients with less severe forms of epilepsy resulting in lower rates of identified HFOs.

Furthermore, since the study procedure was conducted on the first day of hospitalization before drug tapering was initiated, an influence of medication on the occurrence of HFOs cannot be ruled out. Unless otherwise stated, all patients in the study responded to their medication and did not suffer any form of drug resistant epilepsy. Out of 11 patients 4 had no medication at all. For a detailed overview about patients' medication see Supplementary Table 1. Studies in intracranial EEG show that medication withdrawal increases the rate of HFOs (58). Another study found that HF-SEPs are modulated by antiepileptic drugs (59). This study found that antiepileptic drugs reduce the amplitude as well as the duration of HFOs of the affected hemisphere. The HFO suppressing effects reported by these studies might explain why we were not able to find a significant difference in HFO activity between groups. Also, controlling for medication and other medical conditions statistically was not possible due to the small sample size and must be considered a limitation of the study.

Sample Size & Power

The probability of being able to statistically detect a true effect depends on the statistical power of the study which in turn depends on the effect size and the sample size. Given the small average effect size reported in neuroscience in general and in EEG assessment in particular, the importance of an appropriate sample size cannot be stressed enough to increase reproducibility of studies (60).

Because relatively few studies investigated a relationship between HFOs and age in the scalp- EEG and the fact that almost no study offers information about the presumed effect size and how the sample size was calculated (61), there is nearly no data for orientation. To overcome the limitations of small and heterogenic samples multicentered studies are needed in the field of HFO research. This is very challenging due to missing standardized protocols for both, recording as well as for the analysis of data.

Limitations of Segment Duration Using Scalp-EEG

A limiting factor regarding segmental length chosen in the study at hand was the time expenditure related to the manual analysis of the HD-EEG data. Due to this as well as an a priori determined study-duration and the goal of screening as many different patients as possible, we decided to analyze shorter EEG-segments of different tasks. Striving for highest possible quality, the study at hand aimed to map a maximal representative section of the entire EEG of the respective patients. In order to do so care was taken to achieve a maximum of data quality as well as a minimum of artificial bias. To overcome these shortcomings, future studies using automatic detection are needed therefore enabling the analysis of longer EEG-segments with the same or even less time expenditure.

Pathological and Physiological HFOs

An important challenge of HFO research is the distinction of physiological and pathological HFOs. The idea of contrasting resting EEG with EEG during task performance in our study was set out to provoke physiological HFOs related to movement, and potentially distinguish them from pathological HFOs. However, it is still not possible to distinguish HFOs on a single-event basis and a very sophisticated design with provocative conditions might be needed to document increased HFO occurrence over regions that are functionally involved in execution of tasks and evoke physiological activity in the high frequency range.

Although we did not find significant differences in HFO activity between older and younger patients with respect to epileptic lateralization, it is noteworthy that the *p*-values in point 3.4 are rather small when comparing the non-epileptic hemispheres ($r_s = -0.841$, p = 0.036). There are 2 possible explanations for the actual *p*-values. On one hand, it could be that younger patients showed increased physiological HFO activity in the non-epileptic hemisphere compared to the older patients due to higher rate of neuronal activity. However, whether these HFOs were of pathological or physiological origin cannot be assessed in this study. On the other hand, it could be a purely coincidental finding due to the sample size. In favor of this theory would be the fact that, on close inspection of Table 3, there is no visible difference between the two hemispheres with respect to their HFO activity, which rather suggests against excessive physiological HFO activity. Although the Bonferroni correction provides some protection against false positives, it also poses the risk of creating false negatives. This should be taken into account when it comes to interpretation of the results.

The relevance of being able to distinguish between pathological and physiological HFOs also becomes apparent when it comes to the interpretation of the ANOVA. From a physiological point of view, an increased activity during motor tasks in older subjects could indicate an increased cognitive effort, whereas in younger subjects it could indicate a possibly higher consolidation activity in the resting phases associated with the maintenance of the numerical sequences of fingertapping. From a pathological point of view, higher HFO rates could be indicative of neurodegenerative processes in task associated areas in older subjects, with a decreased activity in younger patients.

However, the most likely explanation in this case is that it is a coincidental finding due to the rather small sample size.

Although this study included various conditions, it is not easily possible to distinguish physiological from pathological HFOs with this study design. Interestingly, especially HFOs recorded during sleep can be highly indicative in these respects, as recently shown (61). Specifically, HFOs recorded with invasive EEG during sleep were described to occur mainly in the hippocampus and occipital lobe, irrespective of the seizure onset zone or lesions related to epilepsy (62). We did not have HD-EEG recordings during sleep at our disposal. Future studies should investigate the possibility to record physiological high frequency activity during deep sleep. However, we investigated resting phases before and between our tasks regarding HFO activity. Although this is not a substitute for long-term recordings it still serves the purpose of capturing an interictal activity with increased signal-to-noise ratio.

CONCLUSIONS

In this study, we did not confirm a difference in HFO-rate between a young (<25 years) and older (>50 years) group of patients with epilepsy. Several reasons may account for the non-significant differences between age groups observed in the scalp-EEG and future studies should aim at a larger sample size, analysis of longer EEG segments, acquisition of sleep-EEG, testing under various conditions of rest and cognitive effort, and record under drug withdrawal. Because HFO detection in scalp EEG provides a cheap and non-invasive alternative to invasive EEG it is important that further studies investigate if an age dependent increase of HFO activity is associated with structural aging processes rather than being of epileptogenic nature. We deem it to be crucial to take into account biases such as age when introducing HFOs as a new biomarker in the diagnosis and management of epilepsy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because of privacy issues. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to philipp.windhager@hotmail.com.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethik-Kommission für das Bundesland Salzburg: E/1755, 415-E/1806/4-2014, initial approval on 30/03/2014, latest amendment on 11/07/2016. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YH: conceptualization, writing-review, editing, project administration, and funding acquisition. PW, AM, and YH:

methodology and writing—original draft preparation. PW and AM: validation, investigation, and visualization. AM: formal analysis and data curation. ET and AB: resources. YH, ET, and AB: supervision. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was funded by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF), grant number KLI 657-B31, and by the Research Fund of the Paracelsus Medical University (PMU-FFF). The APC was funded by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) and by the Research Fund of the Paracelsus Medical University (PMU-FFF), grant number A-18/01/029-HöL.

REFERENCES

- Frauscher B, Bartolomei F, Kobayashi K, Cimbalnik J. vant Klooster MA, Rampp S, et al. High-frequency oscillations: The state of clinical research. *Epilepsia.* (2017) 58:1316–29. doi: 10.1111/epi.13829
- Zijlmans M, Worrell GA, Dümpelmann M, Stieglitz T, Barborica A, Heers M, et al. How to record high-frequency oscillations in epilepsy: a practical guideline. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:1305–15. doi: 10.1111/epi.13814
- Jacobs J, Asano E, Otsubo H, Wu JY, Zijlmans M, Mohamed I, et al. Highfrequency oscillations (HFOs) in clinical epilepsy. *Progress Neurobiol.* (2012) 98:302–15. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.03.001
- 4. Bragin A, Engel J, Wilson CL, Fried I, Buzsáki G. High-frequency oscillations in human brain. *Hippocampus.* (1999) 9:137–42. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1063(1999)9:2<137::AID-HIPO5>3.0.CO;2-0
- Buzsáki G, da Silva FL. High frequency oscillations in the intact brain. Progress Neurobiol. (2012) 98:241–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.02.004
- Höller Y, Kutil R, Klaffenböck L, Thomschewski A, Höller PM, Bathke AC, et al. High-frequency oscillations in epilepsy and surgical outcome: a meta-analysis. *Front Human Neurosci.* (2015) 9:574. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00574
- Noorlag L. van't Klooster MA, van Huffelen AC, van Klink NE, Benders MJ, de Vries LS, et al. High-frequency oscillations recorded with surface EEG in neonates with seizures. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2021) 132:1452– 61. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2021.02.400
- Tamilia E, Dirodi M, Alhilani M, Grant PE, Madsen JR, Stufflebeam SM, et al. Scalp ripples as prognostic biomarkers of epileptogenicity in pediatric surgery. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2020) 7:329–42. doi: 10.1002/acn3.50994
- Höller P, Trinka E, Höller Y. High-frequency oscillations in the scalp electroencephalogram: mission impossible without computational intelligence. *Comput Intell Neurosci.* (2018) 2018:1638097. doi: 10.1155/2018/1638097
- Kerber K, Dümpelmann M, Schelter B, Le Van P, Korinthenberg R, Schulze-Bonhage A, et al. Differentiation of specific ripple patterns helps to identify epileptogenic areas for surgical procedures. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2014) 125:1339–45. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013.11.030
- Roelfsema PR, Engel AK, König P, Singer W. Visuomotor integration is associated with zero time-lag synchronization among cortical areas. *Nature*. (1997) 385:157–61. doi: 10.1038/385157a0
- Lisman JE, Idiart MA. Storage of 7 +/- 2 short-term memories in oscillatory subcycles. Science. (1995) 267:1512–5. doi: 10.1126/science.7878473
- Sederberg PB, Schulze-Bonhage A, Madsen JR, Bromfield EB, McCarthy DC, Brandt A, et al. Hippocampal and neocortical gamma oscillations predict memory formation in humans. *Cerebral Cortex.* (2007) 17:1190– 6. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhl030
- Tallon-Baudry C, Bertrand O, Peronnet F, Pernier J. Induced gamma-band activity during the delay of a visual short-term memory task in humans. J Neurosci. (1998) 18:4244–54. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-11-04244.1998

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the patients for their participation, the team at the epilepsy monitoring unit for their support & Peter Höller for providing the software MEEGIPS. Further we want to thank Nathalie Gerner, Adriana Sciarrone, Christopher Höhn & Aljoscha Thomschewski for their help with the recordings.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2021.722657/full#supplementary-material

- Murthy VN, Fetz EE. Coherent 25- to 35-Hz oscillations in the sensorimotor cortex of awake behaving monkeys. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (1992) 89:5670– 4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.12.5670
- Chen Z, Maturana MI, Burkitt AN, Cook MJ, Grayden DB. High-frequency oscillations in epilepsy: what have we learned and what needs to be addressed. *Neurology*. (2021) 96:439–48. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000011465
- Singer W, Gray CM. Visual feature integration and the temporal correlation hypothesis. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (1995) 18:555–86. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ne.18.030195.003011
- Park CJ, Hong SB. High Frequency Oscillations in Epilepsy: Detection Methods and Considerations in Clinical Application. *Journal of Epilepsy Research.* (2019) 9:1–13. doi: 10.14581/jer.19001
- Thomschewski A, Gerner N, Langthaler PB, Trinka E, Bathke AC, Fell J, et al. Automatic vs. manual detection of high frequency oscillations in intracranial recordings from the human temporal lobe. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:563577. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.563577
- Frauscher B, von Ellenrieder N, Ferrari-Marinho T, Avoli M, Dubeau F, Gotman J. Facilitation of epileptic activity during sleep is mediated by high amplitude slow Waves. *Brain.* (2015) 138:1629–41. doi: 10.1093/brain/awv073
- Nonoda Y, Miyakoshi M, Ojeda A, Makeig S, Juhász C, Sood S, et al. Interictal high-frequency oscillations generated by seizure onset and eloquent areas may be differentially coupled with different slow waves. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2016) 127:2489–99. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2016.03.022
- 22. Von Ellenrieder N, Frauscher B, Dubeau F, Gotman J. Interaction with slow waves during sleep improves discrimination of physiologic and pathologic high-frequency oscillations (80-500 Hz). *Epilepsia.* (2016) 57:869–78. doi: 10.1111/epi.13380
- Alkawadri R, Gaspard N, Goncharova II, Spencer DD, Gerrard JL, Zaveri H, et al. The spatial and signal characteristics of physiologic high frequency oscillations. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:1986–95. doi: 10.1111/epi.12851
- Cimbalnik J, Brinkmann B, Kremen V, Jurak P, Berry B, Gompel JV, et al. Physiological and pathological high frequency oscillations in focal epilepsy. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2018) 5:1062–76. doi: 10.1002/acn3.618
- Bruder JC, Dümpelmann M, Piza DL, Mader M, Schulze-Bonhage A, Jacobs-Le Van J. Physiological ripples associated with sleep spindles differ in waveform morphology from epileptic ripples. *Int J Neural Syst.* (2017) 27:1750011. doi: 10.1142/S0129065717500113
- 26. Jacobs J, Vogt C, LeVan P, Zelmann R, Gotman J, Kobayashi K. The identification of distinct high-frequency oscillations during spikes delineates the seizure onset zone better than high-frequency spectral power changes. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2016) 127:129–42. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2015.04.053
- Schönberger J, Knopf A, Klotz KA, Dümpelmann M, Schulze-Bonhage A, Jacobs J. Distinction of physiologic and epileptic ripples: an electrical stimulation study. *Brain Sci.* (2021) 11:538. doi: 10.3390/brainsci110 50538
- Urrestarazu E, Chander R, Dubeau F, Gotman J. Interictal high-frequency oscillations (100-500 Hz) in the intracerebral EEG of epileptic patients. *Brain: A J Neurol.* (2007) 130:2354–66. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm149

- Gerner N, Thomschewski A, Marcu A, Trinka E, Höller Y. Pitfalls in scalp high-frequency oscillation detection from long-term EEG monitoring. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:432. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00432
- Menendez de la Prida L, Trevelyan AJ. Cellular mechanisms of high frequency oscillations in epilepsy: On the diverse sources of pathological activities. *Epilepsy Res.* (2011) 97:308–317. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2011.02.009
- Kuhnke N, Schwind J, Dümpelmann M, Mader M, Schulze-Bonhage A, Jacobs J. High Frequency Oscillations in the Ripple Band (80– 250 Hz) in Scalp EEG: Higher Density of Electrodes Allows for Better Localization of the Seizure Onset Zone. *Brain Topogr.* (2018) 31:1059– 72. doi: 10.1007/s10548-018-0658-3
- Nariai H, Hussain SA, Bernardo D, Motoi H, Sonoda M, Kuroda N, et al. Scalp EEG interictal high frequency oscillations as an objective biomarker of infantile spasms. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2020) 131:2527– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2020.08.013
- Höller P, Trinka E, Höller Y. MEEGIPS—A modular EEG investigation and processing system for visual and automated detection of high frequency oscillations. *Front Neuroinform.* (2019) 13:1–29. doi: 10.3389/fninf.2019.00020
- Shibata T, Kobayashi K. Epileptic high-frequency oscillations in scalp electroencephalography. *Acta Med Okayama*. (2018) 72:325–9. doi: 10.18926/AMO/56166
- Mooij AH, Raijmann RCMA, Jansen FE, Braun KPJ, Zijlmans M. Physiological ripples (± 100 Hz) in spike-free scalp eegs of children with and without epilepsy. *Brain Topogr.* (2017) 30:739–46. doi: 10.1007/s10548-017-0590-y
- Boran E, Sarnthein J, Krayenbühl N, Ramantani G, Fedele T. High-frequency oscillations in scalp EEG mirror seizure frequency in pediatric focal epilepsy. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1–10. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-52700-w
- Burnos S, Fedele T, Schmid O, Krayenbühl N, Sarnthein J. Detectability of the somatosensory evoked high frequency oscillation (HFO) co-recorded by scalp EEG and ECoG under propofol. *NeuroImage: Clin.* (2016) 10:318– 25. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2015.11.018
- Andrade-Valenca LP, Dubeau F, Mari F, Zelmann R, Gotman J. Interictal scalp fast oscillations as a marker of the seizure onset zone. *Neurology*. (2011) 77:524–31. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318228bee2
- Petti M, Toppi J, Babiloni F, Cincotti F, Mattia D, Astolfi L, et al. Resting-state brain topological reorganization as a function of age. *Comput Intell Neurosci.* (2016) 2016:6243694. doi: 10.1155/2016/6243694
- Kotloski RJ, Dowding J, Hermann BP, Sutula TP. Epilepsy and aging. *Handb Clin Neurol.* (2019) 167:455–75. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-804766-8.00025-X
- Pardoe HR, Cole JH, Blackmon K, Thesen T, Kuzniecky R. Structural brain changes in medically refractory focal epilepsy resemble premature brain aging. *Epilepsy Res.* (2017) 133:28–32. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2017.03.007
- Beghi E, Giussani G. Aging and the Epidemiology of Epilepsy. Neuroepidemiology. (2018) 51:216–23. doi: 10.1159/000493484
- Tombini M, Assenza G, Ricci L, Lanzone J, Boscarino M, Vico C, et al. Temporal lobe epilepsy and Alzheimer's disease: from preclinical to clinical evidence of a strong association. J Alzheimers Dis Rep. (2021) 5:243–61. doi: 10.3233/ADR-200286
- Nakano S, Hashimoto I. The later part of high-frequency oscillations in human somatosensory evoked potentials is enhanced in aged subjects. *Neurosci Lett.* (1999) 276:83–6. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(99)00811-3
- Cserpan D, Boran E, Lo Biundo SP, Rosch R, Sarnthein J, Ramantani G. Scalp high-frequency oscillation rates are higher in younger children. *Brain Commun.* (2021) 3:fcab052. doi: 10.1093/braincomms/fcab052
- 46. Avigdor T, Abdallah C, von Ellenrieder N, Hedrich T, Rubino A, Lo Russo G, et al. Fast oscillations >40 Hz localize the epileptogenic zone: An electrical source imaging study using high-density electroencephalography. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2021) 132:568–80. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2020.11.031
- Wang T, Deng J, He B. Classifying EEG-based motor imagery tasks by means of time-frequency synthesized spatial patterns. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2004) 115:2744–53. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2004.06.022
- Darvas F, Scherer R, Ojemann JG, Rao RP, Miller KJ, Sorensen LB. High gamma mapping using EEG. *Neuroimage*. (2010) 49:930–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.08.041

- Ball T, Demandt E, Mutschler I, Neitzel E, Mehring C, Vogt K, et al. Movement related activity in the high gamma range of the human EEG. *Neuroimage*. (2008) 41:302–10. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008. 02.032
- Lachaux JP, Axmacher N, Mormann F, Halgren E, Crone NE. Highfrequency neural activity and human cognition: Past, present and possible future of intracranial EEG research. *Progress Neurobiol.* (2012) 98:279– 301. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.06.008
- Flandrin P, Rilling G, Gonçalvés P. Empirical mode decomposition as a filter bank. *IEEE Signal Process Lett.* (2004) 11:112–4. doi: 10.1109/LSP.2003.821662
- Zelmann R, Lina JM, Schulze-Bonhage A, Gotman J, Jacobs J. Scalp EEG is not a blur: It can see high frequency oscillations although their generators are small. *Brain Topogr.* (2014) 27:683–704. doi: 10.1007/s10548-013-0321-y
- Bathke AC, Friedrich S, Pauly M, Konietschke F, Staffen W, Strobl N, et al. Testing mean differences among groups: multivariate and repeated measures analysis with minimal assumptions. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (2018) 53:348– 59. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2018.1446320
- Friedrich S, Konietschke F, Pauly M. Resampling-based analysis of multivariate data and repeated measures designs with the R package MANOVA. RM R J. (2019) 11:380–400. doi: 10.32614/RJ-2019-051
- Assenza G, Lanzone J, Insola A, Amatori G, Ricci L, Tombini M, et al. Thalamo-cortical network dysfunction in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2020) 131:548–54. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2019.10.017
- Von Ellenrieder N, Andrade-Valença LP, Dubeau F, Gotman J. Automatic detection of fast oscillations (40-200Hz) in scalp EEG recordings. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2012) 123:670–80. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2011.07.050
- 57. Kandel A, Buzsáki G. Cellular-synaptic generation of sleep spindles, spike-and-wave discharges, and evoked thalamocortical responses in the neocortex of the rat. J Neurosci. (1997) 17:6783–97. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-17-06783.1997
- Zijlmans M, Jacobs J, Zelmann R, Dubeau F, Gotman J. High-frequency oscillations mirror disease activity in patients with epilepsy. *Neurology*. (2009) 72:979–86. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000344402.20334.81
- Lanzone J, Boscarino M, Ricci L, Insola A, Tombini M, Di Lazzaro V, et al. The effects of antiepileptic drugs on high-frequency oscillations in somatosensory evoked potentials. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2020) 131:1917– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2020.05.022
- Button KS, Ioannidis JPA, Mokrysz C, Nosek BA, Flint J, Robinson ESJ, et al. Power failure: Why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 14:365–76. doi: 10.1038/nrn3475
- Larson MJ, Carbine KA. Sample size calculations in human electrophysiology (EEG and ERP) studies: A systematic review and recommendations for increased rigor. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2017) 111:33–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2016.06.015
- Melani F, Zelmann R, Mari F, Gotman J. Continuous High Frequency Activity: A peculiar SEEG pattern related to specific brain regions. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2013) 124:1507–16. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2012.11.016

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Windhager, Marcu, Trinka, Bathke and Höller. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Remote Memory in Epilepsy: Assessment, Impairment, and Implications Regarding Hippocampal Function

Sanya Rastogi^{1,2}, Kimford J. Meador³, William B. Barr⁴, Orrin Devinsky^{4,5,6} and Beth A. Leeman-Markowski^{1,4*}

¹ Epilepsy and Cognition Laboratory, Veterans Affairs, New York Harbor Healthcare System, Research Service, New York, NY, United States, ² College of Arts and Science, New York University, New York, NY, United States, ³ Department of Neurology and Neurological Sciences, Comprehensive Epilepsy Program, Stanford University School of Medicine, Palo Alto, CA, United States, ⁴ Department of Neurology, Comprehensive Epilepsy Center, New York University Langone Health, New York, NY, United States, ⁵ Department of Neurosurgery, New York University Langone Health, New York, NY, United States, ⁶ Department of Psychiatry, New York University Langone Health, New York, NY, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yvonne Höller, University of Akureyri, Iceland

Reviewed by:

Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Beth A. Leeman-Markowski beth.leeman-markowski@ nyulangone.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 15 January 2022 Accepted: 10 February 2022 Published: 08 April 2022

Citation:

Rastogi S, Meador KJ, Barr WB, Devinsky O and Leeman-Markowski BA (2022) Remote Memory in Epilepsy: Assessment, Impairment, and Implications Regarding Hippocampal Function. Front. Neurol. 13:855332. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.855332 Studies of epilepsy patients provide insight into the neuroscience of human memory. Patients with remote memory deficits may learn new information but have difficulty recalling events from years past. The processes underlying remote memory impairment are unclear and likely result from the interaction of multiple factors, including hippocampal dysfunction. The hippocampus likely has a continued role in remote semantic and episodic memory storage over time, and patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) are at particular risk for deficits. Studies have focused on lateralization of remote memory, often with greater impairment in left TLE, which may relate to verbal task demands. Remote memory testing is restricted by methodological limitations. As a result, deficits have been difficult to measure. This review of remote memory focuses on evidence for its underlying neurobiology, theoretical implications for hippocampal function, and methodological difficulties that complicate testing in epilepsy patients.

Keywords: remote memory, long-term memory, consolidation, autobiographical memory, episodic memory, epilepsy, seizures, hippocampus

INTRODUCTION

Anterograde memory deficits reflect the inability to form new memories, while retrograde amnesia refers to the loss of prior learned information. These forms of memory dysfunction provide insight into the processes of memory formation, consolidation, and retrieval. Nearly 50% of people with epilepsy have anterograde and retrograde memory impairments (1) which are often multifactorial in etiology, due to underlying hippocampal pathology (2, 3), frequent seizures (4, 5), early age of onset (6, 7), and long epilepsy duration (8). In 1953, patient H.M. developed severe anterograde and moderate, temporally graded retrograde amnesia following bilateral mesial temporal lobe resection for refractory epilepsy (9–11). H.M. revolutionized our understanding of the hippocampus' role in memory formation and paved the way for studies of anterograde memory in epilepsy. Remote retrograde memory deficits in epilepsy patients, however, are not well-understood. Patients with remote memory deficits may learn new information but have difficulty recalling

events from long ago (12). The time point at which a memory is considered remote is ill-defined, but is typically ≥ 1 year (13). Patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) are at particular risk for remote memory dysfunction (14).

Research in remote memory has focused on autobiographical and general semantic memory. Episodic autobiographical memory is the recollection of personal events (i.e., celebrating your 10th birthday), while semantic autobiographical memory refers to factual knowledge of your past (i.e., the school you attended). In contrast, general semantic memory is minimally influenced by personal experience. General semantic memory pertains to common knowledge of public figures and events, such as recognition of famous faces and awareness of news items.

ANATOMY OF REMOTE MEMORY

The hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex are activated during functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies of remote memory. The anterior hippocampus is engaged during autobiographical recall and event construction, while the posterior hippocampus is implicated in event elaboration and spatial memory (15, 16). The hippocampus is comprised of multiple subregions that support establishment of new memories ("encoding"). Initial input from the entorhinal cortex (EC) projects via the perforant pathway to the Cornu Ammonis (CA), specifically area CA3, where intrinsic recurrent connections form a memory trace (17). The projection from the EC to CA3 may occur directly, or indirectly via the dentate gyrus, which reduces interference between similar information (17). The EC and CA3 activate CA1, which outputs information back to the EC and subiculum (17). Finally, the EC and subiculum relay information to neocortical locations (17). There is conflicting evidence, however, regarding the duration of the hippocampus' role in memory retrieval, resulting in opposing memory consolidation theories.

Across species, impairment of recent memory with relative preservation of remote memory is evident in the setting of hippocampal damage, a pattern termed "temporally graded retrograde amnesia" (18, 19). In contrast, patients with damage to lateral and anterior temporal neocortex can be amnestic for remote events (20). Autobiographical memory, for example, is intact in patients with damage restricted to medial temporal structures but is impaired when the injury extends to neocortex (21). These findings suggest that the hippocampus becomes less important for declarative memory storage and retrieval over time, the basic premise of the "standard model of systems consolidation" (SMSC) (22). This model proposes that new memories are encoded in both cortical and hippocampal regions, but are stored in progressively strengthened cortico-cortical synapses, while the hippocampal trace fades with time. The hippocampus is no longer required for retrieval once neocortical storage is sufficiently established (23). The hippocampaldependent stage lasts up to 1 week after encoding, while the new information is gradually integrated into pre-existing cortical networks (24). Recall further strengthens cortico-cortical connections, resulting in the full transfer of the memory from the hippocampus to the neocortex ("consolidation") (24). Retrieval of consolidated memories is independent of the hippocampus, predicting intact remote memory in patients with hippocampal lesions.

In contrast, the multiple trace theory (MTT) posits that spatial and context-specific details of an episodic memory are encoded in the hippocampus and remain stored there indefinitely, although some information is transferred to the neocortex (25). The entire hippocampal-neocortical pathway forms the consolidated memory trace. During each subsequent retrieval, the trace is reactivated, and a new, slightly different trace is established, so that over time, multiple related traces exist to facilitate retrieval. The MTT also emphasizes a distinction between episodic and semantic memory, in that both rely on the hippocampus for encoding, but general semantic memory eventually becomes independent of the hippocampus. While hippocampal traces contain contextual, spatial, and temporal details, cortical traces are semantic and context-free. Personally significant semantic memories, however, may have continued mesial temporal involvement.

The MTT predicts temporally graded retrograde amnesia for general semantic memory following hippocampal injury (26). Hippocampal damage would preferentially affect recent general semantic memories, as remote memories would be wellestablished in the neocortex. Yet, numerous rodent studies provide opposing evidence, with flat retrograde amnesia gradients for semantic memory after complete hippocampal damage (26-29). The MTT also posits that episodic memories become more strongly established in the hippocampus over time as the number of traces pertaining to that memory increases. Recent episodic memories, which have fewer memory traces, should be more disrupted by partial hippocampal lesions than remote memories (30). While the MTT places importance on the amount of damaged tissue, the specific structures affected may be the relevant factor. Several rodent studies, however, showed that remote memories were more vulnerable to partial hippocampal damage than recent memories, even when the precise location of hippocampal damage varied (27-29). Further, electrophysiologic unit recordings (31, 32) and calcium imaging (33, 34) in rodents showed a constant or decreasing number of place cells representing spatial memories, which contrasts the MTT's prediction that the number of activated cells increases when re-experiencing a specific context. Although much of the rodent literature supports the MTT, conflicting evidence surrounding the memory consolidation process remains.

Derived from the MTT, the trace transformation theory (TTT) (35) accounts for changes in memories over time, transforming from highly detailed to coarse representations. The TTT emphasizes the role of the posterior hippocampus and its connections to perceptual posterior neocortical regions in supporting finely detailed memories and the anterior hippocampus for remembering the overall "gist." The anterior hippocampus connects with anterior neocortical regions, notably the medial prefrontal cortex, where schemas represent common features across multiple events. These pathways are reactivated over the memory's lifetime, shifting to and from finely or coarsely detailed recollections. While detailed recollection will

always require hippocampal activation, schematic memory may be supported by the neocortex alone.

The MTT and TTT are supported by neurophysiological data from patients with medically refractory epilepsy. Intracranial EEG recordings demonstrated sharp wave ripples, oscillatory patterns supporting memory reactivation, in the hippocampi during recall of autobiographical memories (36). Ripple rate was higher during retrieval of remote memories compared to more recent events, supporting a continued role of the hippocampus. Ripples preferentially occurred in the anterior hippocampus, which the authors considered "compatible with [a] gist-like recollection strategy." With increasingly remote memories, ripple rate patterns associated with autobiographical events gradually became more similar to patterns of semantic retrieval, consistent with the theory that memory traces evolve over time to more general representations. Further, ripples correlated with cortical high frequency band activation, including posterior neocortex and medial prefrontal cortex, supporting the theory of recurrent hippocampal-neocortical interplay in these regions during autobiographical recall. Electrocorticographic data is consistent with functional MRI activation of hippocampal, medial frontal, and parietal regions during recall of remote autobiographical events (37).

REMOTE MEMORY DEFICITS IN EPILEPSY

Remote memory abilities in epilepsy patients could also help distinguish between these models. If the SMSC is true, remote memory should be relatively unaffected in patients with mesial TLE, although patients with neocortical epilepsy may be impaired. If the MTT/TTT is correct, patients with either mesial TLE or neocortical epilepsy may have impaired remote memory. The distinction may be blurred, however, in that focal epilepsy negatively impacts wide networks, such that mesial TLE may impair neocortical function. Further, the epileptogenic neocortical regions may lie outside of those supporting consolidation, such that remote memory could remain intact. Studies are limited by the inclusion of post-surgical epilepsy patients, in whom mesial and lateral structures are removed, and mixed TLE groups with either mesial or neocortical epileptogenic zones. Nevertheless, most studies demonstrated remote memory impairments in TLE (Table 1).

Autobiographical Memory in Epilepsy

Autobiographical memory was impaired in TLE patients compared to healthy controls, although it did not correlate with subjective memory complaints (55), which deserves further study. The Autobiographical Memory Interview (AMI) and Modified Crovitz Test were intact for personal semantics in pre-surgical TLE patients, the majority with mesial lesions, but memory for autobiographical episodes was impaired relative to controls (49). Similarly, subjects with mesial TLE, a subset postsurgical excision with lateral resections of unclear extent, had intact semantic autobiographical memory, but poorer episodic memory on the AMI than controls across all time periods (47). Pre-surgical TLE patients, the majority with hippocampal pathology, were impaired when generating friends' names (semantic autobiographical memory) on the Autobiographical Fluency Test, with the right TLE patients performing worse than controls when generating autobiographical events (46). Presurgical data largely support the MTT, in that hippocampal lesions were associated with impaired episodic remote memory. Data regarding semantic autobiographical memory, however, lend inconsistent support for the hypothesis that semantic memory is consolidated strictly in neocortex (46).

Variable autobiographical memory performance is evident post-anterior temporal lobectomy (ATL). Patients post-ATL had normal autobiographical event recall on the Autobiographical Fluency Test (43). In contrast, a small sample of post-left temporal lobectomy patients had impaired autobiographical memory for pre-surgical events (38). Pre- and post-surgical patients also had impaired memory for autobiographical events, in that memories contained impoverished perceptual detail (56). Reasons for variable results are unclear, but may relate to the laterality or extent of resection. One study included patients post-ATL, which removes neocortical and mesial structures, and patients post-selective amygdalohippocampectomy (SAH), which spares neocortex (56), but did not directly compare the two groups.

General Semantic Memory in Epilepsy

General semantic memory is consistently impaired in TLE, preand post-temporal resection. Like studies of autobiographical memory, data support the MTT/TTT, demonstrating a continual role for the hippocampus in retrieval of remote memory, but do not suggest that consolidated semantic memories are restricted to neocortex. Hippocampal ripples, for example, were of similar magnitude during general semantic and autobiographical episodic remote memory retrieval (36). Patients with TLE with either mesial or neocortical lesions had poorer recall and recognition for general semantic memory of public news items compared to healthy controls, extratemporal epilepsy patients, and primary generalized epilepsy patients (12). Pre-surgical left TLE patients, most with hippocampal pathology, had impaired recall and recognition of public knowledge, assessed by the Famous Faces, Famous Events, and Public Fluency Tests (46). Pre-surgical patients with TLE, most with mesial lesions, had poorer performance than healthy controls when naming famous faces and scenes, answering questions about news events, and indicating whether famous figures were dead or alive (49). Postleft temporal lobectomy, general semantic memory deficits were also evident when naming famous faces, providing knowledge about famous events and people, and recognizing names of short-lived television shows (38).

Lateralization of Remote Memory in Epilepsy

Evidence for lateralization of remote memory in epilepsy patients is mixed. Some data indicate no relationship between laterality of the seizure onset zone and memory for public news items (12) or autobiographical memory (47). Both left and right TLE groups were impaired, for example, when generating friends' names (46). Other data suggest lateralization of certain types of remote memory, with impaired autobiographical event

Study	Subjects	Type of remote memory tested	Retrograde memory tasks	Findings
Barr et al. (38)	Post-surgical: 6 LTL 6 RTL 6 Healthy controls	Autobiographical Public/semantic	Famous Faces Test (39, 40) Television Test (41) Goldberg-Barnett Remote Memory Battery (42)	LTL < RTL = HC
Bergin et al. (12)	Pre-surgical: 14 LTLE 19 RTLE 18 Left Ex-TLE 15 Right Ex-TLE 10 PGE 30 Healthy Controls	Public/semantic	Questionnaire assessing knowledge of public events	TLE < Ex-TLE = PGE = HC RTLE = LTLE R-EXTLE = L-EXTLE
Lah et al. (43)	Post-surgical: 15 LTL 15 RTL 15 Healthy Controls	Autobiographical Public/semantic	Australian Remote Memory Battery (ARMB)— Famous Faces and Famous Events (44) Public Fluency Test (PFT)— Famous Names and Famous Events (45) Autobiographical Fluency Test (AFT)— Names and Events (45)	Famous events: RTL < HC = LTL Famous names: LTL < RTL = HC AFT-Names: RTL < HC = LTL AFT-Events: LTL = RTL = HC
Lah et al. (46)	Pre-surgical: 15 LTLE 14 RTLE 15 Healthy controls	Autobiographical public/semantic	Australian Remote Memory Battery (ARMB)—Famous Faces and Famous Events (44) Public Fluency Test (PFT)—Famous Names and Famous Events (45) Autobiographical Fluency Test (AFT)— Names and Events (45)	Semantic Memory: LTLE < RTLE = HC Autobiographical: TLE < HC
Viskontas et al. (47)	Pre-surgical: 8 LTLE 5 RTLE Post-surgical: 6 LTL 6 RTL 22 Healthy Controls	Autobiographical	Autobiographical Memory Interview (48)	Personal episodic memory: TL < HC = TLE Personal semantic memory: TLE = TL = HC
Voltzenlogel et al. (49)	Pre-surgical: 19 LTLE 19 RTLE 35 Healthy controls	Autobiographical Public/semantic	Autobiographical Memory Interview (48) Modified Crovitz Test (50, 51) Public Events Test (52) Famous Scenes Test (53) Famous Faces Test (Denkova and Manning, unpublished) Dead/Alive Test (54)	LTLE < RTLE < HC

Ex-TLE, extra-temporal lobe epilepsy; HC, healthy controls; L, left; LTL, left temporal lobectomy; LTLE, left temporal lobe epilepsy; PGE, primary generalized epilepsy; R, right; RTL, right temporal lobectomy; RTLE, right temporal lobe epilepsy; TL, temporal lobectomy; TLE, temporal lobe epilepsy.

fluency in right TLE and deficits regarding public knowledge in left TLE (46). Reduced right hippocampal activation was evident in patients with right mesial TLE compared to controls during remote autobiographical event recall, not explained by hippocampal volume (37). In contrast, hippocampal ripples occurred preferentially in the left anterior hippocampus during autobiographical event recall, in patients with either left, right, or bilateral seizure onset zones (36). Overall, when an asymmetry was present, patients with left TLE were typically more impaired, as seen with tests of public knowledge (38, 46, 49) and autobiographical memory (38, 49). Whether these findings relate to the verbal nature of tasks is unknown. Object naming and semantic and phonological fluency correlated with general semantic and autobiographical memory, which could explain group differences (46), although not seen in all studies (12).

Contributing Factors to Remote Memory Deficits

Several studies examined the effects of seizure-related variables on remote memory. Epilepsy duration and history of generalized seizures did not impact memory for autobiographical or public facts and events (46). Nor was autobiographical memory associated with hippocampal sclerosis or temporal lobe resection (47). Further, a history of status epilepticus did not predict remote memory for public events (12). Data regarding the impact of antiseizure medications (ASMs), however, are conflicting. Post-temporal lobectomy patients taking ASMs had poorer autobiographical semantic fluency than patients not taking ASMs (43), and pre-surgical TLE patients taking ASM polytherapy had impaired autobiographical event fluency compared to patients taking monotherapy (46). The number of ASMs also negatively correlated with recognition of famous events (46). No correlation
TABLE 2 | Remote memory tests.

Test	Type of remote memory tested	Testing protocol	Time periods tested	Scoring
Autobiographical Memory Interview (AMI) (48)	Autobiographical	 (1) Autobiographical Incidents Schedule: describe specific memories from past; three per time period (2) Personal Semantic Memory Schedule: knowledge of facts about past; three items per time period 	Childhood Early adult life Recent events (past 5 years)	Autobiographical Incidents: 27 pts total (9 pts per time period) Personal Semantics: 63 pts total (21 pts per time period)
Galton-Crovitz Test (50, 51)	Autobiographical	Recall life events related to each of 20 high-frequency nouns (e.g., "holiday," "birthday") and estimate date of memory produced	N/A	0–3 scale for each memory produced
Autobiographical Fluency Task (45)	Autobiographical	Recall of personal events and names of acquaintances from each time period in 90 s	Preschool Primary school Secondary school Five years post-school Current	Number of items reported per time period in 90 s
Famous Faces tests (39, 40, 44)	Public/semantic	Identify faces of famous people in photographs from six decades, categorized by decade and difficulty. For each target picture, two non-famous faces are used as foils, matched to targets by age, sex, and time period	N/A	Number or percent of faces recognized
Famous News Events tests (44)	Public/semantic	Questions relating to prominent events categorized by decade	N/A	Number or percent of events recalled/recognized
Dead or Alive Test (54)	Public/semantic	Recognize faces of alive vs. dead famous individuals State year and cause (natural or unnatural) of death.	N/A	Number or percent correct
Transient News Events Test (60, 61)	Public/semantic	Recall and recognition questions related to transiently popular news events, categorized by hemi-decade	Events since subject was 10 years old, from 1961 to 2013 (updated version until 2016)	Number correct

NA, not applicable.

was seen, however, between the number of ASMs and recall of news events (12), although studies differed in testing procedures, types of epilepsy included, and degree of seizure control. Data regarding age of onset are also variable. Poorer memory for famous events correlated with earlier age of onset (46), but this was not seen in other studies (12, 47, 49). Effects of seizure frequency are mixed, as well. Patients with less frequent seizures had better memory for personal (5) and public events (5, 12) than patients with more frequent seizures. Seizure-free patients also had greater autobiographical semantic fluency (for the previous 5-year period) than patients with active epilepsy (43). Other data demonstrated no significant correlation between seizure frequency and memory for personal events, public events, or famous faces (49). Results may be limited, however, by difficulty in measuring seizure frequency. Future studies should consider the potential impact of interictal epileptiform discharges and psychiatric comorbidities.

While similar deficits in autobiographical memory were seen in subjects with or without surgical resection (47, 56), the impact of surgery has not been studied within individual subjects or in general remote episodic or semantic memory. Further, current studies may be limited by a lack of detail regarding the extent of neocortical resection (47). "Standard" ATLs are not standardized, in that variable amounts of neocortical and mesial tissue may be resected. The impacts of surgical approach and size of the resection are unknown. Comparison of performance post-ATL with more selective surgeries may help clarify the role of temporal neocortex and duration of hippocampal involvement in remote memory. SAH, however, can disrupt cortical and subcortical fibers in the approach to mesial structures. Depending upon the surgical approach, SAH could be expected to impair remote memory function in a similar manner as ATL (57, 58). Future studies may consider the effects of laser induced thermal therapy (LITT) on remote memory, as this technique can create more selective lesions within the mesial temporal lobe. Stereotactic laser amygdalohippocampectomy can preserve anterograde verbal memory, highlighting the importance of extra-hippocampal structures in memory performance (59). Postoperative studies may also be enhanced by including MRI quantification of the resected structures as a covariate.

METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES IN ASSESSING REMOTE MEMORY

Studies of temporal lobe damage provide conflicting support for the SMSC, MTT, and TTT. To understand variability across studies, we must consider the tasks used (**Table 2**) (39, 40, 44, 45, 48, 50, 51, 54, 60, 61). Several methodological factors limit remote memory testing, including a lack of control over the time and circumstances of encoding. Long-standing anterograde memory deficits may result in poor initial memory acquisition, which may falsely appear as remote, retrograde deficits. Further, the date of the event may not correspond to the time of acquisition, such that the "age" of a memory may be uncertain. It is also difficult to control the frequency of memory rehearsal or re-exposure, which may allow easier recall or recognition. Tests of autobiographical fluency (45), for example, can include recurrent events.

Autobiographical memory is often complicated by emotional and contextual factors (62). Emotional events create vivid autobiographical episodic memories, often resulting in highly detailed "flashbulb" memories of the moment an event occurred. These emotionally-laden memories are more often rehearsed and more easily recalled, which could lead to an overestimation of remote memory abilities. Emotional memories also involve extratemporal regions, including frontal cortex, such that effects of TLE localization and lateralization are not straightforward. Third-party validation of self-reported memories may present challenges, as it may be difficult to find someone to corroborate the subject's responses, and the third party may not accurately remember events. It is difficult to establish response accuracy, and the detail required for a "correct" response is unclear.

Assessments of general semantic knowledge also pose several methodological issues. People who lived outside of the country in which the event occurred may not have been exposed to the material being tested. Exposure to news items may also vary based on interest (63). Further, questions regarding "recent" events will become outdated over time, requiring questionnaires to be updated frequently. Many tests assess material from the past several decades, of which younger subjects may be unaware. Related events or events of a similar nature may be easily confused. Lastly, some news items may be more prominent than others, appear in the news for greater lengths of time, or become popular again after several years, such that saliency may vary.

The Transient News Events Test (TNET) accounts for several of these methodological issues. It controls for saliency by using news items with a similar frequency of reporting, measured by the number of mentions in the New York Times Article Archive. Frequency of rehearsal is largely controlled by including events that had similar declines in the number of mentions over a 5-year period, allowing assessment of memories from restricted time periods. The variation in what can be considered a "correct" response is minimized, as the amount of detail required is clearly defined for each question. Finally, subjects are asked about events occurring when they were 10 years of age onwards, accounting for a possible lack of media exposure in early childhood.

Epilepsy poses additional challenges to remote memory testing. Early onset of epilepsy and resultant functional reorganization may have two consequences: anterograde and

REFERENCES

- Witt JA, Helmstaedter C. Should cognition be screened in new-onset epilepsies? A study in 247 untreated patients. *J Neurol.* (2012) 259:1727–31. doi: 10.1007/s00415-012 -6526-2
- 2. Addis DR, Moscovitch M, McAndrews MP. Consequences of hippocampal damage across the autobiographical memory network in left temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain.* (2007) 130(Pt 9):2327–42. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm166

retrograde memory impairments may be difficult to differentiate, and different cognitive processes for encoding and retrieval may be used when compared to healthy subjects (64). Further, interrupted schooling may affect exposure to test items.

DISCUSSION

The literature lends insight into the brain regions involved in remote memory, though our current understanding of remote memory storage and retrieval remains limited. The exact role of the hippocampus is unclear, resulting in opposing theories of memory consolidation: the SMSC and MTT/TTT. The study of remote memory deficits in epilepsy can help to distinguish between these competing theories, as epilepsy may be associated with lesions of the underlying pathways. Data suggest a continued role for the hippocampus in remote general and autobiographical semantic and episodic memory and argue against the hypothesis that general semantic memory storage is restricted to neocortex. Studies are constrained, however, by methodological limitations of remote memory tests. We need improved, standardized testing for remote memory loss in epilepsy patients, and its inclusion in clinical neuropsychological batteries should be considered, as remote memory loss may be a source of disability not detected by current clinical testing. Further study of epilepsy-related factors and mechanisms of decline would help elucidate how seizures impair remote memory.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SR conducted the literature review and wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. KM contributed to the literature review and critical revision of the manuscript. WB and OD contributed to critical discussions regarding the topic. BL-M conceived of the manuscript and contributed to the literature review and drafts of the manuscript. All authors agree to be accountable for the content of the work.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a New York University Dean's Undergraduate Research Fund (DURF) award (SR) and a United States (U.S.) Department of Veterans Affairs Clinical Sciences R&D (CSRD) Service Career Development Award (IK2 CX-001255) (BL-M).

- Scoville WB, Milner B. Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1957) 20:11–21. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.20.1.11
- Dikmen S, Matthews CG. Effect of major motor seizure frequency upon cognitive-intellectual functions in adults. *Epilepsia*. (1977) 18:21– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1977.tb05583.x
- Voltzenlogel V, Vignal JP, Hirsch E, Manning L. The influence of seizure frequency on anterograde and remote memory in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Seizure*. (2014) 23:792–8. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2014.06.013

- Dikmen S, Matthews CG, Harley JP. The effect of early versus late onset of major motor epilepsy upon cognitive-intellectual performance. *Epilepsia*. (1975) 16:73–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1975.tb04723.x
- Lespinet V, Bresson C, N'Kaoua B, Rougier A, Claverie B. Effect of age of onset of temporal lobe epilepsy on the severity and the nature of preoperative memory deficits. *Neuropsychologia*. (2002) 40:1591– 600. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(02)00012-X
- Elger CE, Helmstaedter C, Kurthen M. Chronic epilepsy and cognition. Lancet Neurol. (2004) 3:663–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00906-8
- Corkin S. Lasting consequences of bilateral medial temporal lobectomy: clinical course and experimental findings in HM. Semin Neurol. (1984) 4:249– 59. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1041556
- Corkin S. What's new with the amnesic patient H.M.? Nat Rev Neurosci. (2002) 3:153–60. doi: 10.1038/nrn726
- Sagar HJ, Cohen NJ, Corkin S, Growdon JH. Dissociations among processes in remote memory. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (1985) 444:533– 5. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1985.tb37637.x
- Bergin PS, Thompson PJ, Baxendale SA, Fish DR, Shorvon SD. Remote memory in epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2000) 41:231– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.2000.tb00145.x
- Rich JB. "Remote memory." In: Kreutzer JS, DeLuca J, Caplan B, editors. *Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology*. New York, NY: Springer New York LLC (2011). p. 2154–5.
- Ratti M. Remote memory impairment in temporal-lobe epilepsy. Seizure. (1992) 1:14/11.
- Poppenk J, Evensmoen HR, Moscovitch M, Nadel L. Long-axis specialization of the human hippocampus. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2013) 17:230–40. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.03.005
- Zeidman P, Maguire EA. Anterior hippocampus: the anatomy of perception, imagination and episodic memory. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2016) 17:173– 82. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2015.24
- Barry DN, Maguire EA. Remote memory and the hippocampus: a constructive critique. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2019) 23:128–42. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2018.11.005
- Zola-Morgan SM, Squire LR. The primate hippocampal formation: evidence for a time-limited role in memory storage. *Science*. (1990) 250:288– 90. doi: 10.1126/science.2218534
- Bayley PJ, Hopkins RO, Squire LR. The fate of old memories after medial temporal lobe damage. J Neurosci. (2006) 26:13311– 7. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4262-06.2006
- Squire LR, Clark RE, Knowlton BJ. Retrograde amnesia. *Hippocampus*. (2001) 11:50–5. doi: 10.1002/1098-1063(2001)11:1<50::AID-HIPO1019>3.0.CO;2-G
- Bayley PJ, Gold JJ, Hopkins RO, Squire LR. The neuroanatomy of remote memory. *Neuron.* (2005) 46:799–810. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005. 04.034
- Squire LR, Alvarez P. Retrograde amnesia and memory consolidation: a neurobiological perspective. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* (1995) 5:169–77. doi: 10.1016/0959-4388(95)80023-9
- Frankland PW, Bontempi B. The organization of recent and remote memories. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2005) 6:119–30. doi: 10.1038/nrn1607
- Dudai Y. The neurobiology of consolidations, or, how stable is the engram? *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2004) 55:51– 86. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.142050
- Nadel L, Moscovitch M. Memory consolidation, retrograde amnesia and the hippocampal complex. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* (1997) 7:217– 27. doi: 10.1016/S0959-4388(97)80010-4
- Sparks FT, Spanswick SC, Lehmann H, Sutherland RJ. Neither time nor number of context-shock pairings affect long-term dependence of memory on hippocampus. *Neurobiol Learn Mem.* (2013) 106:316– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2013.05.008
- Lehmann H, Lacanilao S, Sutherland RJ. Complete or partial hippocampal damage produces equivalent retrograde amnesia for remote contextual fear memories. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2007) 25:1278–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05374.x
- Lehmann H, Sparks FT, O'Brien J, McDonald RJ, Sutherland RJ. Retrograde amnesia for fear-potentiated startle in rats after complete, but not partial, hippocampal damage. *Neuroscience*. (2010) 167:974–84. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.03.005

- Sutherland RJ, O'Brien J, Lehmann H. Absence of systems consolidation of fear memories after dorsal, ventral, or complete hippocampal damage. *Hippocampus*. (2008) 18:710–8. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20431
- Sutherland RJ, Lee JQ, McDonald RJ, Lehmann H. Has multiple trace theory been refuted? *Hippocampus*. (2020) 30:842–50. doi: 10.1002/hipo. 23162
- Karlsson MP, Frank LM. Network dynamics underlying the formation of sparse, informative representations in the hippocampus. J Neurosci. (2008) 28:14271–81. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4261-08.2008
- Lever C, Wills T, Cacucci F, Burgess N, O'Keefe J. Long-term plasticity in hippocampal place-cell representation of environmental geometry. *Nature*. (2002) 416:90–4. doi: 10.1038/416090a
- Rubin A, Geva N, Sheintuch L, Ziv Y. Hippocampal ensemble dynamics timestamp events in long-term memory. *Elife*. (2015) 4:e12247. doi: 10.7554/eLife.12247
- Ziv Y, Burns LD, Cocker ED, Hamel EO, Ghosh KK, Kitch LJ, et al. Long-term dynamics of CA1 hippocampal place codes. *Nat Neurosci.* (2013) 16:264– 6. doi: 10.1038/nn.3329
- Sekeres MJ, Winocur G, Moscovitch M. The hippocampus and related neocortical structures in memory transformation. *Neurosci Lett.* (2018) 680:39–53. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2018.05.006
- Norman Y, Raccah O, Liu S, Parvizi J, Malach R. Hippocampal ripples and their coordinated dialogue with the default mode network during recent and remote recollection. *Neuron.* (2021) 109:2767–80.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2021.06.020
- St-Laurent M, Moscovitch M, McAndrews MP. The retrieval of perceptual memory details depends on right hippocampal integrity and activation. *Cortex.* (2016) 84:15–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2016.08.010
- Barr WB, Goldberg E, Wasserstein J, Novelly RA. Retrograde amnesia following unilateral temporal lobectomy. *Neuropsychologia*. (1990) 28:243– 55. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(90)90018-J
- Albert MS, Butters N, Levin J. Temporal gradients in the retrograde amnesia of patients with alcoholic Korsakoff's disease. *Arch Neurol.* (1979) 36:211– 6. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1979.00500400065010
- Barr WB. Retrograde Amnesia and Unilateral Temporal Lobectomy [Dissertation/PhD thesis]. New York, NY: New School for Social Research (2008).
- Squire LR, Slater PC, Chace PM. Retrograde amnesia: temporal gradient in very long term memory following electroconvulsive therapy. *Science*. (1975) 187:77–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1109228
- 42. Goldberg E, Barnett J. *Remote Memory Battery*. New York, NY: Albert Einstein Medical College (1985).
- Lah S, Grayson S, Lee T, Miller L. Memory for the past after temporal lobectomy: impact of epilepsy and cognitive variables. *Neuropsychologia*. (2004) 42:1666–79. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2004.04.008
- 44. Shum DHK, O'Gorman JG. A test of remote memory for use in Australia. *Aust J Psychol.* (2001) 53:36–44. doi: 10.1080/00049530108255120
- Dritschel BH, Williams JMG, Baddeley AD, Nimmo-Smith I. Autobiographical fluency: a method for the study of personal memory. *Mem Cogn.* (1992) 20:133–40. doi: 10.3758/BF03197162
- Lah S, Lee T, Grayson S, Miller L. Effects of temporal lobe epilepsy on retrograde memory. *Epilepsia*. (2006) 47:615– 25. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00476.x
- Viskontas I V., McAndrews MP, Moscovitch M. Remote episodic memory deficits in patients with unilateral temporal lobe epilepsy and excisions. J Neurosci. (2000) 20:5853–7. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-15-05853.2000
- Kopelman MD, Baddeley AD, Wilson BA. AMI: The Autobiographical Memory Interview: Manual. San Antonio, TX: Harcourt Assessment (1990).
- Voltzenlogel V, Després O, Vignal JP, Steinhoff BJ, Kehrli P, Manning L. Remote memory in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2006) 47:1329– 36. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00555.x
- Crovitz HF, Schiffman H. Frequency of episodic memories as a function of their age. *Bull Psychon Soc.* (1974) 4:517–8. doi: 10.3758/BF03334277
- Graham KS, Hodges JR. Differentiating the roles of the hippocampal complex and the neocortex in long-term memory storage: evidence from the study of semantic dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychology*. (1997) 11:77– 89. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.11.1.77

- Thomas-Antérion C, Laurent B, Lemesle B, Laporte S, Michel D. Etude de la mémoire rétrograde événementielle chez les traumatisés crâniens (à partir de 36 cas). Ann Réadaptation Médecine Phys. (1994) 37:381–8.
- Thomas-Antérion C, Guinvarch S, Rode G. Mémoires antérogrades et rétrogrades après un traumatisme crânien: recherches de corrélations chez neuf patients. Ann Réadaptation Médecine Phys. (1997) 40:519– 6. doi: 10.1016/S0168-6054(97)84828-3
- Kapur N, Ellison D, Smith MP, Mclellan DL, Burrows EH. Focal retrograde amnesia following bilateral temporal lobe pathology. A neuropsychological and magnetic resonance study. *Brain.* (1992) 115:73–85. doi: 10.1093/brain/115.1.73
- 55. Upton D. Autobiographical memory in epilepsy. Seizure. (1992) 1:14/10.
- St-Laurent M, Moscovitch M, Jadd R, Mcandrews MP. The perceptual richness of complex memory episodes is compromised by medial temporal lobe damage. *Hippocampus*. (2014) 24:560–76. doi: 10.1002/hipo. 22249
- Von Rhein B, Nelles M, Urbach H, Von Lehe M, Schramm J, Helmstaedter C. Neuropsychological outcome after selective amygdalohippocampectomy: subtemporal versus transsylvian approach. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2012) 83:887–93. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2011-302025
- Gleissner U, Helmstaedter C, Schramm J, Elger CE. Memory outcome after selective amygdalohippocampectomy: a study in 140 patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia.* (2002) 43:87–95. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2002.24101.x
- Drane DL, Willie JT, Pedersen NP, Qiu D, Voets NL, Millis SR, et al. Superior verbal memory outcome after stereotactic laser amygdalohippocampotomy. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:779495. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021. 779495
- O'Connor MG, Sieggreen MA, Bachna K, Kaplan B, Cermak LS, Ransil BJ. Long-term retention of transient news events. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2000) 6:44–51. doi: 10.1017/S1355617700611050

- Leeman BA, Macklin EA, Schomer DL, O'Connor MG. Transient News Events Test: feasibility in assessment of post-temporal lobectomy remote memory deficits. *Epilepsy Behav*. (2009) 16:113–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2009.06.012
- Holland AC, Kensinger EA. Emotion and autobiographical memory. *Phys Life Rev.* (2010) 7:88–131. doi: 10.1016/j.plrev.2010.01.006
- Kapur N, Thompson P, Kartsounis LD, Abbott P. Retrograde amnesia: clinical and methodological caveats. *Neuropsychologia*. (1999) 37:27– 30. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(98)00065-7
- Butler CR, Zeman AZ. Recent insights into the impairment of memory in epilepsy: transient epileptic amnesia, accelerated longterm forgetting and remote memory impairment. *Brain.* (2008) 131(Pt 9):2243-63. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn127

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Rastogi, Meador, Barr, Devinsky and Leeman-Markowski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Mechanisms for Cognitive Impairment in Epilepsy: Moving Beyond Seizures

Mohamed R. Khalife^{1,2*}, Rod C. Scott^{1,2,3} and Amanda E. Hernan^{1,2}

¹ Division of Neuroscience, Nemours Children's Health, Wilmington, DE, United States, ² Psychological and Brain Sciences, University of Delaware, Newark, DE, United States, ³ Institute of Child Health, Neurosciences Unit University College London, London, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yvonne Höller, University of Akureyri, Iceland

Reviewed by:

Anny Reyes, University of California, San Diego, United States Gia Michele Ratto, National Research Council (CNR), Italy Anne-Marie Landtblom, Uppsala University, Sweden

*Correspondence:

Mohamed R. Khalife mkhalife@udel.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 18 February 2022 Accepted: 19 April 2022 Published: 12 May 2022

Citation:

Khalife MR, Scott RC and Hernan AE (2022) Mechanisms for Cognitive Impairment in Epilepsy: Moving Beyond Seizures. Front. Neurol. 13:878991. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.878991 There has been a major emphasis on defining the role of seizures in the causation of cognitive impairments like memory deficits in epilepsy. Here we focus on an alternative hypothesis behind these deficits, emphasizing the mechanisms of information processing underlying healthy cognition characterized as rate, temporal and population coding. We discuss the role of the underlying etiology of epilepsy in altering neural networks thereby leading to both the propensity for seizures and the associated cognitive impairments. In addition, we address potential treatments that can recover the network function in the context of a diseased brain, thereby improving both seizure and cognitive outcomes simultaneously. This review shows the importance of moving beyond seizures and approaching the deficits from a system-level perspective with the guidance of network neuroscience.

Keywords: epilepsy, cognition, neural coding, information processing, place cells, population coding, phase precession

INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy is a disorder of the brain characterized by an enduring predisposition to generate seizures and by the neurobiological, cognitive, psychological, and social consequences of this condition (1). Although seizures are an important part of the definition, the associated cognitive and behavioral impairments and learning and memory problems are also important determinants of quality of life (2, 3). The quality of life is highly affected in patients with epilepsy especially if they are in adolescence, affecting the patient's self-esteem and sense of coherence (4). Self-esteem is a main contributor to psychosocial wellbeing, personal reflection, and positive attitude (5), and coherence is the ability to recognize stressors as manageable and solvable (4, 6). In a 5-year follow up study, it was shown that sense of coherence decreased in adolescents with epilepsy. Adolescents who still had seizures showed a greater decrease compared to seizure-free teens, with no effect of seizure frequency on sense of coherence (4). Self-esteem was also decreased in adolescents with epilepsy, however, self-esteem was affected by the seizure frequency where higher seizure frequency was associated with lower self-esteem (4). This indicates that psychosocial wellbeing is affected in adolescents with epilepsy seen by the decrease of both self-esteem and sense of coherence.

Gauffin et al. (7) examined the experience of living with epilepsy and cognitive decline. Their study found out that cognitive decline is persistently present in adults with intractable epilepsy and living with epilepsy and cognitive deficits affected education, employment, self-esteem, social life, and future plans (7). The cognitive deficits are seen in both focal and generalized seizures. Focal seizures occur in a lateralized network in contrast to generalized seizures occurring in a widespread network encompassing both hemispheres (8), however similar cognitive impairments are seen in both epilepsies (9). Patients with focal epilepsy experience various cognitive impairments such as language abnormalities, executive dysfunction, attention deficit and long-term episodic and semantic memory deficits (9-11). Patients with generalized epilepsy experience the same cognitive impairments in addition to acquired knowledge deficits and longterm information processing and retrieval impairment (9, 12, 13).

A common pathophysiological argument for the mechanisms of the relationship between epilepsy and cognition is that the seizure and epileptiform discharges in the EEG directly injure neural networks that are the normal substrate for cognitive function. An alternative hypothesis is that the relationship is indirect; both the seizures and the additional morbidities arise from neural networks that have been disrupted by the etiology of the epilepsy e.g., single gene disorders, malformations of cortical development, or traumatic brain injury. Our starting position is that the action potential is the fundamental unit of information processing in the brain, and that sequences of action potential firing in neuronal populations over time are therefore considered to be mechanisms of cognition, as cognitive function is explicitly about information processing (14, 15). Our goal in the current article is to explore the latter hypothesis in detail, starting at the systems level physiology of brain function and relating this exploration to our understanding of epilepsy. We will describe these system level mechanisms in physiology (Figure 1A) and discuss how these mechanisms are changed or altered in brain diseases associated with epilepsy (Figure 1B), especially in the hippocampus and neocortex, which are important structures involved in memory.

RATE CODING

The firing rate of neurons in the brain is a mechanism of information transfer (15). For example, in motor neurons, the degree of muscle flexion depends on the number of action potentials per unit time (14). Tactile and texture perception in rodents is also, at least in part, a function of rate coding (16). In hippocampus and entorhinal cortex, rate coding is illustrated by place, time, and grid cells, respectively (17, 18).

Place cells are hippocampal pyramidal cells that fire when an animal visits a specific region of the environment: the cell's "place field" (19, 20). In any given environment, place fields cover the entire space to create a hippocampal cognitive map that is a representation of that space (19, 20). Repeated recordings of place cell populations have shown that the same cells are activated whenever the animal visits the same region in physical space, which suggests that the cells' representation is held in the network once the animal explores that specific field (21). This representation allows recollection of specific spaces and accurate navigation through the environment. This is further supported by the observation that lesioning the hippocampus results in loss of spatial memory (22). Similarly to place cells, time cells in the hippocampus fire at specific times in a task (e.g., the beginning, middle, or end) called time fields (23). These cells can be time locked to an external stimulus, like a tone, or intrinsically by a neural circuit or an oscillation (14, 15).

Grid cells are entorhinal cortical cells that provide activitybased maps of speed and direction in a certain environment (24). Grid cells fire in different locations in an environment forming a triangular grid. Recording different cells at the same location indicates that these cells have the same orientation to the environment (24, 25). It is important to note that the orientation of the grid relative to the environment is dependent on the hippocampal place cell map (20, 25, 26). Interestingly, the map formed by the grid cells is based on external cues, however the formed map persists even in the absence of these cues (24). Together with the place cell map, the grid cell map is believed to be part of the greater hippocampal cognitive map (20). Given what we know from work on place and grid cells, further experiments have shown that firing rate variations in CA3 place cells depended on signals from the lateral entorhinal cortex (24, 27). Lesioning the lateral entorhinal cortex impairs the hippocampal rate remapping upon changing the configuration of the environment (24, 27) suggesting that inputs from the entorhinal cortex are important for hippocampal rate coding in the formation of the spatial memory and cognitive map.

POPULATION CODING

Rate coding as measured in individual neurons is essential for information processing. However, neurons are functionally connected into a network and interactions between the neurons is also critically important (15, 28). This is known as population coding. Population coding increases robustness of network function and minimizes the effects of noise carried by an individual neuron, ensuring that the signal and processing times are not affected (15). For example, damage to one cell will not have a devastating effect on the information being carried since it is carried by many cells (28). Population coding is common in the nervous system and is illustrated in mammalian visual pathways (29), primary motor cortex activity in cats and monkeys (30), owl auditory cortex, cricket nervous system (31), and mice visual cortex (32-34). Neurons in the visual cortex in cats and monkeys and the auditory cortex in owls have shown the ability to synchronize their firing on a few milliseconds time scale through time cells (14, 35). Synchrony seen in the visual cortex of cats and monkeys takes place when the neurons are activated by one stimulus (35), and this synchrony is lost when the neurons are activated by two independent stimuli. Once two neurons synchronize to represent a certain stimulus, these two neurons always synchronize to represent the same stimulus and will desynchronize when representing two independent stimuli (14).



Population coding influences information processing in mice visual systems. Whole cell recordings in layers 2/3 (L2/3) of awake mice have shown that the excitation/inhibition ratio changes based on the visual stimulus (33). Different studies

revealed that patterns of excitation and inhibition are generated in response to various visual stimuli (36, 37). For example, as the stimulus contrast or size increases, the excitation/inhibition ratio decreases. This change in ratio is important for tuning and

sharpening of the information processing in the visual system (38) and is thought to be controlled by the somatostatin (SOM) neurons and parvalbumin (PV)-expressing cells. SOM neuron suppression was able to enhance the excitation and inhibition for size tuning, indicating that contrast and size in the visual system in mice depends on excitation/inhibition ratio and tuning of total synaptic input (33). PV cell manipulation was shown to modulate L2/3 pyramidal cells spikes in response to visual stimuli without affecting the cells tuning properties suggesting that PV cells create a connection between certain neuron types and specific computations during sensory processing (32, 39). Furthermore, the excitation/inhibition ratio for the same set of stimuli differs between anesthetized and awake mice and even differs between various behavioral states (33). This change in the ratio is influenced by the recruitment of SOM and vasoactive intestinal peptide-expressing (VIP) inhibitory cells in V1 in both wakefulness and alertness for instance (40-42). The Stabilized Supralinear Network (SSN) model proposes that cortical dynamics can change the excitation/inhibition ratio based on single neurons input/output supralinear relationships, strong recurrent excitation, and feedback inhibition (33, 43). This suggests that the dynamic change of excitation/inhibition ratio depends on the dynamic connections between different cortical regions and the feedback loops between the recruited regions. Further support to this suggestion was seen in experiments investigating the rhythmic activity across cortical layers. Population of excitatory neurons in the mouse's primary visual cortex expressed gamma band oscillation following layer-specific optogenetic stimulation (34). Importantly, rhythm-generating circuits in each layer were able to provide layer-specific excitation/inhibition balances hence influencing the information flow between cortical layers (34). These studies provide evidence that neuronal populations can be recruited through precise synchrony contributing to information processing at a system level.

Notably, place cells in the hippocampus are an excellent example of not only rate coding, but also population dynamics. We previously mentioned that the place cells fire whenever the animal is in a specific place field and these cells are distributed within the hippocampus in a way that covers the whole environment the animal occupies. This distribution within the hippocampus will cause a certain degree of overlap between the place fields, thus a population of cells will respond when the animal goes into the field rather than an individual cell since the cells in the hippocampus are receiving multiple sensory inputs to encode a multidimensional map (44).

Another interesting example of population coding is pattern separation. Pattern separation depends on the discrimination between two closely related places, episodes, or spatial configurations based on experience and can influence successful memory encoding. Pattern separation involves different brain regions where experiences are represented by neural populations. Notably, if the same population or neural pattern established during encoding is activated during retrieval, it can lead to a successful memory retrieval (45). For instance, both the posterior occipitotemporal cortex (OTC) and the hippocampus were recorded while participants performed item recognition tasks. Upon retrieval, both regions showed encoding-specific high frequency activity (HFA) where the strength of this activity was associated with enhanced retrieval, however the discrimination between similar items required a hippocampal activity (45) as the pattern separation mechanism is based on orthogonalizing similar input during encoding thus enabling the distinguishing between highly similar memories with minimal interference (46). Animal and human studies have shown that dentate gyrus (DG) and its projection to CA3 underlie the pattern separation process (47–52).

A final relevant example of population coding is working memory in the prefrontal cortex. Working memory is the temporary maintenance of information involving specialized components of cognition that allows retaining immediate pastexperience, supporting new knowledge acquisition, solving problems, reasoning, and planning (53). Early models of working memory suggested that persistent firing activity of the neurons in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) throughout the delay phase of the working memory task was required to maintain information in working memory, however, due to the heterogeneity of neurons within the PFC, recent work has shown that the persistent activity of PFC can be weak or absent (54-56). This was seen during the delay phase of an image-sequence matching task in monkeys and humans. In this task, spiking activity in the PFC decreased during the delay phase of the task in monkeys, and BOLD signal on fMRI decreased during the delay phase in humans performing the task, thus challenging the persistent firing working memory model (57, 58). However, the spiking activity and the BOLD signal re-emerge during image presentation and testing period, indicating that, despite a decrease in firing rate throughout the task, the working memory information is maintained in the collective synaptic weights of populations of neurons in the PFC. The heterogeneity of the neurons allows different neurons to signal during different task events as well. For example, parvalbumin-positive neurons will respond to sensory cues and trial outcomes while somatostatin-positive neurons will respond to a motor action like licking (59). These neurons can fire together in working memory maintenance through population coding when a robust mnemonic stimulus is present (60) as seen in monkeys performing oculomotor delayed response and vibrotactile delayed discrimination, which are working memory tasks, while recording single neurons of lateral PFC (60).

TEMPORAL CODING AND OSCILLATORY FIRING

Oscillatory activity is divided into frequency bands as described in **Table 1**: infra-slow oscillations (0.5–1 Hz), delta (1.5–4 Hz), theta (4–8, 10 Hz), alpha (8, 10–12 Hz), beta (15–30 Hz), gamma (30–80 Hz), in addition to fast (80–200 Hz), and ultra-fast (200–600 Hz) ripples (61). Each band is thought to be related to specific aspects of cognition (**Table 1**). Both *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments suggest that synaptic inhibition plays a role in generating neuronal oscillations through two different mechanisms, either through interneuron network activity or reciprocal excitatory-inhibitory loops (62). Theta, as previously discussed, and gamma are two important readouts of the hippocampal function and function of connected regions.

Theta rhythm indicates a network that is actively involved in spatial navigation, working memory, and temporal coding (63, 64). It is important to note that theta oscillations and phase-locked neuron discharges with respect to theta oscillations are seen in theta non-generating regions like entorhinal cortex, perirhinal cortex, cingulate cortex, subicular complex, and amygdala (63, 65–67). Lesion or inactivation of the medial septum-diagonal band of Broca neurons recognized as the theta rhythm generators eliminates theta oscillation in all connected cortical regions (68) and leads to spatial and working memory deficits (69–71).

Gamma oscillations ride on top of theta in the hippocampus and dynamically couple hippocampal networks to specific behavioral demands (39, 72, 73). The gamma oscillation is thought to be a readout of information transfer from CA3 to CA1, where CA3 is influencing the activity of CA1 for hippocampal memory retrieval to underlie memory encoding, consolidation, and episodic memory retrieval. Movement sequences, memory encoding and formation, sensory processing and planned trajectories underlying spatial navigation are thought to be temporally organized through timing mechanisms seen through gamma oscillations (74, 75).

The rate of populations of neuronal firing is also modulated in time in respect to theta frequency. For example, in the hippocampus, temporal modulation is manifested as burst firing with bursts occurring at theta frequency (4-12 Hz). The fidelity of burst firing within theta, termed theta modulation, is important for phenomena such as phase precession, phase preference and hippocampal replay, which are believed to allow encoding of space with higher resolution than is possible in the absence of modulation. Phase preference refers to the phenomenon that neuronal firing in the hippocampus is often locked in time with respect to ongoing hippocampal inputs in the theta frequency of the local field potential (LFP). Specific cells fire preferentially at specific phases in the ongoing theta oscillation. For example, directly after the peak of the theta oscillation, PV+ basket cells in CA2/3 area fire at the same phase as pyramidal cells in CA3, but later than basket cells in CA1 (76). CA1 pyramidal cells preferentially fire at the trough of theta (77, 78). Phase precession describes the observation that place cells will discharge whenever the rodent is crossing a place field and this firing occurs at an earlier phase in theta with progressive theta cycle (79, 80). This phase precession is believed to be an important component of information processing. Theta-phase precession could be an indication of item-context associations through spike timingdependent plasticity (80, 81) given that synaptic inputs need to be precisely synchronized within 5 ms so that EPSPs from different locations will be able to induce postsynaptic firing (15). Umbach et al. showed that neurons in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex not only fire for space, but also for time. Interestingly, time cells also exhibited theta-phase precession during memory encoding, and the activity of these cells correlates with the use of temporal location during the retrieval phase of the task (82). Neuronal firing coordination with the LFP, like phase-locking and phase precession, offers a key glimpse at the relative timing of inputs in the LFP with outputs of the information processing as the neuronal firing, but neural oscillations are also readouts of synchronized behavior of the network and, as such, are on their own important mesoscale mechanisms of cognition, memory, and behavior.

Coordination between oscillations seen in the LFP or EEG can be an indicator of communication between different brain regions (83, 84). Coherence is a measure of this synchronization with values that range between 0 and 1. The higher the coherence, the more synchronized the regions are (84). The coherence value differs between different brain regions depending on the task performed, for example, theta coherence between hippocampus and striatum during periods of decision is high (>0.8) which indicate learning (84, 85). Not only theta coherence changes during a task, but also gamma as well. Attention tasks in monkeys have shown that gamma coherence increases between the parietal and prefrontal areas (86). Furthermore, CA1 can become coherent with the entorhinal cortex or CA3 through fast or slow gamma characteristics of the entorhinal cortex or CA3, respectively (87). Elevation of hippocampalentorhinal cortex synchrony was shown to be important for declarative memory formation in epileptic patients performing a memorization task (88). This led to the hypothesis that synchronized brain activity in the gamma range might be an important indicator of controlled flow and routing of information (83, 89), because the rules guiding synaptic plasticity dictate that inputs will be most effective whenever they coincide with peaks of oscillatory network excitability (83). Finally, neural coherence alterations were associated with different disorders like schizophrenia, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), Alzheimer's disease (AD), and temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) (90-95) (Table 2).

FIRING DYNAMICS SUPPORT PLASTICITY

Temporal, population, and rate coding facilitate plasticity shaped through experiences that enable the brain to adapt to new information. These mechanisms underlie the careful coordination of information between synapses and neurons in the brain that is necessary to promote synaptic plasticity and ensure efficient flow of information between different brain regions required for cognition. In 1949, Donald Hebb postulated that synapse strength can change based on previous activity, which led to what we now know as long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD), fundamental to network communication. LTP strengthens synaptic transmission through high frequency stimulation of synapses. The first stage of LTP depends on the NMDA and AMPA glutamate receptors (96, 97). The second and third stages of LTP depend on protein synthesis to maintain changes in synaptic strength (96, 97). Maintenance of LTP is essential for place cell stability (98-101). Even though neural plasticity is not a determinant of place cell spatial specificity, rats with neural plasticity deficits had unstable place fields upon revisiting the same environment (102, 103). This shows that neural plasticity is playing a role in

TABLE 1 | Frequency bands and cognitive processes.

Bands	Frequency (Hz)	Cognitive processes
Infra-slow	0.5–1	Show resting state networks (RSNs) in awake human subjects
Delta	1.5–4	Anticipation and predictive coding
Theta	4–8 (humans) 6–10 (rodents)	Spatial navigation, working memory, and temporal coding
Alpha	8, 10–12	Suppression and selection of attention
Beta	15–30	Involved in consciousness, logical/active thinking, focus, and stress
Gamma	30–80	Readout of information transfer from CA3 to CA1 for hippocampal memory retrieval. Show the temporal organization of movement sequences, memory encoding and formation, sensory processing and planned trajectories underlying spatial navigation.
Fast ripples	80–200	Show synchronous inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSP) generated by interneuronal cell subpopulations
Ultra-fast ripples	200–600	Show synchronous inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSP) generated by interneuronal cell subpopulations

TABLE 2 | Summary of cited clinical literature.

Study	Subjects	Experiment	Main findings
Spencer et al. (90)	Healthy and Schizophrenia Patients	Subjects responded whether an illusory square was present or absent in the trial along with EEG recording	 Abnormal phase-locking and abnormal phase coherence responses to the perception of an illusory visual stimuli in a Gestalt perception task that depends on neural synchrony Abnormal neural circuit function may be an underlying cause of schizophrenia.
Herrmann and Demiralp (91)	Healthy and patients with ADHD, AD, epilepsy and schizophrenia	Gamma oscillations under various pathological conditions	 ADHD patients show an increase in gamma amplitudes In Alzheimer's Disease (AD), there is a decrease in gamma response In epileptic patients, there is an increase in gamma response which might be the readout of both cortical excitation and perceptual distortions In schizophrenia patients, there is a decrease in gamma amplitude during negative symptoms, while there is an increase during positive symptoms such as hallucinations
Lega et al. (92)	Epilepsy patients	Recordings from hippocampal electrodes implanted in neurosurgical patients	 During successful episodic memory encoding there is an increase in the power of slow theta oscillations at 3 Hz During successful memory encoding, there is a decrease in the fast theta hippocampal oscillation at 8 Hz
Barry and Clarke (93)	Children, adolescents, and adults with ADHD	Examine the resting-state EEG power and coherence, and event-related potentials (ERPs),	 Different readouts that correlate with behavior and cognition: Groups with high beta showed symptoms of increased delinquent behavior and reduced inattention, suicidal ideation, and physical problems. Groups with elevated total power and theta and reduced alpha and beta showed fewer problems. Groups with elevated slow wave activity and reduced alpha showed more impulsivity, inattention, and bad language. Groups with reduced delta showed increased hyperactivity and ritualistic behaviors.
Wang et al. (95)	Healthy and AD patients	Recording resting eye-closed EEG signals followed by wavelet power spectrum and bicoherence of EEG analysis	 AD patients showed an increase in gamma and delta rhythms and a decrease in alpha power The increase of the cross-frequency coupling strength between the beta/gamma and low-frequency bands in AD patients might be due to the disruption of GABAergic interneuron network showing an attenuated neuronal network

the organization of place cells and long-term maintenance of this representation.

The frequency of action potential timing matters; low frequency firing induces LTD, which decreases synaptic efficacy. LTD is also essential for memory formation as it counteracts the LTP to allow new memories to form. Recent evidence has shown that LTD may be involved in formation and maintenance of place fields (104), supporting previous experiments showing that a decrease in the expression of LTD impairs spatial memory retention and consolidation (105, 106). It is worth noting that plastic synapses can form positive feedback loops on the rate, temporal, and population coding mechanisms where this positive loop aids the mechanisms in refining and precisely timing the neuronal firing leading to a more efficient information processing. Another form of plasticity known as short-term plasticity (STP) takes place on a millisecond to minutes timescale and depends on presynaptic calcium accumulation and vesicle depletion (107). This form of plasticity is thought to play a role in information transfer across synaptic connections, activity-dependent synaptic efficacy modulation, promoting synchronization and working memory (107–109). Careful coordination of the firing of populations of neurons in time supports appropriate short and long-term forms of plasticity that are critical for information processing, learning and memory.

EPILEPSY AND MEMORY

Cognitive impairments in people with epilepsy are extremely common and have a major negative influence on quality of life. Patients with focal epilepsy have shown to have a significant decrease in their quality of life compared to patients with generalized epilepsy and healthy controls, however, both focal and generalized epilepsy patients have a decreased selfesteem and increased anxiety compared to healthy controls (9). Identification of mechanisms of cognitive impairment is important as this will help to guide development of novel therapeutic strategies to improve outcomes. A major emphasis has been on studying the impact of seizures on cognition and exploring the epileptic encephalopathy hypothesis. Researchers have focused on the time of onset and frequency of seizures, however, there are few clear correlations between seizure characteristics and cognitive outcomes. Taken into consideration that cognitive functions are dependent on complex brain networks and both focal and generalized epilepsy groups share the same cognitive impairments (9), we can say that seizure location is less of a determinant of the cognitive impairments than an altered or dysfunctional network in the brain. This suggests that there must be other factors influencing cognitive outcomes in epilepsy. This assertion is supported by several lines of evidence. Studies assessing the effect of age of onset on cognitive impairment have shown that cognitive impairment already exists at pretreatment baseline in newly diagnosed children (3, 110-112). This led some researchers to question whether cognitive deficits could be present even before seizure onset (113) and this might suggest that the pre-existing impairments could be a result of the same dysregulation that underlies the seizures in the first place. Indeed, the need for special educational services prior to epilepsy onset is more common in children who were later diagnosed than those who weren't (114), suggesting that impairment in cognitive function may be present even before the first seizure. The best predictor of cognitive outcome up to 3 years after the diagnosis of epilepsy in infants is the initial cognitive profile, not any seizure or medication related factor. In adults, these impairments extend to deficits in visual motor tasks, mental flexibility, memory, reaction times, and attention (3, 115).

Others have studied the effects of the disorder duration on cognition, finding a negative correlation between the number of years of the disorder and brain volume (116, 117). This

has been interpreted by some to mean that the length time since disease onset is related to the amount or significance of cognitive impairment. However, an alternate interpretation is that early onset of an epilepsy disorder is an indication of a more fundamentally dysfunctional network, leading to early development of recurrent seizures. Similarly, seizure frequency has been noted to be associated with a detrimental effect on cognition, with higher seizure frequency being correlated with lower performance on cognitive tasks and vice versa (9, 118). This was always interpreted to mean that seizures themselves were detrimental to cognition, rather than more frequent seizures being an indicator of a more abnormal neural network that underlies abnormal functioning during the interictal period manifesting as cognitive impairment. Hence, these impairments might not be due to age of onset or frequency of seizures, instead it could be attributed to the fact that children in this situation have a brain disease that presented earlier, and this difference in disease presentation may be an indicator of more severe network dysfunction, and more severe impairments. Further investigation of memory dysfunction in patients with epilepsy showed that people with epilepsy had significant deficits in both semantic and episodic autobiographical memory (9, 119, 120). This deficit was associated with young age at onset, more frequent seizures, and reduced working memory in early-onset epilepsy patients. In contrast, the same deficit was related to depression and lesion (3, 9, 120). The presence of both neurobiological and psychological factors suggests that information processing mechanisms might be altered (121).

Information processing through the mechanisms discussed in this review is shown to be altered in epilepsy and associated disorders. CA1 place cells are unstable in epileptic mice and undergo remapping a few weeks after pilocarpine-induced temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE). The number of place cells decreases, and the spatial tuning curve is less stable over time (122, 123). Prolonged recording over days from populations of neurons in CA1 and dentate gyrus has shown desynchronized interneuron firing between these two areas (124), which suggests that disruption of spatial coding is due to the loss of information processing control by interneurons. The desynchronized interneuron firing can affect the timing of the inputs being sent to the CA1. This was supported by the observation of theta rhythm temporal coordination loss in the dentate gyrus, where these neurons were firing at inconsistent phases of the CA1 theta rhythm (124). Spatial memory alteration was previously shown to be present even during the latent, seizure-free, period after either the pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus (SE) or early life seizures during the 1st weeks of life (39, 125, 126). These deficits were associated with a decrease in the power of theta oscillations (125). It is important to note that spontaneous seizures did not modify or affect any of the spatial deficits that were already present (125). Interestingly, Shuman et al. (124), found that place cell deterioration and place coding alteration occurred several weeks after pilocarpine induction, showing that the development of seizures is not solely responsible for place cell deterioration. Notably, place coding alteration, place cell deterioration, more dispersed place fields, and fewer place field responses were also seen after silencing either CA3, entorhinal cortex or both (124, 127, 128).

In addition, we and others have shown dysregulated population coding in epilepsy models. In-vivo single-unit recording showed that CA1 pyramidal cells are functionally connected to other pyramidal cells and fire in a coordinated fashion during spatial memory tasks; this connectivity is altered in TLE where neuronal reactivation and synchrony predicts the behavioral outcome in a TLE model (129). Population coding functional connectivity is also crucial within the hippocampus and between the hippocampus and PFC to underlie spatial working memory (SWM) (130, 131). During a SWM task, the hippocampal-PFC network shows a distributed dynamic code, seen through temporally regulated firing within and between brain regions, which is needed to combine separate processes together to execute a SWM task (131). The coordinated firing of cells in time is important for several components like attention, decision making and long-term memory, which can predict task performance. The temporal modulation of populations of neurons predicted SWM accuracy in a delayed non-match-to-sample task in control rats and rats with a cortical malformation that, in humans, is an important etiology in epilepsy. Animals with cortical malformations showed deficits in hippocampal firing modulation in addition to decreased functional connectivity between neurons (131).

Furthermore, population coding and neural dynamics are important for pattern separation and this process has been shown to be altered in hippocampal injury and epilepsy. The pattern separation depends on a network spanning different brain regions other than hippocampus, like the dorsal medial prefrontal cortex (dmPFC), however the hippocampus and the parahippocampal cortex serve as a hub for this network (132), thus it is expected that a hippocampal injury will alter the network communication causing pattern separation deficits (47, 133, 134). TLE patients and amnestic mild cognitive impairment (aMCI) patients have pattern separation deficits, and this could be due to hippocampal dysfunction involving DG and CA3 (46, 135). Another reason could be due to the failure of separating similar information during encoding by the hippocampus, hence memories will not be accurately encoded or retrieved. Studies investigating aMCI and TLE patients have shown that aMCI patients have an excess activation of the DG/CA3 area in fMRI compared to control groups and this excess activation is correlated with poor performance on pattern separation tasks. The same poor performance was seen in TLE patients performing the Mnemonic Similarity Task (MST). TLE patients demonstrated poor pattern separation performance compared to controls, however, it is important to note seizure and hippocampal sclerosis did not affect the performance of patients in this task (46, 133). Following studies showing that TLE patients have spatial mnemonic discrimination impairment and that TLE mice have DG-dependent object location memory deficits (50, 136), Madar et al. (52) tested pattern separation in TLE patients and mice with TLE, and then used mouse brain slices to record the spiking patterns of single granule cells (GC) in the dentate gyrus. TLE patients performing object recognitionbased MST had a significant deficit in identifying similar but not identical objects suggesting that TLE might be impairing the DGdependent mnemonic discrimination. Similar deficits were seen in mice with TLE as the mice had a decrease in object-location mnemonic discrimination compared to control mice (52). Slice electrophysiology in the same mice utilized inputs mimicking the same recorded inputs during behavior, and indicated that the output spike-trains of GCs had a higher average correlation compared to input correlation, which signifies a deficit in pattern separation in mice with TLE. Different input ranges demonstrated decreased pattern separation and convergence in DG at multiple timescale levels (52). This shows the importance of population dynamics underlying spatial deficits and signals the importance of assessing functional connectivity.

Imaging and histological experiments showed that structural and functional connectivity were altered in TLE patients as well (3, 137). Histological changes have been observed in the amygdala, entorhinal and parahippocampal cortices in TLE patients (3, 138-142). MRI images investigating hippocampal sclerosis associated with TLE, found that in addition to hippocampus, atrophy is present in the adjacent mesiotemporal, temporopolar structures, and thalamus (3, 143-146), and this atrophy increases over time (147-149). Experiments investigating tissue microstructure and structural covariance indicate that structural connectivity was impacted in TLE. Diffusion tensor MRI showed a disorganization in fiber arrangement in temporolimbic and adjacent regions (3, 150-153). Structural covariance such as cortical thickness or gray matter volume was altered between the mesiotemporal and neocortical regions and within the corticocortical networks (154-156). Resting state functional connectivity revealed a deficit in network connectivity in TLE patients compared to healthy controls. TLE patients had a decrease in ipsilateral mesiotemporal networks connectivity and ipsilateral and contralateral hippocampi connectivity (3, 153, 157-159). This decrease in connectivity extends beyond the temporal lobes into the posterior cingulate, inferior parietal, and medial prefrontal cortices disrupting the default mode network (DMN) (160-164). These changes and deficits suggest that structural connectivity is impacted in TLE patients and that TLE is also associated with functional connectivity deficits and reorganization.

Early stage TLE patients experience functional connectivity deficits mainly in the ipsilateral hemisphere (162, 165) in addition to disturbed interhemispheric connections (3, 158, 166). However, in patients with generalized epilepsy, there is an increase in the interhemispheric connectivity in addition to reduced functional connectivity (167-171). fMRI studies investigating the network connections in epileptic brains showed an increase in functional connectivity within the temporal lobe, alongside a decrease between temporal and other regions. Also, there is a decrease in the connection probability between neighboring brain regions, known as the clustering coefficient, within the DMN (161, 172). This decrease in clustering coefficient as well as increased path length, i.e., distance between one node and another, was revealed to be associated with cognitive decline in patients with cryptogenic epilepsy and only seen in patients with cognitive decline (172-174). The decreased cluster coefficient within the DMN could underlie the language

impairment in patients with generalized epilepsy without focal brain damage. Gauffin et al. (175) conducted an experiment where patients with generalized epilepsy without focal damage performed a sentence-reading task while going through fMRI. Patients with generalized epilepsy took longer time to read both congruent (simple) and incongruent (complex) sentences compared to healthy controls with no reading time difference between congruent and incongruent sentences in the patients group which suggests that patients perceived both types as complex (175). BOLD fMRI indicated the activation of a leftlateralized frontotemporal network, anterior cingulate cortex and occipital cortex in both patients and controls upon reading both types of sentences (175). However, patients with generalized epilepsy had reduced DMN suppression compared to healthy controls (175). Further lack of suppression was seen in the left anterior temporal lobe and the posterior cingulate cortex, in addition to irregular activation of the right hippocampus proper and right parahippocampal gyrus (175). The reduced DMN activity suppression can be due to reduced functional segregation of the DMN in generalized epilepsy patients (170) where this can alter the balance between activated and deactivated neural networks hence disturbing the cognitive function (176, 177). Further evidence of network alteration in TLE patients was seen by Bernhardt et al. (178) upon analyzing hub nodes between controls and TLE patients. Hubs are also known as nodes that have multiple connections within a network with one central position and the connections formed by the hub nodes are essential for communication and network synchronization (179). Hub nodes in TLE patients were mainly located in the limbic and temporal association cortices instead of being evenly distributed between different lobes and this was thought to be due to connectivity disturbances between the temporolimbic and extratemporal neocortical structures (178) providing evidence that epileptic brains express decreased integration and enhanced segregation (172). It is also important to note that memory impairments are present in patients who don't show a lesion with MRI (180) which further supports the notion that cognitive impairments depend on the affected network rather than a structural lesion (9). These studies emphasize the necessity to move beyond the classical lesion model into a network approach which can provide several advantages by helping track or predict cognitive decline in epilepsy patients, improving diagnosis, and developing more accurate resection surgeries by targeting the areas where the hub nodes are mostly concentrated.

It is critical to note that experimental designs that induce an underlying disorder associated with epilepsy, but in which there are no overt seizures, and no other subclinical epileptiform activity was noted, show changes in information processing and behavioral deficits. Loss of function of sodium channels Nav1.1 associated with human epilepsy in CA1 can cause disruptions to place cells and spatial cognition without producing seizures (181). Nav1.1 knockdown in the medial septum causes alterations in temporal and rate coding in those neurons, and deficits in working memory that are correlated with the degree of LFP alteration in the hippocampus rather than seizure frequency (39, 182). Similar effects are seen in animals with a malformation of cortical development where no overt or subclinical seizures were noted. These animals have reduced fidelity of place cells, reduction in the magnitude of theta modulation, and disrupted population coding in addition to spatial and working memory deficits. The addition of induced seizures in this model did not make the behavioral deficits worse, indicating that the main contributor to the cognitive impairment was the underlying brain substrate and not seizures (183).

Notably, subclinical epileptiform activity or inter-ictal spikes (IIS) can disrupt cognitive function; however the number of spikes is not a reliable indicator of the associated cognitive impairment. Several studies have previously shown that patients with benign epilepsy with centro-temporal spikes experience IQ and school performance deficits (184, 185). These deficits were correlated with the frequency of IIS but not seizure frequency (184, 185). However, this may be related to timing of the IIS relative to ongoing cognitive processing, as the presence of the IIS may be an indicator that the brain is not in a state where it can be performing cognitive computations. Kleen et al. (186) investigated the effect of focal IIS on hippocampus in TLE. They showed that rats with unilateral intrahippocampal pilocarpine infusion developed hippocampal spikes that caused a response latency deficit in hippocampal-dependent operant behavior task, delayed-match-to-sample (186). However, the hippocampal spikes only altered the cognitive performance when they occur at the same time during memory retrieval; spikes occurring during memory encoding or maintenance did not affect the cognitive performance and overall IIS frequency during a trial was not predictive of accuracy during that trial (186). Similar results were seen in patients with refractory seizures performing Sternberg task, a delayed information task that depends on short-term memory processes, along with EEG recordings (187). Contralateral or bilateral to seizure focus hippocampal interictal epileptiform discharges (IED) during memory retrieval disrupted memory retrieval, and bilateral IED during memory maintenance was able to disrupt that process, however no effect was seen on memory encoding (187). These studies show that focal IIS and hippocampal IED are associated with disruptions in memory maintenance and retrieval only when they occur during the same time window as the memory processes. Taken together, this suggests that IIS/IED are indicators of disrupted network processing underlying cognition.

In addition to deficits in rate, temporal and population coding, plasticity deficits are also present in epilepsy, in accordance with the view that these neural coding mechanisms support plasticity. Kainic-acid induced status epilepticus (SE) model in rats shows a significant decrease in hippocampal LTP in addition to cell loss, and signs of hippocampal sclerosis (188). These rats also have deficits in the hippocampal-dependent novel object recognition spatial memory task that positively correlated with LTP magnitudes (188). These findings were also seen in the pilocarpine model where the mice showed a significant decrease in the hippocampal synaptopodin acting-binding protein in CA1 region which alters the ability of the neurons to express synaptic plasticity leading to a decrease in LTP induction in Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses (189). STP and working memory are also altered in kainic acid-induced SE. Following kainic acid-induced SE, there was a decrease in STP, reduced LTP capacity, impaired spatial learning, and increased inhibition in the dentate gyrus (190). STP was altered in a model with recurrent hyperexcitability leading to seizures during development (191), as well as a model with aberrant GABA signaling during development leading to frequent interictal discharges. Animals with frequent IDs in the developing PFC showed a decrease in attention, and sociability alongside these changes in STP (192). The growing evidence on neural networks and epilepsy shows that these disrupted neural networks are likely responsible for the cognitive impairments seen with the disease and that the underlying etiology is the cause of both the disease and coding impairments seen in epilepsy animals and patients as well. The corollary is that recovering neural networks toward normal has potential for recovering cognitive impairments (**Tables 3**, **4**).

THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES

The main issue with finding the appropriate treatment is whether neural network function can be recovered even in the context of a diseased brain. Here we will discuss potential therapeutic approaches that might influence the neural network function.

Gene Therapy

Rett Syndrome (RTT) is a progressive neurodevelopmental disorder mainly affecting females in early childhood (196, 197). Development starts deteriorating at 6–18 months of age leading to neurological and neurobehavioral alterations and epilepsy (198). Loss of function mutations in the X-linked gene encoding the methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 (MeCP2) involved in transcriptional silencing and activation and RNA splicing modulation is thought to contribute to the pathophysiology of RTT (199, 200).

RTT is associated with significant behavioral abnormalities: motor discoordination and social interaction deficits as well as deficits in cognitive abilities like learning and memory (201–203). MeCP2 knockout mice show reduced neuronal activity in cortical and hippocampal areas (204) as well as deficits in LTP expression in the hippocampus (197). Epilepsy has been reported in 60–80% of RTT patients (205–207). Although children with RTT often have seizures, it is widely accepted that the main driver of the cognitive impairments is a function of the genetic cause. Deficits in LTP, reduction in neuronal activity and seizures indicate that behavioral and cognitive deficits extend to a network problem that involves several mechanisms underlying neuronal activity and plasticity.

Hippocampal place cells are impaired in RTT mice (203). Normally, place fields become refined as the animal-environment experience increases and are stabilized during memory consolidation in sleep. This process involves synchronous re-activation within high-frequency short time-scale windows, known as sharp-wave ripples (208), which is associated with synaptic plasticity transforming short-term memories into long-term ones (209). This process is disrupted in RTT mice as these mice show deficits in experience-dependent refinement of spatial information in addition to increased place cell baseline firing synchrony during sleep (203). Neural oscillations are also impaired in RTT. Organoids developed from stem cells of RTT patients, demonstrated individual neuron firing at a rapid and persistent rate, diminished or reduced gamma oscillation in addition to epileptiform-appearing spikes and high-frequency oscillations (210, 211). Rett mice show desynchronized and reduced theta oscillations during exploratory behavior (210, 212), underscoring impaired temporal coding underlying cognitive and behavioral deficits in RTT mice.

MeCP2 gene therapy has been shown to improve the survival and improve some behavioral deficits seen in RTT (196). Treated mice showed normalized gene expression in addition to better mobility and more exploratory behavior in the open field (213, 214), which could involve normalized place cell activity. This improvement was accompanied by a normalization of neuronal nuclear volume in MeCP2 transduced cells in the dentate gyrus (215). MeCP2 is a master transcriptional regulator of activitydependent gene expression; recovering it may restore the brain's ability to respond plastically, thereby allowing the network to be in a state where it is ready to receive new information.

Rett syndrome is a very specific disorder whose pathophysiology seems to be directly related to MeCP2. Other causes of epilepsy are less straightforward and may require other gene therapy strategies. One such strategy is targeting the hyperexcitable granule cells in the dentate gyrus in TLE (216). Reducing granule cell hyperactivity via inhibitory chemogenetic receptors, DREADDs (CamKIIa-hM4Di), was able to normalize performance in the spatial object recognition task, reduce seizures and restore the dentate gyrus information coding process (216). Over-expression of the voltage-gated potassium channel Kv1.1 via lentiviral vector or AAV significantly reduced the seizure frequency in rats with focal neocortical epilepsy (FNE) or TLE, respectively (217). Evidence from behavioral and cognitive studies in epilepsy emphasize the need for a new gene therapy strategies. Cognitive and behavioral deficits vary among epilepsy patients, even patients with the same type of epilepsy as this could be due to different genomic factors (3, 218). Different genetic variants are associated with various comorbidities. For example, executive dysfunction was associated with catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT), methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) and BDNF in TLE and pediatric epilepsy (219, 220), memory impairment was associated with apolipoprotein E (APOE) and BDNF in TLE (221, 222), impaired working memory was associated with COMT and MTHFR in pediatric epilepsy (220), decreased information processing was associated with RE1- silencing transcription factor (REST) (219), and anxiety and depression were associated with BDNF and COMT (223). Further investigation of epigenomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic changes in epilepsy along with understanding the functional recovery mechanisms seen with gene therapy in RTT, TLE, and FNE at the level of rate, population and temporal coding will allow us to explore the possibility of treating diseased brains.

Environmental Enrichment

The efficacy of simple environmental enrichment (EE) strategies on improving cognition was first noted by Donald Hebb in 1947. He found that the rats he took home with him performed better on behavioral tasks than rats housed in the lab (224). This

TABLE 3 | Overview of cited preclinical research.

Study	Subjects	Experiment	Main findings
Austin et al., Oostrom et al., and Berg et al. (110, 111, 114)	Children with new-onset seizures	Behavior ratings, behavior questionnaires and school records	Cognitive impairment exists at pretreatment baseline, special educational assistance required for newly diagnosed children, cognitive impairment present before the first seizure
Brun et al. (127)	Rats	MEC lesion	Place coding alteration, place cell deterioration, dispersed place fields, and less place field responses
Schlesiger et al. (193)	Rats	MEC lesion	Loss of theta phase precession in CA1
Hales et al. (194)	Rats	Bilateral MEC lesions	Place field and phase precession deficits, impaired spatial precision and spatial stability
Hernan et al. (131)	Rats	Malformation of cortical development	Hippocampal-PFC network shows less temporal modulation and less connectivity, underlying deficits in SWM
Karnam et al. (126)	Rats	ELS	Reduction in coherence, information content, center firing rate, and field size of place cells, instability of place fields, and spatial learning impairment
Hernan et al. (191, 192)	Rats	ELS/ early life IID	Increased STP in the PFC, decreased attention
Lynch et al. (190)	Rats	Kainic acid-induced SE	Decreased STP, reduced LTP capacity, impaired spatial learning, and increased inhibition in the dentate gyrus
Suárez et al. (188)	Rats	Kainic acid-induced SE	Significant decrease in hippocampal LTP, cell loss, signs of hippocampal sclerosis, and spatial memory task deficits
Ewell et al. (123)	Rats	Kainic acid-induced SE	Decreased number of active place cells, decreased spatial tuning curve stability
Liu et al. (122)	Rats	Pilocarpine SE/TLE	Decreased number of active place cells, decreased spatial tuning curve stability
Chauviere et al. (125)	Rats	Pilocarpine SE/TLE	Spatial memory alteration took place during seizure-free period and decreased theta oscillations power
Tyler et al. (129)	Rats	Pilocarpine SE/TLE	CA1 hippocampal pyramidal cells functional connectivity, coordinated firing, neuronal reactivation and synchrony predicts the behavioral outcome
Lenz et al. (189)	Mice	Pilocarpine SE/TLE	Significant decrease in the hippocampal synaptopodin acting-binding protein in CA1 region, decreased LTP induction in Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses
Shuman et al. (124)	Mice	Pilocarpine SE	Desynchronized interneuron firing between CA1 and dentate gyrus, theta rhythm temporal coordination loss in the dentate gyrus, place cell deterioration and place coding alteration
Clawson et al. (121)	Rats	Pilocarpine SE	Storage and exchange of information, theta and slow oscillations disruption
Lenck-Santini and Holmes (195)	Rats	Hippocampal sclerosis/TLE	Phase precession and temporal organization disruption

spurred Hebb's hypothesis that frequent pairing of neuronal firing leads to more efficient excitation in the future; that exposure to a more enriched environment during development critical periods might be influencing the behavior in adulthood. Hebb's observations were the first to connect environmental influences to plasticity. Today, EE paradigms involve exposure to different housing conditions that enable sensory, motor, and cognitive stimulation (225, 226).

EE has been studied in different neurological diseases like Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases. EE has been shown to slow cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease (227). To investigate the effects of EE on epilepsy, it was shown that EE can reduce cognitive deficits, increase neural plasticity, improve motor coordination, and reduce the frequency of seizures (228). We will focus on the effects of EE on information processing mechanisms.

There is a strong link between EE, plasticity, and the mechanisms underlying plasticity. Housing young rats in an

enriched environment for 30 days was shown to increase synaptophysin and post-synaptic density (PSD) in the cortex, hippocampus, thalamus, and hypothalamus (226). This suggests that the enriched environment was able to stimulate the formation of new functional synapses in these brain regions. Hippocampal gamma power increases during theta states in rats housed in enriched environments (229). This occurs alongside an increase in interhemispheric coherence of gamma oscillations after EE (229). Mice housed in EE conditions also had an increase in CA1 gamma oscillations (230).

EE also affects rate and population coding. Prolonged exposure to an enriched environment was able to increase the selectivity of CA1 place cells to a particular area in the arena in a way where fewer place cells are activated after brief exposure to a novel environment, along with an increase in global remapping efficiency and this was further supported by the increased expression of the activation protein Arc in CA1 and

Coding	Physiology		Epilepsy			
	Preclinical	Clinical	Preclinical	Clinical Time cells firing deficits Disruption of entorhinal cortex inputs Spatial memory deficits 		
Rate	 Place cells fire when an animal visits a specific place field Time cells fire at specific times in a task called time fields and they can be time locked to an external stimulus Grid cells provide activity-based maps of speed and direction in a certain environment and fire in different locations in an environment Place and grid cells map are part of the greater hippocampal cognitive map Inputs from the entorhinal cortex are important for hippocampal rate coding in the formation of the spatial memory and cognitive map Selective disruption of the theta rhythm power correlated with spatial component of the non-verbal correlates of episodic-like memory task 	 Time cells fire at specific times in a task called time fields and they can be time locked to an external stimulus Inputs from the entorhinal cortex are important for hippocampal rate coding in the formation of the spatial memory and cognitive map 	 Place cell misfiring Loss of accurate spatial navigation Lesioning the hippocampus results in loss of spatial memory Lesioning the lateral entorhinal cortex impairs the hippocampal rate remapping upon changing the configuration of the environment Time and grid cells deficits 			
Temporal	 The rate of populations of neuronal firing is also modulated in time Temporal modulation is manifested as burst firing with bursts occurring at theta frequency in the hippocampus Theta modulation is important for phase precession, phase preference and hippocampal replay Phase precession is important for information processing. Theta-phase precession could be an indication of item-context associations Selective disruption of theta coordination across CA1 and the DG correlated with temporal component of the non-verbal correlates of episodic-like memory task 	 The rate of populations of neuronal firing is also modulated in time Neurons in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex fire for space and time Time cells exhibited theta-phase precession during memory encoding Time cells activity correlates with the use of temporal location during retrieval phase of free recall task 	 Loss of phase precession Temporal modulation deficits Item-context association deficits 	 Loss of time modulation of neurona firings Theta-phase precession deficits Temporal location alteration in free recall task 		
Population	 Neurons are functionally connected into a network Population coding increases robustness of network function Place cell populations will respond when the animal goes into the field Dentate gyrus (DG) and its projection to CA3 underlie the pattern separation process Working memory in the prefrontal cortex depends on population coding 	 Pattern separation involves posterior occipitotemporal cortex (OTC) and the hippocampus Dentate gyrus (DG) and its projection to CA3 underlie the pattern separation process Working memory in the prefrontal cortex depends on population coding BOLD signal on fMRI decreases during the delay phase of image-sequence matching task in humans BOLD signal re-emerge during the image presentation phase of image-sequence matching task. Working memory in the collective synaptic weights of populations of neurons in the PFC. 	 Loss of functional connections Decreased robustness of network function Loss of place cells firing accuracy DG aberrant CA3 influences Working memory deficits 	 Early stage TLE patients experience functional connectivity deficits in the ipsilateral hemisphere and interhemispheric connections Patients with generalized epilepsy have an increase in the interhemispheric connectivity but reduced functional connectivity Decreased cluster coefficient with generalized epilepsy without focal brain damage Reduced DMN activity suppression can alter the balance betweer activated and deactivated neura networks and disturb cognitive function Hub nodes in TLE patients were mainly located in the limbic and temporal association cortices instead of being evenly distributed betweer different lobes Memory impairments are present in patients who don't show a lesion with MRI 		

dentate gyrus (231). This might suggest that the exposure to an enriched environment might be changing how place cells process information by recruiting more or new populations of neurons leading to a more efficient population coding mechanism.

Due to the various effects of EE on these important mechanisms, interest has been growing in investigating the effects of EE on epilepsy. Exposing rats with absence epilepsy to an enriched environment resulted in fewer seizures in adulthood, reduced seizure frequency, and reduced anxiety levels in adulthood (232). The beneficial effects of EE were also seen in TLE rats in the lithium/pilocarpine model. EE was able to alleviate depression and hyperactivity in addition to restoring theta LFP power in the CA1 region (233). The positive effects of EE were further seen in rats with malformation of cortical development (MCD). Rats with MCD had a disruption in their fine spike timing and place-modulated rate coding in CA1 region, which was improved upon with EE exposure (234).

These studies show that EE have a positive impact on rate and population coding. This is important as these processes are disrupted in epilepsy where these are essential for information processing and plasticity. This opens the door for future investigations on how EE can possibly modulate the brain network in ways that make it less susceptible to insults and improves outcome in patients with epilepsy.

Brain Stimulation

Brain stimulation is another therapeutic option for improving cognitive deficits associated with a variety of neurological diseases. Brain stimulation can either activate or inhibit the brain activity in a specific region which gives the ability to modulate cognitive functions. Various types of brain stimulation exist, deep brain stimulation (DBS) is an invasive technique that involves direct implantation of electrodes in the brain while transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a non-invasive technique that uses magnetic fields applied to the head (235). Brain stimulation techniques have been mainly studied in Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson Disease (PD).

DBS was tested in AD for the first time in 1984, and while this study did not show any memory or cognitive improvements, it was able to partially stop the left frontal lobe deterioration (236). In 2010, DBS went into phase I trial to investigate its effect on AD patients, and it was shown that after DBS of the fornix/hypothalamus, the patients had improved memory, reduced cognitive decline, enhanced mental state and social performance in addition to increased hippocampal volume (237-239). Further experiments exploring DBS and AD took place after this trial, and the experiments showed the positive effects of DBS on stabilizing cognitive performance (240), influencing cognitive function and disease progression depending on the disease stage and brain region being stimulated (241). For example, nucleus basalis of Meynert (NBM) DBS had a positive effect on sensory gating of auditory information into memory (242). Repetitive TMS (rTMS) was also applied for AD patients. rTMS delivers trains of pulses at the same intensity over a period of time. It mainly uses high frequency $(\geq 5 \text{ Hz})$ for cortical excitability, low-frequency (≤1 Hz) for cortical inhibition or theta-burst stimulation (TBS) (243). Several trials have shown that rTMS enhanced cognitive function in AD patients when applied to the bilateral dorsolateral prefrontal cortices (DLPFCs) (244– 247). Animal studies also investigated the effect of DBS on AD. Acute fornix DBS was able to improve learning and long-term memory in the triple transgenic AD mouse ($3 \times Tg$) model (248). Also, bilateral intermittent NBM DBS enhanced and maintained spatial memory tasks in AD rats (249). Similar results were seen with single rostral intralaminar thalamic (ILN) DBS, in addition to preservation of dendritic spine density in the mPFC and hippocampus and enhanced expression of PSD-95 (250).

In PD, bilateral subthalamic nucleus (STN) and internal globus pallidus (GPi) DBS was able to significantly reduce dyskinesia and improve motor symptoms with long-term benefit (251-253). Additional studies have shown overall improvement in quality of life and continued efficacy in patients that lasted more than 10 years (254, 255). Although most studies agree on the positive effects of DBS on motor function and quality of life, there is contradictory evidence on the positive effects of DBS on cognition and attention in PD patients. Some studies have found that PD patients continued to experience PD-associated declines in executive function, visuospatial reasoning and memory, and verbal memory after DBS (256-258). However, other studies have shown that DBS groups performed better than control groups in memory functions and visuospatial tasks (259, 260). The contradictory results seen with DBS on cognition in PD patients could be due to the stimulated brain regions and using on paradigm for all patients. STN and GPi are the most studied regions in PD due to their importance in dyskinesia and motor coordination, however these regions are not directly involved in memory per se.

DBS is used for epilepsy patients to control and manage refractory seizures; however, DBS may also be beneficial for the cognitive deficits seen in the patients. Ezzyat et al. developed a subject-based approach to investigate the effect of DBS on memory facilitation if performed in a timely manner. Taking into account the disrupted memory network in epilepsy patients, interfering at the right time can reverse the dysfunctional activity of memory encoding. The team was able to differentiate low from high encoding states which indicate neural activity and either stimulating a single medial temporal lobe (MTL) structure like hippocampus or structure involved in memory encoding like prefrontal cortex in the learning session (261). Studies stimulating a single MTL region had contradictory conclusions, indicating both memory facilitation (262, 263) and memory disruption (264, 265). Interestingly, the stimulation was able to increase the encoding-state and memory recall when performed during low-encoding states (261) and this suggests that the accurate stimulation of a single MTL structure or a region involved in memory encoding can reverse the deficits if done at a specific time of memory process. Pilocarpine rats showed a decrease in hippocampal theta power and percentage of time oscillating in theta (266), however, continuous stimulation through Barnes maze task or pre-task stimulation of the medial septum at 7.7 Hz was able to prevent theta oscillations reductions, improve spatial navigation and search strategy during the task. This cognitive improvement was accompanied by significant increase in seizure threshold in these rats. This shows that theta stimulation of the septum has potential to rescue cognitive impairments and increase seizure threshold, further supporting a mechanistic link upstream of both of these symptoms of epilepsy (266, 267). The same stimulation paradigm was used with rats after a traumatic brain injury (TBI) and it was shown that these rats had improved spatial learning and object exploration in addition to increased hippocampal theta oscillations (268). Taken together, these data show that neuronal stimulation approaches may be effective in restoring normal network function and improving cognition broadly.

Interneuron Implantation

Interneuron implantation is another possible treatment that can potentially recover the network function given the importance of interneurons in balancing the inhibition-excitation, controlling gamma and theta oscillations, and sharp wave ripples in the hippocampus. Interneuron precursor implantation into the prefrontal cortex of Pten mutant mice, an autism mouse model, was able to reverse the social behavior deficits seen in these mice; however, the implantation did not normalize baseline and social interaction-evoked EEG signals, but did modify inhibitory signaling in the PFC, underscoring a complex relationship between etiology and circuit restoration underlying behavioral improvement in disease (269). Interneuron implantation has been shown to be beneficial in epilepsy as well. Implantation in TLE, absence epilepsy, and generalized epilepsy models in rodents was able to increase seizure threshold, reduce seizure frequency and duration, reduce network excitability, and improve behavioral deficits (270-273). Implanting interneurons derived from human induced pluripotent stem cell (hiPSC) into the hippocampus of TLE rat model was able to reduce spontaneous seizures frequency after status epilepticus (274-276) which shows translational significance from rodents to humans. In addition to reducing seizures frequency, there was a decrease in the aberrant mossy fiber sprouting, and improved cognition and mood. The implanted rats showed an improvement in hippocampal dependent tasks like object recognition and improvement in pattern separation and novel object recognition (276), which suggests that the implantation might be recovering the communication between different regions or reactivating the DG/CA3 connections required for pattern separation. Integration of interneurons into the CA3 network may be how the new interneurons are affecting the network. region of the hippocampus of epileptic mice was able to improve the working memory in Y-maze test and spatial memory in water maze, however both tasks depend on the PFC (270, 274, 277). This raises the question of how locally

REFERENCES

- Fisher RS, Acevedo C, Arzimanoglou A, Bogacz A, Cross JH, Elger CE, et al. ILAE official report: a practical clinical definition of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:475–82. doi: 10.1111/epi.12550
- Cano-López I, Hampel KG, Garcés M, Villanueva V, González-Bono E. Quality of life in drug-resistant epilepsy: relationships with negative

implanted interneurons can enhance tasks that are dependent on different brain regions as well. Given the crucial role for interneurons in the timing of the action potential firing, these local connections are likely refining the signal from hippocampus to the PFC. Interestingly, MGE implantation was able to increase memory precision in mice with traumatic brain injury (TBI) as well. Implanted mice performed better in object location task and contextual fear memory where both tasks depend on hippocampus and hippocampal interneurons, respectively (278). Based on these data, GABAergic interneurons transplants may be a promising therapeutic approach for different diseases, however, further investigations are needed to determine the right time and location of implantation for the different investigated diseases.

CONCLUSION

In this review, we addressed the role of neuronal dynamics in supporting proper cognition, learning and memory, and discussed how these dynamics are altered in epilepsy. The data suggest that cognitive impairments seen in patients with epilepsy and preclinical models of epilepsy are likely due to plasticity changes, alterations to neuronal coding regimes, desynchronization, and functional connectivity disruptions from the effect of underlying etiology, rather than seizures themselves. Although we accept that the seizures could also have some negative impact on network behaviors, we strongly argue that the seizure effect is very small when compared to the etiology effect. We therefore suggest that these deficits should be approached from a systems neuroscience perspective, while being informed by mechanisms needed for normal cognitive function and development in a dynamic experience-dependent and plastic network. Importantly, this calls us to move beyond seizures into network science that is guiding possible treatments and defining new pathophysiology. This might help advance the epilepsy research forward and open the door potentially to answer unsolved questions in the field.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK, AH, and RS: draft manuscript writing and editing. All authors reviewed the final draft manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

AH and MK were funded by an NIH NINDS K22NS104230. RS was funded by an NIH NINDS R21NS117112.

affectivity, memory, somatic symptoms and social support. *J Psychosom Res.* (2018) 114:31–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.09.001

3. Hermann BP, Struck AF, Busch RM, Reyes A, Kaestner CR. E. McDonald Neurobehavioural comorbidities of epilepsy: towards a network-based precision taxonomy. Nat 17:731-46. 10.1038/s41582-021-0 Rev Neurol. (2021) doi: 0555-z

- Gauffin H, Landtblom A-M, Räty L. Self-esteem and sense of coherence in young people with uncomplicated epilepsy: a 5-year follow-up. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2010) 17:520–4. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.01.167
- 5. Winter DG. Personality: Analysis and Interpretation of Lives. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill (1996). p. 678.
- 6. Antonovsky A. Unraveling the Mystery of Health: How People Manage Stress and Stay Well. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass (1987). p. 218.
- Gauffin H, Flensner G, Landtblom A-M. Living with epilepsy accompanied by cognitive difficulties: young adults' experiences. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2011) 22:750–8. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.09.007
- Fisher RS. The new classification of seizures by the international league against epilepsy 2017. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. (2017) 17:48. doi: 10.1007/s11910-017-0758-6
- Gauffin H, Landtblom, A.-M., Vigren P, Frick A, Engström M, McAllister A, et al. Similar profile and magnitude of cognitive impairments in focal and generalized epilepsy: a pilot study. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 12:746381. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.746381
- Bell B, Lin JJ, Seidenberg M, Hermann B. The neurobiology of cognitive disorders in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2011) 7:154– 64. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2011.3
- Bartha-Doering L, Trinka E. The interictal language profile in adult epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:1512–25. doi: 10.1111/epi.12743
- Loughman A, Bowden SC, D'Souza WJ. A comprehensive assessment of cognitive function in the common genetic generalized epilepsy syndromes. *Eur J. Neurol.* (2017) 24:453–60. doi: 10.1111/ene.13232
- Simani L, Roozbeh M, Rostami M, Pakdaman H, Ramezani M, Asadollahi M. Attention and inhibitory control deficits in patients with genetic generalized epilepsy and psychogenic nonepileptic seizure. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 102:106672. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.106672
- Gerstner W, Kreiter AK, Markram H, Herz AVM. Neural codes: firing rates and beyond. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:12740– 1. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.24.12740
- Lenck-Santini P-P, Scott RC. Mechanisms responsible for cognitive impairment in epilepsy. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2015) 5:a022772. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a022772
- Zuo Y, Safaai H, Notaro G, Mazzoni A, Panzeri S, Diamond ME. Complementary contributions of spike timing and spike rate to perceptual decisions in rat S1 and S2 cortex. *Curr Biol.* (2015) 25:357–63. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.11.065
- Dragoi G, Harris KD, Buzsáki G. Place representation within hippocampal networks is modified by long-term potentiation. *Neuron.* (2003) 39:843– 53. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00465-3
- Lu L, Leutgeb JK, Tsao A, Henriksen EJ, Leutgeb S, Barnes CA, et al. Impaired hippocampal rate coding after lesions of the lateral entorhinal cortex. *Nat Neurosci.* (2013) 16:1085–93. doi: 10.1038/nn.3462
- Tolman EC. Cognitive maps in rats and men. *Psychol Rev.* (1948) 55:189–208. doi: 10.1037/h0061626
- O'Keefe J, Nadel L. *The Hippocampus as a Cognitive Map*. Oxford; New York, NY: Clarendon Press; Oxford University Press (1978).
- Davidson TJ, Kloosterman F, Wilson MA. Hippocampal replay of extended experience. *Neuron.* (2009) 63:497–507. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.07.027
- Clark RE, Broadbent NJ, Squire LR. Impaired remote spatial memory after hippocampal lesions despite extensive training beginning early in life. *Hippocampus*. (2005) 15:340–6. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20076
- Pastalkova E, Itskov V, Amarasingham A, Buzsáki G. Internally generated cell assembly sequences in the rat hippocampus. *Science*. (2008) 321:1322– 7. doi: 10.1126/science.1159775
- Hafting T, Fyhn M, Molden S, Moser M-B, Moser EI. Microstructure of a spatial map in the entorhinal cortex. *Nature*. (2005) 436:801– 6. doi: 10.1038/nature03721
- O'Keefe J, Burgess N. Dual phase and rate coding in hippocampal place cells: theoretical significance and relationship to entorhinal grid cells. *Hippocampus*. (2005) 15:853–66. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20115
- Muller R, Kubie J. The effects of changes in the environment on the spatial firing of hippocampal complex-spike cells. *J Neurosci.* (1987) 7:1951– 68. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.07-07-01951.1987
- 27. Ruth RE, Collier TJ, Routtenberg A. Topographical relationship between the entorhinal cortex and the septotemporal axis of the dentate gyrus in rats:

II. Cells projecting from lateral entorhinal subdivision. *J Comparat. Neurol.* (1988) 270:506–16. doi: 10.1002/cne.902700404

- Pouget A, Dayan P, Zemel R. Information processing with population codes. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2000) 1:125–32. doi: 10.1038/35039062
- Usrey WM, Reid RC. Synchronous activity in the visual system. Annu Rev Physiol. (1999) 61:435–56. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.61.1.435
- Tolhurst DJ, Movshon JA, Dean AF. The statistical reliability of signals in single neurons in cat and monkey visual cortex. *Vision Res.* (1983) 23:775– 85. doi: 10.1016/0042-6989(83)90200-6
- Salinas E, Abbott LF. Vector reconstruction from firing rates. J Comput Neurosci. (1994) 1:89–107. doi: 10.1007/BF00962720
- Atallah BV, Bruns W, Carandini M, Scanziani M. Parvalbumin-expressing interneurons linearly transform cortical responses to visual stimuli. *Neuron.* (2012) 73:159–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.12.013
- Adesnik H. Synaptic mechanisms of feature coding in the visual cortex of awake mice. *Neuron.* (2017) 95:1147– 59.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.08.014
- Adesnik H. Layer-specific excitation/inhibition balances during neuronal synchronization in the visual cortex. J Physiol. (2018) 596:1639–57. doi: 10.1113/JP274986
- Aertsen A, Braitenberg V. Brain Theory: Biological Basis and Computational Principles. Amsterdam; New York, NY: Elsevier. (1996). Available online at: http://site.ebrary.com/id/10254720 (accessed February 14, 2022).
- Anderson JS, Carandini M, Ferster D. Orientation tuning of input conductance, excitation, and inhibition in cat primary visual cortex. J Neurophysiol. (2000) 84:909–26. doi: 10.1152/jn.2000.84.2.909
- Li Y, Liu B, Chou X, Zhang LI, Tao HW. Synaptic basis for differential orientation selectivity between complex and simple cells in mouse visual cortex. J Neurosci. (2015) 35:11081– 93. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5246-14.2015
- Li Y, Ma W, Pan C, Zhang LI, Tao HW. Broadening of cortical inhibition mediates developmental sharpening of orientation selectivity. *J Neurosci.* (2012) 32:3981–91. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5514-11.2012
- Trevelyan AJ, Bruns W, Mann EO, Crepel V, Scanziani M. The information content of physiological and epileptic brain activity. J Physiol. (2013) 591:799–805. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.240358
- Fu Y, Tucciarone JM, Espinosa JS, Sheng N, Darcy DP, Nicoll RA, et al. A cortical circuit for gain control by behavioral state. *Cell.* (2014) 156:1139– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.050
- Pakan JM, Lowe SC, Dylda E, Keemink SW, Currie SP, Coutts CA, et al. Behavioral-state modulation of inhibition is contextdependent and cell type specific in mouse visual cortex. *Elife.* (2016) 5:e14985. doi: 10.7554/eLife.14985
- Millman DJ, Ocker GK, Caldejon S, Kato I, Larkin JD, Lee EK, et al. VIP interneurons in mouse primary visual cortex selectively enhance responses to weak but specific stimuli. *eLife*. (2020) 9:e55130. doi: 10.7554/eLife.55130
- Rubin DB, Van Hooser SD, Miller KD. The stabilized supralinear network: a unifying circuit motif underlying multi-input integration in sensory cortex. *Neuron.* (2015) 85:402–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.12.026
- França TFA, Monserrat JM. Hippocampal place cells are topographically organized, but physical space has nothing to do with it. *Brain Struct Funct*. (2019) 224:3019–29. doi: 10.1007/s00429-019-01968-9
- Lohnas LJ, Duncan K, Doyle WK, Thesen T, Devinsky O, Davachi L. Time-resolved neural reinstatement and pattern separation during memory decisions in human hippocampus. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:E7418–27. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1717088115
- 46. Lalani SJ, Reyes A, Kaestner E, Stark SM, Stark CEL, Lee D, et al. Impaired behavioral pattern separation in refractory temporal lobe epilepsy and mild cognitive impairment. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* (2021) 2021:1– 13. doi: 10.1017/S1355617721000734
- Leutgeb JK, Leutgeb S, Moser M-B, Moser EI. Pattern separation in the dentate gyrus and CA3 of the hippocampus. *Science*. (2007) 315:961– 6. doi: 10.1126/science.1135801
- Bakker A, Kirwan CB, Miller M, Stark CEL. Pattern separation in the human hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus. *Science*. (2008) 319:1640– 2. doi: 10.1126/science.1152882
- 49. Wesnes KA, Annas P, Basun H, Edgar C, Blennow K. Performance on a pattern separation task by Alzheimer's patients shows possible links

between disrupted dentate gyrus activity and apolipoprotein E 4 status and cerebrospinal fluid amyloid- β 42 levels. *Alzheimer's Res Ther.* (2014) 6:20. doi: 10.1186/alzrt250

- Reyes A, Holden HM, Chang Y-HA, Uttarwar VS, Sheppard DP, DeFord NE, et al. Impaired spatial pattern separation performance in temporal lobe epilepsy is associated with visuospatial memory deficits and hippocampal volume loss. *Neuropsychologia*. (2018) 111:209– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.02.009
- Madar AD, Ewell LA, Jones MV. Pattern separation of spiketrains in hippocampal neurons. Sci Rep. (2019) 9:5282. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-41503-8
- 52. Madar AD, Pfammatter JA, Bordenave J, Plumley EI, Ravi S, Cowie M, et al. Deficits in behavioral and neuronal pattern separation in temporal lobe epilepsy. *bioRxiv:2020.02.13.948364*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.02.13.948364
- Baddeley AD, Logie RH. Working memory: the multiple-component model. In: A Miyake, P Shah, editors, *Models of Working Memory.* 1st ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1999). p. 28–61. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139174909.005
- Sreenivasan KK, Curtis CE, D'Esposito M. Revisiting the role of persistent neural activity during working memory. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2014) 18:82– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.12.001
- Sarma A, Masse NY, Wang X-J, Freedman DJ. Task-specific versus generalized mnemonic representations in parietal and prefrontal cortices. *Nat Neurosci.* (2016) 19:143–9. doi: 10.1038/nn.4168
- Masse NY, Hodnefield JM, Freedman DJ. Mnemonic encoding and cortical organization in parietal and prefrontal cortices. J Neurosci. (2017) 37:6098– 112. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3903-16.2017
- Emrich SM, Riggall AC, LaRocque JJ, Postle BR. Distributed patterns of activity in sensory cortex reflect the precision of multiple items maintained in visual short-term memory. J Neurosci. (2013) 33:6516– 23. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5732-12.2013
- Wasmuht DF, Spaak E, Buschman TJ, Miller EK, Stokes MG. Intrinsic neuronal dynamics predict distinct functional roles during working memory. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3499. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05961-4
- Pinto L, Dan Y. Cell-type-specific activity in prefrontal cortex during goal-directed behavior. *Neuron.* (2015) 87:437– 50. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.06.021
- Murray JD, Bernacchia A, Roy NA, Constantinidis C, Romo R, Wang X-J. Stable population coding for working memory coexists with heterogeneous neural dynamics in prefrontal cortex. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:394–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1619449114
- Buzsáki G, Draguhn A. Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks. Science. (2004) 304:1926–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1099745
- 62. Wang X-J. Neurophysiological and computational principles of cortical rhythms in cognition. *Physiol Rev.* (2010) 90:1195– 268. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00035.2008
- Buzsáki G. Theta oscillations in the hippocampus. Neuron. (2002) 33:325– 40. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00586-X
- Buzsáki G. Theta rhythm of navigation: link between path integration and landmark navigation, episodic and semantic memory. *Hippocampus*. (2005) 15:827–40. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20113
- Mitchell SJ, Ranck JB. Generation of theta rhythm in medial entorhinal cortex of freely moving rats. *Brain Res.* (1980) 189:49–66. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(80)90006-2
- Leung L-WS, Borst JGG. Electrical activity of the cingulate cortex. I. Generating mechanisms and relations to behavior. *Brain Res.* (1987) 407:68– 80. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(87)91220-0
- Paré D, Collins DR. Neuronal correlates of fear in the lateral amygdala: multiple extracellular recordings in conscious cats. J Neurosci. (2000) 20:2701–10. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-07-02701.2000
- Petsche H, Stumpf C, Gogolak G. The significance of the rabbit's septum as a relay station between the midbrain and the hippocampus I. The control of hippocampus arousal activity by the septum cells. *Electroencephal Clin Neurophysiol.* (1962) 14:202–11. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(62)90030-5
- Smith HR, Pang KCH. Orexin-saporin lesions of the medial septum impair spatial memory. *Neuroscience*. (2005) 132:261– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.12.037

- Dwyer TA, Servatius RJ, Pang KCH. Noncholinergic lesions of the medial septum impair sequential learning of different spatial locations. *J Neurosci.* (2007) 27:299–303. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4189-06.2007
- Cañas A, Juncadella M, Lau R, Gabarrós A, Hernández M. Working memory deficits after lesions involving the supplementary motor area. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:765. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00765
- Montgomery SM, Buzsaki G. Gamma oscillations dynamically couple hippocampal CA3 and CA1 regions during memory task performance. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA. (2007) 104:14495–500. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0701826104
- Buzsáki G, Wang X-J. Mechanisms of gamma oscillations. Annu Rev Neurosci. (2012) 35:203–25. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-062111-150444
- Bartos M, Vida I, Jonas P. Synaptic mechanisms of synchronized gamma oscillations in inhibitory interneuron networks. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2007) 8:45–56. doi: 10.1038/nrn2044
- Nuñez A, Buño W. The theta rhythm of the hippocampus: from neuronal and circuit mechanisms to behavior. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2021) 15:649262. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2021.649262
- Tukker JJ, Lasztoczi B, Katona L, Roberts JDB, Pissadaki EK, Dalezios Y, et al. Distinct dendritic arborization and in vivo firing patterns of parvalbuminexpressing basket cells in the hippocampal area CA3. J Neurosci. (2013) 33:6809–25. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5052-12.2013
- Harris KD, Henze DA, Hirase H, Leinekugel X, Dragoi G, Czurkó A, et al. Spike train dynamics predicts theta-related phase precession in hippocampal pyramidal cells. *Nature*. (2002) 417:738–41. doi: 10.1038/nature00808
- Klausberger T, Somogyi P. Neuronal diversity and temporal dynamics: the unity of hippocampal circuit operations. *Science*. (2008) 321:53– 7. doi: 10.1126/science.1149381
- O'Keefe J, Recce ML. Phase relationship between hippocampal place units and the EEG theta rhythm. *Hippocampus*. (1993) 3:317–30. doi: 10.1002/hipo.450030307
- Skaggs WE, McNaughton BL, Wilson MA, Barnes CA. Theta phase precession in hippocampal neuronal populations and the compression of temporal sequences. *Hippocampus*. (1996) 6:149– 72. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1063(1996)6:2<149::AID-HIPO6>3.0.CO;2-K
- Magee JC, Johnston D. A synaptically controlled, associative signal for hebbian plasticity in hippocampal neurons. *Science*. (1997) 275:209– 13. doi: 10.1126/science.275.5297.209
- Umbach G, Kantak P, Jacobs J, Kahana M, Pfeiffer BE, Sperling M, et al. Time cells in the human hippocampus and entorhinal cortex support episodic memory. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2020) 117:28463– 74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2013250117
- Fries P. A mechanism for cognitive dynamics: neuronal communication through neuronal coherence. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2005) 9:474–80. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.08.011
- Buzsáki G. Neural syntax: cell assemblies, synapsembles, and readers. Neuron. (2010) 68:362–85. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.023
- DeCoteau WE, Thorn C, Gibson DJ, Courtemanche R, Mitra P, Kubota Y, et al. Learning-related coordination of striatal and hippocampal theta rhythms during acquisition of a procedural maze task. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:5644–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0700818104
- Gregoriou GG, Gotts SJ, Zhou H, Desimone R. High-frequency, long-range coupling between prefrontal and visual cortex during attention. *Science*. (2009) 324:1207–10. doi: 10.1126/science.1171402
- Colgin LL, Denninger T, Fyhn M, Hafting T, Bonnevie T, Jensen O, et al. Frequency of gamma oscillations routes flow of information in the hippocampus. *Nature*. (2009) 462:353–7. doi: 10.1038/nature08573
- Fell J, Klaver P, Lehnertz K, Grunwald T, Schaller C, Elger CE, et al. Human memory formation is accompanied by rhinal-hippocampal coupling and decoupling. *Nat Neurosci.* (2001) 4:1259–64. doi: 10.1038/nn759
- Siegel M, Donner TH, Engel AK. Spectral fingerprints of large-scale neuronal interactions. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2012) 13:121–34. doi: 10.1038/nrn3137
- Spencer KM, Nestor PG, Niznikiewicz MA, Salisbury DF, Shenton ME, McCarley RW. Abnormal neural synchrony in schizophrenia. J Neurosci. (2003) 23:7407–11. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-19-07407.2003
- Herrmann C, Demiralp T. Human EEG gamma oscillations in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2005) 116:2719– 33. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2005.07.007

- Lega BC, Jacobs J, Kahana M. Human hippocampal theta oscillations and the formation of episodic memories. *Hippocampus*. (2012) 22:748– 61. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20937
- Barry RJ, Clarke AR. Resting state brain oscillations and symptom profiles in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2013) 17:275– 87. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-7020-5307-8.00017-X
- 94. Inostroza M, Brotons-Mas JR, Laurent F, Cid E, de la Prida LM. Specific impairment of "what-where-when" episodic-like memory in experimental models of temporal lobe epilepsy. *J Neurosci.* (2013) 33:17749– 62. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0957-13.2013
- 95. Wang J, Fang Y, Wang X, Yang H, Yu X, Wang H. Enhanced gamma activity and cross-frequency interaction of resting-state electroencephalographic oscillations in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2017) 9:243. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00243
- 96. Purves D, Williams SM. *Neuroscience*. 2nd ed. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates (2001).
- Citri A, Malenka RC. Synaptic plasticity: multiple forms, functions, and mechanisms. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2008) 33:18–41. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301559
- Rotenberg A, Mayford M, Hawkins RD, Kandel ER, Muller RU. Mice expressing activated CaMKII lack low frequency LTP and do not form stable place cells in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. *Cell.* (1996) 87:1351– 61. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81829-2
- Kentros C, Hargreaves E, Hawkins RD, Kandel ER, Shapiro M, Muller RV. Abolition of long-term stability of new hippocampal place cell maps by NMDA receptor blockade. *Science*. (1998) 280:2121–6. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5372.2121
- 100. Barry JM, Rivard B, Fox SE, Fenton AA, Sacktor TC, Muller RU. Inhibition of protein kinase M disrupts the stable spatial discharge of hippocampal place cells in a familiar environment. J Neurosci. (2012) 32:13753–62. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0319-12.2012
- 101. Schoenenberger P, O'Neill J, Csicsvari J. Activity-dependent plasticity of hippocampal place maps. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:11824. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11824
- 102. Knierim JJ. Synaptic plasticity and place cell formation. *Encycl Neurosci.* (2009) 5:735–40. doi: 10.1016/B978-008045046-9.00830-5
- Derdikman D, Moser EI. A manifold of spatial maps in the brain. Space Time Number Brain. (2011) 9:41–57. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-385948-8.00004-9
- Ashby DM, Floresco SB, Phillips AG, McGirr A, Seamans JK, Wang YT. LTD is involved in the formation and maintenance of rat hippocampal CA1 placecell fields. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:100. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-20317-7
- 105. Sun L, Liu SY, Zhou XW, Wang XC, Liu R, Wang Q, et al. Inhibition of protein phosphatase 2A- and protein phosphatase 1-induced tau hyperphosphorylation and impairment of spatial memory retention in rats. *Neuroscience*. (2003) 118:1175–82. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(02)00697-8
- 106. Ge Y, Dong Z, Bagot RC, Howland JG, Phillips AG, Wong TP, et al. Hippocampal long-term depression is required for the consolidation of spatial memory. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:16697–702. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1008200107
- Blackman AV, Abrahamsson T, Costa RP, Lalanne T, Sjöström PJ. Target-cellspecific short-term plasticity in local circuits. *Front Synaptic Neurosci.* (2013) 5:11. doi: 10.3389/fnsyn.2013.00011
- Tsodyks M, Uziel A, Markram H. Synchrony generation in recurrent networks with frequency-dependent synapses. J Neurosci. (2000) 20:RC50. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-01-j0003.2000
- Deng P-Y, Klyachko VA. The diverse functions of short-term plasticity components in synaptic computations. *Commun Integr Biol.* (2011) 4:543– 8. doi: 10.4161/cib.15870
- 110. Austin JK, Dunn DW, Caffrey HM, Perkins SM, Harezlak J, Rose DF. Recurrent seizures and behavior problems in children with first recognized seizures: a prospective study. *Epilepsia*. (2002) 43:1564– 73. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2002.26002.x
- 111. Oostrom KJ, Smeets-Schouten A, Kruitwagen CLJJ, Peters ACB, Jennekens-Schinkel A, for the Dutch Study Group of Epilepsy in Childhood. Not only a matter of epilepsy: early problems of cognition and behavior in children with "epilepsy only"—a prospective, longitudinal, controlled study starting at diagnosis. *Pediatrics*. (2003) 112:1338–44. doi: 10.1542/peds.112.6.1338

- 112. Keezer MR, Sisodiya SM, Sander JW. Comorbidities of epilepsy: current concepts and future perspectives. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:106–15. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00225-2
- Elger CE, Helmstaedter C, Kurthen M. Chronic epilepsy and cognition. Lancet Neurol. (2004) 3:663–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00906-8
- 114. Berg AT, Smith SN, Frobish D, Levy SR, Testa FM, Beckerman B, et al. Special education needs of children with newly diagnosed epilepsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2005) 47:749. doi: 10.1017/S001216220500157X
- 115. Pulliainen V, Kuikka P, Jokelainen M. Motor and cognitive functions in newly diagnosed adult seizure patients before antiepileptic medication: cognitive functions in newly diagnosed seizure patients. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2000) 101:73–8. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0404.2000.101002073.x
- 116. Lawson JA, Vogrin S, Bleasel AF, Cook MJ, Burns L, McAnally L, et al. Predictors of hippocampal, cerebral, and cerebellar volume reduction in childhood epilepsy. *Epilepsia.* (2000) 41:1540–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.2000.tb00122.x
- 117. Keller SS, Roberts N. Voxel-based morphometry of temporal lobe epilepsy: an introduction and review of the literature. *Epilepsia*. (2008) 49:741– 57. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2007.01485.x
- Seidenberg M, O'leary DS, Giordani B, Berent S, Boll TJ. Test-retest IQ changes of epilepsy patients: assessing the influence of practice effects. J Clin Neuropsychol. (1981) 3:237–55. doi: 10.1080/01688638108403128
- 119. Oyegbile TO, Dow C, Jones J, Bell B, Rutecki P, Sheth R, et al. The nature and course of neuropsychological morbidity in chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology*. (2004) 62:1736–42. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000125186.04867.34
- Rayner G, Jackson GD, Wilson SJ. Mechanisms of memory impairment in epilepsy depend on age at disease onset. *Neurology*. (2016) 87:1642– 9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000003231
- Clawson W, Madec T, Ghestem A, Quilichini PP, Battaglia D, Bernard C. Disordered information processing dynamics in experimental epilepsy. preprint. *Neuroscience*. (2021) 2021:430768. doi: 10.1101/2021.02.11.430768
- 122. Liu X, Muller RU, Huang L-T, Kubie JL, Rotenberg A, Rivard B, et al. Seizureinduced changes in place cell physiology: relationship to spatial memory. J Neurosci. (2003) 23:11505–15. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-37-11505.2003
- 123. Ewell LA, Fischer KB, Leibold C, Leutgeb S, Leutgeb JK. The impact of pathological high-frequency oscillations on hippocampal network activity in rats with chronic epilepsy. *Elife*. (2019) 8:e42148. doi: 10.7554/eLife.42148
- 124. Shuman T, Aharoni D, Cai DJ, Lee CR, Chavlis S, Page-Harley L, et al. Breakdown of spatial coding and interneuron synchronization in epileptic mice. *Nat Neurosci.* (2020) 23:229–38. doi: 10.1038/s41593-019-0559-0
- 125. Chauviere L, Rafrafi N, Thinus-Blanc C, Bartolomei F, Esclapez M, Bernard C. Early deficits in spatial memory and theta rhythm in experimental temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci. (2009) 29:5402–10. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4699-08.2009
- 126. Karnam HB, Zhou J-L, Huang L-T, Zhao Q, Shatskikh T, Holmes GL. Early life seizures cause long-standing impairment of the hippocampal map. *Exp Neurol.* (2009) 217:378–87. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.03.028
- 127. Brun VH, Leutgeb S, Wu H-Q, Schwarcz R, Witter MP, Moser EI, et al. Impaired spatial representation in CA1 after lesion of direct input from entorhinal cortex. *Neuron.* (2008) 57:290–302. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.11.034
- Davoudi H, Foster DJ. Acute silencing of hippocampal CA3 reveals a dominant role in place field responses. *Nat Neurosci.* (2019) 22:337– 42. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0321-z
- 129. Tyler AL, Mahoney JM, Richard GR, Holmes GL, Lenck-Santini P-P, Scott RC. Functional network changes in hippocampal CA1 after status epilepticus predict spatial memory deficits in rats. *J Neurosci.* (2012) 32:11365– 76. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1516-12.2012
- Yu JY, Frank LM. Hippocampal–cortical interaction in decision making. Neurobiol Learn Mem. (2015) 117:34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2014.02.002
- Hernan A, Mahoney J, Curry W, Mawe S, Scott R. Distributed dynamic coding for spatial working memory in hippocampal-prefrontal networks. *Neuroscience*. (2019) 2019:630673. doi: 10.1101/630673
- 132. Nash MI, Hodges CB, Muncy NM, Kirwan CB. Pattern separation beyond the hippocampus: a high-resolution whole-brain investigation of mnemonic discrimination in healthy adults. *Hippocampus*. (2021) 31:408– 21. doi: 10.1002/hipo.23299

- 133. Bakker A, Krauss GL, Albert MS, Speck CL, Jones LR, Stark CE, et al. Reduction of hippocampal hyperactivity improves cognition in amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Neuron.* (2012) 74:467–74. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.023
- 134. Brock Kirwan C, Hartshorn A, Stark SM, Goodrich-Hunsaker NJ, Hopkins RO, Stark CEL. Pattern separation deficits following damage to the hippocampus. *Neuropsychologia.* (2012) 50:2408–14. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.06.011
- 135. Yassa MA, Stark SM, Bakker A, Albert MS, Gallagher M, Stark CEL. Highresolution structural and functional MRI of hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus in patients with amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Neuroimage*. (2010) 51:1242–52. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.040
- Bui AD, Nguyen TM, Limouse C, Kim HK, Szabo GG, Felong S, et al. Dentate gyrus mossy cells control spontaneous convulsive seizures and spatial memory. *Science*. (2018) 359:787–90. doi: 10.1126/science.aan4074
- 137. Bernhardt BC, Bonilha L, Gross DW. Network analysis for a network disorder: the emerging role of graph theory in the study of epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2015) 50:162–70. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.06.005
- 138. Yilmazer-Hanke DM, Wolf HK, Schramm J, Elger CE, Wiestler OD, Blümcke I. Subregional pathology of the amygdala complex and entorhinal region in surgical specimens from patients with pharmacoresistant temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. (2000) 59:907– 20. doi: 10.1093/jnen/59.10.907
- 139. Bothwell S, Meredith GE, Phillips J, Staunton H, Doherty C, Grigorenko E, et al. Neuronal hypertrophy in the neocortex of patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci. (2001) 21:4789–800. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-13-04789.2001
- 140. Blanc F, Martinian L, Liagkouras I, Catarino C, Sisodiya SM, Thom M. Investigation of widespread neocortical pathology associated with hippocampal sclerosis in epilepsy: a postmortem study. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52:10–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2010.02773.x
- 141. Sinjab B, Martinian L, Sisodiya SM, Thom M. Regional thalamic neuropathology in patients with hippocampal sclerosis and epilepsy: a postmortem study. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:2125–33. doi: 10.1111/epi.12403
- 142. Tai XY, Bernhardt B, Thom M, Thompson P, Baxendale S, Koepp M, et al. Review: neurodegenerative processes in temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis: clinical, pathological and neuroimaging evidence. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* (2018) 44:70–90. doi: 10.1111/nan.12458
- 143. Cendes F, Andermann F, Gloor P, Evans A, Jones-Gotman M, Watson C, et al. MRI volumetric measurement of amygdala and hippocampus in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology*. (1993) 43:719–719. doi: 10.1212/WNL.43.4.719
- 144. Bernasconi N, Bernasconi A, Caramanos Z, Dubeau F, Richardson J, Andermann F, et al. Entorhinal cortex atrophy in epilepsy patients exhibiting normal hippocampal volumes. *Neurology*. (2001) 56:1335– 9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.56.10.1335
- 145. Bernasconi N, Bernasconi A, Caramanos Z, Antel SB, Andermann F, Arnold DL. Mesial temporal damage in temporal lobe epilepsy: a volumetric MRI study of the hippocampus, amygdala and parahippocampal region. *Brain.* (2003) 126:462–9. doi: 10.1093/brain/awg034
- Bernhardt BC, Hong S-J, Bernasconi A, Bernasconi N. Magnetic resonance imaging pattern learning in temporal lobe epilepsy: classification and prognostics. *Ann Neurol.* (2015) 77:436–46. doi: 10.1002/ana.24341
- 147. Bernhardt BC, Worsley KJ, Kim H, Evans AC, Bernasconi A, Bernasconi N. Longitudinal and cross-sectional analysis of atrophy in pharmacoresistant temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology.* (2009) 72:1747–54. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000345969.57574.f5
- Coan AC, Appenzeller S, Bonilha L, Li LM, Cendes F. Seizure frequency and lateralization affect progression of atrophy in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology.* (2009) 73:834–42. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181b783dd
- Bernhardt BC, Kim H, Bernasconi N. Patterns of subregional mesiotemporal disease progression in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology*. (2013) 81:1840– 7. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000436069.20513.92
- Concha L, Beaulieu C, Gross DW. Bilateral limbic diffusion abnormalities in unilateral temporal lobe epilepsy. Ann Neurol. (2005) 57:188–96. doi: 10.1002/ana.20334
- 151. Yogarajah M, Duncan JS. Diffusion-based magnetic resonance imaging and tractography in epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2008) 49:189– 200. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2007.01378.x

- 152. Bonilha L, Edwards JC, Kinsman SL, Morgan PS, Fridriksson J, Rorden C, et al. Extrahippocampal gray matter loss and hippocampal deafferentation in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia.* (2010) 51:519– 28. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02506.x
- 153. Hermann B, Conant LL, Cook CJ, Hwang G, Garcia-Ramos C, Dabbs K, et al. Network, clinical and sociodemographic features of cognitive phenotypes in temporal lobe epilepsy. *NeuroImage*. (2020) 27:102341. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2020.102341
- 154. Bernhardt BC, Worsley KJ, Besson P, Concha L, Lerch JP, Evans AC, et al. Mapping limbic network organization in temporal lobe epilepsy using morphometric correlations: insights on the relation between mesiotemporal connectivity and cortical atrophy. *Neuroimage.* (2008) 42:515–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.04.261
- 155. Mueller SG, Laxer KD, Barakos J, Cheong I, Garcia P, Weiner MW. Widespread neocortical abnormalities in temporal lobe epilepsy with and without mesial sclerosis. *Neuroimage*. (2009) 46:353–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.02.020
- 156. Mueller SG, Laxer KD, Barakos J, Cheong I, Finlay D, Garcia P, et al. Involvement of the thalamocortical network in TLE with and without mesiotemporal sclerosis: thalamocortical Network in TLE. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 51:1436–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02413.x
- 157. Bettus G, Bartolomei F, Confort-Gouny S, Guedj E, Chauvel P, Cozzone PJ, et al. Role of resting state functional connectivity MRI in presurgical investigation of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2010) 81:1147–54. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009.191460
- Pereira FRS, Alessio A, Sercheli MS, Pedro T, Bilevicius E, Rondina JM, et al. Asymmetrical hippocampal connectivity in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: evidence from resting state fMRI. *BMC Neurosci.* (2010) 11:66. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-11-66
- 159. Zhang C, Yang H, Qin W, Liu C, Qi Z, Chen N, et al. Characteristics of resting-state functional connectivity in intractable unilateral temporal lobe epilepsy patients with impaired executive control function. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2017) 11:609. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00609
- 160. Zhang Z, Lu G, Zhong Y, Tan Q, Liao W, Wang Z, et al. Altered spontaneous neuronal activity of the default-mode network in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain Res.* (2010) 1323:152–60. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2010.01.042
- 161. Liao W, Zhang Z, Pan Z, Mantini D, Ding J, Duan X, et al. Default mode network abnormalities in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: a study combining fMRI and DTI. *Hum Brain Mapp*. (2011) 32:883–95. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21076
- 162. Pittau F, Grova C, Moeller F, Dubeau F, Gotman J. Patterns of altered functional connectivity in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: functional connectivity in MTLE. *Epilepsia.* (2012) 53:1013–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03464.x
- Haneef Z, Lenartowicz A, Yeh HJ, Levin HS, Engel J, Stern JM. Functional connectivity of hippocampal networks in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:137–45. doi: 10.1111/epi.12476
- 164. Zhang C, Zhang H, Xu K, Yang H, Liu C, Yu T, et al. Impaired prefrontal cortex-thalamus pathway in intractable temporal lobe epilepsy with aberrant executive control function: MRI evidence. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2019) 130:484–90. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2018.12.007
- 165. Bettus G, Guedj E, Joyeux F, Confort-Gouny S, Soulier E, Laguitton V, et al. Decreased basal fMRI functional connectivity in epileptogenic networks and contralateral compensatory mechanisms. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2009) 30:1580–91. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20625
- 166. Morgan VL, Rogers BP, Sonmezturk HH, Gore JC, Abou-Khalil B. Cross hippocampal influence in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy measured with high temporal resolution functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52:1741–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03196.x
- 167. Bai X, Guo J, Killory B, Vestal M, Berman R, Negishi M, et al. Resting functional connectivity between the hemispheres in childhood absence epilepsy. *Neurology.* (2011) 76:1960– 7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31821e54de
- 168. Luo C, Li Q, Xia Y, Lei X, Xue K, Yao Z, et al. Resting state basal ganglia network in idiopathic generalized epilepsy. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2012) 33:1279–94. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21286
- Masterton RA, Carney PW, Jackson GD. Cortical and thalamic resting-state functional connectivity is altered in childhood absence epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (2012) 99:327–34. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2011.12.014

- McGill ML, Devinsky O, Kelly C, Milham M, Castellanos FX, Quinn BT, et al. Default mode network abnormalities in idiopathic generalized epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2012) 23:353–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2012.01.013
- 171. Yang T, Luo C, Li Q, Guo Z, Liu L, Gong Q, et al. Altered restingstate connectivity during interictal generalized spike-wave discharges in drug-naïve childhood absence epilepsy. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2013) 34:1761– 7. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22025
- 172. Diessen E, van, Zweiphenning WJEM, Jansen FE, Stam CJ, Braun KPJ, Otte WM. Brain network organization in focal epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e114606. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114606
- 173. Vlooswijk MCG, Vaessen MJ, Jansen JFA, de Krom MCFTM, Majoie HJM, Hofman P, et al. Loss of network efficiency associated with cognitive decline in chronic epilepsy. *Neurology.* (2011) 77:938–44. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31822cfc2f
- 174. Vaessen MJ, Jansen JFA, Vlooswijk MCG, Hofman PAM, Majoie HJM, Aldenkamp AP, et al. White matter network abnormalities are associated with cognitive decline in chronic epilepsy. *Cerebr Cortex*. (2012) 22:2139– 47. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr298
- 175. Gauffin H, van Ettinger-Veenstra H, Landtblom A-M, Ulrici D, McAllister A, Karlsson T, et al. Impaired language function in generalized epilepsy: inadequate suppression of the default mode network. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2013) 28:26–35. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.04.001
- Hampson M, Driesen NR, Skudlarski P, Gore JC, Constable RT. Brain connectivity related to working memory performance. J Neurosci. (2006) 26:13338–43. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3408-06.2006
- Kelly AMC, Uddin LQ, Biswal BB, Castellanos FX, Milham MP. Competition between functional brain networks mediates behavioral variability. *Neuroimage*. (2008) 39:527–37. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.08.008
- 178. Bernhardt BC, Chen Z, He Y, Evans AC, Bernasconi N. Graph-theoretical analysis reveals disrupted small-world organization of cortical thickness correlation networks in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Cerebr Cortex*. (2011) 21:2147–57. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq291
- Diessen E, van Diederen SJH, Braun KPJ, Jansen FE, Stam CJ. Functional and structural brain networks in epilepsy: what have we learned? *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:1855–65. doi: 10.1111/epi.12350
- Rayner G, Tailby C, Jackson G, Wilson S. Looking beyond lesions for causes of neuropsychological impairment in epilepsy. *Neurology.* (2019) 92:e680– 9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006905
- 181. Sakkaki S, Barrière S, Bender AC, Scott RC, Lenck-Santini PP. Focal dorsal hippocampal Nav1.1 knock down alters place cell temporal coordination and spatial behavior. *Cerebr Cortex.* (2020) 30:5049– 66. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhaa101
- Bender AC, Luikart BW, Lenck-Santini PP. Cognitive deficits associated with Nav1.1 alterations: involvement of neuronal firing dynamics and oscillations. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0151538. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151538
- Lucas MM, Lenck-Santini P-P, Holmes GL, Scott RC. Impaired cognition in rats with cortical dysplasia: additional impact of early-life seizures. *Brain*. (2011) 134:1684–93. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr087
- 184. Weglage J, Demsky A, Pietsch M, Kurlemann G. Neuropsychological, intellectual, and behavioral findings in patients with centrotemporal spikes with and without seizures. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (1997) 39:646– 51. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.1997.tb07357.x
- 185. Fonseca LC, Tedrus GMAS, Tonelotto JM, Antunes T, Chiodi MG. School performance in children with benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Arquivos De Neuro-Psiquiatria*. (2004) 62:459– 62. doi: 10.1590/S0004-282X2004000300015
- 186. Kleen JK, Scott RC, Holmes GL, Lenck-Santini PP. Hippocampal interictal spikes disrupt cognition in rats. Ann Neurol. (2010) 67:250– 7. doi: 10.1002/ana.21896
- 187. Kleen JK, Scott RC, Holmes GL, Roberts DW, Rundle MM, Testorf M, et al. Hippocampal interictal epileptiform activity disrupts cognition in humans. *Neurology*. (2013) 81:18–24. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318297ee50
- 188. Suárez LM, Cid E, Gal B, Inostroza M, Brotons-Mas JR, Gómez-Domínguez D, et al. Systemic injection of kainic acid differently affects LTP magnitude depending on its epileptogenic efficiency. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e48128. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048128

- 189. Lenz M, Ben Shimon M, Deller T, Vlachos A, Maggio N. Pilocarpineinduced status epilepticus is associated with changes in the actin-modulating protein synaptopodin and alterations in long-term potentiation in the mouse hippocampus. *Neural Plast.* (2017) 2017:1–7. doi: 10.1155/2017/2652560
- 190. Lynch M, Sayin Ü, Bownds J, Janumpalli S, Sutula T. Long-term consequences of early postnatal seizures on hippocampal learning and plasticity: developmental plasticity in the hippocampus. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2000) 12:2252–64. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2000.00117.x
- 191. Hernan AE, Holmes GL, Isaev D, Scott RC, Isaeva E. Altered short-term plasticity in the prefrontal cortex after early life seizures. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2013) 50:120–6. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012.10.007
- 192. Hernan AE, Alexander A, Jenks KR, Barry J, Lenck-Santini P-P, Isaeva E, et al. Focal epileptiform activity in the prefrontal cortex is associated with long-term attention and sociability deficits. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2014) 63:25– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2013.11.012
- 193. Schlesiger MI, Cannova CC, Boublil BL, Hales JB, Mankin EA, Brandon MP, et al. The medial entorhinal cortex is necessary for temporal organization of hippocampal neuronal activity. *Nat Neurosci.* (2015) 18:1123–32. doi: 10.1038/nn.4056
- 194. Hales JB, Schlesiger MI, Leutgeb JK, Squire LR, Leutgeb S, Clark RE. Medial entorhinal cortex lesions only partially disrupt hippocampal place cells and hippocampus-dependent place memory. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 9:893– 901. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.10.009
- Lenck-Santini P-P, Holmes GL. Altered phase precession and compression of temporal sequences by place cells in epileptic rats. J Neurosci. (2008) 28:5053–62. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5024-07.2008
- 196. Powers S, Miranda C, Dennys-Rivers C, Huffenberger A, Braun L, Rinaldi F, et al. Rett syndrome gene therapy improves survival and ameliorates behavioral phenotypes in MeCP2 null (S51.002). *Neurology*. (2019) 92(15Suppl.):S51.002.
- 197. Moretti P, M., Levenson J, Battaglia F, Atkinson R, Teague R, et al. Learning and memory and synaptic plasticity are impaired in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. J Neurosci. (2006) 26:319–27. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2623-05.2006
- 198. Hagberg B, Aicardi J, Dias K, Ramos O. A progressive syndrome of autism, dementia, ataxia, and loss of purposeful hand use in girls: Rett's syndrome: report of 35 cases. *Ann Neurol.* (1983) 14:471–9. doi: 10.1002/ana.410140412
- 199. Amir RE, Van den Veyver IB, Wan M, Tran CQ, Francke U, Zoghbi HY. Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl-CpG-binding protein 2. *Nat Genet.* (1999) 23:185–8. doi: 10.1038/13810
- 200. Chahrour M, Jung SY, Shaw C, Zhou X, Wong STC, Qin J, et al. MeCP2, a key contributor to neurological disease, activates and represses transcription. *Science*. (2008) 320:1224–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1153252
- Moretti P, Bouwknecht JA, Teague R, Paylor R, Zoghbi HY. Abnormalities of social interactions and home-cage behavior in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2005) 14:205–20. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi016
- 202. Stearns NA, Schaevitz LR, Bowling H, Nag N, Berger UV, Berger-Sweeney J. Behavioral and anatomical abnormalities in Mecp2 mutant mice: a model for Rett syndrome. *Neuroscience*. (2007) 146:907–21. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.02.009
- 203. Kee SE, Mou X, Zoghbi HY, Ji D. Impaired spatial memory codes in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Elife.* (2018) 7:e31451. doi: 10.7554/eLife.31451
- Asaka Y, Jugloff DGM, Zhang L, Eubanks JH, Fitzsimonds RM. Hippocampal synaptic plasticity is impaired in the Mecp2-null mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2006) 21:217–27. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2005.07.005
- 205. Cardoza B, Clarke A, Wilcox J, Gibbon F, Smith PEM, Archer H, et al. Epilepsy in Rett syndrome: association between phenotype and genotype, and implications for practice. *Seizure.* (2011) 20:646–9. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2011. 06.010
- 206. Ito-Ishida A, Ure K, Chen H, Swann JW, Zoghbi HY. Loss of MeCP2 in parvalbumin-and somatostatin-expressing neurons in mice leads to distinct Rett syndrome-like phenotypes. *Neuron.* (2015) 88:651– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.10.029
- 207. Operto FF, Mazza R, Pastorino GMG, Verrotti A, Coppola G. Epilepsy and genetic in Rett syndrome: a review. *Brain Behav.* (2019) 9:e01250. doi: 10.1002/brb3.1250

- Buzsaki G, Horvath Z, Urioste R, Hetke J, Wise K. High-frequency network oscillation in the hippocampus. *Science*. (1992) 256:1025– 7. doi: 10.1126/science.1589772
- 209. Buzsáki G. Two-stage model of memory trace formation: a role for "noisy" brain states. Neuroscience. (1989) 31:551– 70. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(89)90423-5
- 210. Lang M, Wither RG, Brotchie JM, Wu C, Zhang L, Eubanks JH. Selective preservation of MeCP2 in catecholaminergic cells is sufficient to improve the behavioral phenotype of male and female Mecp2-deficient mice. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2013) 22:358–71. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds433
- 211. Samarasinghe RA, Miranda OA, Buth JE, Mitchell S, Ferando I, Watanabe M, et al. Identification of neural oscillations and epileptiform changes in human brain organoids. *Nat Neurosci.* (2021) 24:1488– 500. doi: 10.1038/s41593-021-00906-5
- D'Cruz JA, Wu C, Zahid T, El-Hayek Y, Zhang L, Eubanks JH. Alterations of cortical and hippocampal EEG activity in MeCP2-deficient mice. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2010) 38:8–16. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.12.018
- 213. Kosai K, Kusaga A, Isagai T, Hirata K, Nagano S, Murofushi Y, et al. Rett syndrome is reversible and treatable by MeCP2 gene therapy into the striatum in mice. *Mol Ther.* (2005) 11:S24. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2005. 06.086
- 214. Luoni M, Giannelli S, Indrigo MT, Niro A, Massimino L, Iannielli A, et al. Whole brain delivery of an instability-prone Mecp2 transgene improves behavioral and molecular pathological defects in mouse models of Rett syndrome. *Elife.* (2020) 9:e52629. doi: 10.7554/eLife. 52629
- 215. Gadalla KK, Bailey ME, Spike RC, Ross PD, Woodard KT, Kalburgi SN, et al. Improved survival and reduced phenotypic severity following AAV9/MECP2 gene transfer to neonatal and juvenile male Mecp2 knockout mice. *Mol Ther.* (2013) 21:18–30. doi: 10.1038/mt.2012.200
- Kahn JB, Port RG, Yue C, Takano H, Coulter DA. Circuit-based interventions in the dentate gyrus rescue epilepsy-associated cognitive dysfunction. *Brain.* (2019) 142:2705–21. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz209
- Snowball A, Chabrol E, Wykes RC, Shekh-Ahmad T, Cornford JH, Lieb A, et al. Epilepsy gene therapy using an engineered potassium channel. *J Neurosci.* (2019) 39:3159–69. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1143-18.2019
- Hermann B, Seidenberg M, Lee E-J, Chan F, Rutecki P. Cognitive phenotypes in temporal lobe epilepsy. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2007) 13:12– 20. doi: 10.1017/S135561770707004X
- 219. Warburton A, Miyajima F, Shazadi K, Crossley J, Johnson MR, Marson AG, et al. NRSF and BDNF polymorphisms as biomarkers of cognitive dysfunction in adults with newly diagnosed epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 54:117–27. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.11.013
- Colliva C, Ferrari M, Benatti C, Guerra A, Tascedda F, Blom JMC. Executive functioning in children with epilepsy: genes matter. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2019) 95:137–47. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.02.019
- 221. Busch RM, Lineweaver TT, Naugle RI, Kim KH, Gong Y, Tilelli CQ, et al. ApoE-ε4 is associated with reduced memory in longstanding intractable temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology*. (2007) 68:409– 14. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000253021.60887.db
- 222. Sidhu MK, Thompson PJ, Wandschneider B, Foulkes A, de Tisi J, Stretton J, et al. The impact of brain-derived neurotrophic factor Val66Met polymorphism on cognition and functional brain networks in patients with intractable partial epilepsy. *CNS Neurosci Ther.* (2019) 25:223–32. doi: 10.1111/cns.13003
- 223. Doherty C, Hogue O, Floden DP, Altemus JB, Najm IM, Eng C, et al. BDNF and COMT, but not APOE, alleles are associated with psychiatric symptoms in refractory epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2019) 94:131– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.02.032
- 224. Hebb D. Condensed program. Am Psychol. (1947) 2:255– 352. doi: 10.1037/h0063667
- Rosenzweig MR, Bennett EL. Cerebral changes in rats exposed individually to an enriched environment. J Comparat Physiol Psychol. (1972) 80:304– 13. doi: 10.1037/h0032978
- 226. Nithianantharajah J. Environmental enrichment results in cortical and subcortical changes in levels of synaptophysin and PSD-95 proteins. *Neurobiol Learn Mem.* (2004) 81:200–10. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2004.02.002

- 227. Xu J, Sun J, Xue Z, Li X. An enriched environment reduces the stress level and locomotor activity induced by acute morphine treatment and by saline after chronic morphine treatment in mice. *Neuroreport.* (2014) 25:701–9. doi: 10.1097/WNR.00000000000164
- 228. Akyuz E, Eroglu E. Envisioning the crosstalk between environmental enrichment and epilepsy: a novel perspective. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2021) 115:107660. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107660
- Shinohara Y, Hosoya A, Hirase H. Experience enhances gamma oscillations and interhemispheric asymmetry in the hippocampus. *Nat Commun.* (2013) 4:1652. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2658
- 230. Tanaka M, Wang X, Mikoshiba K, Hirase H, Shinohara Y. Rearingenvironment-dependent hippocampal local field potential differences in wild-type and inositol trisphosphate receptor type 2 knockout mice: experience-dependent hippocampal LFP patterns in WT and IP₃ R2-KO mice. J Physiol. (2017) 595:6557–68. doi: 10.1113/JP274573
- 231. Bilkey DK, Cheyne KR, Eckert MJ, Lu X, Chowdhury S, Worley PF, et al. Exposure to complex environments results in more sparse representations of space in the hippocampus. *Hippocampus*. (2017) 27:1178–91. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22762
- 232. Dezsi G, Ozturk E, Salzberg MR, Morris M, O'Brien TJ, Jones NC. Environmental enrichment imparts disease-modifying and transgenerational effects on genetically-determined epilepsy and anxiety. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2016) 93:129–36. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016. 05.005
- 233. Vrinda M, Sasidharan A, Aparna S, Srikumar BN, Kutty BM, Shankaranarayana Rao BS. Enriched environment attenuates behavioral seizures and depression in chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:1148–58. doi: 10.1111/epi.13767
- 234. Hernan AE, Mahoney JM, Curry W, Richard G, Lucas MM, Massey A, et al. Environmental enrichment normalizes hippocampal timing coding in a malformed hippocampus. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0191488. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191488
- 235. The National Institute of Mental Health. Brain Stimulation Therapies. (NIMH). (2016). Available online at: https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/ topics/brain-stimulation-therapies/brain-stimulation-therapies (accessed February 14, 2022).
- Turnbull IM, McGeer PL, Beattie L, Calne D, Pate B. Stimulation of the basal nucleus of meynert in senile dementia of Alzheimer's type. *Stereotact Funct Neurosurg.* (1985) 48:216–21. doi: 10.1159/000101130
- 237. Laxton AW, Tang-Wai DF, McAndrews MP, Zumsteg D, Wennberg R, Keren R, et al. A phase I trial of deep brain stimulation of memory circuits in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2010) 68:521–34. doi: 10.1002/ana. 22089
- Sankar T, Chakravarty MM, Bescos A, Lara M, Obuchi T, Laxton AW, et al. Deep brain stimulation influences brain structure in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Stimul.* (2015) 8:645–54. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2014.11.020
- 239. Mao Z-Q, Wang X, Xu X, Cui Z-Q, Pan L-S, Ning X-J, et al. Partial improvement in performance of patients with severe Alzheimer's disease at an early stage of fornix deep brain stimulation. *Neural Regen Res.* (2018) 13:2164. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.241468
- 240. Fontaine D, Deudon A, Lemaire JJ, Razzouk M, Viau P, Darcourt J, et al. Symptomatic treatment of memory decline in Alzheimer's disease by deep brain stimulation: a feasibility study. *J Alzheimer's Dis.* (2013) 34:315–23. doi: 10.3233/JAD-121579
- 241. Kuhn J, Hardenacke K, Shubina E, Lenartz D, Visser-Vandewalle V, Zilles K, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus basalis of meynert in early stage of Alzheimer's dementia. *Brain Stimul.* (2015) 8:838– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2015.04.002
- 242. Dürschmid S, Reichert C, Kuhn J, Freund H, Hinrichs H, Heinze H. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus basalis of Meynert attenuates early EEG components associated with defective sensory gating in patients with Alzheimer disease – a two-case study. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2020) 51:1201– 9. doi: 10.1111/ejn.13749
- 243. Rossi S, Hallett M, Rossini PM, Pascual-Leone A. Safety, ethical considerations, and application guidelines for the use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in clinical practice and research. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2009) 120:2008–39. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2009.08.016

- 244. Cotelli M, Manenti R, Cappa SF, Geroldi C, Zanetti O, Rossini PM, et al. Effect of transcranial magnetic stimulation on action naming in patients with Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol. (2006) 63:1602. doi: 10.1001/archneur.63.11.1602
- 245. Cotelli M, Manenti R, Cappa SF, Zanetti O, Miniussi C. Transcranial magnetic stimulation improves naming in Alzheimer disease patients at different stages of cognitive decline. *Eur J Neurol.* (2008) 15:1286– 92. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02202.x
- 246. Bentwich J, Dobronevsky E, Aichenbaum S, Shorer R, Peretz R, Khaigrekht M, et al. Beneficial effect of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation combined with cognitive training for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: a proof of concept study. *J Neural Transm.* (2011) 118:463–71. doi: 10.1007/s00702-010-0578-1
- 247. Ahmed MA, Darwish ES, Khedr EM, El Serogy YM, Ali AM. Effects of low versus high frequencies of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on cognitive function and cortical excitability in Alzheimer's dementia. *J Neurol.* (2012) 259:83–92. doi: 10.1007/s00415-011-6128-4
- Gallino D, Devenyi GA, Germann J, Guma E, Anastassiadis C, Chakravarty MM. Longitudinal assessment of the neuroanatomical consequences of deep brain stimulation: application of fornical DBS in an Alzheimer's mouse model. *Brain Res.* (2019) 1715:213–23. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2019.03.030
- 249. Koulousakis P, van den Hove D, Visser-Vandewalle V, Sesia T. Cognitive improvements after intermittent deep brain stimulation of the nucleus basalis of meynert in a transgenic rat model for Alzheimer's disease: a preliminary approach. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2020) 73:461-6. doi: 10.3233/JAD-190919
- 250. Tsai S-T, Chen S-Y, Lin S-Z, Tseng G-F. Rostral intralaminar thalamic deep brain stimulation ameliorates memory deficits and dendritic regression in β-amyloid-infused rats. *Brain Struct Funct.* (2020) 225:751–61. doi: 10.1007/s00429-020-02033-6
- 251. Limousin P, Krack P, Pollak P, Benazzouz A, Ardouin C, Hoffmann D, et al. Electrical stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in advanced Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med. (1998) 339:1105–11. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199810153391603
- 252. Volkmann J, Sturm V, Weiss P, Kappler J, Voges J, Koulousakis A, et al. Bilateral high-frequency stimulation of the internal globus pallidus in advanced Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol. (1998) 44:953–61. doi: 10.1002/ana.410440615
- 253. Krack P, Batir A, Van Blercom N, Chabardes S, Fraix V, Ardouin C, et al. Five-year follow-up of bilateral stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in advanced Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med. (2003) 349:1925– 34. doi: 10.1056/NEJM0a035275
- 254. Williams A, Gill S, Varma T, Jenkinson C, Quinn N, Mitchell R, et al. Deep brain stimulation plus best medical therapy versus best medical therapy alone for advanced Parkinson's disease (PD SURG trial): a randomised, open-label trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 9:581–91. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70093-4
- Castrioto A. Ten-year outcome of subthalamic stimulation in Parkinson's disease: a blinded evaluation. Arch Neurol. (2011) 68:1550. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.182
- 256. Smeding HMM, Speelman JD, Koning-Haanstra M, Schuurman PR, Nijssen P, van Laar T, et al. Neuropsychological effects of bilateral STN stimulation in Parkinson disease: a controlled study. *Neurology.* (2006) 66:1830–6. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000234881.77830.66
- 257. Smeding HMM, Speelman JD, Huizenga HM, Schuurman PR, Schmand B. Predictors of cognitive and psychosocial outcome after STN DBS in Parkinson's Disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2011) 82:754–60. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.140012
- 258. York MK, Dulay M, Macias A, Levin HS, Grossman R, Simpson R, et al. Cognitive declines following bilateral subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2008) 79:789–95. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.118786
- 259. Williams AE, Arzola GM, Strutt AM, Simpson R, Jankovic J, York MK. Cognitive outcome and reliable change indices two years following bilateral subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*. (2011) 17:321–7. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2011.01.011
- 260. Sáez-Zea C, Escamilla-Sevilla F, Katati MJ, Mínguez-Castellanos A. Cognitive effects of subthalamic nucleus stimulation in Parkinson's disease:

a controlled study. *Eur Neurol.* (2012) 68:361–6. doi: 10.1159/0003 41380

- 261. Ezzyat Y, Kragel JE, Burke JF, Levy DF, Lyalenko A, Wanda P, et al. Direct brain stimulation modulates encoding states and memory performance in humans. *Curr Biol.* (2017) 27:1251–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.03.028
- 262. Fell J, Staresina BP, Do Lam ATA, Widman G, Helmstaedter C, Elger CE, et al. Memory modulation by weak synchronous deep brain stimulation: a pilot study. *Brain Stimul.* (2013) 6:270–3. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2012.08.001
- 263. Miller JP, Sweet JA, Bailey CM, Munyon CN, Luders HO, Fastenau PS. Visual-spatial memory may be enhanced with theta burst deep brain stimulation of the fornix: a preliminary investigation with four cases. *Brain.* (2015) 138:1833–42. doi: 10.1093/brain/awv095
- 264. Perrine K, Devinsky O, Uysal S, Luciano DJ, Dogali M. Left temporal neocortex mediation of verbal memory: evidence from functional mapping with cortical stimulation. *Neurology.* (1994) 44:1845. doi: 10.1212/WNL.44.10.1845
- Coleshill SG. Material-specific recognition memory deficits elicited by unilateral hippocampal electrical stimulation. J Neurosci. (2004) 24:1612– 6. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4352-03.2004
- 266. Lee DJ, Izadi A, Melnik M, Seidl S, Echeverri A, Shahlaie K, et al. Stimulation of the medial septum improves performance in spatial learning following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. *Epilepsy Res.* (2017) 130:53–63. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2017.01.005
- Izadi A, Pevzner A, Lee DJ, Ekstrom AD, Shahlaie K, Gurkoff GG. Medial septal stimulation increases seizure threshold and improves cognition in epileptic rats. *Brain Stimul.* (2019) 12:735–42. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2019.01.005
- Lee DJ, Gurkoff GG, Izadi A, Seidl SE, Echeverri A, Melnik M, et al. Septohippocampal neuromodulation improves cognition after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2015) 32:1822–32. doi: 10.1089/neu.2014.3744
- 269. Southwell DG, Seifikar H, Malik R, Lavi K, Vogt D, Rubenstein JL, et al. Interneuron transplantation rescues social behavior deficits without restoring wild-type physiology in a mouse model of autism with excessive synaptic inhibition. J Neurosci. (2020) 40:2215–27. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1063-19.2019
- Hunt RF, Girskis KM, Rubenstein JL, Alvarez-Buylla A, Baraban SC. GABA progenitors grafted into the adult epileptic brain control seizures and abnormal behavior. *Nat Neurosci.* (2013) 16:692–7. doi: 10.1038/nn.3392
- 271. Handreck A, Backofen-Wehrhahn B, Bröer S, Löscher W, Gernert M. Anticonvulsant effects by bilateral and unilateral transplantation of GABAproducing cells into the subthalamic nucleus in an acute seizure model. *Cell Transplant.* (2014) 23:111–32. doi: 10.3727/096368912X658944
- 272. Henderson KW, Gupta J, Tagliatela S, Litvina E, Zheng X, Van Zandt MA, et al. Long-term seizure suppression and optogenetic analyses of synaptic connectivity in epileptic mice with hippocampal grafts of GABAergic interneurons. *J Neurosci.* (2014) 34:13492–504. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0005-14.2014
- 273. Hammad M, Schmidt SL, Zhang X, Bray R, Frohlich F, Ghashghaei HT. Transplantation of GABAergic interneurons into the neonatal primary visual cortex reduces absence seizures in stargazer mice. *Cerebr Cortex*. (2015) 25:2970–9. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhu094
- 274. Cunningham M, Cho J-H, Leung A, Savvidis G, Ahn S, Moon M, et al. hPSC-derived maturing GABAergic interneurons ameliorate seizures and abnormal behavior in epileptic mice. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2014) 15:559–73. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.10.006
- 275. Hunt RF, Baraban SC. Interneuron transplantation as a treatment for epilepsy. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2015) 5:a022376. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a022376
- 276. Upadhya D, Hattiangady B, Castro OW, Shuai B, Kodali M, Attaluri S, et al. Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived MGE cell grafting after status epilepticus attenuates chronic epilepsy and comorbidities via synaptic integration. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2019) 116:287–96. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1814185115
- 277. Anderson NC, Van Zandt MA, Shrestha S, Lawrence DB, Gupta J, Chen CY, et al. Pluripotent stem cell-derived interneuron progenitors mature and restore memory deficits but do not suppress seizures in the epileptic mouse brain. *Stem Cell Res.* (2018) 33:83–94. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2018. 10.007

278. Zhu В, Eom J, Hunt RF. Transplanted interneurons traumatic brain injury. improve memory precision after 10.1038/s41467-019-Nat Commun. (2019)10:5156. doi: 13170-w

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Khalife, Scott and Hernan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Emotional Word Processing in Patients With Juvenile Myoclonic Epilepsy

Lucas Johannes Rainer^{1,2,3*}, Martin Kronbichler^{2,4}, Giorgi Kuchukhidze¹, Eugen Trinka^{1,2,5,6}, Patrick Benjamin Langthaler^{1,7}, Lisa Kronbichler^{2,3}, Sarah Said-Yuerekli^{1,4}, Margarita Kirschner¹, Georg Zimmermann^{8,9}, Julia Höfler¹, Elisabeth Schmid¹ and Mario Braun⁴

¹ Department of Neurology, Christian-Doppler Medical Centre, Paracelsus Medical University, Centre for Cognitive Neuroscience Salzburg, Member of the European Reference Network, Epicare, Salzburg, Austria, ² Neuroscience Institute, Christian-Doppler Medical Centre, Paracelsus Medical University, Centre for Cognitive Neuroscience, Salzburg, Austria, ³ Department of Psychiatry, Psychotherapy & Psychosomatics, Christian-Doppler Medical Centre, Paracelsus Medical University, Salzburg, Austria, ⁴ Department of Psychology, Naturwissenschaftliche Fakultaet, Centre for Cognitive Neuroscience, Paris-Lodron University, Salzburg, Austria, ⁵ Department of Public Health, Health Services Research and Health Technology Assessment, UMIT–University for Health Sciences, Medical Informatics and Technology, Hall in Tirol, Austria, ⁶ Karl-Landsteiner Institute for Neurorehabilitation and Space Neurology, Salzburg, Austria, ⁷ Department of Mathematics, Paris-Lodron University, Naturwissenschaftliche Fakultaet, Salzburg, Austria, ⁸ Team Biostatistics and Big Medical Data, IDA Lab Salzburg, Paracelsus Medical University, Salzburg, Austria, ⁹ Research and Innovation Management, Paracelsus Medical University, Salzburg, Austria

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Julia Jacobs, University of Freiburg Medical Center, Germany

Reviewed by:

Kette D. Valente, University of São Paulo, Brazil Patricia Rzezak, University of São Paulo, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Lucas Johannes Rainer lucas.rainer@stud.sbg.ac.at; l.rainer@salk.at

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 14 February 2022 Accepted: 10 May 2022 Published: 01 June 2022

Citation:

Rainer LJ, Kronbichler M, Kuchukhidze G, Trinka E, Langthaler PB, Kronbichler L, Said-Yuerekli S, Kirschner M, Zimmermann G, Höfler J, Schmid E and Braun M (2022) Emotional Word Processing in Patients With Juvenile Myoclonic Epilepsy. Front. Neurol. 13:875950. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.875950 **Objective:** According to Panksepp's hierarchical emotion model, emotion processing relies on three functionally and neuroanatomically distinct levels. These levels comprise subcortical networks (primary level), the limbic system (secondary level), and the neocortex (tertiary level) and are suggested to serve differential emotional processing. We aimed to validate and extend previous evidence of discrete and dimensional emotion processing in patient with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy (JME).

Methods: We recorded brain activity of patients with JME and healthy controls in response to lexical decisions to words reflecting the discrete emotion fear and the affective dimension negativity previously suggested to rely on different brain regions and to reflect different levels of processing. In all study participants, we tested verbal cognitive functions, as well as the relationship of psychiatric conditions, seizure types and duration of epilepsy and emotional word processing.

Results: In support of the hierarchical emotion model, we found an interaction of discrete emotion and affective dimensional processing in the right amygdala likely to reflect secondary level processing. Brain activity related to affective dimensional processing was found in the right inferior frontal gyrus and is suggested to reflect tertiary level processing. Psychiatric conditions, type of seizure nor mono- vs. polytherapy and duration of epilepsy within patients did not have any effect on the processing of emotional words. In addition, no differences in brain activity or response times between patients and controls were observed, despite neuropsychological testing revealed slightly decreased verbal intelligence, verbal fluency and reading speed in patients with JME.

Significance: These results were interpreted to be in line with the hierarchical emotion model and to highlight the amygdala's role in processing biologically relevant stimuli, as well as to suggest a semantic foundation of affective dimensional processing in prefrontal cortex. A lack of differences in brain activity of patients with JME and healthy controls in response to the emotional content of words could point to unaffected implicit emotion processing in patients with JME.

Keywords: discrete emotion, dimensional emotion, neuropsychology, juvenile myoclonic epilepsy (JME), implicit emotion processing

INTRODUCTION

A multitude of neuroimaging and electrophysiological evidence has been collected in recent years on emotional processing in the human brain (1). However, it is still not entirely clear which brain regions reflect emotional processing and what is the time course of such processing (2). Two main views provide evidence on emotional processing in humans. Discrete emotion theories (3-5) suggest that a limited number of discrete emotions (e.g., anger, fear, sadness) are evolutionary ingrained (3) and culturally universal (6). In contrast, dimensional emotion theories (7, 8) propose that a limited number of affective dimensions (e.g., valence and arousal) constitute the basis of emotional processing (9). Initially seen as opposing views, recent evidence is in support of the idea that discrete emotions and affective dimensions could both reflect emotional processing in humans (10, 11). A framework which is in support of this way of processing is provided by the hierarchical emotion model of Panksepp (5, 12, 13). According to this model, discrete emotions and affective dimensions are not seen as opposing views, but rather as describing different processes operating on different, neuroanatomically distinguishable levels (14). At a primary process level, discrete emotions are thought to originate in subcortical circuits, such as the periaqueductal gray (PAG). At a secondary process level, primary process level emotions are transformed into conditioned responses by classical and instrumental conditioning, which is served by limbic structures including the amygdala (15, 16). At the tertiary process level, neocortical structures such as the prefrontal cortex are thought to interact with the lower process levels by cognitive processes and to be shaped by socio-cultural demands clustering primary emotion information further into constellations of positive and negative affect (17, 18). Reading single words with emotional content has been reported to activate brain areas such as the hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus, amygdala, anterior and posterior cingulate cortex, and orbitofrontal cortex (19-23). Briesemeister et al. (10, 11) reported electrophysiological and neuroimaging evidence for the processing of discrete emotion words reflecting high and low happiness but also for the processing of words reflecting the affective dimension of positivity in line with Panksepps hierarchical emotion model. The electrophysiological results indicated sequential processing of emotion information, with the discrete emotion happiness, affecting the early visual N1 component, and the affective dimension positivity, reflected in an N400-like component and the late positive complex. (10). Neuroimaging revealed limbic activity in the right amygdala for words reflecting the discrete emotion happiness, and activity in the prefrontal cortex such as the left and right inferior frontal gyri and left medial frontal gyrus for the affective dimension of positivity. These and other results strongly suggest that emotion processing relies on extended networks and might be altered if structures like the limbic system or the prefrontal cortex are impaired. This could be observed in certain neurological conditions, such as epilepsy in which patients have impaired emotion recognition (24-30). Juvenile myoclonic epilepsy (JME) comprises 5-10% of all epilepsies (31) and is one of the most common age-related idiopathic generalized epilepsies with a high reported genetic pre-disposition (32). JME-onset peaks between 14 and 16 years, usually presents massive myoclonic, generalized tonic-clonic and absence seizures (33-36). Executive functions are reported to be impaired in JME, comprising mental flexibility, inhibition of automated reactions, abstraction and categorization, planning and verbal fluency (37-40). Behavioral problems in patients with JME, such as poor social adjustment and impulsive personality traits, resembling patients with frontal lobe damage, are often observed (41, 42). The prevalence of psychiatric disorders of patients with JME varies between 35 and 49% and studies demonstrated increased mood, anxiety, and cluster B personality disorders (41, 43). Neuroimaging revealed subtle structural and functional alterations in thalamus and frontal cortex associated with cognitive, behavioral and emotional disturbances (44-47). Furthermore, recent studies reported morphological and functional alteration involving thalamo-cortical circuits, cerebellum, bilateral hippocampi, and cingulate, insular and occipital cortices (48-50). Thus, the clinical picture of patients with JME shows cognitive as well as emotional impairments.

In this prospective fMRI study on patients with JME and healthy controls we aimed to extend and to validate the previous reported dissociation of brain regions involved in discrete and dimensional emotion processing (11), by presenting words reflecting the negative emotion fear and the affective dimension of negativity. In line with the results of Briesemeister et al. (47) we hypothesized that the processing of words with high fear values differs from those with low fear values in the right amygdala and that the inferior frontal cortex shows increasing activity with increasing negativity of words. Furthermore, we expected general faster response times for words with high fear values compared to words with low fear values. In addition, we expected patients with JME and healthy controls to differ in the processing of words reflecting the affective dimension of negativity and that this differential processing is revealed by differences in brain activity in the inferior frontal cortex, since neuropsychological and neuroimaging evidence showed altered executive functioning in patients with JME. Concerning the neuropsychological testing, we expected patients with JME to show deficits in several verbal and cognitive measures related to executive functions and to be at higher risk of experiencing psychiatric disorders.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of 47 patients with JME were recruited in the Epilepsy Outpatient Clinic, Clinical Department of Neurology, Paracelsus Medical University, Salzburg, and were compared to 62 gender-, education- and age-matched healthy controls. Inclusion criteria for patients comprised the diagnosis of JME based on criteria of the International League against Epilepsy (51), above 14 years of age with willingness to participate in the project as well as informed consent obtained from patients or parents. Exclusion criteria for patients comprised the occurrence of any epileptic seizure <72 h prior to fMRI, neurological illnesses other than JME, structural lesions (if known from previous preliminary examinations), incompatibility with MRI investigation (e.g., metal implants, claustrophobia), pregnancy, and acute intake of Benzodiazepines. Exclusion criteria for healthy controls comprised individuals <18 years of age, previously known psychiatric and neurological illnesses or known structural lesions of the brain, incompatibility with MRI investigation, and pregnancy. Mean onset of epilepsy was at 14.23 years of age, mean epilepsy duration was 12.85 years. Three patients (6.2%) did not receive any antiseizure medication, 28 patients (58.3%) received monotherapy and 17 patients (35.4%) polytherapy. For a detailed sample description see Table 2. All participants gave written informed consent in accordance with the guidelines set by the local Ethics Committee.

Methods

Procedure

Psychiatric and neuropsychological assessments and functional magnet-resonance-imaging (fMRI) were carried out after all participants gave written informed consent. The test battery comprised a structured clinical interview on psychiatric and personality disorders, verbal intelligence, verbal fluency, verbal memory and reading speed. As the entire battery took about 2 h to complete, participants who were not able to complete it at once and were allowed to take part in two sessions. Additionally, participants completed structural and functional MRI. fMRI lasted about 1 h. fMRI was performed either before or after neuropsychological evaluation, or if participants wished to do so, on one of the following days. Healthy controls were compensated €100 for their participation, patients with JME did not receive financial compensation.

Neuropsychological and Clinical Tests SCID I + II

The Structured Clinical Interview for Axis I disorders (SCID I) (52) and for Axis II disorders (SCID II) (53), based on

the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV, are considered to be the gold standard for a semi-structured assessment of clinical disorders and personality disorders, respectively. German versions (54) were used to assess DSM-IV Axis I and Axis II pathology.

Multiple-Choice Vocabulary Test

The Mehrfach-Wortschatz-Intelligenzttest (MWT-B) is a multiple-choice vocabulary test which serves as an estimate of crystalline verbal intelligence (55, 56). In this test the participants are asked to identify a known colloquial or scientific word in-between four non-words. The 37 items are arranged by increasing difficulty.

Verbal Fluency Test

The Regensburger Wortflüssigkeitstest (RWT) (57) assesses verbal fluency. Specifically, we measured semantic fluency by counting the number of animals and the number of - alternating – fruits and sports, as well as lexical fluency of words starting with the letter "S" and, again alternating, words starting with "G" and "R." For each condition, the participant was given 2 min time.

Auditory Verbal Learning Test

The Verbaler Lern- und Merkfähigkeitstest (VLMT) (58, 59) is a German version of Rey's (60) Auditory Verbal Learning Test (61). The VLMT consists of fifteen words, which are spoken by the examiner on five successive trials. Following each trial, the individual recalls all memorized words. After the five trials, a second group of words (distraction) is read aloud and recalled by the individual. After the distraction list, the individual recalls the words from list one. Following approximately 20 to 30 min, the individual again recalls all words from list one. Finally, the individual is instructed to recognize words from list one from a list of forty-five words. The test measures verbal learning ability, verbal memory consolidation and verbal recognition.

Sentence Reading Test

The sentence reading test, developed by Bergmann and Wimmer (62) requests participants to read short sentences and judge their semantic content. The sentences are of simple content so that erroneous markings are infrequent and the number of sentences marked within 3 min largely reflects reading speed and semantic comprehension.

fMRI Paradigm

Lexical Decision Task (LDT)

When reading single words in the fMRI-scanner, participants completed a lexical decision task (LDT) (63) in which subjects were shown German nouns (targets; e.g., Henker [hangman]) or German non-words (non-targets; e.g. Luicke). Participants had to decide whether the presented stimulus was a correctly spelled German word or not. Non-words were created changing two letters of an existing German noun. The LDT is the most used task to measure lexical access to the visual word form (63–66).

Stimuli

Following the design of Briesemeister et al. (10, 11), we used 120 German four- to eight-letter nouns and 60 non-words in a

Emotional Word Processing in JME

2 (discrete emotion) x 2 (affective dimension) within subjects design with 30 items per cell. Contrary to Briesemeister et al. who used happiness and positivity, we tried to extend previous results by using words reflecting the emotion fear and words reflecting the affective dimension of negativity. Stimuli were chosen from the Berlin Affective Word List-Reloaded (67) (BAWL-R) and its discrete-emotion extension, the Discrete Emotion Norms for Nouns BAWL (68) (DENN-BAWL). The BAWL-R is a ratingbased word list with norms for affective valence (7-point Likert scale, ranging from negative [-3] to positive [3]) and arousal (5point Likert scale, ranging from low [1] to high arousing [5]). Given that negativity judgments and BAWL-R's valence ratings are highly correlated (69), words with BAWL-R scores between -0.7 and 0.7 were defined as being of neutral valence (NEU), and words with valence scores below 1 were defined as being of negative valence (NEG). The DENN-BAWL norms were used to classify words as being either strongly or not strongly related to fear, with low-fear words (lowFEAR) having DENN-BAWL scores below 2.0 and high-FEAR words (highFEAR) having scores above 2.0. DENN-BAWL norms indicate the extent to which a single word is related to one of five discrete-emotion categories, with high scores indicating a strong relation. The resulting four orthogonal conditions (lowFEAR + NEU: e.g., "AGENT," Engl. "AGENT"; lowFEAR + NEG: e.g., "MIETE," ENGL "RENT"; highFEAR + NEU: e.g., "MESSER," ENGL. "KNIFE"; highFEAR + NEG "TEUFEL," ENGL. "DEVIL") were uncorrelated for fear and valence scores, indicating that lowFEAR + NEG words are perceived as being negative but not relate to the discrete emotion fear, and vice versa. For statistical details about the stimulus set, see Table 1. Mean levels of arousal, imageability, orthographic neighborhood size, frequency of orthographic neighbors, frequency of higher-frequent orthographic neighbors, and the mean number of letters, syllables, bigram frequency, and higher-frequency orthographic neighbors were controlled using analyses of variance (ANOVAs, all Fs > 1; see Table 1). The psycholinguistic variables were matched for the highFEARversus-lowFEAR and NEU-versus-NEG contrasts and tested with pairwise *t*-tests (all $t_{s} < 1$). A list containing all 120 words and 60 non-words is provided in the Supplementary Materials. In addition, 30 null-events, serving as baseline, in the form of a fixation cross ("+") were included, which was meant to increase the signal-to-noise ratio of the fMRI paradigm.

fMRI Procedure

Before entering the scanner, participants received oral and written instructions to decide as quickly and accurately as possible via button press whether the presented letter string was a correct German word (left button) or a non-word (right button) of a button box. They were instructed not to press any button when presented with fillers. Eighteen practice trials (twelve words, six non-words, three null-events) that were not part of the stimulus set were used to familiarize the participants with the task. The stimuli were presented in an event-related design on a 32-inch LCD screen, specifically designed for use in an MRI environment (70). The screen resolution was 1,920 × 1,080 pixels, with a screen size of 69.8×39.3 cm, a refresh rate of 120 Hz, and a built-in linear luminance look-up table. The display

was positioned at the far end of the bore and was viewed via a mirror positioned in the head coil of the MRI scanner. The total viewing distance was 220 cm. The total visible vertical extent of the screen subtended 10.2 degrees visual angle (deg). All stimuli were generated in MATLAB R2013a (Mathworks Inc., Natick, MA, USA) (71) using the Psychophysics toolbox (72). Stimuli were presented using Presentation software (73), which also recorded response times and accuracy of responses. Each trial began with the presentation of a fixation cross (+) in the center of the screen, which was presented for 2,148 ms on average (jitter: 1,401–4,098 ms), followed by the stimulus (800 ms) at the exact same position. The presentation of the words was randomized. The words were presented in black uppercase letters (Arial, font size 50) on a white background. Responses were given through a button box held in the right hand, the right button (blue) for a correct German word and the left button (green) for a nonword. An external pulse from the scanner controlled the start of the first trial.

fMRI Data Acquisition

fMRI data were acquired with a Siemens Magnetom Prismafit 3T MRI scanner with a 64-channel head/neck coil. The fMRI run for the lexical decision task consisted of 620 images and lasted about 10 min, including six dummy scans at the beginning. For distortion correction of the functional images an EPI fieldmap sequence based on the Siemens product fieldmapping sequence (TR 623 ms, TE1 4.92 ms, TE2 7.38 ms) was acquired. Structural imaging included a high-resolution T1w (TR 2400 ms, TE 2.24 ms) and T2w sequence (TR 3200 ms, TE 56 ms,), both with 0.8 mm isotropic resolution with sequences from the Human Connectome Project (HCP) Lifespan protocol (74). For preprocessing and statistical analysis, SPM12 software (75), running in a MATLAB R2013a environment (Mathworks Inc., Natick, MA, USA), and additional functions from AFNI (76) were used. Functional images were realigned, de-spiked (with the AFNI 3ddespike function), unwarped, and corrected for geometric distortions using the fieldmap of each participant and slice time corrected. The high resolution structural T1-weighted image of each participant was processed and normalized with the CAT12 toolbox (77) using default settings, each structural image was segmented into gray matter, white matter and CSF and denoised, then each image was warped into MNI space by registering it to the DARTEL template provided by the CAT12 toolbox via the high-dimensional DARTEL (60) registration algorithm. Based on these steps, a skull stripped version of each image in native space was created. To normalize functional images into MNI space, the functional images were co-registered to the skull stripped structural image and the parameters from the DARTEL registration were used to warp the functional images, which were resampled to $3 \times 3 \times 3$ mm voxels and smoothed with a 6 mm FWHM Gaussian kernel. Statistical analysis was performed with a general linear model (GLM) two-staged mixed effects model. In the subject-specific first level model, each condition (discrete emotion: FEAR high/low, emotions dimension: Negativity yes/no) was modeled by convolving stick functions at its onsets with SPM12's canonical hemodynamic response function. Parameter estimates for each condition were

			c						
TABLE 1	Descriptive	statistics	of the	stimulus	set,	along	with th	ne behaviora	l responses.

	IowFEAR + NEU	IowFEAR + NEG	highFEAR + NEU	highFEAR + NEG	F-value	<i>p-value</i>
Fear	1.5 (0.26)	1.5 (0.24)	2.2 (0.29)	2.4 (0.34)	84.232	<0.001
Negativity	-0.02 (0.37)	-1.3 (0.26)	-0.05 (0.42)	-1.4 (0.34)	133.389	< 0.001
Letters	6.0 (0.69)	6.3 (1.15)	6.0 (0.89)	6.0 (0.93)	0.576	0.632
Syllables	2.1 (0.36)	1.9 (0.67)	2.0 (0.37)	2.1 (0.37)	0.352	0.788
Arousal	3.1 (0.33)	3.0 (0.38)	3.1 (0.55)	3.1 (0.28)	0.793	0.500
Imageability	4.2 (0.96)	3.8 (1.51)	4.3 (1.21)	4.1 (1.24)	0.899	0.444
Bigram frequency	5265.97 (6442.04)	4419.183 (3848.24)	6273.18 (7628.60)	5381.85 (6407.67)	0.444	0.722
Ortho. Neighbors (N)	1.2 (1.09)	1.0 (1.59)	1.2 (1.10)	1.0 (1.31)	0.174	0.914
Frequency of N (FN)	19.1 (66.56)	38.3 (75.53)	62.6 (171.61)	29.6 (118.11)	0.771	0.513
Higher frequent N (HN)	0.3 (0.46)	0.4 (0.77)	0.5 (0.73)	0.6 (0.97)	0.635	0.594
Frequency of HN (FHN)	17.6 (65.79)	36.5 (73.90)	61.1 (171.38)	28.0 (118.31)	0.777	0.509
Frequency	15.7 (17.66)	17.1 (13.81)	12.1 (11.37)	13.8 (19.28)	0.554	0.646
Response times (RT)						
Total	750 (160)	742 (175)	727 (161)	739 (168)		
Control	752 (161)	748 (177)	730 (167)	750 (178)		
Patient	746 (159)	735 (173)	724 (155)	725 (154)		
Error rate (ERR)						
Total	4.3 (6.1)	4.4 (6.2)	3.3 (6.0)	5.5 (6.7)		
Control	3.1 (4.6)	3.3 (4.1)	2.1 (4.6)	4.1 (4.8)		
Patient	5.8 (7.4)	5.7 (8.1)	4.9 (7.2)	7.3 (8.3)		
Response times (RT)	IowFEAR	highFEAR	NEU	NEG	All Conditions	
Total	747 (168)	734 (165)	739 (161)	741 (172)	740 (166)	
Control	751 (169)	741 (173)	742 (164)	750 (178)	746 (171)	
Patient	741 (166)	725 (154)	735 (157)	730 (164)	733 (160)	
Error rate (ERR)						
Total	4.36 (6.17)	4.43 (6.47)	3.83 (6.08)	4.97 (6.51)	4.40 (6.31)	
Control	3.25 (4.37)	3.12 (4.82)	2.61 (4.63)	3.76 (4.50)	3.19 (4.59)	
Patient	5.81 (7.73)	6.17 (7.85)	5.43 (7.30)	6.56 (8.22)	5.99 (7.77)	

calculated via these first-level GLMs, using a temporal high-pass filter (cutoff 128 s) to remove low-frequency drifts and modeling temporal autocorrelation across scans with an AR (1) process (78). For voxel-based group analyses, contrast images for effects of interest were calculated at the first level. These contrast images were used in second level analyses for a words vs. baseline contrast. All results from whole brain analyses are reported at a voxel-level threshold of p < 0.001 (uncorrected) with a FWE cluster-level correction of p < 0.05.

ROI Analysis

We performed three region of interest (ROI) analyses. The functionally ROI analysis was performed for our a priori regions (i.e., right amygdala, left and right inferior frontal gyrus) using the coordinates used by Briesemeister et al. (11). The amygdala and inferior frontal gyri were selected based on their suggested role in Panksepp's hierarchical emotion theory, representing secondary and tertiary level processes, respectively. The ROIs were created with a sphere of 6 mm in the right amygdala (x = 21, y = 2, z = -11) and in the left (x = -45, y = 35, z = 26) and right inferior frontal gyrus (x = 42, y = 26, z = -8). ROIs were built with the MarsBar toolbox implemented in SPM12. ROI extraction was performed with REX (79), based on

the average contrast estimates of our four word conditions, for further statistical analysis.

Statistical Methods

Statistical analyses were performed in SPSS (version 18) (80) and R (version 4.0.5) (81). First, we defined primary, secondary and tertiary outcomes. Primary outcomes were any effects of activation in a 2 (group: JMEs/HCs) x 2 (discrete emotion: FEAR high/low) x 2 (emotions dimension: Negativity: yes/no) repeated measures ANOVA of our fMRI-data. Secondary outcomes were behavioral responses in the fMRI-paradigm (response times and error rates), again tested in a 2x2x2 design using a nonparametric ANOVA type test for repeated measure designs provided by the R package nparLD (82). Post-hoc contrasts in differences for the relative treatment effect were computed using a normal approximation with a Fisher transformation and the delta method, as described in Gunawardana and Konietschke (83). Mean lexical decision response times (LDRTs) were calculated for each participant and condition after the exclusion of non-responders, behavioral errors, and outliers, which were defined as responses faster than 300 ms or slower than 1,500 ms. In total 3.38 and 3.19% of responses were

TABLE 2 | Descriptive statistics of sample.

		roup (<i>n</i> = 62)	1	JME patients ($n = 47$)				
	n (%)	Min	Max	Mean (SD)	n (%)	Min	Max	Mean (SD)
Sex								
Female	33 (53.2%)				24 (51.1%)			
Male	29 (46.8%)				23 (48.9%)			
Age	62	18	62	27.71 (9.69)	47	14	52	27.09 (7.84)
Education in years	62	10	18	13.18 (1.94)	47	8	17	12.28 (2.10)
Epilepsy begin (age)				47	3	24	14.23 (3.83)	
Epilepsy duration (in years)				47	0	34	12.85 (7.70)	
Seizure type (mulitple types	in one patient)							
GCTS				15 (31.9%)				
Absences				12 (25.5%)				
Myoclonus				29 (61.7%)				
Seizure free				16 (34.0%)				
Medication								
No Medication					3 (6.2%)			
Monotherapy					28 (58.3%)			
Polytherapy					17 (35.4%)			
Medication (multiple medica	tions in one patien	it)						
Levetiracetam					34 (72.3%)			
Valproic acid					12 (25.5%)			
Lamotrigine					7 (14.9%)			
Zonisamide					2 (4.3%)			
Topiramate					1 (2.1%)			
Other					7 (14.9%)			
Any antidepressant 0 (0.0%)					5 (10.6%)			
Psychiatric disorder (SCID 1	&2)							
No PD	49 (80.3%)				18 (39.1%)			
with PD	12 (19.7%)				28 (60.9%)			

Shown are absolute numbers and percentages. PD, psychiatric disorders; SCID, Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Disorders. One psychiatric diagnosis (SCID) missing in control and patient group.

filtered for healthy controls and patients with JME, respectively. Error rates (ERRs) were calculated as the summed errors per condition and participant. Additionally, neuropsychological measures were defined as secondary outcomes. Group differences in neuropsychology variables were computed with univariate comparisons between groups, done via a non-parametric t-test (Brunner-Munzel Test) using the R package rankFD (84). Tertiary outcomes used the same model for behavioral responses as in the secondary outcomes but with an additional between subject factor for psychiatric comorbidities and the same model computed for patients only with type of seizure as a between subject factor (generalized tonic clonic seizures vs. absences and myoclonic seizures only vs. seizurefree). Further, we repeated the analysis of the secondary outcomes replacing group with type of antiseizure medication (mono- vs. polytherapy) only for patients with JME. We also conducted a repeated measures ANCOVA with 2 (discrete) x 2 (dimension) as within subject factors and duration of epilepsy as covariable only in patients, using the R-package nlme (85). In order to maintain control of the type I error and yet ensure adequate statistical power we employed the following scheme for p-value adjustment in our neuropsychological comparisons. For the primary outcomes, we used the Bonferroni procedure to control the FWER for each spherical regions of interest (i.e., multiplying the p-values by three). For secondary outcomes we used the Benjamini-Yekutieli (86) procedure to control the FDR at a level of 0.05. For tertiary outcomes, we did not conduct any correction for multiplicity as we considered them to be auxiliary analyses. For p-values we provide the unadjusted and adjusted version. Confidence intervals are unadjusted.

The effect measure used for primary outcomes was $\eta 2$ and for non-parametric analyses (secondary outcomes) the *RTE*. For comparisons between two groups *RTE* is the probability that a random subject from one group has a higher value in the outcome variable than a random subject from the other group. It is identical to the area under the curve when using the outcome variable to classify subjects into the two groups. For more than two groups it is the probability that a random subject from one group has a higher value in the outcome variable than a random subject from the total sample.



RESULTS

Clinical Features

Twenty-eight patients (60.9%) and 12 controls (19.7%) presented a psychiatric disorder. 15.2% of patients had Axis I, 23.9% Axis II and 21.7% Axis I & II disorders (see **Table 2**). Considering multiple diagnoses in one patient, affective (15.2%), anxiety (13.0%), substance-related disorders (13.0%) and obsessivecompulsive personality disorders (OCD; 21.7%) represented the majority of psychiatric comorbidities. For a detailed description of psychiatric diagnoses see **Supplementary Table 1**. Due to multiple sessions, incompliance and tiredness of study participants, not all neuropsychological subtests have been performed in all patients (**Supplementary Table 2**).

Neuropsychology

In our non-parametric ANOVA type test (82) patients had significantly lower scores in the verbal intelligence test than healthy controls (p = 0.01). Patients with JME performed worse in single phonematic fluency (p = 0.01) as well as single (p = 0.06) and alternating semantic fluency (p < 0.001). Reading speed was decreased in patients with JME compared to healthy controls (p < 0.001). Despite having significantly lower scores than healthy controls, patients performed, for the most part, on average in all subtests. There were no differences in verbal memory functions: total learning score, delayed recall and recognition. All reported results were significant after correction for multiple comparisons. For a detailed description see **Supplementary Table 2**.

Behavioral Results: Lexical Decision Response Times and Error Rates

A 2 (group: JMEs/HCs) x2 (discrete emotion: FEAR high/low) x2 (emotion dimension: Negativity: yes/no) non-parametric repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of fear (p = 0.006) that was driven by faster responses of highFEAR words compared to lowFEAR words (detailed descriptive statistics are presented in Table 1, inferential statistics in Table 4, and in Supplementary Figure 1). Moreover, a FEAR x Negativity interaction approached significance (p < p0.001). Planned pairwise comparisons between all conditions revealed faster response times of highFEAR+NEU compared to lowFEAR+NEU words (p < 0.001). Error rates showed a significant main effect of group with healthy controls making significantly less errors (p < 0.001). A significant main effect of Negativity (p < 0.001) that was driven by an increased number of errors in response to words of negative valence (NEG) compared to words with neutral valence (NEU). Further, a FEAR x Negativity interaction (p < 0.001) was driven by more errors for highFEAR+NEG than highFEAR+NEU words. Post-hoc sensitivity analysis adding psychiatric comorbidity or type of seizure (generalized tonic-clonic seizures x myoclonus and/or absences x seizure free) did not change the significance of the aforementioned effects regarding response times and error rates. Further, no group or interaction with group was significant when comparing antiseizure medication (mono- vs. polytherapy) in patients only. Duration of epilepsy did not correlate with either, response time or error rate in the repeated measures ANCOVA.

Neuroimaging Results Whole Brain Analysis

The voxel-based whole-brain analysis across both groups revealed a main effect for words compared to fixationbaseline. Higher activity for words was found in a number of regions commonly involved in word processing, including an extended cluster in the left and right occipital lobe including TABLE 3 | Significant cluster of the whole brain analysis.

	M	NI coord	linates	Volume (voxels)		
Region	x	У	z		т	
Stimulus main effect						
Words > baseline						
L middle temporal	-50	-44	10	196	7.40	
R parietooccipital	28	-47	48	323	7.30	
R parahippocampal	28	-2	50	129	6.23	
Brainstem	0	-37	-38	70	5.52	
L/R posterior occipital, occipitotemporal, parietal, frontal				14,851		
L occipitial	-20	-92	-10		21.50	
R occipital	20	-92	-8		21.06	
R inferior occipitotemporal	16	-92	-20		20.11	
R fusiform gyrus	38	-54	-15		9.93	
L primary somatosensory	-50	-20	48		18.05	
L primary motor	-40	_4	12		14.21	
R insula	33	18	5		8.84	
R putamen	23	10	2		10.52	
L pars opercularis	-54	6	25		12.49	
R pars opercularis	33	18	5		7.64	

Data were extracted at a voxel-level threshold of p < 0.001 (uncorrected) and a cluster-level threshold (FWE) of p < 0.05.

inferior occipitotemporal, parietal and frontal areas, a left medial temporal cluster, a right occipitoparietal cluster, a right parahippocampal cluster and a cluster located in the brainstem. Please see **Figure 1** and **Table 3** for details. We did not observe any statistically significant differences between patients with JME and controls in the words vs. fixationbaseline contrast.

ROI Analyses

A 2 (group: JMEs/HCs) x 2 (discrete emotion: FEAR high/low) x 2 (affective dimension: Negativity yes/no) repeated measures ANOVA revealed a main effect of affective dimension in the right inferior frontal gyrus (p = 0.001), which was driven by higher activity in response to words with negative valence compared to words with neutral valence. The same repeated measures ANOVA in the right amygdala revealed a significant interaction of fear and negativity (p = 0.018), driven by higher activity in response to words with high fear values and negative valence compared to words with low fear values and negative valence. No differences were found in the left inferior frontal gyrus. A main effect of fear in the right amygdala (p = 0.06) driven by higher activity for words with high fear compared to low fear, as well as a main effect of group in the right inferior frontal gyrus (p = 0.06), driven by higher activity in patients with JME compared to healthy controls, did not reach significance after Bonferroni *p*-value correction. Please see Table 4 and Figure 2 for details.

TABLE 4 | Statistical inference for the behavioral and fMRI data.

Effect								χ^2 - value	p – value adjusted	RTE difference
LDRT										
Main Effect of FEAR							10.53	0.006		
FEAR x Negativity Interaction					12.42	<0.001				
IOWFEAR + NEU > highFEAR + NEU					16.47	< 0.001	0.047			
lowFEAR + NEG < higFEAR + NEG					0.04	1	0.001			
ERR										
Main effect of group							13.06	<0.001		
JME > HC								12.75	<0.001	0.135
Main effect negativity							15.63	<0.001		
FEAR x Negativity Interaction					11.64	<0.001				
IowFEAR + NEG > IowFEAR + NEU					0.10	1	0.009			
highFEAR + NEG > highFEAR + NEU					30.31	< 0.001	0.151			
				MNI coordinates						
Anatomical location (spherical ROI)	L/R	BA	Х	У	Ζ	Size	F - value	p – value adjusted	η^2 - value	
Main effect of negativity										
Inferior frontal gyrus	R	47	42	26	-8	6 mm	13.46	0.001	0.112	
Inferior frontal gyrus	L		-45	35	10	6 mm	2.10	0.450	0.019	
Amygdala	R		21	2	-11	6 mm	1.90	0.513	0.017	
Main Effect of FEAR										
Amygdala		R		21	2	-11	6 mm	5.59	0.060	0.050
FEAR x Negativity Interaction										
Amygdala		R		21	2	-11	6 mm	7.73	0.018	0.067
Main effect of group										
Inferior frontal gyrus		R	47	42	26	-8	6 mm	5.54	0.060	0.049
Inferior frontal gyrus		L		-45	35	10	6 mm	0.89	1	0.008
Amygdala		R		21	2	-11	6 mm	0.08	1	0.001

Anatomical locations for selected main effects and interactions of negativity, fear and group. Anatomical p-values are adjusted for number of ROIs (N = 3). LDRT, response time in lexical decision task; ERR, error rate (in %) in lexical decision task; LDRTs and ERRs p-values are adjusted with the Benjamini-Yekutieli method, together with all other secondary variables.

Rainer et al.



DISCUSSION

With this study we aimed to validate and to extend previous findings suggesting hierarchical processing of emotion (10, 11, 13). In support of our hypothesis, we found an interaction of discrete emotion and affective dimensional processing in the right amygdala, likely to reflect secondary level processing. Further, brain activation in the right inferior frontal gyrus points to affective dimensional processing, suggested to reflect tertiary level processing. The processing of emotional words was not influenced by psychiatric conditions, type of seizure or duration of epilepsy, as well as mono- vs. polytherapy in JMEs only. Patients and healthy controls did not show any differences in brain activity or response times, despite higher incidences of psychiatric conditions and slightly decreased verbal intelligence, verbal fluency and reading speed in patients with JME.

Based on the results of Briesemeister et al. (10, 11) and the idea that affectively conditioned stimuli like words access secondary and tertiary process levels within Pankespp's hierarchical emotion model (13), we expected the amygdala and the inferior frontal gyrus, to be involved in implicit emotional word processing (19, 22, 23, 87). Therefore, we tested healthy controls and patients with JME which are suggested to have cognitive, behavioral and emotional disturbances, related to subtle structural and functional alterations in frontal brain regions (44–47). Furthermore, we were interested in verbal and neuropsychological functions of patients with JME, and if psychiatric conditions, type of seizure, mono- vs. polytherapy, and duration of epilepsy were related to discrete
emotion and affective dimensional processing. The whole brain analysis revealed brain regions typically activated in reading emotional words (22), involving occipital, temporal, parietal and frontal regions. Activity in the right amygdala in response to the emotional content of words, confirmed the results of Briesemeister et al. (11) and Nakic et al. (19), supporting the idea of an amygdala involvement in implicit emotion processing. According to Nakic et al. (19), amygdala activity indicates the processing of emotional salience, and regions relevant for behavioral responses such as the medial orbitofrontal gyrus and the anterior cingulate cortex receive input from the amygdala, thereby facilitating behavioral lexical decision responses. In support of this proposal, we observed an interaction of discrete emotion and affective dimension driven by higher activity in response to high fear words with negative valence compared to low fear words with negative valence in the right amygdala. In line with this pattern of activity, response times revealed a significant main effect of fear, driven by faster response times for high fear words compared to low fear words, and an interaction of discrete emotion and affective dimensional processing, driven by faster response times for low fear words with negative valence compared to low fear words with neutral valence. These behavioral interactions support Nakic et al. (19) findings, of a correlation between amygdala and anterior cingulate cortex activity in conditions showing enhanced word processing speed for negative words. Activity in the right inferior frontal gyrus revealed a main effect of negativity, driven by higher activity for negative compared to neutral words, which confirms Briesemeister et al's. results, and are line with the suggestion of the hierarchical emotion model of explicit evaluation of emotional salient stimuli on tertiary levels lending further support to Panksepp's proposal, that tertiary level processes "require expansive neocortical tissues that permit linguistic-symbolic transformations" (88). Thus, activity in the inferior frontal gyrus could reflect increased computational demands within the so-called reading network underlying semantic evaluation and integration processes of emotional information (20, 89-91).

However, the interaction of discrete emotion and affective dimensional processing in the amygdala in the current study is in contrast with Briesemeister's double dissociation of discrete emotion and affective dimension. Thus, it further challenges the amygdala's role in emotion processing. Briesemeister et al. (10, 11) suggested that activity in the inferior frontal gyrus in response to the affective dimension of positivity and the activity in the amygdala in response to the discrete emotion happiness reflect the dissociation of discrete emotion and affective dimensional processing in the brain. However, as the hierarchical emotion model focuses on primary process level emotions, the amygdala's role - as a potential secondary level process - is not yet clear, and the current results do not necessarily contradict the hierarchical emotion model. The observed activity in the amygdala could be based on the processing of biological relevant information and could reflect the interaction of topdown affective dimensional and bottom-up discrete emotion information carried by conditioned affective stimuli such as words (20, 92, 93).

The absence of significant differences in brain activity and response times between patients with JME and healthy controls during implicit emotion processing could be interpreted in favor of the notion that emotion processing in reading operates rather independently of other cognitive domains, as previously reported in emotional face recognition (94). However, these results were somewhat unexpected, as patients with JME were reported to present structural and functional differences in frontal regions, as well as neuropsychological deficits, related to executive functions (47). These results might be attributable to the implicit nature of the lexical decision paradigm and could point to independent processing of emotional information in reading, despite known altered explicit executive functioning in JME (37, 39, 40, 47). In addition, this result could suggest rather unaffected implicit emotion processing in patients with JME and could emphasize the importance of a differentiation of the implicit and explicit nature of tasks used in studying emotion processing, considering that most tasks used are of explicit nature (25-27, 29, 95-98). Error rates revealed a significant main effect of negativity, driven by higher error rates in response to negative as compared to neutral words, and an interaction, showing higher error rates in response to words with high fear values and with negative valence compared to words with high fear values and neutral valence. Further, we found a statistically significant difference in error rates between healthy controls and patients with JME. However, as the total number of errors was 3.19% (healthy controls) and 5.99% (patients with JME), respectively, we interpret this to be in a normal range and carefully interpret this difference to be due to impaired cognitive functions, as revealed by the results of the neuropsychological testing.

Neuropsychology revealed slower reading-speed, lower semantic and phonematic verbal fluency, and reduced verbal crystalline intelligence in patients with JME. Slower reading speed and comprehension extends on previous results found in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy and idiopathic epilepsies in children (99-101). Deficits in verbal fluency in our patients confirm existing results in patients with JME, pointing to disturbed executive processing supporting epilepsy-specific patterns of neuropsychological dysfunctions (99, 102). Reduced verbal intelligence might be interpreted as a constitute of reading ability and verbal executive functioning, as overall intelligence level is usually normal in this patient group (103, 104). Additionally, we found no significant association between psychiatric conditions, type of seizure disorder or epilepsy duration and the outcome of emotional word processing in the lexical decision task.

This study has some limitations related to the interpretation of neuropsychological data and brain activity in response to the emotional content of words. First, as psychiatric disorders in JME patients are reported to be increased, a special focus on the type of psychiatric disorder and a direct comparison between those may unveil additional information (105). For simplicity, we only controlled statistically for psychiatric disorders (yes or no) within our groups and their effect on affective processing. Second, as argued by Hamann (106), our fMRI-results might reveal deeper insights into brain mechanisms of implicit affective processing if we were to have presented more types of emotions than only fear/negativity in our paradigm. There are, however, some strengths that we like to highlight. This study validates and replicates the rationale of a previous study (11), using a different set of emotions. Due to our implicit task design and with the inclusion of patients with JME, we were able to unveil unaffected implicit affective processing in this patient group. To our knowledge, this is the first study to report results of implicit affective processing in this patient group, as most studies use paradigms which focus on explicit emotion processing (26, 29, 97, 98) (e.g., emotion recognition).

In this study, we showed an interaction of discrete emotion and affective dimensional processing in the right amygdala. This interaction was driven by higher activity in response to words with high fear values and negative valence, compared to words with low fear values and negative valence. We interpreted this activity to reflect the interaction of top-down and bottom-up circuits of primary and tertiary process levels in the amygdala, which is suggested to be involved in the conditioning of emotional stimuli in general. Higher activity in the right inferior frontal gyrus for negative words is in line with the results of Briesemeister et al. and was interpreted to signal explicit semantic evaluation and emotional memory integration on the tertiary process level. The results of the neuropsychological testing revealed subtle deficits in reading speed, phonematic and semantic fluency, and verbal intelligence in patients with JME compared to healthy controls. However, this did not result in any behavioral differences concerning discrete emotion and affective dimensional processing of patients with JME and healthy controls. Thus, the results of the current study could point to unimpaired implicit emotion processing of patients with JME during lexical decisions to words carrying emotional information.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because The decision of the Ethics Committee of the state of Salzburg does not include the sharing of the data.

REFERENCES

- Fritsch N, Kuchinke L. Acquired affective associations induce emotion effects in word recognition: an ERP study. *Brain Lang.* (2013) 124:75– 83. doi: 10.1016/j.bandl.2012.12.001
- Lindquist KA, Wager TD, Kober H, Bliss-Moreau E, Barrett LF. The brain basis of emotion: a meta-analytic review. *Behav Brain Sci.* (2012) 35:121. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X11000446
- Darwin C. The Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. (2015).
- Ekman P. An argument for basic emotions. Cogn Emot. (1992) 6:169– 200. doi: 10.1080/02699939208411068
- 5. Panksepp J. Affective Neuroscience: the Foundations of Human and Animal Emotions. Oxford: Oxford University Press. (2004).
- Elfenbein HA. Non-verbal dialects and accents in facial expressions of emotion. *Emotion Review*. (2013) 5:90–6. doi: 10.1177/1754073912451332
- 7. Wundt WM. Grundriss der psychologie. Leipzig: Krndt. (1922).

Requests to access the datasets should be directed to LR, lucas.rainer@stud.sbg.ac.at.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Salzburg Ethics Committee. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LR, JH, GK, and MB contributed significantly to conception and design of the presented paper, acquisition, analysis and interpretation of the data as well as drafting of the paper. ES, PL, LK, SS-Y, MKi, MKr, GZ, and ET contributed to acquisition and analysis of data and revising the paper for intellectual content. GK, JH, MB, and ET contributed significantly to conception of the study, interpretation of the results and gave final approval of the submitted version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The presented research was funded by the FWF, Austrian Science Fund (Project Number: KLI 543 B-27).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is generated within the European Reference Network for Rare and Complex Diseases EpiCARE.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2022.875950/full#supplementary-material

- Russell JA. Core affect and the psychological construction of emotion. *Psychol Rev.* (2003) 110:145. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.1 10.1.145
- Barrett LF. Are emotions natural kinds? *Perspect Psychol Sci.* (2006) 1:28– 58. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2006.00003.x
- Briesemeister BB, Kuchinke L, Jacobs AM. Emotion word recognition: discrete information effects first, continuous later? *Brain Res.* (2014) 1564:62–71. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.03.045
- Briesemeister BB, Kuchinke L, Jacobs AM, Braun M. Emotions in reading: dissociation of happiness and positivity. *Cog. Affect, Behavioral Neurosci.* (2015) 15:287–98. doi: 10.3758/s13415-014-0327-2
- Panksepp J, Biven L. The Archaeology of Mind: Neuroevolutionary Origins of Human Emotions (Norton Series on Interpersonal Neurobiology). New York, NY: WW Norton & Company. (2012).
- Panksepp J. What is an emotional feeling? Lessons about affective origins from cross-species neuroscience. *Moti Emo.* (2012) 36:4–15. doi: 10.1007/s11031-011-9232-y

- Panksepp J. Neurologizing the psychology of affects: how appraisal-based constructivism and basic emotion theory can coexist. *Perspect Psychol Science*. (2007) 2:281–96. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2007.00045.x
- LeDoux JE. Emotion circuits in the brain. Annu Rev Neurosci. (2000) 23:155– 84. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.155
- Maren S, Phan KL, Liberzon I. The contextual brain: implications for fear conditioning, extinction and psychopathology. *Nature Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 14:417–28. doi: 10.1038/nrn3492
- 17. Panskepp J. The Core Emotional Systems of the Mammalian Brain: the Fundamental Substrates of Human Conditions. About a Body: Working With the Embodied Mind in Psychotherapy. London: Routledge. (2006).
- Panksepp J, Watt D. What is basic about basic emotions? Lasting lessons from affective neuroscience. *Emotion review*. (2011) 3:387– 96. doi: 10.1177/1754073911410741
- Nakic M, Smith BW, Busis S, Vythilingam M, Blair RJR. The impact of affect and frequency on lexical decision: the role of the amygdala and inferior frontal cortex. *Neuroimage*. (2006) 31:1752–61. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.02.022
- Kuchinke L, Jacobs AM, Grubich C, Vo ML-H, Conrad M, Herrmann M. Incidental effects of emotional valence in single word processing: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage*. (2005) 28:1022–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.06.050
- Herbert C, Ethofer T, Anders S, Junghofer M, Wildgruber D, Grodd W. Amygdala activation during reading of emotional adjectives Grodd W. alence in single word pr. Soc Cog Affect Neurosci. (2009) 4:35– 49. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsn027
- Citron FM. Neural correlates of written emotion word processing: a review of recent electrophysiological and hemodynamic neuroimaging studies. *Brain Lang.* (2012) 122:211–26. doi: 10.1016/j.bandl.2011.12.007
- Schlochtermeier LH, Kuchinke L, Pehrs C, Urton K, Kappelhoff H, Jacobs AM. Emotional picture and word processing: an fMRI study on effects of stimulus complexity. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e55619. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055619
- Meletti S, Benuzzi F, Rubboli G, Cantalupo G, Maserati MS, Nichelli P. Impaired facial emotion recognition in early-onset right mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology*. (2003) 60:426–31. doi: 10.1212/WNL.60.3.426
- Meletti S, Benuzzi F, Cantalupo G, Rubboli G, Tassinari CA, Nichelli P. Facial emotion recognition impairment in chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 50:1547–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01978.x
- Monti G, Meletti S. Emotion recognition in temporal lobe epilepsy: a systematic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2015) 55:280–93. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.05.009
- Broicher SD, Kuchukhidze G, Grunwald T, Kr temporal loben M, Jokeit H. Tell me how do I feel-ell me how do I feeldze G, Grunwald T, Kr temporal loben M, Jokmporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuropsychologia.* (2012) 50:118–28. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.11.005
- Tanaka A, Akamatsu N, Yamano M, Nakagawa M, Kawamura M, Tsuji S, et al. more realistic approach, using dynamic stimuli, to test facial emotion recognition impairment in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2013) 28:12–6. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.03.022
- Kuchukhidze G, Höfler J, Kronbichler M, Schmid E, Kirschner M, Rainer L. Emotion recognition and social cognition in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Zeitschrift fnitioileptologie.* (2019) 32:177–82. doi: 10.1007/s10309-019-0261-y
- Szaflarski JP, Allendorfer JB, Heyse H, Mendoza L, Szaflarski BA, Cohen N. Functional MRI of facial emotion processing in left temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy & Behavior*. (2014) 32:92–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2014.01.012
- MacAllister WS, Schaffer SG. Neuropsychological deficits in childhood epilepsy syndromes. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2007) 17:427–44. doi: 10.1007/s11065-007-9048-4
- Zifkin B, Andermann E, Andermann F. Mechanisms, genetics, and pathogenesis of juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2005) 18:147–53. doi: 10.1097/01.wco.0000162856.75391.b1
- Janz D. Epilepsy with impulsive petit mal (juvenile myoclonic epilepsy). Acta Neurol Scand. (1985) 72:449–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1985.tb00900.x
- Larch J, Unterberger I, Bauer G, Reichsoellner J, Kuchukhidze G, Trinka E. Myoclonic status epilepticus in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Epileptic Disorders*. (2009) 11:309–14. doi: 10.1684/epd.2009.0284

- Höfler J, Unterberger I, Dobesberger J, Kuchukhidze G, Walser G, Trinka E. Seizure outcome in 175 patients with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy-a long-term observational study. *Epilepsy Res.* (2014) 108:1817–24.
- Reichsoellner J, Larch J, Unterberger I, Dobesberger J, Kuchukhidze G, Luef G. Idiopathic generalised epilepsy of late onset: a separate nosological entity? *J Neurol Neurosurg Psych.* (2010) 81:1218–22. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009. 176651
- Motamedi M, Nasergivehch S, Karamghadiri N, Noroozian M. Juvenile myoclonic epilepsy (JME): neuropsychological profile and related factors with cognitive dysfunction. *Iran J Psychiatry*. (2014) 9:14.
- Pascalicchio TF, de Araujo Filho GM, da Silva Noffs MH, Lin K, Caboclo LOS, Vidal-Dourado M. Neuropsychological profile of patients with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy: a controlled study of 50 patients. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2007) 10:263–7. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2006.11.012
- Iqbal N, Caswell H, Muir R, Cadden A, Ferguson S, Mackenzie H. Neuropsychological profiles of patients with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy and their siblings: an extended study. *Epilepsia*. (2015) 56:1301–8. doi: 10.1111/epi.13061
- Zamarian L, Höfler J, Kuchukhidze G, Delazer M, Bonatti E, Kemmler G. Decision making in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. J Neurol. (2013) 260:839– 46. doi: 10.1007/s00415-012-6715-z
- Trinka E, Kienpointner G, Unterberger I, Luef G, Bauer G, Doering LB. Psychiatric comorbidity in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2006) 47:2086–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00828.x
- Moschetta S, Fiore LA, Fuentes D, Gois J, Valente KD. Personality traits in patients with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2011) 21:473– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.03.036
- 43. de Araújo Filho GM, Pascalicchio TF, Lin K, Guilhoto LMF, Yacubian EMT. Psychiatric disorders in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy: a controlled study of 100 patients. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2007) 10:437–41. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2007.01.016
- 44. de Araujo Filho GM, Lin K, Lin J, Peruchi MM, Caboclo LOS, Guaranha MS. Are personality traits of juvenile myoclonic epilepsy related to frontal lobe dysfunctions? A proton MRS study. *Epilepsia.* (2009) 50:1201–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02021.x
- 45. de Ara-1167oton MRS study juvenile myoclonic epilepsy related to ha MS. 100 patPersonality traits related to juvenile myoclonic epilepsy: MRI reveals prefrontal abnormalities through a voxel-based morphometry study. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2009) 15:202–7. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2009.03.011
- 46. de Araljo Filho GM, Jackowski AP, Lin K, Silva I, Guaranha MS, Guilhoto LM. The integrity of corpus callosum and cluster B personality disorders: a quantitative MRI study in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.* (2010) 34:516–21. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.02.009
- Wandschneider B, Thompson PJ, Vollmar C, Koepp MJ. Frontal lobe function and structure in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy: a comprehensive review of neuropsychological and imaging data. *Epilepsia*. (2012) 53:2091– 8. doi: 10.1111/epi.12003
- Lin K, Carrete Jr H, Lin J, Peruchi MM, De Araújo Filho GM, Guaranha MSB. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy reveals an epileptic network in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 50:1191– 200. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01948.x
- Ronan L, Alhusaini S, Scanlon C, Doherty CP, Delanty N, Fitzsimons M. Widespread cortical morphologic changes in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy: evidence from structural MRI. *Epilepsia*. (2012) 53:651–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03413.x
- Wong M. Juvenile myoclonic epilepsy: is it an idiopathic epilepsy caused by a malformation of cortical development? *Epilepsy currents*. (2010) 10:69– 71. doi: 10.1111/j.1535-7511.2010.01360.x
- Martínez M, Masakazu S, Munari C, Porter R, Roger J, Wolf P. Commission on classification and terminology of the international league against epilepsy. Proposal for revised classification of epilepsies and epileptic syndromes. *Epilepsia*. (1989) 30:389–99.
- 52. First MB. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders. New York, NY: Biometrics Research Department (1997).
- First MB, Gibbon M, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Benjamin LS. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV[®] Axis II Personality Disorders SCID-II. New York, NY: American Psychiatric Pub (1997).

- Wittchen HU, Zaudig M, Fydrich T, Skid. Strukturiertes klinisches Interview f
 ür DSM-IV. Achse I und II. Handanweisung. New York, NY: American Psychiactric Publication (1997).
- Lehrl S, Triebig G, Fischer B. Multiple choice vocabulary test MWT as a valid and short test to estimate premorbid intelligence. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (1995) 91:335–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1995.tb07018.x
- Lehrl S. Manual zum MWT-B: Mehrfachwahl-Wortschatz-Intelligenztest, 5., unveränd. Spitta: Aufl Spitta-Verl, Balingen. (2005).
- 57. Aschenbrenner S, Tucha O, Lange KW. Regensburger Wortflcha O, Lange KW: RWT. Hogrefe: Verlag fger Wortflcha. (2000).
- Helmstaedter C, Lendt M, Lux S. Verbaler Lern-und Merkf, Lux S. tes : VLMT; Manual. Weinheim: Beltz-test. (2001).
- Schmidt M. Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test: A Handbook, Vol. 17). Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (1996).
- 61. Ashburner J, A. fast diffeomorphic image registration algorithm. *Neuroimage.* (2007) 38:95–113. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.07.007
- Bergmann J, Wimmer H, A. dual-route perspective on poor reading in a regular orthography: evidence from phonological and orthographic lexical decisions. *Cogn Neuropsychol.* (2008) 25:653–76. doi: 10.1080/02643290802221404
- Coltheart M, Besner D, Jonasson JT, Davelaar E. Phonological encoding in the lexical decision task. Q J Exp Psychol. (1979) 31:489–507. doi: 10.1080/14640747908400741
- 64. Dehaene S, Cohen L. The unique role of the visual word form area in reading. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2011) 15:254–62. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.04.003
- Kronbichler M, Bergmann J, Hutzler F, Staffen W, Mair A, Ladurner G. Taxi vs. taksi: on orthographic word recognition in the left ventral occipitotemporal cortex. J Cog Nurosci. (2007) 19:1584–94. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2007.19.10.1584
- 66. Kronbichler M, Hutzler F, Wimmer H, Mair A, Staffen W, Ladurner G. The visual word form area and the frequency with which words are encountered: evidence from a parametric fMRI study. *Neuroimage.* (2004) 21:946–53. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003. 10.021
- Vo ML, Conrad M, Kuchinke L, Urton K, Hofmann MJ, Jacobs AM. The Berlin affective word list reloaded (BAWL-R). *Behav Res Methods*. (2009) 41:534–8. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.2.534
- Briesemeister BB, Kuchinke L, Jacobs AM. Discrete emotion norms for nouns: Berlin affective word list (DENNacobs AMBehav Res Methods. (2011) 43:441–8. doi: 10.3758/s13428-011-0059-y
- Briesemeister BB, Kuchinke L, Jacobs AM. Emotional valence: a bipolar continuum or two independent dimensions? Sage Open. (2012) 2:2158244012466558. doi: 10.1177/2158244012466558
- Cambridge Research Systems. BOLDscreen 32 LCD for fMRI [Internet] (2012). Verfügbar unter: Available online at: http://www.crsltd.com/toolsfor-functional-imaging/mr-safe-displays/boldscreen-32-lcd-for-fmri/nest/ boldscreen-32-technical-specification#npm
- 71. Matlab S. The MathWorks. Natick, MA. (2012).
- 72. Brainard DH, Vision S. The psychophysics toolbox. *Spat Vis.* (1997) 10:433– 6. doi: 10.1163/156856897X00357
- Peirce JW. PsychoPy—psychophysics software in Python. J Neurosci Methods. (2007) 162:8–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2006.11.017
- Harms MP, Somerville LH, Ances BM, Andersson J, Barch DM, Bastiani M. Extending the human connectome project across ages: imaging protocols for the lifespan development and aging projects. *Neuroimage*. (2018) 183:972– 84. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.09.060
- 75. Ashburner J, Barnes G, Chen CC, Daunizeau J, Flandin G, Friston K. SPM12 manual. London: Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging. (2014).
- Cox RW, AFNI. software for analysis and visualization of functional magnetic resonance neuroimages. *Comp Biomed Res.* (1996) 29:162– 73. doi: 10.1006/cbmr.1996.0014
- 77. Gaser C, Dahnke R. CAT-a computational anatomy toolbox for the analysis of structural MRI data. *Hbm.* (2016) 2016:336–48.

- Friston KJ, Glaser DE, Henson RN, Kiebel S, Phillips C, Ashburner J. Classical and Bayesian inference in neuroimaging: applications. *Neuroimage*. (2002) 16:484–512. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1091
- Duff EP, Cunnington R, Egan GF, REX. response exploration for neuroimaging datasets. *Neuroinformatics*. (2007) 5:223– 34. doi: 10.1007/s12021-007-9001-y
- 80. SPSS I. PASW Statistics for Windows, version 18.0. Chicago: SPSS Inc. (2009).
- 81. Team RC. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. (2013).
- Noguchi K, Gel YR, Brunner E, Konietschke F. nparLD: an R software package for the nonparametric analysis of longitudinal data in factorial experiments. J Stat Software. (2012) 50:2. doi: 10.18637/jss.v050.i12
- Gunawardana A, Konietschke F. Nonparametric multiple contrast tests for general multivariate factorial designs. J Multivar Anal. (2019) 173:165– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.jmva.2019.02.016
- Konietschke F, Friedrich S, Brunner E, Pauly M, Konietschke MF. Package 'rankFD'. (2016).
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar DR. Core Team NLME: Linear and non-Linear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-153. Vienna: CRAN (2021).
- Benjamini Y, Yekutieli D. The control of the false discovery rate in multiple testing under dependency. *Annals Stat.* (2001) 1165– 88. doi: 10.1214/aos/1013699998
- Ponz A, Montant M, Liegeois-Chauvel C, Silva C, Braun M, Jacobs AM. Emotion processing in words: a test of the neural re-use hypothesis using surface and intracranial EEG. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2014) 9:619– 27. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst034
- Panksepp J. Affective consciousness: core emotional feelings in animals and humans. *Conscious Cogn.* (2005) 14:30– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2004.10.004
- Binder JR, Desai RH, Graves WW, Conant LL. Where is the semantic system? A critical review and meta-analysis of 120 functional neuroimaging studies. *Cereb Cort.* (2009) 19:2767–96. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhp055
- Binder JR, Desai RH. The neurobiology of semantic memory. Trends Cogn Sci. (2011) 15:527–36. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.10.001
- Kutas M, Federmeier KD. 30 years and counting: finding meaning in the N400 component of the event-related brain potential (ERP). Annu Rev Psychol. (2011) 62:621–47. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.131123
- Pessoa L, Adolphs R. Emotion processing and the amygdala: from adiestem? surface and intracrependency. neuroimaging: applicatiNat Rev Neurosci. (2010) 11:773–82. doi: 10.1038/nrn2920
- Anderson AK, Phelps EA. Lesions of the human amygdala impair enhanced perception of emotionally salient events. *Nature*. (2001) 411:305– 9. doi: 10.1038/35077083
- 94. Tracy JL, Robins RW. The automaticity of emotion recognition. *Emotion*. (2008) 8:81. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.8.1.81
- Bauer J, Kegel LC, Steiger BK, Jokeit H. Assessment tools for social cognition in epilepsy. Zeitschrift fl LC, Steiger BK. (2019) 32:183– 6. doi: 10.1007/s10309-019-0260-z
- Jokeit H, Eicher M, Ives-Deliperi V. Toward social neuropsychology of epilepsy: a review on social cognition in epilepsy. *Acta Epilepsy.* (2018) 1:8–17.
- Gomez-Ibañez A, Urrestarazu E, Viteri C. Recognition of facial emotions and identity in patients with mesial temporal lobe and idiopathic generalized epilepsy: an eye-tracking study. *Seizure*. (2014) 23:892–8.
- Jiang Y, Hu Y, Wang Y, Zhou N, Zhu L, Wang K. Empathy and emotion recognition in patients with idiopathic generalized epilepsy. *Epilepsy & Behavior*. (2014) 37:139–44. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2014.06.005
- Chaix Y, Laguitton V, Lauwers-Cances V, Daquin G, Cances C, Démonet JF. Reading abilities and cognitive functions of children with epilepsy: influence of epileptic syndrome. *Brain Develop.* (2006) 28:122–30. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2005.06.004
- German4 E, Gagliano A, Arena C, Cedro C, Vetri L, Operto FF. Readingliano A, Arena C, Cedro C, Vetri L, Operto FF. epilep. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 111:107118. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107118
- 101. Lah S, Castles A, Smith ML. Reading in children with temporal lobe epilepsy: a systematic review. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2017) 68:84y Behavview. 1016/j.yebeh.2016.12.021

- 102. Chowdhury FA, Elwes RD, Koutroumanidis M, Morris RG, Nashef L, Richardson MP. Impaired cognitive function in idiopathic generalized epilepsy and unaffected family members: an epilepsy endophenotype. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:835amily members1111/epi.12604
- 103. Kim SY, Hwang YH, Lee HW, Suh CK, Kwon SH, Park SP. Cognitive impairment in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. J Clin Neurol. (2007) 3:86Neuroljuvenil3988/jcn.2007.3.2.86
- Piazzini A, Turner K, Vignoli A, Canger R, Canevini MP. Frontal cognitive dysfunction in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2008) 49:657aive dysfunct1111/j.1528-1167.2007.01482.x
- 105. Anderson IM, Shippen C, Juhasz G, Chase D, Thomas E, Downey D. Statedependent alteration in face emotion recognition in depression. *Br J Psych.* (2011) 198:302endent alter1192/bjp.bp.110.078139
- 106. Hamann S. Mapping discrete and dimensional emotions onto the brain: controversies and consensus. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2012) 16:4580gn Sciconsen1016/j.tics.2012.07.006

Conflict of Interest: ET reports personal fees from EVER Pharma, Marinus, Argenix, Arvelle/Angelini, Medtronic, Bial – Portela, S.A., NewBridge, GL Pharma, GlaxoSmithKline, Hikma, Boehringer Ingelheim, LivaNova, Eisai, UCB, Biogen, Genzyme Sanofi, GW Pharmaceuticals, and Actavis outside the submitted work; his institution received grants from Biogen, UCB Pharma, Eisai, Red Bull, Merck, Bayer, the European Union, FWF Osterreichischer Fond zur Wissenschaftsforderung, Bundesministerium fr Wissenschaft und Forschung, and Jubilaumsfond der sterreichischen Nationalbank outside the submitted work. GZ gratefully acknowledges the support of the WISS 2025 project; IDA-Lab Salzburg (20204-WISS/225/197-2019 and 20102-F1901166-KZP).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Rainer, Kronbichler, Kuchukhidze, Trinka, Langthaler, Kronbichler, Said-Yuerekli, Kirschner, Zimmermann, Höfler, Schmid and Braun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Mesial-Temporal Epileptic Ripples Correlate With Verbal Memory Impairment

Jonas Christian Bruder^{1*}, Kathrin Wagner², Daniel Lachner-Piza¹, Kerstin Alexandra Klotz¹, Andreas Schulze-Bonhage² and Julia Jacobs¹

¹ Clinic of Neuropediatrics and Muscle Disorders, Freiburg University Medical Center, Breisgau, Germany, ² Abteilung Epileptologie Epilepsiezentrum, Klinik Für Neurochirurgie, Universitätsklinikum Freiburg, Breisgau, Germany

Rationale: High frequency oscillations (HFO; ripples = 80–200, fast ripples 200–500 Hz) are promising epileptic biomarkers in patients with epilepsy. However, especially in temporal epilepsies differentiation of epileptic and physiological HFO activity still remains a challenge. Physiological sleep-spindle-ripple formations are known to play a role in slow-wave-sleep memory consolidation. This study aimed to find out if higher rates of mesial-temporal spindle-ripples correlate with good memory performance in epilepsy patients and if surgical removal of spindle-ripple-generating brain tissue correlates with a decline in memory performance. In contrast, we hypothesized that higher rates of overall ripples or ripples associated with interictal epileptic spikes correlate with poor memory performance.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Stephan Schuele, Northwestern University, United States

Reviewed by:

Eishi Asano, Children's Hospital of Michigan, United States Evgenia Sitnikova, Institute of Higher Nervous Activity and Neurophysiology (RAS), Russia

*Correspondence:

Jonas Christian Bruder jonas-c-bruder@gmx.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 14 February 2022 Accepted: 05 April 2022 Published: 03 June 2022

Citation:

Bruder JC, Wagner K, Lachner-Piza D, Klotz KA, Schulze-Bonhage A and Jacobs J (2022) Mesial-Temporal Epileptic Ripples Correlate With Verbal Memory Impairment. Front. Neurol. 13:876024. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.876024 **Methods:** Patients with epilepsy implanted with electrodes in mesial-temporal structures, neuropsychological memory testing and subsequent epilepsy surgery were included. Ripples and epileptic spikes were automatically detected in intracranial EEG and sleep-spindles in scalp EEG. The coupling of ripples to spindles was automatically analyzed. Mesial-temporal spindle-ripple rates in the speech-dominant-hemisphere (left in all patients) were correlated with verbal memory test results, whereas ripple rates in the non-speech-dominant hemisphere were correlated with non-verbal memory test performance, using Spearman correlation).

Results: Intracranial EEG and memory test results from 25 patients could be included. All ripple rates were significantly higher in seizure onset zone channels (p < 0.001). Patients with pre-surgical verbal memory impairment had significantly higher overall ripple rates in left mesial-temporal channels than patients with intact verbal memory (Mann–Whitney-U-Test: p = 0.039). Spearman correlations showed highly significant negative correlations of the pre-surgical verbal memory performance with left mesial-temporal spike associated ripples ($r_s = -0.458$; p = 0.007) and overall ripples ($r_s = -0.475$; p = 0.006). All three ripple types in right-sided mesial-temporal channels did not correlate with pre-surgical nonverbal memory. No correlation for the difference between post- and pre-surgical memory and pre-surgical spindle-ripple rates was seen in patients with left-sided temporal or mesial-temporal surgery.

Discussion: This study fails to establish a clear link between memory performance and spindle ripples. This highly suggests that spindle-ripples are only a small portion of physiological ripples contributing to memory performance. More importantly, this study indicates that spindle-ripples do not necessarily compromise the predictive value of ripples in patients with temporal epilepsy. The majority of ripples were clearly linked to areas with poor memory function.

Keywords: epilepsy, temporal lobe epilepsy, high frequency oscillations (HFO), ripples, memory, sleep spindles

INTRODUCTION

Despite optimized medical treatment approximately one-third of all patients with epilepsy continue to suffer from epileptic seizures (1). Among these intractable epilepsies, temporal lobe epilepsy is the most common cause. In total, 70% of cases with mesial-temporal lobe epilepsy (mTLE) are associated with mesialtemporal sclerosis (2, 3). Surgical removal of epileptic tissue is a curative option for refractory epilepsy. In temporal lobe epilepsies, selective amygdalohippocampectomy (sAHE) and anterior temporal lobe resection (ATL) are the main evidencebased surgical options (4). In order to perform successful surgery, epileptologists have to define the seizure onset zone (SOZ) in patients, which is defined as the brain area that generate seizures (5). Non-invasive diagnostics in some patients, such as scalp electroencephalography (EEG) and MRI are inconclusive or too vague to identify the SOZ. In these cases, intracranial EEG (iEEG) can help to define those brain areas generating seizures.

In the last two decades, high frequency oscillations (HFO; ripples = 80-200, fast ripples 200-500 Hz) became promising biomarkers for epileptic activity. An increased occurrence of HFO in the SOZ could be seen in many clinical studies with patients suffering from medically refractory epilepsy (6–9). Some studies showed that HFO were more specific for the SOZ than interictal epileptic spikes (IES) (10, 11). More importantly, many studies and a meta-analysis showed a correlation of the removal of HFO-generating brain tissue with seizure-free outcome, in some cases even superior to the removal of the SOZ or the Irritative Zone (12–14). However, a multicenter trial and other studies indicated that HFO can only predict outcomes in some but not all patients (13, 15–17), and another study recently showed no benefit of HFO as biomarkers in comparison to IES (18).

When using HFO to delineate the epileptic zone one major problem is the coexistence of epileptic and physiological HFO. Physiological HFO, mainly in the ripple band, can be found in all brain regions (19) and cannot be distinguished from epileptic ripples by their frequency characteristics (20, 21). In neocortical regions, physiological ripples are often seen as taskrelated or induced by sensory stimulation (22–24). In mesialtemporal regions, physiological ripples play an important part in a fine-tuned mechanism of memory consolidation during non-rapid-eye-movement-sleep (25). During up-states of cortical slow waves (<1 Hz), the thalamus is stimulated to produce cortico-thalamical sleep spindles, transient (0.5–2 sec) oscillatory activity between 12 and 16 Hz, seen in frontal and parietal scalp EEG contacts (26). During these sleep spindles, the thalamic "gate" is closed for sensory input, providing ideal conditions for unimpaired memory transfer via synchronous mesial-temporal ripple activity (27–31).

In patients with epilepsy, the distinction between physiological and epileptic activity is extremely challenging, as epileptic and physiological interictal HFO both occur together in time and space (32). However, the co-occurrence of ripples with scalp EEG spindles enhances the chance to extract physiological activity. Furthermore, ripples co-occurring with sleep spindles showed different amplitude properties than epileptic IESassociated ripples (33, 34). More importantly, coupling of ripples to sleep spindle troughs (i.e. the depolarized down-states of sleep spindle oscillations) could be seen (33, 35). These spindle (trough) coupled ripples especially form a likely reliable subgroup of physiological ripples.

In the present study, we aim to investigate whether a higher rate of spindle-ripples in mesial-temporal regions correlates with memory function. During the pre-surgical investigation, patients undergo neuropsychological evaluations to identify brain regions that show decreased function due to epileptic activity. Specific memory tests can aid to distinguish between left- and/or right-sided impairment of memory function. In a patient with a left-hemispherical speech-dominance the left temporal lobe including the hippocampus is usually linked to verbal memory function (36), whereas the right hippocampus is linked to nonverbal memory function such as the memory of faces, figures, and shapes (37).

The results of these detailed pre-surgical investigations can be correlated with the amount of HFO visible in the mesial-temporal structures during an iEEG investigation. If we are able to identify a subgroup of HFO (like spindle-ripples) in the hippocampus that is clearly linked to memory function this would allow two crucial advances in HFO research. First, we would improve the differentiation between physiological and epileptic HFO. Second, a subgroup of HFO could be used as a neurophysiological measure of memory function beyond neuropsychological testing.

For this study, we used a unique dataset of patients who underwent iEEG and received neuropsychological testing before and after epilepsy surgery. Regarding ripple rates in mesial-temporal structures of patients with suspected epileptic mesial-temporal lobe involvement, we hypothesize that spindle coupled ripples correlate with pre-surgical memory performance. In consequence, we hypothesize that surgical removal of spindle-ripple-generating tissue results in a deterioration of memory performance. In contrast to spindle-ripples, we hypothesize that the majority of mesial-temporal ripples and IES-associated ripples are epileptic and each correlate with impairment of memory function.

METHODS

Patient Selection

All patients that underwent chronic intracranial EEG (iEEG) monitoring at Freiburg Epilepsy Center between January 2012 and July 2019 were considered for inclusion. Intracranial EEG was only performed for clinical reasons. Electrode locations were solely selected according to clinical needs and designed in an interdisciplinary surgical conference according to seizure semiology, scalp- EEG, neuroimaging, and neuropsychological evaluation. EEG evaluation and the SOZ determination were performed by experienced neurophysiologists independent of this study. All patients gave written informed consent to the EEG analysis for scientific purposes and the Ethics Committee of the Freiburg University Medical Center agreed to the study.

The inclusion criteria for this study were as follows:

- Unilateral or bilateral depth electrode implantation in mesial-temporal structures (hippocampus and/or parahippocampal gyrus).
- Simultaneous intracranial and scalp EEG recordings.
- EEG sampling rate of at least 2,000 Hz.
- Epilepsy surgery after the iEEG investigation.
- Successfully completed pre- and post-surgical memory assessment at the Freiburg Epilepsy Center.

Recording Methods

Intracranial depth electrodes were implanted. Electrodes were made of Platinum/Iridium (Dixi Medical, Besancon, France) with five to 18 contacts and a diameter of 0.8 mm. A digital video system called "Profusion EEG Software" (Compumedics Limited, Abbotsford Victoria, Australia) was used to record iEEG. The sampling rate was 2,000 Hz using a digital low-pass filter with a cutoff frequency of 800 Hz. Scalp EEG electrodes were placed according to the international 10–20-system. Electrooculogram and electromyogram were added on the second day after the intracranial electrode implantation. Sleep staging was performed according to the American Academy of Sleep Medicine guidelines by trained technologists.

EEG Selection

Sleep spindles and ripples are predominantly prevalent in the N2 stage of slow wave sleep (38, 39) therefore only N2 stage periods were chosen. For each patient 30 min of iEEG with a simultaneous scalp EEG was selected. Only periods with at least 1 h distance to subclinical or clinical seizure were considered.

EEG data were converted into binary format and highpass-filtered using the "ASA" software" (ANT Neuro, Enschede, Netherlands) via 2nd Butterworth filter with a cut-off-frequency of 0.5 Hz. After that, EEG files were transformed into the edf-format. The first 5 min of every EEG were screened by a neurophysiologist and contacts with continuous artifacts in intracranial or scalp EEG were rejected from further analysis.

Automatic Detection

HFO and IES were automatically detected in all hippocampal and parahippocampal (afterwards stated as mesial-temporal) iEEG channels. Frontal and parietal sleep spindles were detected on the simultaneous scalp EEG. For both analyses, a previously published detector was used (40). This detector is based on the multivariate classification of iEEG epochs using kernelized support-vector-machines.

The ripples used to train the detectors were visually marked by experts. Ripples are oscillations in the iEEG that clearly stand out in amplitude from the basic iEEG activity and consist of at least four consecutive oscillations. IES are fast-transients common to epileptic patients, that are generated by a hyper-excitability of neural networks and have durations shorter than 250 ms. A distinct set of features was calculated for ripples and IES. These features served to characterize iEEG segments/epochs with a duration of 25 ms and 50% overlap with the adjacent epochs, thus providing a 12.5 ms time resolution. The iEEG epochs represented the inputs fed to the support vector machine (SVM classifiers). The classified epochs then formed the ripple and IES detections based on the following rules:

- All epochs generating an output higher or equal to the ripple and IES specific threshold were classified as positive epochs.
- Ripple and IES detections were formed by those immediately adjacent and positive epochs.
- Ripple and IES detections having durations longer than 250 ms were eliminated.
- Detections from the same ripple and IES detections and less than 25 ms apart from each other were joined, if the duration of the joined detection exceeded 250 ms, the lowest start time was kept and a duration of 250 ms was defined.

IES-Ripple consisted of, respectively, ripple detections that originated from the same channel as IES detection and had at least a 75% temporal coincidence with the same IES detection.

The detected sleep spindles were scalp EEG events with an oscillatory waveform, a duration between 0.5 and 3.0 s, and an oscillating frequency between 11 and 16 Hz. The detection was firstly based on the calculation of a set of features that characterized the EEG trace. Each feature was calculated for scalp EEG segments/epochs with a duration of 100 ms. These characterized EEG epochs were the events fed to and classified by the SVM. Once the classification of the scalp EEG segments was done, the sleep-spindle detections were then formed based on the following rules:

- All epochs generating an output higher or equal to the SVM threshold were classified as positive epochs.
- Spindle detections were formed by all of the immediately adjacent positive epochs.
- Spindle detections with a duration shorter than 500 ms were eliminated.
- Spindle detections having a duration longer than 3.0 s were eliminated.

- Spindle detections less than 500 ms apart from each other were joined, if the duration of the joined detection exceeded 3.0s, the lowest start time was kept and a duration of 3.0 s was defined.

The features used for the multivariate classification described the amplitude, waveform, and frequency characteristics [see also (34, 41)] and were also based on the raw, filtered, and wavelettransformed signals. The description of the feature calculation and selection are described in the corresponding publications, as well as the procedures followed for the training, validation, and testing of the detectors. A custom MATLAB 2018b script was used to determine whether ripples were co-occurring with sleep spindles and IES. Previously published methods from our group were used to determine whether ripples were coupled to spindle troughs (33, 42).

Figure 1A shows an example of an EEG sleep spindle with co-occurring iEEG ripples. **Figure 1B** shows examples iEEG IES with iEEG ripples.

Neuropsychological Evaluation

Verbal memory performance was evaluated using the Verbaler Lern- und Merkfaehigkeitstest (VLMT) (43), a modified German version of the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test – RAVLT (44). The VLMT tests serial learning and immediate recall of 15 words in five consecutive learning trials, free recall after distraction as well as delayed free recall and recognition of the target words after a 30-min delay. Analysis was based on delayed free recall performance: The number of freely recalled words (trial 7) as well as relative delayed recall performance as compared to the last learning trial (trial 5 minus 7). These parameters have shown to be sensitive to left temporal lobe dysfunction, especially left mesial-temporal pathology and left-sided temporal lobe surgery (45–47).

In order to assess the function of the non-dominant temporal lobe, a figural learning and memory test was used [DCS = Diagnosticum fuer Cerebralschaedigung revised, (48)]. The DCS tests learning and immediate recall of nine abstract designs consisting of five lines in five consecutive trials. Patients are asked to reproduce the designs from memory using five small sticks. Figural learning performance (sum of trials 1 to 5) and figural memory capacity (last learning trial) have been demonstrated to assess functions of the right temporal lobe, including hippocampal functions (49).

Verbal and non-verbal memory performance was assessed pre-surgically as well as approximately 1 year after surgery. Parallel test versions were used in the examination after surgery.

Z-scores were computed based on the VLMT- and DCS raw values and age-matched normative data retrieved from the test manuals. In order to examine post-surgical memory outcome, z-score differences between pre- and post-surgical memory performance were computed. A decrease in z-scores of more than one (standard deviation) was defined as deterioration.

Statistical Analyses

Three different ripple groups were defined, according to their association with IES and sleep spindles: (1). Overall

ripples numbers (= All ripples), (2). ripples co-occurring with IES in the same iEEG channels (= IES ripples) and (3). spindle coupled ripples, i.e. ripples coincident with scalp spindles AND coupled to spindle troughs (=Spindle ripples). In all analyses, these three ripple types were observed separately.

In each patient, the correspondent memory-test results (z-score) were assigned to the respective mean mesialtemporal ripple rate, i.e. verbal memory performance to the left (para)hippocampal ripple rates and non-verbal memory performance to the right (para)hippocampal ripple rates (provided a left-sided speech dominance). Analyses were performed for verbal and non-verbal memory separately. Memory performance with a pre-surgical z-score < -1,0 was evaluated to be "impaired", and z-scores of -1 and larger as "healthy".

Three analyses were performed:

- 1. Mann–Whitney-U-Tests (two-sided) comparing ripple rates between patients with healthy and impaired memory.
- 2. Spearman correlations (one-sided) between the different ripple rates and the respective pre-surgical verbal or non-verbal memory performance.
- 3. Spearman correlation analysis of non-SOZ *vs.* SOZ ripples and verbal memory performance.
- 4. "Delta analysis" using Spearman correlations between the different ripple rates and the difference ("delta") of post- and pre-surgical memory results (post- minus pre-surgical z-scores).
 - a) For all patients with left-sided temporal surgery.
 - b) For patients in whom a surgical intervention had led to a removal of a left-sided ("verbal memory") hippocampus.

As the attribution of non-verbal memory is questioned, we concentrated on the well-established attribution of verbal memory performance to ripples in iEEG channels in the speech-dominant hippocampus in the "Delta analysis" (for further details, see Discussion).

The significance level of all analyses was $\alpha = 0.05$.

RESULTS

Patients and Clinical Data

A total of 25 patients could be included. Two patients had to be excluded because of a low EEG sample rate and four patients because of artifact-impaired scalp EEG, which prevented spindle analysis. **Table 1** offers an overview of the clinical data and implantation sites of the included patients. Two patients had seizures starting bilaterally in the mesialtemporal regions, 17 patients had seizures starting in one mesial-temporal region and six patients had seizure onset in the temporal lobe outside of mesial-temporal regions. Eleven patients received right-sided and six patients received left-sided amygdalohippocampectomy. Eight patients received temporal lobe resections without removing the mesial-temporal structures (four patients: left side, four patients: right side).



ripples co-occurring with interictal epileptic spikes in the same intracranial EEG channels.

TABLE 1 | Clinical data.

Patient	Age	Gender	Seizure type	MRI	Surgery	SOZ	Implantation
1	12	m	FAS, FIAS	tuberous sclerosis	R TL res & SAH	RmTL	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC, R-P, R-F
2	54	m	FIAS, FBTCS	L T-pole MEC, parenchymal lesions R F-bas & L-T-pole	L T-pole res	LmTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC
3	33	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	no lesion	R tailored TL res	R TL w/o mTL	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC
4	47	m	FAS, FIAS	BL periventricular heterotopia, L HS	LSAH	LmTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, L-O
5	49	m	FAS, FIAS	no lesion	R SAH	RmTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, R-HC, R-A, R-PHC, R-F
6	53	m	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	suspected FCD in R T-pole	R T-pole res & SAH	R mTL	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC, R-F
7	27	m	FAS, FBTCS	no lesion	R STG res	R STG	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC, R-F
8	33	m	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	L mTL FCD	L post HC res & lesionectomy	LmTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, L-F
9	52	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	no lesion	L HC res & lesionectomy	LmTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC
10	55	f	FIAS, FBTCS	no lesion	L TL res & SAH	LmTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, L-F, L-O
11	60	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	BL T-pole MEC, L T-pole P lesion	L T-pole res	L T-pole	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, R-PHC, R-A
12	28	f	FAS, FIAS	no lesion	L SAH	LmTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC
13	23	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	RHS	R T-pole res & SAH	R & L mTL, T-pole	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, R-HC, R-A, R-PHC
14	23	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	no lesion	L SAH	LmTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC
15	37	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	R T-pole MEC	R T-pole res	R T-pole	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC, R-T-pole
16	34	m	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	L T-pole MEC	L T-pole res	L T-pole	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC
17	12	m	FAS, FIAS	suspected FCD in R T-pole	R TL res & SAH	RmTL	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC, R-F
18	21	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	PCA WHO°I	R TL res & SAH	RmTL	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC, R-F
19	34	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	ganglioglioma WHO°I	L FL/TL res & SAH	L FL, TL, mTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, L-F, R-HC, R-A, R-PHC
20	48	m	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	R F DVA	R O T res	R T O res	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, R-HC, R-A, R-PHC, R-T, R-O
21	31	f	FAS, FIAS	BL HS	R TL res & SAH	RmTL	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC
22	40	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	R HS	R TL res & SAH	R mTL	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC
23	44	f	FAS, FIAS, FBTCS	BL T P MEC	L T-pole res	L T-pole	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, R-HC, R-A, R-PHC
24	45	m	FIAS, FBTCS	no temporal lesion	R TL res & SAH	R & L mTL	L-HC, L-A, L-PHC, R-HC, R-A, R-PHC
25	22	m	FAS	R HS	R SAH	RmTL	R-HC, R-A, R-PHC, R-F, R-P

Abbreviations: A, Amygdala; AC, arachnoid cyst; SAH, selective amygdalohippocampectomy; bas, basal; BL, bilateral; DVA, developmental venous anomaly; FL, frontal lobe; FAS, focal aware seizure; FBTCS, focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizure; FCD, focal cortical dysplasia; FIAS, focal impaired awareness seizure; HC, hippocampal, HS, hippocampal sclerosis; L, left; MEC, meningoencephalocele; mTL, mesial temporal lobe; O, occipital; P, parietal; PCA, pylocytic astrocytoma; PHC, parahippocampal; post, posterior; R, right; res, resection; STG, superior temporal gyrus; T, temporal lobe.

Memory Performance

In pre-surgical memory testing nine patients had significant non-verbal memory impairment (Z-score < -1,0) with intact verbal memory, one patient had verbal memory impairment with intact non-verbal memory and four patients had both verbal and non-verbal memory impairment.

Of the 11 patients with right-sided amygdalohippocampectomy, seven patients had similar memory performance outcomes and one patient had a postsurgical deterioration of non-verbal memory function. Two patients benefitted from surgery with amelioration of non-verbal memory function.

Of the six patients with left-sided amygdalohippocampectomy, one patient had a similar memory performance outcome and three patients had deterioration

of verbal memory function (two patients in verbal and one patient in verbal and non-verbal memory). In two patients with left-sided amygdalohippocampectomy a significant amelioration of non-verbal memory was observed, whilst verbal memory remained impaired in these patients. **Table 2** gives an overview of the memory performance results of the cohort.

Descriptive Ripple Statistics

Ripples, IES-associated ripples, and spindle-coupled ripples were found in all patients. In total, 231 mesial-temporal channels were analyzed, including 95 SOZ channels and 136 channels outside the SOZ (NSOZ). The following ripple rates are given as mean \pm standard deviation with the interquartile ranges in brackets. Considering all channels, rates of 14.1 \pm 9.5/min (15,0/min) overall ripples, 6.2 \pm 6.1/min (9.0/min) IES ripples and 0.9 \pm

1 2 3 4 5 6		N.A. 109 104 100 107	healthy healthy healthy impaired healthy	impaired impaired healthy impaired	healthy healthy healthy	impaired healthy healthy	R TL incl MTL L T-pole (MTL pres)
3 4 5	L L L L	104 100 107	healthy impaired	healthy	, ,		
4 5	L L L	100 107	impaired	,	healthy	bealthy	
5	L L	107		impaired		riediti ty	tailored TL res
	L		healthy		impaired	healthy	L sAHE
6	L		ricality	healthy	healthy	healthy	R sAHE
		N.A.	healthy	healthy	healthy	impaired	R T-pole res & AHE
7	L	124	healthy	healthy	healthy	healthy	R STG res
8	L	94	healthy	healthy	impaired	healthy	L post HC res & lesionectomy
9	L	118	healthy	impaired	impaired	impaired	L HC res & lesionectomy
10	L	111	impaired	impaired	impaired	impaired	L TL res & sAHE
11	L	100	healthy	impaired	impaired	N.A.	L T-pole res
12	L	101	healthy	healthy	impaired	impaired	L sAHE
13	L	93	healthy	impaired	healthy	impaired	R T-pole res & AHE
14	L	92	impaired	impaired	impaired	healthy	L sAHE
15	L	N.A.	healthy	healthy	healthy	healthy	R T-pole res
16	L	95	healthy	N.A.	healthy	healthy	L T-pole res
17	L	N.A.	healthy	healthy	healthy	healthy	R TL res & AHE
18	L	121	healthy	healthy	healthy	healthy	R TL res & AHE
19	L	81	impaired	impaired	impaired	impaired	R TL res & AHE
20	L	143	healthy	healthy	healthy	healthy	R O T res
21	L	104	healthy	impaired	healthy	impaired	R TL res & AHE
22	L	N.A.	healthy	impaired	healthy	healthy	R TL res & AHE
23	L	93	healthy	impaired	healthy	impaired	L T-pole res
24	L	N.A.	healthy	impaired	healthy	N.A.	R TL res & AHE
25	L	97	impaired	healthy	healthy	healthy	R sAHE

TABLE 2 | Memory performance results.

Abbreviations: L, left; rem mTL, remaining mesiotemporal structures; (m)TL, (mesial) temporal lobe; N.A., not available; NVM, Nonverbal Memory; Pre, pre-surgical; Post,post-surgical; VM, Verbal Memory; R,right.

1.0/min (0.7/min) spindle coupled ripples and 7.9 \pm 5.0/min (7.1/min) isolated ripples (without any co-occurrence with sleep-spindles or IES showed) were detected.

In SOZ channels rates of 18.5 \pm 1.5/min (9.1/min) overall ripples, 9.1 \pm 6.8/min (10.8/min) IES ripples and 1.2 \pm 0.7/min (1.2/min) spindle coupled ripples were detected. In NSOZ channels rates of 11.0 \pm 8.0/min (11.9/min) overall ripples, 4.3 \pm 5.0/min (6.1/min) IES ripples and 0.8 \pm 0.7/min (0.7/min) spindle coupled ripples were detected. The rates of all three ripple types were significantly higher in SOZ channels than in NSOZ channels (p < 0.001 for each ripple type).

Comparison Pre-surgical Memory Impairment and Ripple Rates

To examine a connection between pre-surgical memory impairment and mesial-temporal ripple rates, patients were divided into two groups (healthy vs. impaired). Impaired memory was defined by a memory performance z-score under -1,0. Mann–Whitney-U-Tests were computed separately for verbal and non-verbal memory performances, attributing left mesial-temporal ripple rates to verbal memory and right mesial-temporal ripple rates to non-verbal memory.

Regarding verbal memory and left-sided mesial-temporal ripple rates, significantly higher overall ripple rates were seen

in patients with impaired verbal memory than in patients with healthy memory (p = 0.039). Regarding IES ripples, higher rates were also seen in patients with impaired verbal memory, but the difference was not significant (p = 0.078). Regarding spindle ripples, no differences between the two groups were seen (see **Figure 3A**).

Regarding non-verbal memory and right-sided mesialtemporal ripple rates, no differences between the two groups were seen in all three ripple types (All Ripples: p = 0.606; IES Ripples: p = 0.541; Spindle Ripples: p = 0.423) (see **Figure 3B**).

Correlation Analysis of Pre-surgical Memory Performance and Ripple Rates

This analysis was performed to investigate the assumed correlation of ripples, especially spindle-ripples, and pre-surgical memory performance.

Spearman correlations of left mesial-temporal ripple rates and pre-surgical verbal memory results showed a highly significant negative correlation of the overall ripple rate and pre-surgical verbal memory performance (z-scores) was seen ($r_s = -0.475$; p = 0.006) (see **Figure 4A**). For IES ripples, a negative correlation with pre-surgical memory was seen as well ($r_s = -0.458$; p = 0.007) (see **Figure 4B**), whereas there was no significant correlation between spindle ripples



and verbal memory performance ($r_s = -0.194$; p = 0.149) (see Figure 4C).

Spearman correlations of right mesial-temporal ripple rates and pre-surgical non-verbal memory results (Z-scores) showed no correlation regarding overall ripples ($r_s = 0.160$; p = 0.540) and IES ripples ($r_s = 0.119$; p = 0.377). No significant correlation for spindle ripples was seen either ($r_s = 0.324$; p = 0.204).

Correlation Analysis of Non-SOZ vs. SOZ Ripples and Verbal Memory Performance

Focussing on the verbal side hippocampal SOZ channels, Spearman correlations were performed regarding a possible connection of different ripple events and z-values of verbal memory performance. In this analysis, no significant correlation was seen for spindle ripples as expected (rs = -0.144, p =0.337. Regarding overall ripples and IES ripples medium strength negative correlations of ripple rates and memory performance were seen that were not (but tendentially) significant (overall ripples: rs = -0.366; p = 0.086; IES ripples: rs = -0.370; p = 0.080) (see **Figure 2**).

Delta Analysis (Correlation Analysis of Post- to Pre-surgical Verbal Memory Difference and Ripple Rates)

In the following analysis, we aimed to examine the influence of surgical removal of ripple generating tissue on post-surgical verbal memory performance. Therefore, Spearman correlations between the difference in post- to pre-surgical verbal memory performance and left-sided ripple rates were computed. The 16 patients with left-sided temporal or mesial-temporal surgery were included in this analysis. No significant correlation was seen regarding all three ripple rates (all ripples: $r_s = 0.092$; p = 0.310; IES ripples: $r_s = 0.059$; p = 0.376; spindle ripples: $r_s = 0.042$; p = 0.411).

In a sub-analysis only the six patients with left-sided amygdalohippocampectomy were considered. Again, no correlation between the difference of post- and pre-surgical









memory performance [Δ = post-VLMT - pre-VLMT(Z-scores)] and the rates of all three ripple types was seen (all ripples: $r_s = 0.127$; p = 0.293; IES ripples: $r_s = 0.018$; p = 0.469; spindle ripples: $r_s = 0.220$; p = 0.174).

DISCUSSION

The main hypothesis of this study was that higher rates of mesial-temporal spindle-ripples correlate with good memory performance in epilepsy patients. In addition, we hypothesized that surgical removal of spindle-ripple-generating brain tissue would correlate with a decline in memory performance. In contrast, higher rates of ripples associated with IES were hypothesized to correlate with poor memory performance and the surgical removal of IES ripples would lead to an enhancement of memory performance.

A significant correlation between spindle ripples and presurgical verbal or non-verbal memory performance could not be found in this study. Removing tissue that generated high rates of spindle-ripples showed no correlation to decline of memory function. As hypothesized, high ripple rates of overall ripples and IES ripples were associated with poor memory performance. This indicates that the majority of ripples identified in our patients are linked to epileptic activity. Most likely the percentage of physiological spindle-ripples that contribute to memory function is too small compared to the overall ripple population and therefore hard to identify in mesial-temporal structures of patients with severe epilepsy.

Methodological Considerations

Ripple, IES, and sleep spindle detection were performed automatically by a published detector of our group (40). In addition, the first 5 min of each EEG segment were visually checked for artifacts. In contrast to time-consuming visual detection, this semi-automatic approach would be applicable for potential clinical use. We chose relatively short segments of N2 periods of slow-wave sleep, as an extension of record time would not lead to a higher share of spindle ripple rates and would have extended the difficulty of finding interictal periods outside of seizures and subclinical seizures.

In other studies observing physiological HFO activities, simultaneously performed neuropsychological tasks were used to induce or increase physiological HFO activity (22, 24, 50, 51). In this study, data was collected retrospectively and no specific memory tasks were conducted prior to the iEEG recording nights due to two reasons: On the one hand, it can be assumed that patients learn new memory content every day and spindle-ripple activity associated with memory consolidation can be observed without extra memory tasks. On the other hand, this study aimed to estimate the impact of physiological oscillations on the evaluation of a standard iEEG during the recording period, as this is the information needed by clinicians when evaluating ripples as markers of epileptogenic brain regions.

One challenge of the present study is to clearly separate areas that have a high function from those that generate seizures. Healthy and epileptic regions in patients with refractory epilepsy often overlap and seizures arise from hippocampi that can still have good remaining memory function. Usually, only patients with contradictory results in prior diagnostics (scalp EEG, MRI, neuropsychological tests) receive iEEG diagnostics. This leads to a pre-selection of patients with highly complicated epilepsies and often bilateral mesial-temporal involvement.

Especially in temporal lobe epilepsy, clinicians and researchers face an extensively complicated network disease (52–54). Bilateral independent seizures are frequent (55). Regularly, patients with unilateral surgical removal of the diagnosed epileptogenic zone do not experience seizure reduction after unilateral mesial-temporal lobe (MTL) resection (55–57). This suggests that epileptic regions could remain off the grid, e.g. one potential epileptic hippocampus could not be considered as part of the SOZ in the short period of iEEG registration. Furthermore, there are no secure healthy control regions, concepts of SOZ, and areas outside the SOZ used in this study are susceptible to errors and uncertainties. In our study, this is directly reflected in the results as it is challenging to separate ripples reflecting epileptic activity from those representing memory.

Regarding our delta analysis (analyzing pre- and post-surgical memory), we intended to obtain a preferably clear attribution of ripple generating tissue to a certain brain region. It has been discussed if the type of material used during a memory task as well as the underlying processing influence the functional asymmetry in the mesial-temporal lobe and therefore challenges the left-verbal/right-non-verbal dichotomy (58). Especially the attribution of the non-speech-dominant hippocampus to nonverbal memory is questioned (59). Therefore, we concentrated on the well-established attribution of verbal memory performance to ripples in iEEG channels in the speech-dominant hippocampus. In the cohort of this study all patients had left-sided language dominance, therefore only verbal memory test results and left hippocampal and parahippocampal channels were considered for the delta analysis.

We focused on ripple range HFO for this study, as we were specifically aiming at the co-occurrence between ripples and sleep spindles. No association of fast ripples with sleep-spindles, slowwaves, or another hint of physiological function in the mesial temporal regions has been reported in the literature so far. Most physiological fast ripples are described in paracentral and occipital regions. Also, this phenomenon has nearly exclusively been observed in the context of prior tasks or induction (22, 24).

This study concentrated on memory parameters that are associated with hippocampal memory functions. However, longterm memory consolidation is not only based on mesial temporal lobe function but also on an extensively and bilaterally distributed process (60). Long-term memory storage depends on a functioning precedent of short-term memory storage, e.g. the short-term maintenance of verbal memory occurs in left neocortical networks (left pre-central, supra-marginal, and inferior frontal gyri) (61). An impaired short-term memory process is a possible cause for impairment of long-term memory consolidation. However, the chronological sequence of the overall memory storage process was not investigated. As clinically guided electrode implantation leads to restricted registration areas, we concentrated on spontaneous ripple activity in mesial temporal areas and its attributed memory functions. Impaired short-term memory therefore could be one reason, why a correlation between memory performance and spindle ripple rates was not found in this study.

In addition, the (long-term) influence of anti-epileptic drugs on memory capability is unclear. Most of the patients in iEEG studies have taken multiple anti-epileptic-drugs medications. This could be another circumstance that had a perturbing influence on this study.

Mesial-Temporal Physiological and Epileptic Ripples

Few studies have examined the interaction of memory performance and mesial-temporal ripples in general or spindleassociated ripples in particular. Axmacher and co-workers found an increase in overall ripple band HFO during cognitive tasks and were the first to find a correlation between ripple rates and memory performance in humans (50). A recent study found a correlation between the amount of spindle coincident ripples after a spatial navigation task in two subsequent iEEG recording nights (51). Thus, in addition to the knowledge of spindle-associated ripple activity (33, 35, 62), there seems to be strong evidence that physiological ripples can be observed in mesial-temporal structures of patients with epilepsy. However, a correlation between spindle-trough-coupled ripples and memory function could not be seen in the current study. Nevertheless, it seems likely, that the detected spindle ripples mirror physiological HFO activity, as the majority of spindle coincident ripples have shown to have different amplitude features and are coupled to spindle troughs (33, 42).

However, it has to be considered that sleep spindles and sharp wave ripples might be pathologically compromised in patients with epilepsy. Transformation of physiologically sharpwave-ripple complexes or possible pathological hippocampal sleep-spindle activity leading to interictal epileptiform discharges (IED) has been reported in some patients (63, 64). Frauscher and co-workers have particularly observed the relationship between mesial-temporal epilepsy and sleep-spindle expression, showing that hippocampal spiking correlates with lower rates of hippocampal sleep-spindles. The authors suggested that epileptic discharges might be transformations of physiological spindle activity in patients with mesial-temporal lobe epilepsy (65). In the current study, one patient was excluded because of pathologically changed sleep-spindles with sharp transients. In all other patients, sleep-spindles had typical shapes. When pathologically "distorted" spindles are observed, spindle-ripple analysis seems not to be reasonable. However, epileptically compromised sleepspindle activity seems to be rare. The findings of Frauscher and co-workers might suggest, that in patients with epilepsy the proportion of spindle-ripples might not only be much lower compared to epileptic ripple activity but might also be suppressed by it.

We found a clear negative correlation between pre-surgical memory performance and overall mesial-temporal ripple rates (i.e. irrespective of any coincidence with spindles or IES). A former study showed similar results: Jacobs and co-workers found no correlation between overall HFO or ripple activity and memory performance. On the contrary, a high number of HFO or ripples correlated with poor memory performance outside the SOZ, whereas patients with a good memory performance showed less frequent HFO in channels outside the SOZ (32). It seems that the majority of mesial-temporal ripples in epilepsy patients reflect the pathological activity. In the current study, the share of spindle-ripples was marginal compared to overall ripple rates and much lower than IES-associated ripples. As we could not find any correlation between spindle-ripples and memory, it seems likely, that epileptic ripple activity impairs physiological activity immensely as they co-occur close-by both in time and place, separating these activities.

Removing tissue that showed high rates of spindle ripples prior to resection showed no correlation to a decline of postsurgical memory function in our two groups of patients with left-sided temporal surgery or mesial-temporal surgery. This goes in hand with the findings of a recent study which showed that the value of spindle-ripples alone to identify physiological ripples on pre-surgical diagnostics is limited (66).

CONCLUSION

This study fails to establish a clear link between memory performance and spindle-ripples. This highly suggests that spindle-ripples are only a small portion of physiological ripples contributing to memory performance. Standardized neuropsychological tests likely measure functional results of all ripples and might not be sensitive enough to detect changes in spindle-ripple occurrence alone. Moreover, high numbers of epileptic ripples might prevent us from seeing the effect of ripple numbers on memory, especially in patients with bilateral disease and very active epilepsy. However, an important take home message is that our results suggest that spindle ripples do not necessarily compromise the predictive value of ripples in patients with temporal epilepsy. To come closer to our aim of measuring memory function and epileptic activity with HFO, measures beyond spindle-ripples should be evaluated. A combined analysis that includes all known characteristics of physiological ripples, their coupling to sleep spindles and slow waves (67, 68), and additionally considering hippocampal theta waves and other iEEG features (69, 70) might show a better correlation between these ripples and memory function.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Freiburg University Medical Center. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JJ, KW, and JB have contributed to the conception and design of the study. JB, KW, and DL-P have contributed to the acquisition and analysis of data. JB, KW, KK, and JJ have drafted significant portions of the manuscript and figures. AS-B provided all clinical data and EEG data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Kwan P, Brodie MJ. Early identification of refractory epilepsy. New England J Med. (2000) 342:314–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200002033420503
- Blümcke I, Thom M, Wiestler OD. Ammon's horn sclerosis: a maldevelopmental disorder associated with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain Pathol.* (2002) 12:199–211. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2002. tb00436.x
- Asadi-Pooya AA, Stewart GR, Abrams DJ, Sharan A. Prevalence and Incidence of Drug-Resistant Mesial Temporal Lobe Epilepsy in the United States. World Neurosurg. (2017) 99:662–6. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2016. 12.074
- Wiebe S, Blume WT, Girvin JP, Eliasziw M. Effectiveness and efficiency of surgery for temporal lobe epilepsy study group. A randomized, controlled trial of surgery for temporal-lobe epilepsy. N Engl J Med. (2001) 345:311–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200108023450501
- Rosenow F, Lüders H. Presurgical evaluation of epilepsy. *Brain.* (2001) 124:1683–700. doi: 10.1093/brain/124.9.1683
- Staba RJ, Wilson CL, Bragin A, Fried I, Engel J. Quantitative analysis of high-frequency oscillations (80–500 hz) recorded in human epileptic hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. J Neurophysiol. (2002) 88:1743–52. doi: 10.1152/jn.2002.88.4.1743
- Jirsch JD, Urrestarazu E, LeVan P, Olivier A, Dubeau F, Gotman J. Highfrequency oscillations during human focal seizures. *Brain.* (2006) 129:1593– 608. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl085
- Worrell GA, Gardner AB, Stead SM, Hu S, Goerss S, Cascino GJ, et al. High-frequency oscillations in human temporal lobe: simultaneous microwire and clinical macroelectrode recordings. *Brain*. (2008) 131:928–37. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn006
- Jacobs J, LeVan P, Châtillon C-É, Olivier A, Dubeau F, Gotman J. High frequency oscillations in intracranial EEGs mark epileptogenicity rather than lesion type. *Brain.* (2009) 132:1022–37. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awn351
- Jacobs J, LeVan P, Chander R, Hall J, Dubeau F, Gotman J. Interictal high-frequency oscillations (80–500 Hz) are an indicator of seizure onset areas independent of spikes in the human epileptic brain. *Epilepsia*. (2008) 49:1893–907. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01656.x
- Jacobs J, Kobayashi K, Gotman J. High-frequency changes during interictal spikes detected by time-frequency analysis. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2011) 122:32– 42. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.05.033
- Wu JY, Sankar R, Lerner JT, Matsumoto JH, Vinters HV, Mathern GW. Removing interictal fast ripples on electrocorticography linked with seizure freedom in children. *Neurology*. (2010) 75:1686–94. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181fc27d0
- Jacobs J, Zijlmans M, Zelmann R, Chatillon C-E, Hall J, Olivier A, et al. High-frequency electroencephalographic oscillations correlate with outcome of epilepsy surgery. *Ann Neurol.* (2010) 67:209–20. doi: 10.1002/ana. 21847
- Höller Y, Kutil R, Klaffenböck L, Thomschewski A, Höller PM, Bathke AC, et al. High-frequency oscillations in epilepsy and surgical outcome. A metaanalysis. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:574. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00574
- 15. Jacobs J, Wu JY, Perucca P, Zelmann R, Mader M, Dubeau F, et al. Removing high-frequency oscillations: a prospective

FUNDING

JB, DL-P, and JJ were supported by grant JA 1725/4-1 of the German Research Foundation.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2022.876024/full#supplementary-material

multicenter study on seizure outcome. *Neurology*. (2018) 91:e1040-52. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006158

- Haegelen C, Perucca P, Châtillon C-E, Andrade-Valença L, Zelmann R, Jacobs J, et al. High-frequency oscillations, extent of surgical resection, and surgical outcome in drug-resistant focal epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:848–57. doi: 10.1111/epi.12075
- Fedele T, Burnos S, Boran E, Krayenbühl N, Hilfiker P, Grunwald T, et al. Resection of high frequency oscillations predicts seizure outcome in the individual patient. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:13836. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13064-1
- Roehri N, Bartolomei F. Are high-frequency oscillations better biomarkers of the epileptogenic zone than spikes? *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2019) 32:213–9. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000663
- Frauscher B, Ellenrieder N, von Zelmann R, Rogers C, Nguyen DK, Kahane P, et al. High-frequency oscillations in the normal human brain. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 84:374–85. doi: 10.1002/ana.25304
- Engel J, Bragin A, Staba R, Mody I. High-frequency oscillations: what is normal and what is not? *Epilepsia*. (2009) 50:598–604. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01917.x
- Fink CG, Gliske S, Catoni N, Stacey WC. Network mechanisms generating abnormal and normal hippocampal high-frequency oscillations: a computational analysis. *eNeuro*. (2015) 2. doi: 10.1523/ENEURO.0024-15.2015
- Curio G. High frequency (600 Hz) bursts of spike-like activities generated in the human cerebral somatosensory system. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol Suppl.* (1999) 49:56–61.
- Boran E, Stieglitz L, Sarnthein J. Epileptic high-frequency oscillations in intracranial EEG are not confounded by cognitive tasks. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2021) 15:613125. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2021.613125
- Nagasawa T, Juhász C, Rothermel R, Hoechstetter K, Sood S, Asano E. Spontaneous and visually driven high-frequency oscillations in the occipital cortex: intracranial recording in epileptic patients. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2012) 33:569–83. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21233
- Diekelmann S, Born J. The memory function of sleep. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2010) 11:114–26. doi: 10.1038/nrn2762
- Steriade M. Grouping of brain rhythms in corticothalamic systems. Neuroscience. (2006) 137:1087–106. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.10.029
- Siapas AG, Wilson MA. Coordinated interactions between hippocampal ripples and cortical spindles during slow-wave sleep. *Neuron.* (1998) 21:1123– 8. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80629-7
- Sirota A, Csicsvari J, Buhl D, Buzsáki G. Communication between neocortex and hippocampus during sleep in rodents. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2003) 100:2065–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0437938100
- 29. Clemens Z, Mölle M, Eross L, Barsi P, Halász P, Born J. Temporal coupling of parahippocampal ripples, sleep spindles and slow oscillations in humans. *Brain.* (2007) 130:2868–78. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm146
- Fedele T, van't Klooster M, Burnos S, Zweiphenning W, van Klink N, Leijten F, et al. Automatic detection of high frequency oscillations during epilepsy surgery predicts seizure outcome. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2016) 127:3066–74. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2016.06.009
- Ngo H-V, Fell J, Staresina B. Sleep spindles mediate hippocampalneocortical coupling during long-duration ripples. *eLife.* (2020) 9:e57011. doi: 10.7554/eLife.57011

- 32. Jacobs J, Banks S, Zelmann R, Zijlmans M, Jones-Gotman M, Gotman J. Spontaneous ripples in the hippocampus correlate with epileptogenicity and not memory function in patients with refractory epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 62:258–66. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016. 05.025
- Bruder JC, Dümpelmann M, Piza DL, Mader M, Schulze-Bonhage A, Jacobs-Le Van J. Physiological ripples associated with sleep spindles differ in waveform morphology from epileptic ripples. *Int J Neural Syst.* (2016) 2:1750011. doi: 10.1142/S0129065717500113
- Blanco JA, Stead M, Krieger A, Viventi J, Marsh WR, Lee KH, et al. Unsupervised classification of high-frequency oscillations in human neocortical epilepsy and control patients. *J Neurophysiol.* (2010) 104:2900–12. doi: 10.1152/jn.01082.2009
- Staresina BP, Bergmann TO, Bonnefond M, van der Meij R, Jensen O, Deuker L, et al. Hierarchical nesting of slow oscillations, spindles and ripples in the human hippocampus during sleep. *Nat Neurosci.* (2015) 18:1679–86. doi: 10.1038/nn.4119
- Loring DW, Strauss E, Hermann BP, Barr WB, Perrine K, Trenerry MR, et al. Differential neuropsychological test sensitivity to left temporal lobe epilepsy. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* (2008) 14:394–400. doi: 10.1017/S1355617708 080582
- Majdan A, Sziklas V, Jones-gotman M. Performance of healthy subjects and patients with resection from the anterior temporal lobe on matched tests of verbal and visuoperceptual learning. *J Clin Exper Neuropsychol.* (1996) 18:416–30. doi: 10.1080/01688639608408998
- Rechtschaffen A, Kales A. A Manual of Standardized Terminology, Techniques and Scoring System of Sleep Stages In Human Subjects. Los Angeles: Brain Information Service/Brain Research Institute, University of California. (1968).
- De Gennaro L, Ferrara M. Sleep spindles: an overview. Sleep Med Rev. (2003) 7:423–40. doi: 10.1053/smrv.2002.0252
- Lachner-Piza D, Jacobs J, Bruder JC, Schulze-Bonhage A, Stieglitz T, Dümpelmann M. Automatic detection of high-frequency-oscillations and their sub-groups co-occurring with interictal-epileptic-spikes. *J Neural Eng.* (2020) 17:016030. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/ab4560
- Pearce A, Wulsin D, Blanco JA, Krieger A, Litt B, Stacey WC. Temporal changes of neocortical high-frequency oscillations in epilepsy. *J Neurophysiol.* (2013) 110:1167–79. doi: 10.1152/jn.01009.2012
- 42. Piza DL, Bruder JC, Jacobs J, Schulze-Bonhage A, Stieglitz T, Dumpelmann M. Differentiation of spindle associated hippocampal HFOs based on a correlation analysis. In: 38th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC). (2016) p. 5501–4. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2016.7591972
- Helmstaedter C, Lendt M, Lux S. Verbaler Lern- und Merkfähigkeitstest: VLMT; Manual. Göttingen: Beltz Test. (2001).
- 44. Rey. Rey L'examen Clinique en Psychologie. Paris Presses Universitaires de France. (1964).
- Helmstaedter C, Grunwald Th, Lehnertz K, Gleißner U, Elger CE. Differential involvement of left temporolateral and temporomesial structures in verbal declarative learning and memory: evidence from temporal lobe. *Epilepsy Brain Cogn.* (1997) 35:110–31. doi: 10.1006/brcg.19 97.0930
- Zentner J, Wolf HK, Helmstaedter C, Grunwald T, Aliashkevich AF, Wiestler OD, et al. Clinical relevance of amygdala sclerosis in temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosurg. (1999) 91:59–67. doi: 10.3171/jns.1999.91.1.0059
- Gleissner U, Helmstaedter C, Schramm J, Elger CE. Memory outcome after selective amygdalohippocampectomy in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: one-year follow-up. *Epilepsia*. (2004) 45:960–2. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.42203.x
- HELMSTAEDTER C. Eine modifizierte Version des Diagnostikums fur Cerebralschaden (DCS) zur Diagnostik raumlich-visueller Gedachtnisdefizite bei Patienten mit Temporallappenepilepsie. *Epilepsie*. (1991) 90.
- Gleiβner U, Helmstaedter C, Elger CE. Right hippocampal contribution to visual memory: a presurgical and postsurgical study in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurol, Neurosurg Psychiat. (1998) 65:665–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.65.5.665
- Axmacher N, Elger CE, Fell J. Ripples in the medial temporal lobe are relevant for human memory consolidation. *Brain.* (2008) 131:1806–17. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn103

- Lachner-Piza D, Kunz L, Brandt A, Dümpelmann M, Thomschewski A, Schulze-Bonhage A. Effects of spatial memory processing on hippocampal ripples. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:237. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021. 620670
- 52. Spencer SS. Neural networks in human epilepsy: evidence of and implications for treatment. *Epilepsia.* (2002) 43:219–27. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2002.26901.x
- Bonilha L, Rorden C, Castellano G, Pereira F, Rio PA, Cendes F, et al. Voxel-based morphometry reveals gray matter network atrophy in refractory medial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Arch Neurol.* (2004) 61:1379–84. doi: 10.1001/archneur.61.9.1379
- Bernhardt B, Hong S-J, Bernasconi A, Bernasconi N. Imaging structural and functional brain networks in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2013) 7:624. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00624
- McIntosh AM, Kalnins RM, Mitchell LA, Fabinyi GCA, Briellmann RS, Berkovic SF. Temporal lobectomy: long-term seizure outcome, late recurrence and risks for seizure recurrence. *Brain.* (2004) 127:2018–30. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh221
- Bernhardt BC, Bernasconi N, Concha L, Bernasconi A. Cortical thickness analysis in temporal lobe epilepsy: Reproducibility and relation to outcome. *Neurology*. (2010) 74:1776–84. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e0f80a
- Engel J, McDermott MP, Wiebe S, Langfitt JT, Stern JM, Dewar S, et al. Early surgical therapy for drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy: a randomized trial. *JAMA*. (2012) 307:922–30. doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.220
- Kennepohl S, Sziklas V, Garver KE, Wagner DD, Jones-Gotman M. Memory and the medial temporal lobe: Hemispheric specialization reconsidered. *Neuroimage*. (2007) 36:969–78. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.03.049
- 59. Witt J-A, Coras R, Schramm J, Becker AJ, Elger CE, Blümcke I, et al. The overall pathological status of the left hippocampus determines preoperative verbal memory performance in left mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Hippocampus*. (2014) 24:446–54. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22238
- Kucewicz MT, Saboo K, Berry BM, Kremen V, Miller LR, Khadjevand F, et al. Human verbal memory encoding is hierarchically distributed in a continuous processing stream. *eNeuro*. (2019) 6. doi: 10.1523/ENEURO.0214-18.2018
- Kambara T, Brown EC, Silverstein BH, Nakai Y, Asano E. Neural dynamics of verbal working memory in auditory description naming. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:15868. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-33776-2
- Clemens Z, Mölle M, Eross L, Jakus R, Rásonyi G, Halász P, et al. Fine-tuned coupling between human parahippocampal ripples and sleep spindles. *Eur Journal of Neuroscience*. (2011) 33:511–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07505.x
- Malow BA, Carney PR, Kushwaha R, Bowes RJ. Hippocampal sleep spindles revisited: physiologic or epileptic activity? *Clin Neurophysiol.* (1999) 110:687– 93. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(99)00008-5
- 64. Nobili L, Baglietto MG, Beelke M, De Carli F, De Negri E, Rosadini G, et al. Modulation of sleep interictal epileptiform discharges in partial epilepsy of childhood. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (1999) 110:839–45. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(99)00021-8
- Frauscher B, Bernasconi N, Caldairou B, von Ellenrieder N, Bernasconi A, Gotman J, et al. Interictal hippocampal spiking influences the occurrence of hippocampal sleep spindles. *Sleep.* (2015) 38:1927–33. doi: 10.5665/ sleep.5242
- 66. Bruder JC, Schmelzeisen C, Lachner-Piza D, Reinacher P, Schulze-Bonhage A, Jacobs J. Physiological ripples associated with sleep spindles can be identified in patients with refractory epilepsy beyond mesio-temporal structures. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:48. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.612293
- von Ellenrieder N, Frauscher B, Dubeau F, Gotman J. Interaction with slow waves during sleep improves discrimination of physiologic and pathologic high-frequency oscillations (80–500 Hz). *Epilepsia*. (2016) 57:869– 78. doi: 10.1111/epi.13380
- Weiss SA, Song I, Leng M, Pastore T, Slezak D, Waldman Z, et al. Ripples have distinct spectral properties and phase-amplitude coupling with slow waves, but indistinct unit firing, in human epileptogenic hippocampus. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:174. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00174
- Goyal A, Miller J, Qasim SE, Watrous AJ, Zhang H, Stein JM, et al. Functionally distinct high and low theta oscillations in the human hippocampus. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:2469. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-15670-6

 Cimbalnik J, Pail M, Klimes P, Travnicek V, Roman R, Vajcner A, et al. Cognitive processing impacts high frequency intracranial eeg activity of human hippocampus in patients with pharmacoresistant focal epilepsy. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:1287. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.578571

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bruder, Wagner, Lachner-Piza, Klotz, Schulze-Bonhage and Jacobs. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Verbal Learning and Longitudinal Hippocampal Network Connectivity in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy Surgery

Jacint Sala-Padro^{1,2}, Ariadna Gifreu-Fraixino¹, Júlia Miró^{1,2}, Antoni Rodriguez-Fornells^{2,3,4}, Immaculada Rico¹, Gerard Plans¹, Mila Santurino¹, Mercè Falip¹ and Estela Càmara^{2,3*}

¹ Epilepsy Unit, Hospital de Bellvitge, Barcelona, Spain, ² Cognition and Brain Plasticity Group, Bellvitge Biomedical Research Institute (IDIBELL), L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Barcelona, Spain, ³ Department of Cognition, Development and Educational Science, L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, ⁴ Catalan Institution for Research and Advanced Studies, ICREA, Barcelona, Spain

Introduction: Learning new verbal information can be impaired in 20–40% of patients after mesial temporal lobe resection. In recent years, understanding epilepsy as a brain network disease, and investigating the relationship between large-scale resting networks and cognition has led to several advances. Aligned studies suggest that it is the integrity of the hippocampal connectivity with these large-scale networks what is relevant for cognition, with evidence showing a functional and structural heterogeneity along the long axis hippocampus bilaterally.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yvonne Höller, University of Akureyri, Iceland

Reviewed by:

Tamires Zanao, University of São Paulo, Brazil Daichi Sone, University College London, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Estela Càmara ecamara@idibell.cat

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 13 January 2022 Accepted: 23 May 2022 Published: 21 June 2022

Citation:

Sala-Padro J, Gifreu-Fraixino A, Miró J, Rodriguez-Fornells A, Rico I, Plans G, Santurino M, Falip M and Càmara E (2022) Verbal Learning and Longitudinal Hippocampal Network Connectivity in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy Surgery. Front. Neurol. 13:854313. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.854313 **Objective:** Our aim is to examine whether pre-operative resting-state connectivity along the long hippocampal axis is associated with verbal learning decline after anterior temporal lobe resection.

Methods: Thirty-one patients with epilepsy who underwent an anterior temporal lobe resection were pre-surgically scanned at 3-tesla, and pre/post-surgery evaluated for learning deficits using the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Task (RAVLT). Eighteen controls matched by age, gender and handedness were also scanned and evaluated with the RAVLT. We studied the functional connectivity along the (anterior/posterior) long axis hippocampal subregions and resting-state functionally-defined brain networks involved in learning [executive (EXE), dorsal attention (DAN) and default-mode (DMN) networks]. Functional connectivity differences between the two groups of patients (learning intact or with learning decline) and controls were investigated with MANOVA and discriminant analysis.

Results: There were significant differences in the pattern of hippocampal connectivity among the groups. Regarding the anterior connectivity hippocampal pattern, our data showed an increase of connectivity in the pathological side with the DAN (p = 0.011) and the EXE (p = 0.008) when comparing learning-decline vs. learning-intact patients. Moreover, the non-pathological side showed an increase in the anterior connectivity pattern with the DAN (p = 0.027) between learning-decline vs. learning-intact patients. In contrast, the posterior hippocampus showed a reduction of connectivity in the learning-decline patients with the DMN, both in the pathological (p = 0.004) and the non-pathological sides (p = 0.036). Finally, the discriminant analysis based on the

pre-operative connectivity pattern significantly differentiated the learning-decline patients from the other groups (p = 0.019).

Conclusion: Our findings reveal bilateral connectivity disruptions along the longitudinal axis of the hippocampi with resting-state networks, which could be key to identify those patients at risk of verbal learning decline after epilepsy surgery.

Keywords: resting-sate fMRI, verbal learning, temporal lobe epilepsy, DMN (default mode network), dorsal attention network (DAN)

INTRODUCTION

Temporal lobe surgery is an effective treatment in drug-resistant seizures in temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) (1). However, patients are at risk of verbal learning impairment; assessed through the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Task (RAVLT), up to 20–40% of patients can be impaired, as the resection affects mostly the anterior part of the mesial temporal lobe, including the hippocampus, which is fundamental in memory and learning (2).

The hemispherical side of the surgery, the resection extent, the verbal learning skills prior to surgery, or the age of seizure's onset are factors modulating the risk of suffering this decline (3). However, not all patients with epilepsy show verbal learning deficits postoperatively, in that some patients perform similarly before and after surgery (4). Such findings indicate that some patients have the neuroplastic potential to compensate for the resected area, leading to post-operative preservation.

Different neural mechanisms might explain the individual differences in the maintenance of verbal learning despite seizurerelated and resection-related damage. Evidence suggests that these mechanisms may lead to changes in the connectivity pattern of different neural networks to cope with the impact of pathology and epileptic seizures. In this sense, disruption of neural networks in TLE patients have been reported to be related with cognitive functions (5). More specifically, a decrease in functional connectivity between the hippocampus and the posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), a key hub in the Default Mode Network (DMN) has been consistently reported in relation to verbal memory deficits (5, 6).

Both up-regulation and down-regulation of functional connectivity can be found in patients with TLE (7). Using graph theory measures, a decrease in nodal efficiency of the left hippocampus was related to impairment of verbal memory in patients with left TLE, whereas increases in nodal efficiency of the inferior frontal gyrus and the supplementary motor area were correlated to semantic and phonological fluency in patients with right TLE (8). For those undergoing surgery, down-regulation ipsilateral to the affected side coupled with concurrent contralateral up-regulation of functional connectivity has been associated with a preserved cognitive outcome after the procedure (9). In this vein, higher connectivity of the pathological hippocampus with the PCC was associated with a high risk of post-surgical decline, whereas the connectivity of the contralateral hippocampus to the PCC related to less risk of decline (6). Finally, another study using graph-theory measures (efficiency, integration, and centrality), reported an enhanced integration of the contralateral hippocampus to be predictive of cognitive preservation after surgery, and increased connectivity in the inferior frontal gyrus was related with preserved performance of language tasks (10). In summary, evidence suggest a bilateral reorganization of network connectivity involving both hippocampi and extra hippocampal structures in patients with TLE, that is related to verbal memory and post-surgical decline.

Further evidence also showed relevant changes along the longitudinal axis in the to-be resected hippocampus. A shift in hippocampal activation during an encoding task from the anterior regions toward more post-surgically preserved posterior regions of the to-be resected hippocampus conferred protection against verbal memory impairment after surgery (11). This would suggest some level of reorganization also along the long hippocampal axis associated with decline after resection, yet their underlying neural mechanisms remain poorly understood. In terms of the functional heterogeneity of the anterior and posterior hippocampus and their involvement in cognitive functions, aligned animal and human neuroimaging studies suggest that cognitive domains superimpose according to a functional gradient along the longitudinal axis (12), which also exhibits differences in functional connectivity in TLE patients (13).

Approaching TLE as a brain network disease (14) has been a framework hypothesis that has improved the understanding of seizures, EEG and MRI findings in patients with epilepsy (15). Noteworthy, evidence from recent years indicate that it is the integration of the hippocampi with bilateral, large scale networks what is relevant for cognitive function (16, 17); these largescale networks can be measured reliably at rest (18), providing a useful tool for connectivity analysis. Network disruption has proven to be the key underlying some neurological deficits (19), and might be a suitable candidate to predict neuropsychological impairment that is less dependent on lesions in TLE (20). Moreover, differences in connectivity and functionality along the longitudinal axis of the hippocampal formation have revealed two systems (21). Despite both systems playing a role in learning and retrieval tasks, it has been hypothesized that they differ in the connectivity with different large-scale networks, with the anterior portion closely connected to the Dorsal Attention (DAN) and Executive Networks (EXE) and related to encoding of external stimuli, while the posterior portion is more closely connected with the DMN and related to memory retrieval and internal sources of information (22). These large-scale networks involve mainly fronto-parietal areas, and their relation to cognitive functions has long been stablished (23, 24).

In the current study, we have investigated the impact of the bilateral functional connectivity along the longitudinal axis of the hippocampus with these large-scale networks and how this could relate to the risk of verbal learning impairment seen in post-surgical epilepsy patients. Of note, the abovementioned studies in TLE patients evaluated the connectivity of the hippocampus as a whole. However, the longitudinal axis of the hippocampus displays differences in connectivity with large scale networks, and this fact relates to the cognitive functions supported (13, 21, 22, 25). More specifically, we focused on verbal learning abilities that could be impaired after surgery assessed through RAVLT, since previous studies have demonstrated deficits in patients undergoing temporal lobe surgery (2). Verbal learning requires different cognitive processes to be intact in order to be performed correctly. The RAVLT evaluates verbal learning requiring both retrieval (26) and encoding processes, as well as attentional shifting strategies (27) and executive functioning (28). These processes that are involved in verbal learning require the activation of both the anterior and posterior hippocampal formation.

Specifically, we compared the pre-surgical connectivity of both hippocampi between patients who had an impairment in the RAVLT learning domain after surgery with those who had not. We hypothesized that functional connectivity of the anterior and posterior hippocampal formation with DMN, EXE, and DAN differ in patients with verbal learning impairment after mesial temporal resections already before epilepsy surgery. We also analyzed this connectivity for the hippocampus as a whole, to investigate whether the anterior/posterior division provided further information on these patients. This study offers the possibility to identify biomarkers that predict the prognosis of the surgical outcome, which may be key for the pre-surgical planning.

METHODS

Participants

We included 31 consecutive patients who underwent an anterior temporal lobe resection for epilepsy surgery in the period 2009–2014. All patients were operated by the same neurosurgical team, and all the tissue was analyzed in the neuropathology department of our hospital. We also scanned 18 controls matched by age (T-student = 0.15, p = 0.516), gender ($X^2 = 0.44$, p = 0.834) and handedness ($X^2 = 0.016$, p = 0.9).

From the 31 patients, 18 were women (58.1%), with a median age of 49 years old (range 44 years). Sixteen patients (51.6%) had a left mesial temporal lobe resection, and 24 (77.4%) had signs of hippocampal sclerosis on the tissue sample. After surgery, 14 patients (45.2%) remained completely seizure free during follow-up (median time of follow-up 76 months, range 55 months). There was no difference among patient's groups in terms of seizure freedom after surgery (learning decline 45.5% of seizure freedom vs. learning intact 60% of seizure freedom, $X^2 = 0.61$, p = 0.436). See **Table 1** for demographic details of the patients and healthy control group samples. The study was conducted in

accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was obtained for every participant, and the study was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Bellvitge University Hospital.

Verbal Learning Assessment

All patients were assessed using the RAVLT (29) before and after surgery for evaluation of cognitive functioning. The stimuli that were presented in each of the evaluation were different. The test was performed in a median time of 9 months (range 5-19 months) before surgery, while the evaluation after surgery was performed in a median time of 6 months (range 4-12 months). Between both tests the span of time was a median of 17 months (range 11-28 months). In this task, the evaluator reads 15 different words to the patients. In an immediate recall test, patients are asked to repeat after each list all the words they could remember, regardless of the order in which they were presented by the experimenter. This task was repeated five times in a row. The final performance in the five lists was recollected as the absolute number of words remembered in the last run for each subject. This final score as an absolute number of words was used as a measure of verbal learning performance. Then, this score was transformed into standardized values using normative data from Hispanic cohorts, corrected for age, gender and educational level (30).

MRI Data Acquisition

Patients underwent a pre-operative whole-brain structural MRI scans using a 3.0 Tesla Siemens Trio MRI. A 32-channel phasedarray head coil system was used to acquire high-resolution T1weighted images (slice thickness = 1 mm; no gap; number of slices = 240; TR = 2,300 ms, TE = 3 ms, matrix = 256 × 256; FOV = 244 mm; voxel size $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm). Resting state fMRI data were collected using a single-shot T2*-weighted gradientecho EPI sequence (slice thickness = 4 mm; no gap; number of slices = 32, interleaved order; TR = 2,000 ms; TE = 29 ms; flipangle = 80°; matrix = 80 × 80; voxel size = 3 × 3 × 4 mm³, 110 volumes). During the resting state, participants were instructed to keep still with the eyes closed but not fall asleep, and to not focus on any thoughts, as far as possible. Healthy participants underwent the same neuroimaging protocol.

Hippocampal Volumes

Total hippocampal volumes were segmented from a fully automated pipeline for hippocampal subfields including the automated cortical parcellation and subcortical recon-all tools implemented in FreeSurfer 6.0 (http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard. edu/). The technical details have been described previously (31). To adjust for differences in head size, all volumes were normalized to total intracranial volume (ICV) by dividing by intracranial ICV calculated using FreeSurfer. Finally, all generated hippocampal images were visually inspected to ensure there were no technical failures or mislabeling.

Resting-State Functional Connectivity Analysis

Independent Component Analysis (ICA) was used to delineate spatially independent and temporally coherent patterns of

	Learning decline	Learning intact	Controls	р
	<i>N</i> = 11	<i>N</i> = 20	<i>N</i> = 18	
Age (years)	47 (7.5)	51.7 (12.1)	49.5 (11.9)	0.516
Sex (female)	6 (54.5%)	12 (60%)	11 (61.1%)	0.937
Age at onset (years)	18.1 (13.3)	12.6 (10.4)		0.207
Left resection (participants)	8 (72.7%)	8 (40%)		0.081
HS (participants)	8 (72.7%)	16 (80%)		0.643
Seizure-free* (participants)	6 (54.5%)	8 (40%)		0.477
Post-surgical follow-up**	86 (50)	93.5 (55)		0.919
Hipp volume (cm ³)				
Pathological	2.77 (0.5)	2.8 (0.5)	3.33 (0.3)	<0.001
Contralateral (Participants)	3.41 (0.2)	3.52 (0.2)	3.41 (0.3)	0.154
RAVLT pre	12.2 (2.2)	11.1 (2.2)	11.7 (2.4)	0.472
RAVLT post	8.2 (1.2)	11.5 (2.7)	11.7 (2.8)	0.002

TABLE 1 | Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy patients and controls.

Data presented as number (percentage). N, number of participants; HS, Hippocampal Sclerosis; Hipp, Hippocampus; RAVLT, Rey Auditory Verbal learning Test.

*At the end of follow-up.

**In months, median (range). Significance assessed with the Mann-Whitney test. The bold values indicate the statistically significant.

functional brain connectivity in the resting state DMN, EXE and DAN.

Individual functional data pre-processing was carried out using Statistical Parameter Mapping software (SPM12, Welcome Department of Imaging Neuroscience, University College, London, UK, http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/) following the standard protocol. The preprocessing of the data included realignment, co-registration between the structural T1 and their respective mean functional image, normalization, spatial smoothing (FWHM 8 mm). Then, to extract the different functional networks by means of ICA, we used the GIFT software (http://icatb.sourceforge.net/) (32). Thus, smoothed data of all participants, combining patients and healthy controls, were temporally concatenated into a 4D time series and then decomposed into different temporal dimensions using principal component analysis and constrained to 20 components, to be then analyzed with the Infomax algorithm (33).

ICA was performed 100 times and the results were clustered by GIFT toolbox ICASSO min cluster size of 15 and max of 20 (number of runs) and RandInit and Bootstrap were selected. Finally, there was a back-reconstruction process from the group ICA components estimated to the individual activation values for each participant of the different groups and for each component. This process allowed the estimation of different spatial component maps for each individual in terms of voxel-wise z scores. Then, within the obtained ICA networks in the group of participants, we identified the common resting-state intrinsic connectivity networks by visual inspection, and among them, we selected the networks of interest. Two independent authors (JS, EC) separately reviewed the 20 components from the ICA, and after visual inspection and in accordance to published data (23) identified the DMN, DAN and EXE networks (see Table 2).

Functional Connectivity of the Hippocampus and the Networks of Interest

For the resting-state fMRI data, the group-level EXE, DAN and DMN maps were identified using a one-sample *t* test (including both positive and negative effects) after entering the individual resting-state maps for both patients and controls. In order to define the group level resting-state connectivity map for each network, results were reported using a threshold of p < 0.05 with Family-wise error correction for multiple comparisons at whole brain level. The maxima of suprathreshold regions were localized by rendering them onto a normalized T1 structural MNI reference brain.

Then, for each participant, the whole hippocampi and four seed regions (left/right, anterior/posterior) were defined based on hippocampal delineations and, the z-scores across all voxels within the selected region of interest (ROI) were averaged in the different networks at p < 0.05 (uncorrected), representing the functional connectivity magnitude between the hippocampal ROI and each network.

The different ROIs were delineated following the same approach described previously (34). Specifically, the segmentation of hippocampi was performed according to the Anatomical Automatic Labeling (AAL) brain atlas (35). The anterior and posterior subdivision was made just posterior of the uncal apex ranged from y = -2 to -18 (anterior) and from y = -24 to -42 (posterior) in MNI coordinates. Between the anterior and posterior part of the hippocampal division, a gap of 4 mm was left in order to reduce inter-regional effects because of smoothing and registration errors (17).

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis was performed with SPSS (v.25, SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA). First, in order to identify those patients that presented cognitive impairment after surgery, we compared the scores of verbal learning task before and after surgery on an

TABLE 2 Resting-state network functional connectivity for controls and patients
($p < 0.05$ FWE-corrected at whole brain level, cluster extent >20 voxels).

Anatomical region	Cluster size	MNI coordinates	t value	
	(voxels)	(x y z)		
For the default mode net	work			
L superior medial frontal	6,803	-4 48 30	32.4	
R precuneus		12 - 52 18	26.4	
L Precuneus		-6 -58 16	25.1	
L Angular gyrus	2,378	-42 -72 30	25.0	
R Angular gyrus	1,815	48 -62 24	19.9	
L orbitofrontal	2,912	0 62 -2	17.6	
L medial frontal		2 64 10	15.5	
L parahipocampal	88	-24 -38 -14	10.3	
R middle frontal gyrus	307	24 34 44	10.3	
R superior frontal gyrus		26 24 54	9.1	
L superior frontal gyrus	245	-18 40 48	8.5	
L middle frontal gyrus		-24 26 50	8.1	
L middle temporal gyrus	102	-60 0 -22	8.3	
For the executive network	k			
R Supp motor area	11,429	2 12 64	17.8	
R Frontal superior medial		10 22 60	17.2	
L Frontal superior medial		-6 62 18	16.2	
L Superior parietal	76	-8 -58 56	8.6	
R Superior parietal		6 -56 54	6.2	
R Frontal superior medial	25	18 16 10	7.6	
L Caudate	26	-12 0 16	7.2	
L middle temporal gyrus		-60 -6 -14	7.6	
For the dorsal attention n	etwork			
R Superior parietal	7,742	12 -66 58	18.0	
L Superior parietal		-8 -60 62	15.6	
R Middle frontal gyrus	1,937	24 14 58	11.8	
L Supp motor area		-2 2 50	11.7	
L Mid-cingulate		2 16 38	11.3	
L middle frontal gyrus	444	-24 4 58	10.9	
L Supramarginal	80	-58 -28 34	8.4	
R Posterior cingulate	81	81 10 -52 8		

MNI, Montreal Neurological Institute stereotactic space; L, Left, R, right; Supp, Supplementary.

individual level. Specifically, we classified those patients who had a decline of two standard deviation of the normalized score or more in verbal learning as learning-decline, and the patients who showed a decline below two standard deviation or no decline after surgery as learning-intact. In order to define significant decline we applied the two standard deviation cut-off as it is a highly stringent according to previous reports (36).

Second, statistical analysis of groups (learning-decline vs. learning-intact vs. controls) demographics, clinical data including learning scores, and total hippocampal volume was performed. Log linear analysis and ANOVA were used to describe socio-demographic, clinical and hippocampal volume differences. If there was a significant difference among groups, a *post-hoc* univariate analysis using Bonferroni's correction was

performed. When comparisons were made between learningdecline and learning-intact groups, T-student and Chi-square tests were performed to assess statistical significance.

Third, to investigate differences in the hippocampal longitudinal connectivity according axis to the neuropsychological performance, a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) with Tukey post-hoc test was performed, considering the three groups (controls, learning-decline and learning-intact). First, Box's test was performed to check equality of covariance. Then, overall significance of the MANOVA test was assessed with Pillai's trace. This was followed by univariate analysis with Tukey correction. Finally, in order to corroborate which hippocampal longitudinal axis connectivity with the different networks outcomes could be used to correctly classify the different groups based on the surgical cognitive deficits, a linear discriminant analysis was performed, and a receiver characteristic operator curve (ROC) was configured for the variables showing significant differences on the discriminant function. These analyses were performed for the anterior/posterior division and for the whole hippocampus separately.

RESULTS

After classifying the patients according to the cognitive deficits postoperatively in the verbal learning task, 20 patients were learning-intact and 11 suffered a learning-decline after surgery. Preoperatively, no differences were found between groups on the RAVLT. After surgery, a significant difference was found when comparing controls and learning-intact patients with the patients of the learning-decline group (F = 7.09, p = 0.002). See **Table 1** for socio-demographic and clinical differences.

Global hippocampal volume differences among the three groups were investigated. Comparing the pre-surgical hippocampal volume, both the learning-intact and learning-decline groups had a decreased hippocampal volume for the to-be resected side when compared with the controls (F = 9.79, p < 0.001) with no significant differences between the two groups of patients on the *post-hoc* analysis. Also, there were not significant differences in the hippocampal volume among groups on the first-level ANOVA for the contralateral side (F = 1.97, p = 0.154).

Group-level EXE, DAN and DMN map of patients and controls is shown in **Figure 1**. Regions with a positive coupling corresponded to areas typically reported in the literature as part of the EXE (i.e., dorsal and anterior frontal areas), DAN (i.e., superior parietal and dorsolateral frontal areas) and DMN (i.e., posterior cingulate-precuneus and orbitofrontal regions). We first performed MANOVA among the three groups (learning decline, learning intact, and controls) comparing the connectivity of the whole hippocampus with the DMN, EXE, and DAN networks. Using Pillai's trace, there was a significant difference of the pattern of hippocampal connectivity among the groups [V = 0.95, $F_{(12.84)} = 6.3$, p < 0.001]. See **Table 3** for details.

For this whole hippocampus analysis, there were differences on the DMN connectivity with both the healthy side $[F_{(2,46)}]$



FIGURE 1 On the left, segmentation of both hippocampi, and division along the anterior-posterior axis. On the right, the resting state networks obtained in this study from patients and controls.

= 51.2, p < 0.001] and the pathological side [$F_{(2,46)}$ = 30, p < 0.001], and on the DAN connectivity with the pathological hippocampus [$F_{(2,46)}$ = 5.54, p < 0.007]. The *post-hoc* analysis revealed a significant decrease in global hippocampal connectivity bilaterally with the DMN for patients (both learning-decline and learning intact) when compared to controls (p < 0.0001, Tukey corrected). The *post-hoc* analysis on the pathological hippocampus with the DAN connectivity revealed an increase in connectivity for the patients with learning decline compared to controls (p = 0.007, Tukey corrected).

We then performed a MANOVA among the three groups comparing the connectivity of the anterior and posterior hippocampi with the DMN, EXE, and DAN networks. Using Pillai's trace, there was a significant difference of the pattern of hippocampal connectivity among the groups [V = 0.73, $F_{(24,72)} = 1.72$, p = 0.041]. See **Figure 2** for comparison results, and **Table 3** for connectivity details.

With regard to the anterior connectivity hippocampal pattern, separate univariate tests revealed a significant difference in the pathological side with the DAN $[F_{(2,46)} = 4.75, p = 0.013]$ and with the EXE $[F_{(2,46)} = 5.65, p = 0.006]$. Posterior *post-hoc* analyses showed that these patterns reflect a significant increase in connectivity in the DAN (p = 0.011, Tukey corrected) and in the EXE (p = 0.008, Tukey corrected) between learning-decline vs. learning-intact patients. Moreover, the non-pathological side showed a significant difference in the anterior connectivity pattern with the DAN $[F_{(2,46)} = 3.90, p = 0.027]$, in which further post-doc analyses indicated a significant increase of connectivity (p = 0.022, Tukey corrected) between learning-decline vs. learning-intact patients.

In contrast, the posterior connectivity hippocampal pattern only showed differences with the DMN, both in the pathological $[F_{(2,46)} = 6.15, p = 0.004]$, and the non-pathological $[F_{(2,46)} = 3.57, p = 0.036]$ side. On *post-hoc* analysis, the connectivity of the posterior pathological hippocampus with the DMN was significantly decreased in learning-decline patients when compared with learning-intact patients (p = 0.029, Tukey corrected) and controls (p = 0.003, Tukey corrected). The connectivity of the posterior non-pathological hippocampus was also significantly decreased in learning-decline patients compared to learning-intact patients (p = 0.027, Tukey corrected), but there was no difference with controls. See **Figure 3** for results.

The MANOVA was followed up with a linear discriminant analysis, which provided a multivariate model of how the connectivity measures differentiated the groups. As the discriminant analysis was carried out among three different groups, two different functions were obtained, as per differentiate each group. The functions tried to differentiate the three groups of participants considering a minimum weighted combination of the connectivity measures analyzed.

Using the connectivity of the hippocampus as a whole, the first function significantly discriminated the controls from the patients [Wilkin's lambda = 0.17, $X^2 = 77.05$, p < 0.0001], but the second function was non-significant [Wilkin's lambda $= 0.850, X^2 = 7.06, p = 0.216$], so the model was not capable of appropriately distinguishing the groups of patients, thus not identifying the learning-decline patients. On the other hand, for the anterior/posterior division results, the first discriminant function explained 63.3% of the variance, canonical $R^2 = 0.67$, and significantly discriminated the learningdecline patients from the other groups [Wilkin's lambda = 0.37, $X^2 = 40.41$, p = 0.019]. Individual discriminant scores for this function correlated significantly with the connectivity between the posterior pathological hippocampus and the DMN (0.67), inversely with the connectivity between the anterior pathological hippocampus and the DAN (-0.63), and finally with the posterior contralateral hippocampus with the DMN (0.47). As such, these three variables demonstrated the most importance in terms of learning-decline group differentiation. The second discriminant function explained the 36.7% remaining variance, canonical $R^2 = 0.570$, but was not significant (Wilkin's lambda = 0.851, X^2 = 7.03, p = 0.218]). See Figure 4 for details.

Finally, a ROC curve was calculated for the optimal cutoff point to predict verbal learning decline from the three previous connectivity variables which showed significance in the discriminant analysis (posterior bilateral hippocampi to DMN and anterior to-be resected hippocampus to DAN). Also, for the connectivity of the whole hippocampus a ROC curve was calculated, using the bilateral DMN connectivity and the pathological hippocampus to DAN connectivity. The results for the hippocampus as a whole, presented an Area under the Curve (AuC) was 0.63, with an optimal sensitivity of 0.45 and specificity of 0.8, whereas for the anterior/posterior connectivity presented an AuC of 0.84, with

TABLE 3 | Connectivity analysis results for each group.

		L-D	L-I	Controls	р
Pathological side					
Anterior hippocampus	DMN	1.2 (2.6)	0.009 (2.2)	1 (2.1)	n.s.
	DAN	1.56 (2.5)	-0.86 (2.3)	-0.37 (1.8)	<0.05
	EXE	2.6 (3.5)	-0.61 (2.6)	1.66 (3.4)	n.s.
Posterior hippocampus	DMN	-1.27 (2.1)	0.44 (1.9)	0.96 (1)	<0.05
	DAN	0.57 (2.6)	0.41 (2.3)	0.12 (2.5)	n.s.
	EXE	0.13 (3.2)	-0.64 (2.1)	-1.1 (2.3)	n.s.
Whole hippocampus	DMN	-0.38 (2.08)	-0.86 (1.96)	3.64 (2.1)	<0.05
	DAN	0.98 (0.98)	0.13 (1.8)	-1.15 (2)	<0.05
	EXE	0.1 (2.02)	-0.094 (1.96)	-0.13 (2.4)	n.s.
Healthy side					
Anterior hippocampus	DMN	-0.15 (2.8)	0.29 (2.1)	1.31 (1.8)	<0.05
	DAN	2.1 (2.7)	-0.11 (2.2)	1.18 (2.3)	n.s.
	EXE	1.92 (1.8)	0.87 (3.4)	1.4 (3.7)	<0.05
Posterior hippocampus	DMN	-0.04 (2.3)	1.61 (1.7)	1 (1.4)	<0.05
	DAN	0.74 (2.6)	0.44 (2)	0.81 (2)	n.s.
	EXE	-0.002 (2.7)	-1.05 (2.4)	-0.1 (1.9)	n.s.
Whole hippocampus	DMN	-0.81 (1.09)	0.57 (1.42)	4.84 (2.05)	<0.05
	DAN	0.82 (2.54)	0.46 (2.18)	-0.82 (2.05)	n.s.
	EXE	0.71 (2.1)	-0.56 (2.34)	0.12 (1.89)	n.s.

Data represents the z-scores across all values of the hippocampal subregions averaged in the different networks, presented as mean (standard deviation). L-D, learning decline; L-I, learning intact; DMN, Default Mode Network; DAN, Dorsal Attention Network; EXE, Executive Network. Significance was assessed with a MANOVA test as

described previously. The bold values indicate the statistically significant.



FIGURE 2 | MANOVA results. Significant differences were found among groups in the posterior hippocampi with the DMN and the anterior hippocampi with the DAN and the EXE, although for the latter only with the pathological side. DMN, Default Mode Network; DAN, Dorsal Attentional Network; EXE, Executive Control Network.

an optimal sensitivity of 0.73 and specificity of 0.95 (see Figure 5).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we identified functional connectivity signatures related to post-operative verbal learning decline in TLE patients. That is, different connectivity patterns with the RSN along the longitudinal axis of the hippocampus discriminated among patients with and without severe decline in verbal learning after surgery. In particular, we found a pre-operative increase of connectivity of the anterior to-be resected portion of the hippocampus with the DAN, together with a bilateral decrease of connectivity of its posterior portion with the DMN, that appropriately differentiated the group of patients with post-surgery learning-decline from learning-intact patients and controls. In addition, despite the fact that significant changes were found in connectivity among the anterior hippocampi and the EXE network, these changes did not sufficiently discriminate learning-decline patients according to our model.



FIGURE 3 | Main results of the *post-hoc* analysis among groups connectivity analyses with the DAN and the DMN along the longitudinal axis of the hippocampus. L-I, Learning Intact; L-D, Learning Decline. *Indicates statistical significance p < 0.05.



Our study revealed two main levels of organization along the long hippocampal axis associated with the verbal learning decline after resection conferring protection against the cognitive impairment after surgery in TLE patients. First of all, according to our data, post-surgery learning-decline patients, learningintact patients and controls differed in the pattern of the hippocampal formation connectivity with the RSN following an anterior-posterior gradient. Secondly, we found bilateral, up- and



FIGURE 5 | ROC curves. On the left, using the anterior/posterior division of the hippocampi (Connectivity measures for the Posterior bilateral hippocampi-DMN and the anterior to-be resected hippocampus-DAN). The area under the curve (AuC) was of 0.835, with an optimal sensitivity of 0.727 and specificity of 0.95. On the right, using the whole hippocampus (also connectivity measures from the bilateral hippocampi-DMN and the to-be resected hippocampus-DAN). The AuC was 0.63, with an optimal sensitivity of 0.46 and specificity of 0.8.

down-regulations of resting state connectivity, with significant differences in the learning-decline group vs. the learning-intact and control groups. Finally, in our series, investigating the connectivity along the longitudinal axis proved to discriminate learning decline patients from learning intact patients and controls, as compared with the connectivity of the hippocampus as a whole, which was only capable of discriminating patients from controls.

In recent years, the modular paradigm, i.e., postulating specific brain areas as responsible of complex cognitive tasks, has been shifted toward the study of how neural networks influence cognitive processing (37). According to the network paradigm, cognitive functions arise from distributed brain areas comprising multiple distinct, interacting networks. Several large-scale brain networks have been described using resting state functional imaging. It is this connectivity of these RSN with other brain structures such as the hippocampal formation that has proven to be crucial for the maintenance of cognitive tasks (16, 23).

Verbal learning decline has been a consistent finding after temporal lobe surgery (3). Two models were initially proposed as per why some patients showed verbal memory decline after surgery. Namely, these include functional adequacy of the tobe resected hippocampus as sustaining cognitive function, which is thereby lost upon resection, or instead the functional reserve of the contralateral hippocampus (38). However, more recent work switched the attention from the hippocampal model to the connectivity of widespread neuronal networks in order to explain complex cognitive changes that imply different functions (37). In this regard, aligned task-based functional MRI studies using a combination of language and encoding paradigms showed both hippocampal and extra hippocampal activation differences in identifying patients at risk of decline. Thus, the authors postulated that it was the functional adequacy of the network elucidated in the task what was truly relevant for verbal memory decline (39). Taken together, these results, along with evidence on targeting network dysfunction for neurological symptoms (19), pave the way for analysis beyond the lesional level, exploring the cognitive deficits at a network level. Our main hypothesis builds up from this perspective, exploring the role of the disconnection of the hippocampus with the DMN, DAN and EXE, crucial in verbal learning (16, 17).

Our main findings are in line with this network model. Analyzing resting-state connectivity of the hippocampus with the DMN, DAN, and EXE, bilaterally and along its longitudinal axis, significantly discriminated patients at risk of verbal memory decline; a bilateral decrease of the posterior portion of the hippocampi, together with an increased connectivity of the tobe resected hippocampal anterior portion with the DAN was significantly related to verbal learning decline after surgery. Noteworthy, hippocampal connectivity with the RSN followed a functional gradient, that is, the posterior hippocampus with the DMN and the anterior hippocampus with the DAN. Thus, by segregating the connectivity pattern along the axis of the hippocampus, we found significant differences related to the connectivity of the anterior-posterior system (21, 25).

Previous studies evaluating resting state connectivity also reported differences among patients with and without decline (6, 8, 10). In this sense, the definition of different cognitive networks at rest provides an easy and reproducible framework to assess brain functioning. Network studies at rest in TLE patients have shown widespread alterations and correlations to different neuropsychological tasks (10, 13, 40). Using restingstate connectivity, previous studies showed how the connectivity of the hippocampus and the posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), the key hub in the DMN, differed among patients. Relating to their different verbal memory scores, lower strengths of connectivity between the DMN and the hippocampi correlated with poorer performances (41). Furthermore, changes in DMNhippocampal connectivity may relate with memory loss after surgery (6). Specifically, evaluating the connectivity of the PCC within the DMN to the hippocampus elucidated how patients with episodic memory loss after surgery showed stronger

connectivity with the pathological hippocampus, whereas intact patients showed stronger connectivity with the contralateral hippocampus. In addition, using graph theory measures of areas relevant to cognitive functions and to ictal pathology, Doucet et al. (10) found that neurocognitive deficits after surgery were related mainly to the contralateral hippocampus and widespread bilateral regions, again emphasizing the importance of extratemporal of networks in cognitive functioning.

Nonetheless, the variety of approaches to analyze resting state data, together with the large number of neurocognitive tests reported, limits study comparison. In relation to previously reported studies, we did also find a decrease in contralateral posterior hippocampus-DMN connectivity for the learningdecline patients, but, on the contrary, this group also displayed decreased connectivity between the pathological posterior hippocampus and the DMN. In our approach, we also found that the connectivity of the anterior hippocampus and the DAN was a major discriminant of learning-decline patients. This connectivity has been reported as crucial for encoding processes (22, 42). We hypothesized that an increased connectivity of the anterior pathological hippocampus to the DAN could relate to adaptive changes, relating to the functional adequacy of the tobe resected hippocampus. This pattern of the to-be resected hippocampus, having decreased posterior connectivity to the DMN bilaterally, but increased anterior connectivity to the DAN, could related to a higher vulnerability compared to the learningintact, who showed the inverse pattern (see Figure 3).

Our series consists of patients with different etiologies, with a majority of patients having hippocampal sclerosis (HS). TLE is an heterogeneous disease, even in patients with HS, were heterogeneity in impairment of cognitive domains is found (43). Individual differences are common, likely related to network plasticity (44) against different etiologies and ages of presentation. In our results, different network connectivity of anterior and posterior hippocampus in patients and controls was found, likely related to the different network readjustments in our group of TLE patients, as TLE disrupts large scale cognitive networks (45). Analyzing the differences along the longitudinal axis of the hippocampus could help identify patients at risk of cognitive decline after surgery. In our series, the patients who suffered a verbal learning decline relied on increased connectivity of the anterior pathological hippocampus to the DAN, with decreased connectivity of the posterior hippocampus with the DMN. After resecting the anterior portion of the hippocampus, it is assumed that this connectivity would be disrupted, and therefore the patients suffered a verbal learning impairment.

Our study has several drawbacks. First of all, there was a small number of patients included. Second, we did not consider the extent of resection of the mesial and lateral temporal lobe, which is also associated with memory impairment after surgery (46). Also, most of our sample consists of patients with HS, which could mean that our findings are specific of this condition. Finally, we did not find significant differences between learning-intact and controls, as the discriminant function was not able to

differentiate between these groups. Further studies with higher number of participants could be necessary in order to better delineate the learning-intact patients.

On the other hand, applying network analysis along the functional gradient of the hippocampal formation, we report presurgical differences among patients with verbal learning decline probably related to individual network plasticity. This finding supports the assumption that RSN—hippocampal connectivity is relevant for cognition, and measuring its integrity could help in the pre-surgical assessment of cognitive risks. However, several other factors should be considered, furthermost the extent of resection, pre-operative memory testing, and verbal lateralization. Nonetheless, the pre-operative connectivity of the mesial temporal area could help predict the risks of verbal learning decline after surgery for TLE. A multivariate prediction system would likely be the best approach in predicting memory deficits after surgery.

CONCLUSION

Our findings support the hypothesis of an anterior-posterior functional division of the hippocampal formation and the cognitive networks. Differences in the pattern of functional connectivity of the DAN and DMN along the longitudinal axis of the hippocampus may have implications on post-operative cognitive deficits and could help identify individually which patients are more at risk of cognitive impairment. Verbal learning impairment remains an important side effect of epilepsy surgery. As a result, personalized counseling based on resting state network connectivity could help in decision making.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Bellvitge University Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank CERCA Programme/Generalitat de Catalunya for institutional support. We thank Si jo puc, tú també #Epilep (https://sijopuctutambeepilep.org/es/) association for economic support.

REFERENCES

- Wiebe S, Blume WT, Girvin JP, Eliasziw M, Effectiveness and Efficiency of Surgery for Temporal Lobe Epilepsy Study Group. A randomized, controlled trial of surgery for temporal-lobe epilepsy. N Engl J Med. (2001) 345:311– 8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200108023450501
- Baxendale S. Amnesia in temporal lobectomy patients: historical perspective and review. Seizure. (1998) 7:15–24. doi: 10.1016/S1059-1311(98)90003-6
- Bell B, Lin JJ, Seidenberg M, Hermann B. The neurobiology of cognitive disorders in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2013) 7:154– 64. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2011.3
- Martin RC, Sawrie SM, Roth DL, Gilliam FG, Faught E, Morawetz RB, et al. Individual memory change after anterior temporal lobectomy: a base rate analysis using regression-based outcome methodology. *Epilepsia*. (1998) 39:1075–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1998.tb01293.x
- Doucet G, Osipowicz K, Sharan A, Sperling MR, Tracy JI. Extratemporal functional connectivity impairments at rest are related to memory performance in mesial temporal epilepsy. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2013) 34:2202– 16. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22059
- Mccormick C, Quraan M, Cohn M, Valiante TA, Mcandrews MP. Default mode network connectivity indicates episodic memory capacity in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (2013). 54:809–18. doi: 10.1111/epi.12098
- Bonilha L, Nesland T, Martz GU, Joseph JE, Spampinato MV, Edwards JC, et al. Medial temporal lobe epilepsy is associated with neuronal fibre loss and paradoxical increase in structural connectivity of limbic structures. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2012) 83:903–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-302476
- Roger E, Pichat C, Torlay L, David O, Renard F, Banjac S, et al. Hubs disruption in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. A resting-state fMRI study on a language-and-memory network. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2020) 41:779– 96. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24839
- Su L, An J, Ma Q, Qiu S, Hu D. Influence of resting-state network on lateralization of functional connectivity in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2015) 36:1479–87. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A4346
- Doucet GE, Rider R, Taylor N, Skidmore C, Sharan A, Sperling M, et al. Presurgery resting-state local graph-theory measures predict neurocognitive outcomes after brain surgery in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia.* (2015) 56:517–26. doi: 10.1111/epi.12936
- Bonelli SB, Thompson PJ, Yogarajah M, Powell RHW, Samson RS, McEvoy AW, et al. Memory reorganization following anterior temporal lobe resection: a longitudinal functional MRI study. *Brain*. (2013) 136:1889– 900. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt105
- Strange BA, Witter MP, Lein ES, Moser EI. Functional organization of the hippocampal longitudinal axis. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2014) 15:655– 69. doi: 10.1038/nrn3785
- Voets NL, Zamboni G, Stokes MG, Carpenter K, Stacey R, Adcock JE. Aberrant functional connectivity in dissociable hippocampal networks is associated with deficits in memory. *J Neurosci.* (2014) 34:4920– 8. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4281-13.2014
- Spencer SS. Neural networks in human epilepsy: evidence of and implications for treatment. *Epilepsia*. (2002) 43:219– 27. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2002.26901.x
- Bartolomei F, Lagarde S, Wendling F, Mcgonigal A. Defining epileptogenic networks : contribution of SEEG and signal analysis. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:1131–47. doi: 10.1111/epi.13791
- Chand GB, Hajjar I, Qiu D. Disrupted interactions among the hippocampal, dorsal attention, and central-executive networks in amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Hum Brain Mapp*. (2018) 39:4987–97. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24339
- Persson J, Stening E, Nordin K, Söderlund H. Predicting episodic and spatial memory performance from hippocampal resting-state functional connectivity: evidence for an anterior-posterior division of function. *Hippocampus*. (2018) 28:53–66. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22807
- Damoiseaux JS, Rombouts SARB, Barkhof F, Scheltens P, Stam CJ, Smith SM, et al. Consistent resting-state networks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2006) 103:13848–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0601417103
- Boes AD, Prasad S, Liu H, Liu Q, Pascual-Leone A, Caviness VS, et al. Network localization of neurological symptoms from focal brain lesions. *Brain.* (2015) 138:3061–75. doi: 10.1093/brain/awv228

- Rayner G, Tailby C, Jackson G, Wilson S. Looking beyond lesions for causes of neuropsychological impairment in epilepsy. *Neurology*. (2019) 92:E680– 9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006905
- Ranganath C, Ritchey M. Two cortical systems for memory-guided behaviour. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2012) 13:713–26. doi: 10.1038/nrn3338
- 22. Kim H. Encoding and retrieval along the long axis of the hippocampus and their relationships with dorsal attention and default mode networks: the HERNET model. *Hippocampus*. (2015) 25:500–10. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22387
- Smith SM, Fox PT, Miller KL, Glahn DC, Fox PM, Mackay CE, et al. Correspondence of the brain's functional architecture during activation and rest. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2009) 106:13040–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0905267106
- Fornito A, Harrison BJ, Zalesky A, Simons JS. Competitive and cooperative dynamics of large-scale brain functional networks supporting recollection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2012) 109:12788–93. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1204185109
- Grady CL. Meta-analytic and functional connectivity evidence from functional magnetic resonance imaging for an anterior to posterior gradient of function along the hippocampal axis. *Hippocampus*. (2020) 30:456– 71. doi: 10.1002/hipo.23164
- Rouder JN, Gomez P. Modelling serial position curves with temporal distinctiveness. *Memory.* (2001) 9:301–11. doi: 10.1080/096582100420 00102
- Hashimoto R, Meguro K, Yamaguchi S, Ishizaki J, Ishii H, Meguro M, et al. Executive dysfunction can explain word-list learning disability in very mild Alzheimer's disease: the Tajiri project. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2004) 58:54–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2004.01193.x
- Perri R, Fadda L, Caltagirone C, Carlesimo GA. Word list and story recall elicit different patterns of memory deficit in patients with Alzheimer's disease, frontotemporal dementia, subcortical ischemic vascular disease, and lewy body dementia. J Alzheimers Dis. (2013) 37:99–107. doi: 10.3233/JAD-130347
- Schoenberg MR, Dawson KA, Duff K, Patton D, Scott JG, Adams RL. Test performance and classification statistics for the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test in selected clinical samples. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* (2006) 21:693– 703. doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2006.06.010
- Pontón MO, Satz P, Herrera L, Ortiz F, Urrutia CP, Young R, et al. Normative data stratified by age and education for the Neuropsychological Screening Battery for Hispanics (NeSBHIS): initial report. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (1996) 2:96–104. doi: 10.1017/S1355617700000941
- Sala-Padro J, Miró J, Rodriguez-Fornells A, Quintana M, Vidal N, Plans G, et al. Hippocampal microstructural architecture and surgical outcome: Hippocampal diffusivity could predict seizure relapse. *Seizure*. (2020) 76:84– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2020.01.006
- Calhoun VD, Adali T, Pearlson GD, Pekar JJ. A method for making group inferences from functional MRI data using independent component analysis. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2001) 14:140–51. doi: 10.1002/hbm.1048
- Bell AJ, Sejnowski TJ. An information-maximization approach to blind separation and blind deconvolution. *Neural Comput.* (1995) 7:1129– 59. doi: 10.1162/neco.1995.7.6.1129
- Poppenk J, Evensmoen HR, Moscovitch M, Nadel L. Long-axis specialization of the human hippocampus. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2013) 17:230–40. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.03.005
- 35. Tzourio-Mazoyer N, Landeau B, Papathanassiou D, Crivello F, Etard O, Delcroix N, et al. Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *Neuroimage*. (2002) 15:273–89. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.0978
- Baxendale S, Thompson P. Defining meaningful postoperative change in epilepsy surgery patients: measuring the unmeasurable? *Epilepsy Behav*. (2005) 6:207–11. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2004.12.009
- Bressler SL, Menon V. Large-scale brain networks in cognition: emerging methods and principles. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2010) 14:277–90. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2010.04.004
- Chelune GJ. Hippocampal adequacy versus functional reserve: Predicting memory functions following temporal lobectomy. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. (1995) 10:413–32. doi: 10.1016/0887-6177(95)00015-V
- Sidhu MK, Stretton J, Winston GP, Symms M, Thompson PJ, Koepp MJ, et al. Memory fMRI predicts verbal memory decline after anterior temporal lobe resection. *Neurology*. (2015) 84:1512–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000001461

- Zheng J, Qin B, Dang C, Ye W, Chen Z, Yu L. Alertness network in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: a fMRI study. *Epilepsy Res.* (2012) 100:67–73. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2012. 01.006
- Holmes M, Folley BS, Sonmezturk HH, Gore JC, Kang H, Abou-Khalil B, et al. Resting state functional connectivity of the hippocampus associated with neurocognitive function in left temporal lobe epilepsy. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2014) 35:735–44. doi: 10.1002/hbm.2 2210
- Fritch HA, Spets DS, Slotnick SD. Functional connectivity with the anterior and posterior hippocampus during spatial memory. *Hippocampus*. (2021) 31:658–68. doi: 10.1002/hipo.23283
- Prada Jardim A, Liu J, Baber J, Michalak Z, Reeves C, Ellis M, et al. Characterising subtypes of hippocampal sclerosis and reorganization: correlation with pre and postoperative memory deficit. *Brain Pathol.* (2018) 28:143–54. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12514
- Bettus G, Guedj E, Joyeux F, Confort-Gouny S, Soulier E, Laguitton V, et al. Decreased basal fMRI functional connectivity in epileptogenic networks and contralateral compensatory mechanisms. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2009) 30:1580– 91. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20625
- Cataldi M, Avoli M, De Villers-Sidani E. Resting state networks in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54:2048–59. doi: 10.1111/epi.12400

 Hermann BP, Seidenberg M, Wyler A, Davies K, Christeson J, Moran M, et al. The effects of human hippocampal resection on the serial position curve. *Cortex.* (1996) 32:323–34. doi: 10.1016/S0010-9452(96)80054-2

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Sala-Padro, Gifreu-Fraixino, Miró, Rodriguez-Fornells, Rico, Plans, Santurino, Falip and Càmara. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yvonne Höller, University of Akureyri, Iceland

REVIEWED BY

Laura Mitrea, University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine of Cluj-Napoca, Romania Giuseppe Biagini, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Italy Alina Arulsamy, Monash University, Malaysia

*CORRESPONDENCE Yongbo Zhang yongbozhang@ccmu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 20 May 2022 ACCEPTED 30 June 2022 PUBLISHED 19 July 2022

CITATION

Wang X, Ma R, Liu X and Zhang Y (2022) Effects of long-term supplementation of probiotics on cognitive function and emotion in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Front. Neurol.* 13:948599. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.948599

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wang, Ma, Liu and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the

original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effects of long-term supplementation of probiotics on cognitive function and emotion in temporal lobe epilepsy

Xue Wang¹, Rui Ma², Xinyi Liu¹ and Yongbo Zhang^{1*}

¹Department of Neurology, Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, ²Department of Neurology, Xuanwu Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

Cognitive impairment and neuropsychiatric disorders are very common in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE). These comorbidities complicate the treatment of epilepsy and seriously affect the quality of life. So far, there is still no effective intervention to prevent the development of epilepsy-associated comorbidities. Gut dysbiosis has been recognized to be involved in the pathology of epilepsy development. Modulating gut microbiota by probiotics has shown an antiseizure effect on humans and animals with epilepsy. Whether this treatment strategy has a positive effect on epilepsy-associated comorbidities remains unclear. Therefore, this study aimed to objectively assess the effect of probiotics on cognitive function and neuropsychiatric performance of patients with TLE. Participants enrolled in an epilepsy clinic were randomly assigned to the probiotic and placebo groups. These two groups were treated with probiotics or placebo for 12 weeks, and then the cognitive function and psychological performance of participants were assessed. We enrolled 76 participants in this study, and 70 subjects were finally included in the study (35 in the probiotics group and 35 in the placebo group). Our results showed significant seizure reduction in patients with TLE treated with probiotics. No significant differences were observed on cognitive function (including intelligence and memory) between groups. For neuropsychiatric performances, supplementation of probiotics significantly decreased the Hamilton Anxiety Rating and Depression Scale scores and increased the 89-item Quality of Life in Epilepsy Inventory score in patients with TLE. In conclusion, probiotics have a positive impact on seizures control, and improve anxiety, depression, and quality of life in patients with TLE.

KEYWORDS

probiotics, cognitive function, temporal lobe epilepsy, supplementation, neuropsychiatric disorders

Introduction

Epilepsy is a very common disease in central nervous system affecting approximately 70 million people worldwide (1). Despite the emergence of multiple antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) for the treatment of epilepsy, approximately one in three patients develop drug-resistant epilepsy (DRE) (2). Temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) is the most common type of epilepsy, which is prone to develop into DRE. Due to abnormal brain discharges originating focally in the temporal lobe and limbic system involving cognitive function and emotion, patients with TLE often suffer from different degrees of cognitive impairment and neuropsychiatric disorders (3-6). These comorbidities severely affect patients' quality of life and burden the family and society (7). Although various drugs targeting a series of comorbidities have emerged, there is still no effective intervention to prevent comorbidity development in patients with epilepsy. Therefore, understanding the pathophysiology of comorbidities associated with epilepsy may help develop therapeutic interventions.

The gut microbiota has gradually been recognized to play an important role in the pathology of epilepsy development (8–10). The gut-brain axis is a bidirectional communication pathway connecting the central nervous and enteric nervous systems, and modulates the neural, immunological, and hormonal pathways to balance the body (11, 12). Gut dysbiosis changes the levels of neurotransmitters, metabolites, and activities in the gut and affects glial function, neuroinflammation, myelination, bloodbrain barrier permeability, and neurotransmission, leading to various neurological disorders (8, 13). Recently, a series of studies showed alterations of the gut microbiome in patients with DRE, such as increased relative abundance of Firmicutes and Proteobacteria and decreased Bacteroidetes and Actinobacteria, suggesting that gut dysbiosis may be involved in the pathogenesis of epilepsy (14, 15). Modulation of gut microbiota may be a potential therapeutic strategy for epilepsy. Another study provided evidence that supplementation with probiotics in patients with DRE showed a positive impact on seizure control (16).

Interestingly, a recent study observed that functional gastrointestinal disorders related to microbiota-gut-brain axis dysregulation were significantly associated with the temporal lobe (17). There may be some relationships between microbiota-gut-brain axis dysregulation and neurobehavioral comorbidities, considering the role of the temporal lobe in cognitive function and emotion. However, there is still a lack of relevant research on whether modulating the gut microbiota has a therapeutic effect on epilepsy-associated comorbidities.

Probiotics, regarded as living microorganisms with unknown harmful side effects, provide health benefits to animals and humans by interacting with the intestinal microbiome (18). Modulation of *Bifidobacterium* spp. and *Lactobacillus* spp. were suggested as an effective therapeutic strategy for treatment of DRE (14). BIFICO capsules, containing *Bifidobacterium longum*, *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, and *Enterococcus faecalis* have been widely used in China for more than 20 years (19). *Enterococcus* spp. increases the colonization of *Bifidobacterium* spp. and provides an anaerobic environment suitable for *Bifidobacterium* spp. *L. acidophilus* produces some growth factors that promote the proliferation of *Bifidobacterium* spp. Combination of these three strains maximizes the prebiotic effect for maintaining gut microbiota balance (20). In this study, we aimed to investigate the effect of BIFICO on cognitive function and emotional symptoms in patients with TLE to provide guidance for treating epilepsy-related comorbidities, thereby improving quality of life.

Methods

Participants and inclusion and exclusion criteria

Subjects were recruited from the epilepsy clinic of the neurology department at Capital Medical University Affiliated Beijing Friendship Hospital from January 2020 to December 2021. This was a double-blind, randomized controlled study with an experimental and a placebo control group. This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Capital Medical University Affiliated Beijing Friendship Hospital. All enrolled patients signed an approved informed consent document after meeting the inclusion criteria.

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) aged 50–75 years; (2) TLE diagnosis; (3) seizures that occurred at least twice a month for ≥ 2 years before entering the study; (4) absence of epilepsy induced by other causes, including encephalitis, stroke, brain tumors, diabetes, or metabolic syndrome; (5) absence of generalized motor seizures, mental motor seizures, or other idiopathic syndromes; (6) no history of neurological or psychiatric disorders and; (7) an ability to read and understand the study documents evaluated by the investigators.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) use of topiramate or phenobarbital, which affect cognition; (2) use of other probiotics or yogurts with live or immune-enhancing supplements within the past 3 months; (3) use of antibiotics or anti-inflammatory therapy within the past 3 months.

We assessed 160 participants for eligibility, and 76 were enrolled in this study according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria (Figure 1). The 76 enrolled participants were equally and randomly assigned to the probiotic and placebo groups. During the 12 weeks of treatment, three participants from the placebo group dropped out of the study; one due to worsened seizures, one due to the long distance involved, and one was lost to followup. Additionally, three participants from the probiotic group dropped out in this period; one discontinued due to headaches, and two were lost to follow-up. Therefore, this study eventually



included 70 participants (35 enrolled in the placebo group and 35 in the probiotic group (Figure 1).

Management and procedures

Participants in the probiotic group were assigned to take two capsules after breakfast and dinner per day for 12 weeks (each capsule contained *B. longum*, *L. acidophilus*, and *E. faecalis*; every living bacterium had $> 1 \times 10^7$ colony-forming units). In the placebo group, each capsule contained only 210 mg of starch. The probiotic products and placebos could not be distinguished by package, color, taste, or smell (provided by Shanghai Xinyi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China). Antiseizure treatment for the participants was not changed during the treatment period for either group.

All participants were evaluated for seizure frequency, cognitive function, anxiety, depression, and quality of life, before

and after the intervention. All participants, investigators, and researchers were blinded throughout the study period. After the study was completed, all data were used for statistical analysis.

Outcome assessments

Demographic information included sex, age, education years, and body mass index (BMI, kg/m^2). The clinical features included seizure frequency, epileptic history, seizure focus location, and number of AEDs.

The number of episodes in the month before enrollment was regarded as the baseline, and the number of episodes in the third month with probiotic/placebo treatment was regarded as the endpoint. We evaluated the changes of seizure frequency between the baseline and the endpoint.

The Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Fourth Edition (WALS-IV) was used to assess cognitive function (21).

WMS-IV contains ten subtests that contribute to four cognitive spheres: the verbal comprehension index (VCI), perceptual reasoning index (PRI), working memory index (WMI), and processing speed index (PSI). Full-scale IQ (FSIQ) was calculated for all subtests. The scores of the four cognitive spheres and the FSIQ were transformed into an index according to the test manual (M = 100, SD = 15).

The Wechsler Memory Scale-Fourth Edition (WMS-IV) was used to assess participants' memory performance in the probiotic and placebo groups (22). This scale consists of five subtests that produce five indices: the auditory memory index (AMI), visual working memory index (VWMI), visual memory index (VMI), immediate memory index (IMI), and delayed memory index (DMI). According to the test manual, the scores for the five indices were transformed into an index (M = 100, SD = 15).

The Hamilton Depression Scale (HAMD) was used to assess depression severity (23, 24). It contains 24 items, and the total score ranges from 0 to 75. The severity ranges based on the total score for depression were as follows: no depression (<8), mild depression (8–20); moderate depression (21–35); and severe depression (>35).

The Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale (HAMA) was used to evaluate the level of anxiety (25). This scale consists of 14 symptom-defined items, and the score for each item ranges from zero (not present) to four (severe). Based on the total scores, the severity ranges for anxiety were as follows: absence of anxiety (<7), mild anxiety (7–13), definite anxiety (14–20), obvious anxiety (21–29), and severe anxiety (>29).

The Quality of Life in Epilepsy Inventory (QOLIE)-89 item was used to measure the quality of life. The total score of this inventory provides an estimate of overall health-related quality of life.

Statistical analyses

All data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (version 21; IBM, Armonk, NY) and GraphPad Prism (version 9; GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA). Shapiro-Wilk test was used to verify the normal distribution of continuous variables. The data of General characteristics and epileptic information were expressed as means and standard deviations and analyzed by using Student's *t*-tests. The categorical data were analyzed by Chi square test and Fisher test. Significant differences were set at a *p*-value < 0.05. Within-patient contrasts were analyzed by using Mann-Whitney U test that were adjusted by using the Bonferroni correction (p < 0.005 for the cognitive measures and p < 0.008 for the neuropsychiatric measures). Correlations between variables were assessed using Spearman test.

Results

General characteristics of participants

We assessed 160 participants for eligibility, and 76 were enrolled in this study and randomly assigned to either the probiotic group (n = 38) or the placebo group (n = 38). Finally, 70 participants completed the study (probiotics, n = 35; placebo, n = 35), and six subjects dropped out. The patients' demographic and clinical characteristics are shown in Table 1. General characteristics including mean age (probiotics vs. placebo: 60.5 \pm 7.0 vs. 60.2 \pm 5.8 years), the ratio of females (probiotics vs. placebo: 48.6 vs. 51.4%), years of education (probiotics vs. placebo: 9.3 \pm 2.6 vs. 9.1 \pm 2.8 years), and BMI (probiotics vs. placebo: 24.9 \pm 1.7 vs. 24.6 \pm 1.5 kg/m²) were matched between the two groups with no significant difference (p > p)0.05). Epileptic information such as epileptic history (probiotics vs. placebo: 10.5 \pm 5.1 vs. 9.7 \pm 4.9 years), seizure frequency (probiotics vs. placebo: 5.4 \pm 1.4 vs. 5.6 \pm 1.5 years), focus location (left, probiotics vs. placebo: 45.7 vs. 51.4%), and the number of AEDs did not significantly differ between the two groups (p > 0.05).

Effects of probiotics on seizure frequency in patients with TLE

To observe the effect of probiotics on seizure frequency in the participants, the data were classified as no seizure improvement, 1–30% seizure reduction, 30–60% seizure reduction, and 60–100% seizure reduction and analyzed by using chi-square test and Fisher's exact test. As shown in Figure 2, the results were presented as the ratios of participants with no seizure improvement (probiotics vs. placebo: 57.1 vs. 91.4%, p < 0.05), 1–30% reduction (probiotics vs. placebo: 31.4 vs. 5.7%, p < 0.05), 30–60% seizure reduction (probiotics vs. placebo: 8.57 vs. 2.9%, p > 0.05), and 60–100% seizure reduction (probiotics vs. placebo: 2.8 vs. 0%, p > 0.05).

Group differences in the WAIS-IV and WMS-IV index scores

On the WAIS-IV, as shown in Table 2, there were no significant differences between the probiotics and placebo groups in the four cognitive indices and FSIQ at baseline. After 3 months of intervention, the scores in probiotic group on PSI, WMI, and FSIQ were observed higher than those in placebo group, but with no significant differences. Similarity, On the WMS-IV, the participants in the probiotic and placebo groups were at the same level on the five indices at baseline (Table 2). At the endpoint, there was no significant differences between
Characteristic	Probiotic group $(n = 35)$	Placebo group $(n = 35)$	P-value
Mean age (±SD, years)	60.5 (7.0)	60.2 (5.8)	0.869
Female sex, n (%)	17 (48.6%)	18 (51.4%)	0.811
Education (\pm SD, years)	9.3 (2.6)	9.1 (2.8)	0.696
BMI (\pm SD, kg/m ²)	24.9 (1.7)	24.6 (1.5)	0.328
Epileptic history (\pm SD, years)	10.5 (5.1)	9.7 (4.9)	0.465
Seizure frequency (\pm SD, seizures/month)	5.4 (1.4)	5.6 (1.5)	0.568
Focus location, n (%)			0.632
Left	16 (45.7%)	18 (51.4%)	
Right	19 (54.3%)	17 (48.6%)	
Number of AEDs, <i>n</i> (%)			0.874
1	9 (25.7 %)	10 (28.6 %)	
2	14 (40 %)	15 (42.9 %)	
3+	12 (34.3 %)	10 (28.5 %)	

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of participants.

Continuous variables were analyzed by Student's t-tests, and categorical variables were assessed by chi-square test. No significant differences between groups.



the probiotic and placebo groups on AMI, VWMI, VMI, IMI, and DMI.

Group differences in the HAMA, HAMD, and QOLIE-89 scales

Neuropsychological investigations of the participants are shown in Table 3. There were no significant differences between the probiotic and placebo groups in the baseline HAMA, HAMD, and QOLIE-89 scores. After 3 months of intervention, the participants treated with probiotics showed a significant reduction in the HAMA (9.54 ± 5.51 vs. 13.57 ± 6.16 , p = 0.003) and HAMD (11.83 ± 5.49 vs. 15.23 ± 5.56 , p = 0.006). There was

also an increase in the QOLIE-89 scores (60.29 ± 14.01 vs. 51.91 ± 13.20 , p = 0.006) compared with those treated with placebo. In addition, an analysis of the effects of seizure reduction on these scales using Spearman test showed that the performance of the participants treated with probiotics had a negative correlation with seizure reduction on HAMA (r = -0.775, p < 0.001, Figure 3A) and HAMD (r = -0.696, p < 0.001, Figure 3B) and a positive correlation with seizure reduction on QOLIE-89 (r = 0.840, p < 0.001, Figure 3C).

Discussion

This study was a prospective examination targeting the effect of probiotics on cognitive function and neuropsychiatric manifestations using comprehensive tests in an adjunctive trial in patients with TLE. This study supports the assertion that supplementation with probiotics effectively increase the antiseizure effect and improve intelligence, memory impairment, anxiety, depression, and low quality of life to a certain extent.

The role of the gut-brain axis in epilepsy has been gradually recognized. A study observed elevated α -diversity in the composition of gut microbiota in patients with DRE, especially those with 4 or more seizures per year (14). Linear discriminant analysis showed increases in the relative abundance of Firmicutes and decreases in Bacteroides in patients with DRE (14). Another study detected fecal microbiota in healthy children and in those with DRE, and found differences in fecal microbial β -diversity between groups instead of α -diversity, and also observed increased relative abundance of Firmicutes and decreased abundance of Bacteroidetes and Actinobacteria in infants with DRE (26). Modulation of the gut microbiome may be a potential strategy for treating epilepsy.

Cognitive function	Baseline			Endpoint				
	Probiotic	Placebo	Z	Р	Probiotic	Placebo	Z	Р
WAIS-IV								
VCI	91.37 (15.41)	90.97 (15.61)	-0.065	0.948	92.57 (15.03)	92.14 (15.23)	-0.047	0.962
PRI	84.11 (16.25)	85.03 (16.25)	-0.27	0.787	85.46 (15.83)	85.29 (16.22)	-0.024	0.981
PSI	84.60 (15.77)	82.17 (15.85)	-0.565	0.572	93.77 (15.83)	83.29 (15.91)	-2.716	0.007
WMI	84.26 (15.13)	85.80 (16.67)	-0.406	0.685	95.23 (15.48)	86.57 (17.08)	-2.105	0.035
FSIQ	86.09 (10.30)	85.99 (10.71)	-0.012	0.991	91.76 (9.21)	86.82 (10.54)	-1.915	0.049
WMS-IV								
AMI	83.03 (16.19)	83.29 (16.07)	-0.194	0.846	92.91 (17.19)	83.57 (16.01)	-2.165	0.03
VMI	87.31 (15.56)	85.20 (18.05)	-0.6	0.549	95.54 (15.36)	87.17 (18.25)	-2.016	0.044
VWMI	82.80 (17.34)	82.94 (17.30)	-0.1	0.92	85.09 (18.04)	83.49 (17.69)	-0.388	0.698
IMI	85.14 (15.14)	84.66 (15.73)	-0.147	0.883	94.11 (16.15)	86.17 (15.20)	-2.454	0.014
DMI	85.11 (15.52)	84.11 (15.05)	-0.076	0.939	94.11 (16.53)	86.14 (15.71)	-2.194	0.028

TABLE 2 Comparison between groups on WAIS-IV and WMS-IV.

The WAIS-IV and WMS-IV scores are presented in corresponding age-adjusted scaled scores (index scores M = 100, SD = 15). "Z" indicates Mann Whitney U test. Bonferroni correction was applied to determine statistical significance.

TABLE 3 Neuropsychological investigation of participants.

Neuropsychiatric performance	Baseline			Endpoint				
	Probiotic	Placebo	Z	Р	Probiotic	Placebo	Z	Р
НАМА	13.83 (6.30)	14.37 (6.34)	-0.453	0.65	9.54 (5.51)	13.57 (6.16)	-2.997	0.003*
HAMD	15.97 (6.03)	16.60 (5.94)	-0.778	0.437	11.83 (5.49)	15.23 (5.56)	-2.743	0.006*
QOLIE-89	48.91 (13.37)	49.71 (13.64)	-0.006	0.995	60.29 (14.01)	51.91 (13.20)	-2.758	0.006*

"Z" indicates Mann Whitney U test. Bonferroni correction was applied to determine statistical significance. *p < 0.008.



A case study showed that seizures were controlled in a patient diagnosed with Crohn's disease and epilepsy after receiving fecal microbiota transplantation (27). Ketogenic diets have an

antiseizure effect in DRE, and the possible mechanism involves changes in microbiota, microbial interactions, and variance in neurotransmitter and neuroactive peptides levels (15, 28, 29). Probiotics has been recognized as another promising therapy in epilepsy. In an open-label study, 28.9% of patients with DRE displayed more than 50% seizure reduction following treatment with a cocktail of *L. plantarum*, *L. acidophilus*, *L. helveticus*, *L. casei*, *B. lactis*, *Streptococcus salivarius*, and *L. brevis* (16).

Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium spp. were found to have positive impacts on neurological disorders and psychological diseases (18, 30, 31). A potential therapeutic strategy for epilepsy could be given by modulating levels of Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium spp. (14). BIFICO is a cocktail probiotic capsule which consists of B. longum, L. acidophilus, and E. faecalis. In this study, we observed that supplementation with BIFICO improved seizure frequency in patients with TLE. Current studies have indicated that gut microbiotaderived metabolites and cellular components maintain brain homeostasis. Gut dysbiosis caused by any insult results in disturbance of metabolites and neurotransmitters involved in neural regulation, including 5-hydroxytryptamine, tryptophan, glutamine, gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), histamine, short-chain fatty acids, lipopolysaccharides, branched-chain amino acid, bile acids, and catecholamines (13). Abnormalities in these molecules further affect the function of glia, synaptic pruning, myelination, and the blood-brain barrier, which are closely related to seizure susceptibility (10, 13). Supplementation with probiotics may therefore restore brain homeostasis through balancing gut microbiota.

Cognitive impairment is one of several comorbidities with epilepsy. Gut dysbiosis has been found to be involved in cognitive impairment diseases. Bialecka et al. (32) showed that variance in Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes was correlated with mild cognitive impairment, dementia, and Alzheimer's disease (AD), suggesting that alterations in these phyla leading to gut dysbiosis may contribute to cognitive impairment. Probiotics might be an adjustable intervention for cognitive impairment. Razaeiasi et al. (33) observed that treatment with probiotics (L. acidophilus, B. bifidum, and B. longum) significantly improved spatial learning and memory in rats with AD. Recently, an animal study showed that bacteriotherapy attenuated seizure activity and partially improved spatial learning and memory in pentylenetetrazole-induced kindled rats (34). This may contribute to the improvement in the antioxidant/oxidant ratio and the increased level of GABA stimulated by beneficial bacterial strains in the gut microbiota (34). However, in this human study, supplementation with probiotics was not observed to significantly improve cognitive function. Maybe some individual participants showed obvious improvement on intelligence or memory, but there was no significantly statistical difference. It is necessary to expand the sample size for further analysis. In addition, in animal experiments, timely intervention may effectively prevent the occurrence of cognitive dysfunction in epilepsy, this may be due to the pathology changes in temporal lobe affecting cognition have not yet formed. However, in clinic, pathological changes related to cognitive deficit may have been existed in patients with TLE. At this stage, it is difficult to reverse the pathological changes and therefore may not improve cognitive deficit. More experiments are needed for verification in the future.

Patients with epilepsy have a higher prevalence of anxiety and depression (35). Previous studies have shown that anxiety and depression are risk factors for refractory epilepsy and have suggested a pathological association between neuropsychiatric comorbidities and uncontrolled seizures (36). This special pathological link highlights great challenges in the intervention of epilepsy-associated depression and anxiety. Recently, gut microbiota was found to be involved in the development of neuropsychiatric disorders (31, 37). Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium spp. are regarded as psychobiotics with positive impacts in patients with depression and anxiety (38, 39). In this study, we observed that measurements of anxiety, depression, and low quality of life in patients with TLE were significantly improved by supplementation with BIFICO probiotics. These changes were closely related to seizure control. We speculate that there are two possible reasons for this: first, the improvement in anxiety and depression may only contribute to seizure reduction, and second, probiotic-modulated changes in metabolism and neurotransmitters such as dopamine, serotonin, noradrenaline, and GABA may have an effect on TLE pathology (40, 41).

This study had some limitations. First, the sample size was small, and future studies are needed to expand the sample size to verify our results. Second, we conducted our research based on previous studies and did not analyze the metabolic and neurotransmitter effects of probiotics on epilepsy-associated comorbidities. In the future, more studies are needed to study the potential mechanism of the positive impact of probiotics and to build a pathological link between the gut microbiome, epilepsy, and epilepsy-associated comorbidities. Third, clinical seizures were used in this study as the observation index to evaluate whether the improvement of cognitive function and neuropsychological disorders in patients with TLE treated with probiotics were affected by seizure reduction. The impact of interictal activity was not observed in this study, which needs future studies to evaluate and discuss.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the results of this study suggested that BIFICO probiotics have a positive effect on seizure control, anxiety, depression, and quality of life in patients with TLE. This study indicated that BIFICO probiotics was beneficial to TLE patients as adjuvant therapy.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Human Research Ethics Committee of the Capital Medical University Affiliated Beijing Friendship Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

XW wrote the draft of this article. RM and XL collected and analyzed the data. YZ revised the manuscript and gave the final approval. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Sander JW. The epidemiology of epilepsy revisited. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2003) 16:165–70. doi: 10.1097/00019052-200304000-00008

2. Thijs RD, Surges R. O'brien TJ, Sander JW. Epilepsy in adults. Lancet. (2019) 393:689-701. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32596-0

3. Celiker Uslu S, Yuksel B, Tekin B, Sariahmetoglu H, Atakli D. Cognitive impairment and drug responsiveness in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2019) 90:162–7. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.10.034

4. Elsherif M, Esmael A. Hippocampal atrophy and quantitative EEG markers in mild cognitive impairment in temporal lobe epilepsy versus extra-temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurol Sci.* (2022) 43:1975–86. doi: 10.1007/s10072-021-05540-4

5. Bien CG, Elger CE. Limbic encephalitis: a cause of temporal lobe epilepsy with onset in adult life. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2007) 10:529–38. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2007.03.011

6. Sanchez-Gistau V, Sugranyes G, Bailles E, Carreno M, Donaire A, Bargallo N, et al. Is major depressive disorder specifically associated with mesial temporal sclerosis? *Epilepsia*. (2012) 53:386–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03373.x

7. Devinsky O, Vezzani A, O'brien TJ, Jette N, Scheffer IE, De Curtis M, et al. Epilepsy. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2018) 4:18024. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.24

8. Arulsamy A, Tan QY, Balasubramaniam V, O'brien TJ, Shaikh MF. Gut microbiota and epilepsy: a systematic review on their relationship and possible therapeutics. *ACS Chem Neurosci.* (2020) 11:3488–98. doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro.0c00431

9. Dahlin M, Prast-Nielsen S. The gut microbiome and epilepsy. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 44:741–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.05.024

10. Lum GR, Olson CA, Hsiao EY. Emerging roles for the intestinal microbiome in epilepsy. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2020) 135:104576. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2019.1 04576

11. Ma Q, Xing C, Long W, Wang HY, Liu Q, Wang RF. Impact of microbiota on central nervous system and neurological diseases: the gut-brain axis. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2019) 16:53. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1434-3

12. Grenham S, Clarke G, Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Brain-gutmicrobe communication in health and disease. *Front Physiol.* (2011) 2:94. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2011.00094

13. Suganya K, Koo BS. Gut-brain axis: role of gut microbiota on neurological disorders and how probiotics/prebiotics beneficially modulate

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Editage (www.editage.cn) for English language editing.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

microbial and immune pathways to improve brain functions. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:7551. doi: 10.3390/ijms21207551

14. Peng A, Qiu X, Lai W, Li W, Zhang L, Zhu X, et al. Altered composition of the gut microbiome in patients with drug-resistant epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (2018) 147:102–7. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2018.09.013

15. Xie G, Zhou Q, Qiu CZ, Dai WK, Wang HP, Li YH, et al. Ketogenic diet poses a significant effect on imbalanced gut microbiota in infants with refractory epilepsy. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2017) 23:6164–71. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i33.6164

16. Gomez-Eguilaz M, Ramon-Trapero JL, Perez-Martinez L, Blanco JR. The beneficial effect of probiotics as a supplementary treatment in drug-resistant epilepsy: a pilot study. *Benef Microbes.* (2018) 9:875–81. doi: 10.3920/BM2018.0018

17. Avorio F, Cerulli Irelli E, Morano A, Fanella M, Orlando B, Albini M, et al. Functional gastrointestinal disorders in patients with epilepsy: reciprocal influence and impact on seizure occurrence. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:705126. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.705126

18. Rinaldi E, Consonni A, Guidesi E, Elli M, Mantegazza R, Baggi F. Gut microbiota and probiotics: novel immune system modulators in myasthenia gravis? *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2018) 1413:49–58. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13567

19. Yu H, Liu L, Chang Z, Wang S, Wen B, Yin P, et al. Genome sequence of the bacterium bifidobacterium longum strain CMCC P0001, a probiotic strain used for treating gastrointestinal disease. *Genome Announc.* (2013) 1:e00716-13. doi: 10.1128/genomeA.00716-13

20. Yu HJ, Liu W, Chang Z, Shen H, He LJ, Wang SS, et al. Probiotic BIFICO cocktail ameliorates helicobacter pylori induced gastritis. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2015) 21:6561–71. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i21.6561

21. Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Fourth Edition. San Antonio, TX: Pearson. (2008). doi: 10.1037/t15169-000

22. Wechsler DW. Memory Scale-Fourth Edition. San Antonio, TX (2009).

23. Addington D, Addington J, Atkinson M. A psychometric comparison of the calgary depression scale for schizophrenia and the Hamilton depression rating scale. *Schizophr Res.* (1996) 19:205–12. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(95)00070-4

24. Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1960) 23:56–62. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.23.1.56

25. Hamilton M. The assessment of anxiety states by rating. *Br J Med Psychol.* (1959) 32:50–5. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8341.1959.tb00467.x

26. Vuong HE, Yano JM, Fung TC, Hsiao EY. The microbiome and host behavior. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2017) 40:21–49. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-072116-031347

27. He Z, Cui BT, Zhang T, Li P, Long CY, Ji GZ, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation cured epilepsy in a case with Crohn's disease: the first report. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2017) 23:3565–8. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i19.3565

28. Zhang Y, Zhou S, Zhou Y, Yu L, Zhang L, Wang Y. Altered gut microbiome composition in children with refractory epilepsy after ketogenic diet. *Epilepsy Res.* (2018) 145:163–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2018.06.015

29. Giordano C, Marchio M, Timofeeva E, Biagini G. Neuroactive peptides as putative mediators of antiepileptic ketogenic diets. *Front Neurol.* (2014) 5:63. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00063

30. Kwok LY, Wang L, Zhang J, Guo Z, Zhang H. A pilot study on the effect of Lactobacillus casei Zhang on intestinal microbiota parameters in Chinese subjects of different age. *Benef Microbes.* (2014) 5:295–304. doi: 10.3920/BM2013.0047

31. Mitrea L, Nemes S A, Szabo K, Teleky B E, Vodnar D C. Guts imbalance imbalances the brain: a review of gut microbiota association with neurological and psychiatric disorders. *Front Med.* (2022) 9:813204. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.813204

32. Bialecka-Debek A, Granda D, Szmidt MK, Zielinska D. Gut microbiota, probiotic interventions, and cognitive function in the elderly: a review of current knowledge. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:2514. doi: 10.3390/nu13082514

33. Rezaeiasl Z, Salami M, Sepehri G. The effects of probiotic lactobacillus and bifdobacterium strains on memory and learning behavior, long-term potentiation (LTP), and some biochemical parameters in beta-amyloid-induced rat's model of Alzheimer's disease. *Prev Nutr Food Sci.* (2019) 24:265–73. doi: 10.3746/pnf.2019.24.3.265

34. Bagheri S, Heydari A, Alinaghipour A, Salami M. Effect of probiotic supplementation on seizure activity and cognitive performance in PTZ-induced chemical kindling. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2019) 95:43–50. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.03.038

35. Scott A J, Sharpe L, Hunt C, Gandy M. Anxiety and depressive disorders in people with epilepsy: a meta-analysis. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:973-82. doi: 10.1111/epi.13769

36. Petrovski S, Szoeke CE, Jones NC, Salzberg MR, Sheffield LJ, Huggins RM, et al. Neuropsychiatric symptomatology predicts seizure recurrence in newly treated patients. *Neurology*. (2010) 75:1015–21. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181f25b16

37. Cenit MC, Sanz Y, Codoner-Franch P. Influence of gut microbiota on neuropsychiatric disorders. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2017) 23:5486–98. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i30.5486

38. Liu YW, Liu WH, Wu CC, Juan YC, Wu YC, Tsai HP, et al. Psychotropic effects of Lactobacillus plantarum PS128 in early life-stressed and naive adult mice. *Brain Res.* (2016) 1631:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015.11.018

39. Plamada D, Vodnar DC. Polyphenols-gut microbiota interrelationship: a transition to a new generation of prebiotics. *Nutrients.* (2021) 14:137. doi: 10.3390/nu14010137

40. Huang F, Wu X. Brain neurotransmitter modulation by gut microbiota in anxiety and depression. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2021) 9:649103. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.649103

41. Simpson CA, Diaz-Arteche C, Eliby D, Schwartz O S, Simmons J G, Cowan C S M. The gut microbiota in anxiety and depression - a systematic review. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2021) 83:101943. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101943

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yvonne Höller, University of Akureyri, Iceland

REVIEWED BY Rosa Michaelis, Ruhr University Bochum, Germany Lucas Rainer, Paracelsus Medical University, Austria

*CORRESPONDENCE Marc Petrus Hendriks marc.hendriks2@donders.ru.nl

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 15 January 2022 ACCEPTED 04 July 2022 PUBLISHED 22 July 2022

CITATION

Mücke FJ, Hendriks MP, Bien CG and Grewe P (2022) Discrepancy between subjective and objective memory change after epilepsy surgery: Relation with seizure outcome and depressive symptoms. *Front. Neurol.* **13**:855664. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.855664

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Mücke, Hendriks, Bien and Grewe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Discrepancy between subjective and objective memory change after epilepsy surgery: Relation with seizure outcome and depressive symptoms

Florian Johannes Mücke^{1,2}, Marc Petrus Hendriks^{2,3*}, Christian Günther Bien¹ and Philip Grewe^{1,4}

¹Department of Epileptology (Krankenhaus Mara), Bielefeld University, Bielefeld, Germany, ²Department of Neuropsychology and Rehabilitation Psychology, Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behavior, Radboud University Nijmegen, Nijmegen, Netherlands, ³Academic Centre of Epileptoloy, Kempenhaeghe, Heeze, Netherlands, ⁴Clinical Neuropsychology and Epilepsy Research, Medical School EWL, Bielefeld University, Bielefeld, Germany

Complaints pertaining to memory functioning are among the most often reported cognitive symptoms in patients with epilepsy. However, research suggests a considerable mismatch between patients' perception of memory functioning and the objective performance as measured with standardized neuropsychological tests. Depressive mood might be an important factor in explaining this discrepancy, though other variables have also occasionally been reported as relevant. There are mixed results as to which role these factors play in determining the overall quality of life of patients with epilepsy. The present study aimed to quantify the mismatch between subjective and objective memory functioning by taking into account the dynamic change of these factors as well as depressive symptoms after epilepsy surgery. Moreover, the influencing factors of subjective and objective memory change were investigated as well as their effects on the overall quality of life. Pre- and postoperative data from 78 patients with focal epilepsy were retrospectively analyzed. The results showed that (1) patients with clinically relevant postoperative depressive symptoms underestimate their actual memory performance; (2) for non-seizure-free patients, a postoperative decrease in depressive symptoms was associated with a tendency to underestimate memory decline; (3) the relationship between objective memory change and quality of life is mediated by the factors subjective memory change and depressive mood. Our data demonstrate a quantitative approximation of a pronounced depression-related negative biased self-perception of memory functioning of roughly 1 to 1.5 standard deviations. Moreover, it seems that when patients are relieved of having recurrent epileptic seizures, they may be less influenced by depressive symptoms when judging their memory change. Taken together, our study demonstrates the clinical relevance of incorporating subjective measures of memory functioning and mood that go beyond objective memory performance for the interpretation of how changes in memory functioning may affect patients' quality of life after epilepsy surgery.

KEYWORDS

epilepsy surgery, neuropsychology, subjective memory, verbal memory, quality of life, seizures, depressive symptoms

Introduction

In the last decades, neuropsychological research has given us extensive insights into memory functioning in patients with epilepsy (PWE) after epilepsy surgery (1). Effort has also been spent to clarify the subjective perception of memory complaints in PWE. When comparing objective and subjective memory, PWE often tend to misjudge their performances (2-9). It has been suggested that depressed mood (10-13) and psychological distress (4) are factors that might explain this discrepancy, both reflecting an inability to cope with or adjust to the condition (5).

Only a few studies considered these factors and tried to establish an integrative approach to subjective and objective memory functioning as well as psychosocial well-being in PWE over the course of the condition, especially prior to and after epilepsy surgery. In their review, Sherman and colleagues reported on three studies that measured self-reported subjective changes in cognition after epilepsy surgery. Subjective memory loss was evident in 8-20%, whereas memory gains were described in 11-52% of patients. Interestingly, objective memory decline was found in 20-44% of patients (1) suggesting a discrepancy between subjective and objective measures. In line with this, other surgical outcome studies in epilepsy cohorts only found small or no associations at all between subjective and objective memory measures and consistently suggest levels of depression as an indicator for postoperative subjective memory decline (7, 14-17). It has been argued that postoperative mood and subjective memory complaints may also be related to seizure status (14, 18) or medication side effects (14, 15). It may be reasoned that, from a clinical standpoint, subjective memory impacts the psychosocial well-being of PWE more strongly than actual cognitive functioning. Therefore, subjective memory complaints are often disregarded as an 'add-on' in neuropsychological assessment and are often considered as having an inconclusive value in the diagnostic process, because of the many potential factors they interact with.

We argue, however, that there is a substantial need to consider subjective memory complaints pre- and postoperatively since, firstly, it may have decisive value for the individual patient and his or her overall quality of life (QoL). Secondly, it provides the clinician with important additional information not only about emotional well-being but also about its interaction with the cognitive status prior to and after surgery. Thus, for counseling patients for epilepsy surgery and for further planning of psychological treatment options, it seems imperative to disentangle the relationship between subjective and objective memory performance as a function of mood and the implications of it for the overall QoL.

The present study investigated (1) the relationship between mood and pre- to postoperative subjective and objective memory functioning in PWE; (2) how the factor seizure status relates to the change of subjective and objective memory functioning and postoperative mood; (3) the relationship between objective memory change and the overall QoL. We hypothesized that (1) depressed patients do more often report subjective memory deficits (15, 17) and may also overestimate their memory decline from pre- to postoperative assessment. In contrast, there should be no major difference in objective memory performance between depressed and non-depressed patients (5, 19). We further expected that (2) seizure freedom may moderate the association between subjective memory, objective memory, and depressive symptoms (18); patients with ongoing seizures who experience a decrease in depressive symptoms might tend to underestimate their memory decline. Finally, we hypothesized that (3), QoL will not only be affected by depressive mood but by an interplay of this variable with subjective and objective memory scores (5, 20).

Materials and methods

Participants

The study included 78 patients (35 female/43 male) with focal epilepsy who underwent extensive interictal and ictal preoperative video-electroencephalography (EEG) monitoring and epilepsy surgery at the Epilepsy Center Bethel in Bielefeld, Germany (21, 22). Inclusion criteria were: (1) diagnosis of focal epilepsy confirmed by EEG, seizure semiology, and MRI findings during presurgical diagnostics (2), availability of results from standard pre- and postoperative neuropsychological assessment (including self-ratings of cognitive functioning and depressive symptoms), (3) availability of self-ratings of overall QoL at the

TABLE 1	Medical and	demographic	characteristics	of the patient
sample.				

Variables		N = 78
Sex (female)	n (%)	35 (44.9)
Age at surgery (years)	M (SD)	39.4 (13.9)
Age at epilepsy onset (years)	M (SD)	16.9 (14.0)
Duration of epilepsy (years until	M (SD)	22.3 (15.2)
surgery)		
Side of surgery (left)	n (%)	28 (35.9)
Site of surgery (non-TLE)	n (%)	22 (28.2)
Seizure outcome (Engel 1A/1B) ^{<i>a</i>}	n (%)	47 (61.8)
ASM polytherapy (>1 drug)	n (%)	
preoperative		64 (82.1)
postoperative		41 (53.2)
ADM therapy (≥ 1 drug)	n (%)	
preoperative		12 (15.4)
postoperative		14 (18.2)

TLE, temporal lobe epilepsy; M, mean; SD, standard deviation; ASM, anti-seizure medication; ADM, anti-depressive medication.

^{*a*} for three patients, outcome data were carried forward from the 6-months-follow-up assessment; for one patient, outcome was based on a 3.5-year-follow-up assessment.

24-month follow-up between February 2016 and March 2018,(4) age at examination of at least 18 years.

Resection side and type of surgical procedure were specified based on neuroradiological findings and scalp or invasive video-EEG recordings. Seizure freedom was defined as sustained seizure freedom, with or without focal aware seizures, 24 months after surgery (Engel class 1A and 1B) (23). For demographic and clinical characteristics, see Table 1. The study was carried out in compliance with the Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki). All patients gave written informed consent to participate in this study. The study protocol was approved by the local ethics committee (University of Bielefeld, Germany, no. 2016-001).

Measures

Objective memory measures

From our standard pre- and postsurgical neuropsychological test battery, we examined test results from the Verbal Learning and Memory Test (VLMT) (24), which is the German adaption of the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning and Memory Test (25). The procedure of this test has previously been described elsewhere (26). Parameters of interest in our study were learning capacity (sum of correctly remembered words throughout trial 1 to trial 5), long-term recall (number of correctly recalled words after a 30-min delay), long-term retention (number of correctly remembered words after five learning trials minus the number

of correctly remembered words after a 30-min delay), and longterm recognition (number of correctly recognized words after a 30-min delay). Scores on each variable were transformed into standardized z-scores according to the normative scores of the VLMT. We then calculated the mean of those four ztransformed variables to obtain an overall z-score indicating the overall verbal memory capacity.

Subjective cognitive measures

For the assessment of subjective cognitive functions, patients had to fill in the "Fragebogen zur geistigen Leistungsfähigkeit" (FLEI; Questionnaire for complaints of cognitive disturbances) (27). The FLEI consists of 30 items that assess everyday situations with demands on cognitive functions. Items are divided into three subscales, (i.e., attention, memory, and executive functions). For the purpose of our study, we only included data from the memory subscale (10 items; Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.92$) in our analyses. The participant has to rate each situation in terms of the frequency of experienced disturbances in each of the situations during the past 6 months. Answers are given on a five-point scale (i.e., "never," "rarely," "occasionally," "frequently," and "very frequently"). For an ad-hoc translated English version of the FLEI, the reader is referred to (4). The FLEI has been shown to reliably detect subjective cognitive complaints in patients with schizophrenia and depression relative to healthy controls (all three subscales: Cronbach's $\alpha \ge$ 0.91, $r_{split-half} \ge$ 0.87) (27). As with the objective measures, scores were z-transformed to obtain comparability.

Depressive symptoms

For the assessment of depressive symptoms, patients were asked to fill in the BDI-II (28). The German version of the BDI-II consists of 21 items (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.93$; $r_{test-retest} = 0.78$) assessing the severity of depressive symptoms (29). It has been thoroughly validated in various patient samples (30). In our study, patients with a BDI-II score below 14 were classified as clinically non-depressed, whereas patients with scores of 14 or higher were classified as having clinically relevant depressive symptoms (29).

Quality of life

For the evaluation of the QoL, patients were asked to fill in the German version of the "Quality of life in epilepsy" questionnaire (QOLIE-31) (31, 32). The QOLIE-31 includes 31 items assessing QoL in PWE. It is an often-used instrument that has been validated in various patient populations and translated into many different languages (33–35). The overall total score-subscale of the QOLIE-31 includes several items on cognition and emotional well-being. As one might expect high intercorrelations between these items and the self-rating instruments of our study (i.e., BDI-II, FLEI), we did not analyze the overall total score-subscale to prevent redundancy caused by these intercorrelations. Rather, we aimed to detect the specific contributions of objective memory, subjective memory, depression, and QoL, by only analyzing data from the overall QoL scale, which comprises two items asking patients only about their overall QoL ($\alpha = 0.79$; r_{test-retest} = 0.84).

Data analysis

To analyze pre- to postoperative change in subjective vs. objective memory in dependance of depressive symptoms, we performed repeated-measures analyses of variance (ANOVA) using depressive symptoms ("depressed" vs. "non-depressed") and measure (objective vs. subjective) as between-subject factors and time (pre vs. post) as within-subject factor. The mean z-score of all VLMT variables was computed to serve as the dependent variable.

To determine the role of seizure frequency in the pre- to postoperative change of subjective and objective memory as well as depressive symptoms, we first computed change scores (i.e., z-scorepost minus z-scorepre) of the factors subjective and objective memory as well as depressive symptoms. A statistically significant change was based on reliable change indices with 90% confidence intervals. We then calculated the difference between the variables subjective and objective memory change (i.e., subjective minus objective) to get an indicator for the discrepancy between subjective and objective scores. This difference served as a measure of the extent of overor underestimation of memory change in relation to objective memory change; negative values represent overestimation, whereas positive values represent an underestimation of memory decline, respectively; values near zero represent an adequate estimation of memory change. Subsequently, we calculated Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients between the discrepancy of subjective vs. objective memory change on the one hand, and change of depressive symptoms, on the other hand separately for seizure-free and non-seizurefree patients.

For our third research question, we performed a serial mediation analysis (36, 37) to model the relationship between memory decline and QoL and the mediating influence of the two variables subjective memory change and depressive symptoms. Memory decline was calculated as a dichotomous variable (i.e., decline vs. no decline); a decline of memory functions was defined for change scores ≤ 3 (i.e., raw score_{post} minus raw score_{pre} ≤ 3) for the long-term recall of the VLMT corresponding to a statistically significant change based on the 90%-reliable change index (24). Both mediator variables, namely subjective memory change and depressive symptoms represented z-scores. QoL-scores represented raw scores of the overall QoL scale from the QOLIE-31.

Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS Statistics 25 (IBM, Chicago, USA). The serial multiple mediation analysis was conducted using the PROCESS macro for SPSS, Version 5.5.3 (36, 37). Figures were produced using Matlab R2020a (The Mathworks, Natick, USA) and Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, USA).

Results

In the following sections, we report the results of the abovementioned analyses with respect to the three research questions outlined in the introduction of this paper. For an overview of means and standard deviations of all outcome variables at preand postoperative assessment, the reader is referred to Table 2.

Memory and depressive symptoms

The repeated measures ANOVA for the pre- to postoperative comparisons of patients' memory performance (measure: objective vs. subjective) as well as their postoperative depressive symptoms ("depressed" vs. "non-depressed") revealed significant main effects for both between-subject factors: measure $[F_{(1, 133)} = 11.752, p = 0.001, eta^2 = 0.081;$ objective memory > subjective memory] and depressive symptoms $[F_{(1, 133)} = 20.887, p < 0.001, eta^2 = 0.136; non-depressed >$ depressed]. Furthermore, an interaction effect between these two factors $[F_{(1, 133)} = 14.695, p < 0.001, eta^2 = 0.099]$ was found, showing significantly lower subjective memory scores than objective test results for only the "depressed" patient group but not for the "non-depressed" group. Figure 1 illustrates the pre- to postoperative change of subjective and objective memory scores as a function of depressive symptoms. Furthermore, a significant interaction effect between time and depressive symptoms was found $[F_{(1, 133)} = 8.134, p = 0.005, eta^2 = 0.058]$ indicating a significant decrease in depressive symptoms from pre- to postoperative assessment. The three-way interaction between time, depressive symptoms and measure was not significant $[F_{(1, 133)} = 2.529, p = 0.114]$. However, there was a tendency for the "depressed" patient group to indicate a negative change and underestimation of memory functions, while "non-depressed" patients tended to indicate a positive change in memory functioning whilst objective memory scores remained relatively stable.

Memory, depressive symptoms, and seizure status

Seizure-free patients reported higher BDI-II change scores (i.e., decrease of depressive symptoms) as compared to patients with persisting seizures [$t_{(58)} = 2.43$, p = 0.018; Figure 2].

Parameter	Pre		Post			Diff.			
	Total	Depr	Non-depr	Total	Depr	Non-depr	Total	Depr	Non-depr
Subjective memory	-0.47^{63}	-1.29^{13}	-0.26^{50}	-0.27	-1.99	0.18	0.21	-0.70	0.44
(FLEI)	(0.15)	(0.33)	(0.16)	(0.20)	(0.50)	(0.18)	(0.19)	(0.39)	(0.21)
Objective memory	-0.23^{74}	-0.22^{15}	-0.24^{59}	-0.05	-0.30	0.01	0.18	-0.08	0.24
(VLMT)	(0.10)	(0.29)	(0.10)	(0.11)	(.28)	(0.12)	(0.11)	(0.23)	(0.12)
Depressive Symptoms	-0.45^{60}	-1.14^{12}	0.28^{48}	-0.06	-1.87	0.40	0.39	-0.73	0.67
(BDI-II)	(0.15)	(0.35)	(0.15)	(0.14)	(0.15)	(0.09)	(0.15)	(0.32)	(0.15)
Quality of life	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	72.26 ⁷³	54.6414	76.44 ⁵⁹	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
(QOLIE-31)				(20.27)	(28.27)	(15.43)			

TABLE 2 Pre- and postoperative mean outcomes and mean differences in subjective and objective memory performance as well as severity of depressive symptoms and quality of life.

Means and standard deviations are given in standardized z-scores, except for the QOLIE that is presented in raw scores. Standard deviations appear in parentheses. Superscript numbers represent the observed n of the respective variable and group (applies to pre- as well as post-operative data). FLEI, Fragebogen zur geistigen Leistungsfähigkeit (Questionnaire for complaints of cognitive disturbances); VLMT, Verbal Learning and Memory Test; BDI-II, Beck Depression Inventory; QOLIE, Quality of life in epilepsy questionnaire; Pre, preoperative assessment; Post, postoperative assessment; Diff., difference (Post – Pre); depr, depressed.



Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients were computed to assess the relationship between the discrepancy of subjective vs. objective memory change on the one hand and change of depressive symptoms on the other hand. For the whole patient group, there was a moderate significant positive correlation between the two factors discrepancy and change in depressive symptoms (r = 0.369, p = 0.004) suggesting that a decrease in depressive symptoms was associated with a greater tendency to underestimate memory decline. Splitting the group based on seizure outcome, the positive correlation between the factors discrepancy and change in depressive symptoms was only found in the non-seizure-free group (r = 0.476, p = 0.040), while for the seizure-free patients, this correlation was not significant (r = 0.221, p = 0.176, Figure 3).

Memory, depressive symptoms, and quality of life

Results from the serial mediation analysis indicated an indirect relationship between objective memory change and QoL through the two factors subjective memory change and depressive symptoms. In detail, as depicted in Figure 4, a deterioration in objective memory performance from preto postoperative assessment was associated with a subjective memory decline (a1 = -1.24, p = 0.012). This subjective memory decline was subsequently related to an increase in depressive symptoms (d = 0.29, p = 0.004), which on the other hand was related to a lower QoL (b2 = 10.51, p < 0.001). A 95% bias-corrected confidence interval based on 10,000 bootstrap samples indicated that this indirect effect through subjective



memory change and depressive symptoms (a1 – d – b2 = -3.79) was entirely different from zero (95%- CI: [-9.36, -0.47]). In contrast, the indirect separate effects through both subjective memory change on QoL (a1 – b1), and depressive symptoms on QoL (a2 – b2), respectively, were not different from zero (-8.05 to 2.21 and -19.07 to 1.82, respectively; see Figure 4 for the associated effects). Since the total effect was significant (c = -16.08, p = 0.016) while the direct effect of objective memory change on QoL (c' = -3.90, p = 0.468) was non-significant, the relationship between verbal memory change and QoL is fully mediated through subjective memory change and depressive symptoms.

Discussion

As a new approach, the present study investigated the mismatch between subjective and objective memory by taking into account the dynamic change in memory functioning as well as depressive symptoms after epilepsy surgery. Firstly, we found that patients with postoperative clinically relevant depressive symptoms were likely to underestimate memory performance. Secondly, for the postoperatively non-seizure-free patients, a postoperative decrease in depressive symptoms was associated with a tendency to underestimate memory decline. Thirdly, the relationship between objective memory change and QoL was mediated by the perception of memory change and depressive symptoms.

Discrepancy between subjective and objective memory after epilepsy surgery

Despite the relevance of memory functioning in the context of epilepsy surgery, only a few studies investigated the change of subjective vs. objective memory functioning from pre- to postoperative time points. Critically, previous research has predominantly reported correlational evidence for an association between the judgment of memory functioning and emotional well-being or depressive symptoms (16, 17). For the first time, by only analyzing standardized values for both subjective and objective memory scores, we are able to report a quantitative measurement of this discrepancy that goes beyond correlational estimates. It shows a depression-related negative biased self-perception of memory functioning of roughly 1 to 1.5 standard deviations, which appears to be enormous considering the lack of such a bias in "non-depressed" patients. Our finding that clinically "depressed" patients underestimate their memory functions and tend to overestimate memory decline underlines the factor mood as crucial in the judgment of cognitive functioning. This is in line with our first hypothesis and other studies that identified psychopathological variables as crucial in explaining the discrepancy between objective test results and subjective judgments of memory functioning in PWE (4, 10-12). At the same time, this finding clearly indicates that patients' perceptions of memory functioning can be quite accurate in the absence of depressive symptoms. Taken together, our results, for the first time, offer a quantitative approximation of the previously reported mismatch between the perception and the objective performance of memory functioning from pre- to postsurgical assessment in PWE.

Since the nature of a neuropsychological examination in the epilepsy surgery setting (i.e., the assessment of patients at different time points before and after surgical intervention) allows for comparisons of change in specific symptoms or cognitive functions, we can appreciate the data in a dynamic way. By comparing standardized change scores, we found that patients with a decrease in postoperative depressive symptoms tend to underestimate their memory decline. Interestingly, this was only true for the non-seizure-free patients. Therefore, it seems that when patients are relieved of their burdens of having recurrent epileptic seizures, they may be less influenced by depressive symptoms when judging their memory changes in daily life. This matches previous findings demonstrating a subjectively reported relief from anxiety and worries in patients after epilepsy surgery (38, 39). Insofar, our results may be interpreted as a "honeymoon-" or "relief-effect" of seizure freedom and certainly add to the hypothesis that the positive



Inventory.



as 1 and no decline as 0; b_n is the effect of mediators on QoL; c is the total effect of objective memory change on QoL; c' is the direct effect of objective memory change on QoL; c' is the direct effect of objective memory change on QoL; c' is the direct effect of subjective memory change on QoL; c' is the effect of subjective memory change on MoL; c' is the effect of subjective memory change on

effects of seizure freedom might even compensate for objective memory deficits (18). Interestingly, these effects are not only present at a specific pre- or postoperative timepoint but seem also to occur as a function of time in the two-year interval from pre- to postoperative assessment. In other words, patients – if seizure-free – do not seem to solely consider their current state when asked about their memory functions but are also able to perceive their change of memory functioning in a specific timeframe.

Furthermore, we found evidence for an association between a change in objective memory functioning and overall QoL after epilepsy surgery. This association was mediated by subjective memory change and depressive symptoms. More specifically, a decline in memory functioning was associated with a decreased QoL, but only when the perception of this decline led to an increase in depressive symptoms. When considering influencing factors of QoL after epilepsy surgery (20), the relationship between neuropsychological variables and QoL has mostly been described as nonexistent (40–42) or was only found in patients with continuing seizures (43). Analyzing different subjective factors in a comprehensive model allows for an explanation or specification of these earlier findings by highlighting the specific mechanisms underlying the association between objective memory change and QoL.

Our results, from a neuropsychological standpoint, suggest that for understanding the relevance of the impact of subjective memory change on the course of the disease and patients' QoL, as well as for the planning of treatment options, it is crucial to consider both, subjective memory functioning and depressive symptoms in the pre- and postsurgical evaluation of PWE. Since we found a strong concordance between subjective and objective memory functioning in the absence of depressive symptoms, the use of standardized memory questionnaires and norm scores (e.g., z-scores), in this case, may serve as a good estimate for memory functioning and, at the same time, allows for comparisons among different measures and time points. Furthermore, the availability of subjective data may help professionals to better recognize individual needs and worries with regard to changes after surgery, eventually leading to more patientcentered care and individualized presurgical counseling and risk assessment (44, 45). We, therefore, recommend the consideration of these variables both when interpreting neuropsychological results, for pre- and postoperative counseling and informing of patients, and for the individualized planning of psychological treatment options after surgery, e.g., guided by evidence-based intervention protocols, such as the HOBSCOTCH program (46). Finally, by considering the change in subjective memory functions and depressive symptoms, we have established a clear impact of objective memory performance on the QoL, which, at least from a patient's perspective, further underlines the clinical significance of self-rating instruments.

Limitations and strengths

First, our patient sample was quite heterogeneous in terms of focus localization and lateralization. This may lead to decreased comparability of our results with results from other studies. On the other hand, we previously found that pertaining to frontal and temporal lobe epilepsies, patients with frontal lobe resections show a verbal memory decline that is, at least in some cases, comparable to memory loss after temporal lobe resections (26). This highlights the relevance of monitoring memory changes in patients with extra temporal lobe epilepsy, especially since this patient group becomes more important in the presurgical setting (22). Moreover, one might argue that subjective memory complaints may also pertain to autobiographical (explicit) memory deficits, or figural memory deficits while the VLMT and FLEI aim to assess verbal memory (generally processed by the left hemisphere). Therefore, it would be interesting to examine whether our results also hold true for memory functions processed more prominently by the right hemisphere. Interestingly, we found that when exploratively including the factor lateralization of epileptic focus in our repeated-measures ANOVA, the main effect of lateralization becomes significant (p = 0.026, $eta^2 =$ 0.038) while the interaction between lateralization and measure does not become significant (p = 0.267). We would like to stress, however that these effects should be interpreted with caution, since including this factor in our analysis led to small subgroups and small statistical power resulting in limited generalizability of these findings. Secondly, it has to be stressed that by assessing depressive symptoms with the BDI-II, we cannot infer a psychiatric comorbidity (29). However, this was not our primary aim; we were more interested in the quantitative degree of subjectively perceived depressive symptoms regardless of formal diagnostic boundaries. It would still be interesting to know whether PWE with high scores on the BDI-II also meet the criteria for a depressive mood disorder since this would have important treatment implications because of the clear effects on other health-related factors. Therefore, future studies should strive to investigate whether our results also apply to PWE that were diagnosed with a depressive mood disorder based on standardized assessments. Thirdly, because of the retrospective design of our study, QoL data was only available from postoperative assessment. Hence, we cannot be sure whether our patient sample experienced an overall improvement in QoL from pre- to postoperative assessment, as has been shown in other studies, at least for seizure-free patients (20, 47). It would have been interesting to compare the amount of QoL change in relation to subjective and objective memory change. Finally, one could argue that, since subjective memory, QoL, and depressive mood are related constructs, assessment of these factors by self-rating instruments (i.e., BDI-II, FLEI, QOLIE-31) would naturally yield high intercorrelations with the effect of causing the above-mentioned results. To

address this issue, we did not analyze the merged scores of all subscales of these instruments, but we intended to measure only the most relevant and specific aspects of these constructs to prevent redundancy and shared variance caused by these intercorrelations (see Sections Objective Memory Measures, Subjective Cognitive Measures, Depressive Symptoms, Quality of Life).

We think that the appreciation of our data in a dynamic timeframe (i.e., change of symptoms in contrast to presence/absence of symptoms) is a strength of our study and represents a more realistic way of mirroring the course of symptoms or a disease. Our aim was to develop a comprehensive model of memory changes following epilepsy surgery beyond the incorporation of standard factors and analyses. By this means, and by computing standardized change and discrepancy scores, we were able to present data in a flexible and appealing manner to better understand the impact of epilepsy surgery on a subjective level. For example, with this approach, we could quantify the discrepancy between objective and subjective memory, which goes beyond reporting standard correlational data. Future studies should adapt this approach and include other factors of cognitive functioning as well. In addition, future studies should compare patients' progress of (subjective) memory and QoL change with a control group and establish criteria for clinically meaningful change.

Conclusion

Due to changes in epilepsy-related factors, such as fluctuations in seizure frequency, or cognitive changes after epilepsy surgery, epilepsy as a condition is characterized by dynamic changes in symptomatology in the course of the disease. Therefore, it is necessary to study and comprehend these alterations accordingly. By implementing a dynamic approach, we demonstrated a pronounced depression-related discrepancy between subjective and objective memory by showing a negative biased self-perception of memory change after epilepsy surgery. Considering the lack of such a bias in "non-clinically depressed" patients, it reflects the factor mood as crucial in the evaluation of pre- and postoperative cognitive functioning in PWE. Moreover, postoperatively "non-clinically depressed" patients tended to underestimate their memory decline, but only when they were seizure-free after surgery, possibly indicating a reliefeffect of seizure freedom. Finally, we found evidence for an association between objective memory change and overall QoL after epilepsy surgery, which was mediated by subjective memory change and depressive symptoms, highlighting mood and memory functioning as crucial factors in the pre- and postsurgical evaluation of PWE. Based on these findings, we plead for the broader consideration of standardized self-rating instruments, even in longitudinal observations of non-surgical patients, with the goal of better interpreting crucial changes in the course of the disease and how these changes may affect patients' QoL.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Local Ethics Committee of University of Bielefeld, Germany, no. 2016-001. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

FM and PG contributed to conception and design of the study, organized the database, performed the statistical analyses, and generated/ prepared the figures. FM wrote the first draft of the manuscript. PG wrote sections of the manuscript. FM, PG, CB, and MH contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

PG holds a Junior-Professorship at the Bielefeld University endowed by the von Bodelschwinghsche Stiftungen Bethel. The funding source did not have any influence on the study's design, data collection, analyses, interpretation, manuscript preparation, and submission.

Acknowledgments

We thank Jutta Potthoff and Merisa Ferati for their support with data collection.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Sherman EMS, Wiebe S, Fay-Mcclymont TB, Tellez-Zenteno J, Metcalfe A, Hernandez-Ronquillo L, et al. Neuropsychological outcomes after epilepsy surgery: systematic review and pooled estimates. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52:857–69. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03022.x

2. Baxendale S, Thompson P. Defining meaningful postoperative change in epilepsy surgery patients: measuring the unmeasurable? *Epilepsy Behav.* (2005) 6:207–11. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2004.12.009

3. Galioto R, Blum AS, Tremont G. Subjective cognitive complaints versus objective neuropsychological performance in older adults with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2015) 51:48–52. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.06.035

4. Grewe P, Nikstat A, Koch O, Koch-Stoecker S, Bien CG. Subjective memory complaints in patients with epilepsy: the role of depression, psychological distress, and attentional functions. *Epilepsy Res.* (2016) 127:78–86. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2016.08.022

5. Hall KE, Isaac CL, Harris P. Memory complaints in epilepsy: An accurate reflection of memory impairment or an indicator of poor adjustment? A Review of the literature. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2009) 29:354–67. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2009.03.001

6. Helmstaedter C, Elger CE. Behavioral markers for self- and other-attribution of memory : a study in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy and healthy volunteers. *Epilepsy Res.* (2000) 41:235–43. doi: 10.1016/S0920-1211(00)00148-0

7. Lineweaver TT, Naugle RI, Cafaro AM, Bingaman W, Lüders HO. Patients' perceptions of memory functioning before and after surgical intervention to treat medically refractory epilepsy. *Epilepsia.* (2004) 45:1604–12. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.54503.x

8. Vermeulen J, Aldenkamp AP, Alpherts WCJ. Memory complaints in epilepsy: correlations with cognitive performance and neuroticism. *Epilepsy Res.* (1993) 15:157–70. doi: 10.1016/0920-1211(93)90096-P

9. Hendriks MPH, Aldenkamp AP, van der Vlugt H, Alpherts WCJ, Vermeulen J. Memory complaints in medically refractory epilepsy: relationship to epilepsyrelated factors. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2002) 3:165–72. doi: 10.1006/ebeh.2002.0320

10. Au A, Leung P, Kwok A, Li P, Lui C, Chan J. Subjective memory and mood of Hong Kong Chinese adults with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2006) 9:68–72. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2006.04.004

11. Giovagnoli AR. Awareness, overestimation, and underestimation of cognitive functions in epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2013) 26:75–80. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2012.11.001

12. Liik M, Vahter L. Gross-paju K, Haldre S. Subjective complaints compared to the results of neuropsychological assessment in patients with epilepsy : the influence of comorbid depression. *Epilepsy Res.* (2009) 84:194–200. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2009.02.006

13. Rayner G, Wrench JM, Wilson SJ. Differential contributions of objective memory and mood to subjective memory complaints in refractory focal epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2010) 19:359–64. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.07.019

14. Sawrie SM, Martin RC, Kuzniecky R, Faught E, Morawetz R, Jamil F, et al. Subjective versus objective memory change after temporal lobe epilepsy surgery. *Neurology.* (1999) 53:1495–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.53.7.1511

15. Huang CW, Hayman-Abello B, Hayman-Abello S, Derry P, McLachlan RS. Subjective memory evaluation before and after temporal lobe epilepsy surgery. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:11–4. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093382

16. Gorny I, Mross PM, Biermann L, Krause K, Habermehl L, A. comparison of subjective and objective memory deficits in patients with epilepsy pre- and post-surgery. *Front Neurol Neurosci Res.* (2021) 2:1–8. doi: 10.51956/ANNR.100005

17. Zimmermann N, Castro-Pontes M, Barqueta R, Goes P, Mufarrej G, D'Andrea Meira I, et al. Self-awareness and underestimation of cognitive abilities in patients with adult temporal lobe epilepsy after surgical treatment. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 112:7463. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107463

18. Grewe P, Schulz R, Woermann FG, Brandt C, Doll A, Hoppe M, et al. Very long-term outcome in resected and non-resected patients with temporal lobe epilepsy with medial temporal lobe sclerosis: a multiple case-study. *Seizure*. (2019) 67:30–7. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2019.02.015

19. Elixhauser A, Leidy NK, Meador K, Means E, Willian MK. The relationship between memory performance, perceived cognitive function, and mood in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (1999) 37:13–24. doi: 10.1016/S0920-1211(99)00036-4

20. Jones JE, Hanson M. Quality-of-life outcomes in adults following epilepsy surgery. In: Malmgren K, Baxendale S, Cross JH, editors. *Long-Term Outcomes of Epilepsy Surgery in Adults and Children*. Springer International Publishing (2015). p. 165–192 doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-17783-0

21. Grewe P, Siedersleben C, Bien CG. Epilepsy center Bethel, Bielefeld, Germany. Epilepsy Behav. (2017) 76:17–20. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.07.023

22. Cloppenborg T, May TW, Blümcke I, Grewe P, Hopf LJ, Kalbhenn T, et al. Trends in epilepsy surgery: stable surgical numbers despite increasing presurgical volumes. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2016) 87:1322–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-313831

23. Engel JJ, Rasmussen TB. Outcome with respect to epileptic seizures. In: Engel JJ, editor. *Surgical treatment of the epilepsies*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (1993). p. 609–622

24. Helmstaedter C, Lendt M, Lux S. VLMT: Verbaler Lern- und Merkfähigkeitstest, Manual. Göttingen: Beltz Test GmbH. (2001).

25. Schmidt M. Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test: RAVLT: A Handbook. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services (1996).

26. Bremm FJ, Hendriks MPH, Bien CG, Grewe P. Pre- and postoperative verbal memory and executive functioning in frontal versus temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2019) 101:6538. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.106538

27. Beblo T, Kunz M, Brokate B, Scheurich A, Weber B, Albert A, et al. Entwicklung eines fragebogens zur subjektiven einschätzung der geistigen leistungsfähigkeit (FLei) bei patienten mit psychischen störungen. Zeitschrift fur Neuropsychol. (2010) 21:143–51. doi: 10.1024/1016-264X/a000013

28. Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown GK. *Manual for the Beck Depression Inventory-II*. San Antonio: TX: Psychological Corporation (1996).

29. Hautzinger M, Keller F, Kühner C. *Beck Depressions Inventar Revision Manual*. Frankfurt: Harcourt Test Services (2006). Available online at: http://www.pearsonassessment.de/out/pictures/media/366501.pdf

30. Keller F, Hautzinger M, Kühner C. Zur faktoriellen struktur des Deutschsprachigen BDI-II. Z Klin Psychol Psychother. (2008) 37:245–54. doi: 10.1026/1616-3443.37.4.245

31. Cramer JA, Perrine K, Devinsky O, Bryant-Comstock L, Meador K, Hermann B. Development and cross-cultural translations of a 31-item quality of life in epilepsy inventory. *Epilepsia.* (1998) 39:81–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1998.tb01278.x

32. May TW, Pfa M, Cramer JA. Psychometric properties of the german translation of the QOLIE-31. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2001) 2:106–14. doi: 10.1006/ebeh.2001.0170

33. Borghs S. de la Loge C, Cramer JA. Defining minimally important change in QOLIE-31 scores: Estimates from three placebo-controlled lacosamide trials in patients with partial-onset seizures. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2012) 23:230–4. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.12.023

34. Mollaoglu M, Durna Z, Bolayir E. Validity and reliability of the quality of life in epilepsy inventory (QOLIE-31) for turkey. *Noropsikiyatri Ars.* (2015) 52:289–95. doi: 10.5152/npa.2015.8727

35. Cramer JA, Van Hammée G. Maintenance of improvement in health-related quality of life during long-term treatment with levetiracetam. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2003) 4:118–23. doi: 10.1016/S1525-5050(03)00004-0

36. Hayes AF. Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis, Second Edition: A Regression-Based Approach. New York: Guilford Press (2013).

37. Kane L, Ashbaugh AR. Simple and parallel mediation: A tutorial exploring anxiety sensitivity, sensation seeking, and gender. *Quant Methods Psychol.* (2017) 13:148–65. doi: 10.20982/tqmp.13.3.p148

38. Ljunggren S, Winblad S, Hällgren U, Malmgren K, Ozanne A. Experiences of emotional and psychosocial functioning after frontal lobe resection for epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2021) 121:108077. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.108077

 Ozanne A, Graneheim UH, Ekstedt G, Malmgren K. Patients' expectations and experiences of epilepsy surgery — A population-based long-term qualitative study. *Epilepsia*. (2016) 57:605–11. doi: 10.1111/epi.13333

40. Helmstaedter C, Kurthen M, Lux S, Reuber M, Elger CE. Chronic epilepsy and cognition: a longitudinal study in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Ann Neurol.* (2003) 54:425–32. doi: 10.1002/ana.10692

41. Buschmann F, Wagner K, Metternich B, Biethahn S, Zentner J, Schulze-Bonhage A. The impact of extratemporal epilepsy surgery on quality of life. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2009) 15:166–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2009.02.041

42. Spencer SS, Berg AT, Vickrey BG, Sperling MR, Bazil CW, Haut S, et al. Health-related quality of life over time since resective epilepsy surgery. *Ann Neurol.* (2007) 62:327–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.21131

43. Langfitt JT, Westerveld M, Hamberger MJ, Walczak TS, Cicchetti D V, Berg AT, et al. Worsening of quality of life after epilepsy surgery: Effect of seizures and memory decline. *Neurology.* (2007) 68:1988–94. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000264000.11 511.30

44. Coleman H, Mcintosh A, Wilson SJ, A. patient-centered approach to understanding long-term psychosocial adjustment and meaning-making, 15 to 20 years after epilepsy surgery. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 102:106656. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.201 9.106656 45. Macrodimitris S, Sherman EMS, Williams TS, Bigras C, Wiebe S. Measuring patient satisfaction following epilepsy surgery. *Epilepsia.* (2011) 52:1409–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03160.x

46. Caller TA, Ferguson RJ, Roth RM, Secore KL, Alexandre FP, Zhao W, et al. A cognitive behavioral intervention (HOBSCOTCH) improves quality of life and attention in epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 57:111–7. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.01.024

47. Jacoby A, Baker GA. Quality-of-life trajectories in epilepsy: a review of the literature. *Epilepsy Behav*. (2008) 12:557–71. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2007.11.013

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yvonne Höller, University of Akureyri, Iceland

REVIEWED BY

Alexander Dressel, Hospital Carl-Thiem-Klinikum Cottbus, Germany Damir Janigro, Case Western Reserve University, United States Seher Naz Yeni, Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Turkey

*CORRESPONDENCE Xihai Xu 2xhai@163.com Yu Wang wangyu18b@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 09 June 2022 ACCEPTED 03 October 2022 PUBLISHED 20 October 2022

CITATION

Li H, Yang Y, Hu M, Cao X, Ding C, Sun Q, Li R, Liu R, Xu X and Wang Y (2022) The correlation of temporal changes of neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio with seizure severity and the following seizure tendency in patients with epilepsy. *Front. Neurol.* 13:964923. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.964923

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Li, Yang, Hu, Cao, Ding, Sun, Li, Liu, Xu and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The correlation of temporal changes of neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio with seizure severity and the following seizure tendency in patients with epilepsy

Hanli Li^{1†}, Yujing Yang^{1†}, Mingwei Hu^{1†}, Xiaoyan Cao^{1†}, Chuhan Ding¹, Qibing Sun¹, Ran Li¹, Ruonan Liu², Xihai Xu^{2*} and Yu Wang^{1*}

¹Department of Neurology, Epilepsy and Headache Group, The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China, ²Department of Health Management Center, The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China

Background: Changes in the neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) has been reported to be associated with epilepsy. Here we aim to investigate the correlation of temporal changes of NLR level with seizure severity and the follow-up seizure attacks in patients with epilepsy (PWE).

Methods: We performed a retrospective analysis of the laboratory data including leukocyte count and NLR within 24 h of acute seizure and during the follow-up period of 5–14 days after acute seizure (NLR1, NLR2, respectively) in 115 PWE, and 98 healthy individuals were included as controls in this study. The correlation of laboratory data with seizure types, etiology of epilepsy, anti-seizure drugs (ASDs), seizure severity, and the follow-up seizure attacks in PWE was studied.

Results: Leukocyte count (P < 0.001) and NLR level (P < 0.001) were found significantly different between PWE and controls. On the other hand, a multivariable logistic regression analysis showed that NLR1 level (OR = 2.992, P = 0.001) and admission leukocyte (OR = 2.307, P = 0.002) were both independently associated with acute epileptic seizures. Especially, higher NLR1 level was significantly associated with status epileptics (P = 0.013) and recurrent seizures after admission (P < 0.001). Furthermore, the multivariable logistic regression analysis indicated that higher NLR1 was a predictor for the tendency of the following recurrent seizure attacks (OR = 1.144, P = 0.002). NLR2 was inversely correlated with ASDs taken (P = 0.011). Levels of NLR1 (r = 0.441, P < 0.001) and NLR2 (r = 0.241, P = 0.009) were both positively correlated with seizure severity.

Conclusions: Seizures were correlated with the alterations of systemic inflammation reflected by leukocyte and NLR. NLR1 and admission leukocyte were both independently associated with acute epileptic seizures. Higher NLR1 was associated with status epilepticus and independently predicted the

tendency of the following epileptic seizures. NLR2 was significantly associated with ASDs taken. Besides, NLR may be used as a biomarker for seizure severity.

KEYWORDS

neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, inflammation, seizure severity, recurrent seizure attacks, status epilepticus

Introduction

As a chronic neurological disorder, epilepsy affects over 70 million people in the world and imposes a substantial burden on individuals and society (1). It has been found that seizures can significantly impair the quality of human life and this influence depends on the severity of seizures (2). People with epilepsy visit the emergency room more frequently than the general population, with 22% of children and 13% of adults with epilepsy visiting the emergency room each year (3). Acute seizures have long been known to cause higher early mortality in patients with epilepsy (PWE) (4), though a recent report on a more direct and absolute measure of life expectancy has shown that life expectancy is reduced in symptomatic epilepsies, but, prolonged in other subgroups of epilepsies (5). On the other hand, mortality-related sudden unexpected death in epilepsy (SUDEP) can occur immediately during or after a tonic-clonic seizure (6) and it has been shown to be related to the severity of epilepsy (7, 8). Hence, it is necessary to identify possible biomarkers to help predict or mark the development of epilepsy as well as the associated seizure severity for early intervention.

Multiple evidences have indicated the correlation between neuroinflammation and epilepsy. Epileptic seizures provoke neuroinflammation which reciprocally facilitates epileptic seizures (9–12). For example, seizures trigger an increase in pro-inflammatory mediators including COX-2, IL-1 β , IL-6, HMGB1, TNF- α and chemokines, which in turn exacerbate epilepsy development (13). Furthermore, neuroinflammation has been shown to contribute to the onset and recurrence of epileptic seizures by lowering its threshold (14). The association of systemic inflammation with epilepsy has also been established (15, 16). Additionally, anti-inflammatory therapy has seizuresuppressing effect (17), such as glucocorticosteroids, an inflammation inhibitor, has significant effect in treating epilepsy of non-inflammatory etiology (18).

Neutrophil–lymphocyte ratio (NLR), which is calculated directly from the complete blood cell count, has been established as a biomarker for systemic inflammation. In previous studies, a relationship between increased level of NLR and central nervous system (CNS) diseases, such as neurodegenerative and cerebrovascular diseases, has been established (19–22). The association of NLR level with epilepsy has been investigated in several studies (23, 24). However, it is still unclear of the

relationship of NLR with either the severity of acute seizure or the recurrence of follow-up seizures in PWE. In this study, the association of NLR with the acute seizure severity and the follow-up seizure attacks in PWE will be studied. Besides, the association of temporal changes of NLR level after an acute seizure attack with seizure type, etiology of epilepsy, anti-seizure drugs (ASDs) and status epilepticus (SE) will also be investigated in this study.

Materials and methods

Study population

We conducted a retrospective cohort study of PWE in the Department of Neurology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University from November 2017 to March 2022. This retrospective study was approved by the institutional review board. All PWE were diagnosed according to the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) guideline (25). The inclusion and exclusion criteria were shown in Table 1. The inclusion criteria for PWE were: ≥ 16 years in age, admission for an acute epileptic seizure and availability of a complete blood count with laboratory data at admission (within 24 h of acute seizure) and during the follow-up period of 5–14 days after admission. We excluded patients who had a concurrent or recent infection

TABLE 1 The inclusion and exclusion criteria of patients with epilepsy.

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria A concurrent or recent infection;				
• Diagnosis of epilepsy according					
to the ILAE criteria;	• An acute or subacute traumatic brain				
• Age ≥ 16 years;	injury;				
• Admission for an acute epileptic	• An acute or subacute of				
seizure;	cerebrovascular disease;				
• Availability of a complete blood	• A recent myocardial infarction;				
count with differential	• Hematological disease;				
laboratory data at admission and	• Malignancy;				
during follow-up period of 5–14	• Severe liver or kidney disease;				
days after admission.	• Pregnant;				
	• Receiving				
	immunomodulatory therapy.				

PWE, patients with epilepsy.

which was active within 2 weeks before admission including local and systemic infection, such as lung infection, urinary tract infection, and endocarditis. At the same time, acute or subacute traumatic brain injury, acute or subacute cerebrovascular disease within 2 weeks, recent myocardial infarction within 3 months before the study, hematologic diseases, malignancy, and severe liver and kidney diseases were excluded. In addition, patients who were pregnant or receiving immunomodulatory therapy were not included. SE was defined as a seizure lasting \geq 30 min, generalized convulsive SE was defined as (1) seizure duration \geq 5 min or two or (2) more discrete seizures with incomplete recovery of consciousness between seizures (25). Epilepsy diagnosed for the first time with first prescription of ASDs on admission was defined as newly diagnosed epilepsy (26). Finally, 115 PWE were included in the study.

A total of 500 healthy individuals were selected based on previous health examination records, among which 98 cases were randomly selected as controls. The control group and PWE group were matched in gender and age.

Data collection and outcome measures

The laboratory data and image information of all patients at admission were retrospectively collected based on the hospital electronic medical record system. Complete blood cell count and leukocyte classification laboratory data were recorded within 24 h of the acute seizure and during a follow-up period of 5-14 days after admission. Blood pressure, C-reactive protein (CRP), liver and kidney function, blood glucose, electrolytes and lipids, electroencephalogram (EEG) and brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) were measured in all patients. All brain MRI data were interpreted by experienced neurologists and neuroradiologists who were unaware of the clinical factors of the patients. Duration of illness, epileptic seizure types, the follow-up seizure attacks after admission and the use of ASDs before admission were also collected for all patients. The National Hospital Seizure Severity Scale (NHS3) which contains seven seizure-related factors on a score of 1 to 27 was used to assess the severity of epilepsy (27, 28).

In this study, we reviewed baseline laboratory and clinical factors in patients and healthy controls, including gender, age, systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), albumin, triglyceride (TG) and total cholesterol (TC). A complete blood cell count including total leukocyte count, neutrophil count, and lymphocyte count was collected within 24h of the acute seizure and during a follow-up period of 5–14 days after admission. As there was no follow-up period in the control group, single laboratory data was included in this study. NLR was calculated by dividing the absolute number of neutrophil by the absolute number of lymphocyte at each time point. NLR at admission within 24h of an acute seizure was defined

as NLR1 and NLR during the follow-up period of 5–14 days after admission defined as NLR2. If more than one laboratory data was available for the NLR, the maximum value was recorded.

Statistical analyses

All the data were statistically analyzed with SPSS 25.0 statistical software. Continuous variables, if normally distributed, were presented as means \pm standard deviation. For non-normally distributed variables, the median of the interquartile range was used for analysis. The independent sample t-test and Pearson's correlation were used for comparison of means, the chi-square test was performed for comparison of categorical variables. Mann Whitney U test and Spearman's correlation were used for non-normally distributed data. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses were used to exclude confounding factors and predict risk factors. A receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve and the area under the curve (AUC) were used to determine the sensitivity and specificity of the NLR diagnostic test. In all analyses, P<0.05 was defined as statistically significant.

TABLE 2 Demographic and laboratory characteristics of patients with epilepsy and controls.

	Epilepsy (<i>n</i> = 115)	Control $(n = 98)$	P value
Gender(M / F)	68/47	53/45	0.540
Age (year)	$45 \pm 17(16-81)$	$45 \pm 15(18-77)$	0.969
SBP (mmHg)	126.17 ± 21.56	124.26 ± 14.03	0.910
DBP (mmHg)	77.78 ± 14.41	74.73 ± 9.36	0.134
Albumin (g/L)	40.80(35.50-44.00)	45.85(44.35-47.93)	< 0.001
TG (mmol/L)	1.04(0.79-1.47)	1.27(0.87-1.81)	0.084
TC (mmol/L)	3.97(3.52-4.79)	4.79(4.15-5.35)	< 0.001
Leukocyte1(*109/L)	9.25(6.81-13.10)	5.76(4.81-7.04)	< 0.001
Neutrophil1(*10 ⁹ /L)	6.86(4.23-9.93)	3.18(2.45-4.00)	< 0.001
Lymphocyte1(*10 ⁹ /L)	1.47 (0.96–2.04)	2.02(1.66-2.49)	< 0.001
NLR1	4.41 (2.42-8.65)	1.53(1.23-2.00)	< 0.001
Leukocyte2 (*10 ⁹ /L)	6.50(5.31-7.71)	5.76(4.81-7.04)	< 0.001
Neutrophil2(*109/L)	4.11 (2.86–5.07)	3.18(2.45-4.00)	< 0.001
Lymphocyte2(*109/L)	1.54 (1.21–1.99)	2.02(1.66-2.49)	< 0.001
NLR2	2.40 (1.79-3.44)	1.53(1.23-2.00)	< 0.001
Disease duration (year)	$3.89 \pm 8.22(0-40)$	-	-
NHS3 score	$11.15 \pm 3.75 (119)$	-	-

M, male; F, female; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; TG, triglyceride; TC, total cholesterol; Leukocyte1, admission leukocyte count; Neutrophil1, admission neutrophil count; Lymphocyte1, admission lymphocyte count; Leukocyte2, follow-up leukocyte count; Neutrophil2, follow-up neutrophil count; Lymphocyte1, follow-up lymphocyte count; NLR, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio.

Results

The main demographic and laboratory characteristics of the PWE group and healthy controls

A total of 115 patients (mean age 45 \pm 17 years, age range 16–81 years, 67 male, 48 female) and 98 healthy controls (mean age 45 \pm 15 years, age range 18–77 years, 53 male, 45 female) were included in this study. The main demographic and laboratory characteristics of the patients and healthy controls were presented in Table 2. Compared with healthy controls, admission leukocyte count (P < 0.001), follow-up leukocyte count (P < 0.001), admission neutrophil count (P< 0.001), follow-up neutrophil count (P < 0.001), levels of NLR1 (P < 0.001), NLR2(P < 0.001) and TC (P < 0.001) were all significantly increased, nevertheless, admission lymphocyte count (P < 0.001), follow-up lymphocyte count (P < 0.001) and albumin level (P < 0.001) significantly decreased in PWE group. No significant differences in gender, age, SBP, DBP and TG were found between two groups. Neutrophil and lymphocyte counts were not included in multi-factor analysis due to the collinearity of NLR with neutrophil and lymphocyte counts. Therefore, univariate analysis showed that the factors associated with seizures were admission leukocyte count, NLR1 level, follow-up leukocyte count, NLR2 level, TC and albumin levels. Multivariate logistic regression analysis (Table 3) showed that NLR1 level (OR = 2.992, P = 0.001) was independently associated with acute seizures after adjusting the levels of admission leukocyte, followup leukocyte, NLR1, NLR2, TC and albumin. Meanwhile, admission leukocyte count (OR = 2.307, P = 0.002) and albumin level (OR = 0.685, P < 0.001) were also significantly associated with acute seizures.

Temporal changes of neutrophil-lymphocyte laboratory data for PWE

In PWE group, the numbers of leukocyte (P < 0.001) and absolute neutrophil (P < 0.001) and the level of NLR (P < 0.001)

TABLE 3 Univariate and multivariate logistic analyses of parameters associated with acute epileptic seizure in patients with epilepsy.

	Crude OR (95% CI)	P value	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	P value
Leukocyte1	0.559(0.466-0.671)	<0.001	2.307(1.356-3.923)	0.002
NLR1	0.244(0.153-0.388)	< 0.001	2.992(1.579-5.669)	0.001
Leukocyte2	0.772(0.653-0.913)	0.002	0.652 (0.399–1.064)	0.087
NLR2	0.226(0.137-0.372)	< 0.001	1.395 (0.773–2.517)	0.269
TC	1.763(1.3-2.392)	< 0.001	0.700 (0.424–1.155)	0.162
Albumin	1.398(1.264–1.546)	<0.001	0.685 (0.576–0.814)	<0.001

Leukocyte1, admission leukocyte count; Leukocyte2, follow-up leukocyte count; NLR, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio; TC, total cholesterol.

TABLE 4 Comparisons of laboratory and clinical characteristics between admission and follow-up period in patients with epilepsy.

		Admission (within 24 h)	Follow-up (5-14 days)	P value
Leukocyte(*10 ⁹ /L)		9.25(6.81-13.10)	6.50(5.31-7.71)	<0.001
Neutrophil(*10 ⁹ /L)		6.64(4.23-9.84)	4.11 (2.86–5.07)	< 0.001
Lymphocyte(*10 ⁹ /L)		1.47(0.96-2.04)	1.54 (1.21–1.99)	0.201
NLR		4.41 (2.42-8.65)	2.40 (1.79-3.44)	< 0.001
The follow-up seizure attacks	Recurrent seizures	-	33(28.7%)	-
	No seizures	_	82(71.3%)	-
Classification of epilepsy	Newly diagnosed	56(48.7%)	56(48.7%)	-
	Chronic epilepsy	59(51.3%)	59(51.3%)	-
Brain MRI	Abnormal	68(59.1%)	68(59.1%)	-
	Normal	47(40.9%)	47(40.9%)	-
Anti-seizure drugs	Yes	48(41.7%)	48(41.7%)	-
	No	67(58.3%)	67(58.3%)	-
Type of epilepsy	Self-limited seizures	64(55.7%)	64(55.7%)	_
	Status epilepticus	51(44.3%)	51(44.3%)	-

NLR, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio.

were significantly higher within 24 h of acute seizure compared with the follow-up period of 5–14 days after admission (Table 4).

Analyses of possible predictors of recurrent seizure attacks after admission

During the follow-up period of 5–14 days after admission, 33 patients had recurrent seizures before NLR2 level were obtained, and 82 patients had no recurrent seizures (Table 4). Univariate analysis used to identify factors influencing the recurrent seizures after admission showed that higher level of NLR1 and status epilepticus were both associated with the recurrent seizures after admission (Table 5). Furthermore, multivariate logistic regression analysis indicated that NLR1

TABLE 5 Comparison of baseline characteristics between patients with and without following recurrent seizures after admission.

	Patients with following recurrent seizures (n = 33)	Patients without following recurrent seizures (n = 82)	<i>P</i> value
Gender (men)	21	46	0.458
Age (year)	45.27 ± 17.15	45.33 ± 17.60	0.988
Leukocyte 1(*10 ⁹ /L)	10.04(7.20-13.71)	8.49(6.19-12.07)	0.101
NLR1	8.01(3.77-14.42)	3.72(2.07-6.70)	0.000
SBP (mmHg)	126.24 ± 18.25	126.15 ± 22.86	0.670
DBP (mmHg)	78.03 ± 14.32	77.68 ± 14.54	0.601
Albumin (g/L)	41.20(35.15-43.80)	40.80(35.63-44.10)	0.819
TG (mmol/L)	1.22(0.84-1.62)	1.00(0.78-1.39)	0.131
TC (mmol/L)	4.31(3.54-5.08)	3.85(3.52-4.59)	0.246
NHS3	11.97 ± 4.03	10.82 ± 3.61	0.137
Chronic epilepsy	15	44	0.426
Abnormal brain MRI	20	48	0.838
SE	20	31	0.026
ASDs taken	14	34	0.925
Disease duration (\geq 5 years)	10	13	0.080

Leukocyte 1, admission leukocyte count; NLR, neutrophil–lymphocyte ratio; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; TG, triglyceride; TC, total cholesterol; SE, status epilepticus.

level was an independent predictor of following recurrent seizures after severe epileptic seizure attacks (OR = 1.144, P = 0.002) (Table 6). We further investigated the predictive value of NLR1 for recurrent seizures in these patients after acute seizures. ROC analysis of NLR1 level showed that the best cut-off value was 5.56, AUC was 0.717 (95% CI: 0.611–0.823, P < 0.001), and the sensitivity and specificity were 73 and 71% respectively (Figure 1), indicating that the level of NLR1 could predict the risk of recurrent seizures after admission.

The correlation between NLR1 and NLR2 in PWE

Sixteen out of 115 patients (13.9%) had focal seizures and 9 of the 16 patients also had secondary bilateral tonic-clonic seizures. Ninety nine out of 115 (86.1%) had generalized seizures and 84 of the 99 patients had generalized tonic-clonic seizures. Out of the 115 patients, 56 had newly diagnosed epilepsy and 59 had chronic epilepsy. Abnormal brain MRI was found in 68 patients and normal brain MRI found in 47 patients. Fifty one patients were admitted because of SE and the remaining 64 patients admitted because of self-limited seizures. Before admission, 48 patients were on treatment with ASDs and the others were not on treatment with ASDs. Regarding to the NLR levels measured within 24 h of acute seizure and during the follow-up period of 5-14 days after admission, no difference was found in NLR level between newly diagnosed epilepsy and chronic epilepsy (NLR1: P = 0.546, NLR2: P = 0.474) (Figure 2A, Table 4). Also, no significant difference in NLR level was found between patients with and without abnormal brain MRI (NLR1: *P* = 0.712, NLR2: *P* = 0.833) (Figure 2B, Table 4). To investigate the effect of different focal lesions on the level of NLR, 68 patients with abnormal brain MRI were divided into subgroups secondary to cerebrovascular disease (CD) (31 cases), traumatic brain injury (TBI) (14 cases), hippocampal sclerosis (HS) (6 cases), focal cortical dysplasia (FCD) (5 cases), and subgroup secondary to other abnormalities (12 cases). No significant difference in NLR level was found among the five categories of patients with focal seizures (NLR1: P = 0.368, NLR2: P = 0.536) (Figure 2C). As for the treatment with ASDs before admission, 26 cases were treated with monotherapy and 22 treated with combined drugs. As for types of ASDs, sodium valproate was used in 25 cases, carbamazepine in 12

TABLE 6 Univariate and multivariate logistic analyses of possible predictors for the following recurrent seizure attacks after admission.

	Crude OR (95% CI)	P value	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	P value
NLR1	1.156(1.066-1.253)	0.000	1.144(1.053-1.243)	0.002
SE	2.531(1.105-5.797)	0.028	0.523(0.216-1.266)	0.151

NLR, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio; SE, status epilepticus.



cases, levetiracetam in 10 cases, lamotrigine in 9 cases, and other ASDs including phenobarbital, topiramate and etc. in the remaining cases. With regard to NLR1 level, no difference was found between patients who received treatment with ASDs and patients who did not (P = 0.370). But, for NLR2 level, it was significantly lower in patients who received treatment with ASDs (Figure 2D, Table 4) than that in patients did not (P = 0.011). Finally, NLR1 level was found significantly higher (Figure 2E, Table 4) in patients admitted because of SE than that in patients admitted because of self-limited seizures (P = 0.013), but no difference of NLR2 levels was found between these two groups of patients (P = 0.290) (Figure 2E, Table 4).

The correlations between NLR level and seizure severity

Seizure severity was assessed by NHS3 scale scores in this study. To evaluate the correlation between NLR level and seizure severity, we found that NLR level was positively correlated with NHS3 scores at admission and during follow-up (Spearman's correlation r = 0.441, P < 0.001, and r = 0.221, P = 0.009, respectively) (Figures 3A,B).

Discussions

In this retrospective study, 115 patients included were all hospitalized because of acute seizures. Among the 115 patients, 51 patients (44.3%) were admitted because of SE and 56 admitted because of newly diagnosed epilepsy. Forty eight patients were accepting treatment with ASDs before admission. The type of seizures was mainly generalized tonic-clonic seizures.

Studies have indicated an involvement of leukocyte in the pathophysiology of epilepsy (16, 29, 30). The function of peripheral immune cell subsets is altered during epileptic seizures, such as upregulation of CD32-expressed granulocytes and monocytes reduction of HLA-DR-expressed monocytes after seizures (30), and this monocyte infiltration may lead to the recurrence of epileptic seizures (31). On the other hand, a significant increase in the number of blood leukocytes after seizures has been reported in patients with generalized or focal onset seizures, with peripheral blood leukocyte counts above the upper limit of normal in approximately one-third of patients after generalized onset seizures (16, 32). In this retrospective cohort study, we demonstrated that, compared to healthy controls, PWE had higher levels of leukocyte and NLR at admission within 24 h of acute seizure and during the follow-up period. Furthermore, multivariate logistic regression analysis illustrated that the levels of admission leukocyte and NLR1 were both independently associated with acute epileptic seizures. This indicated that inflammation reflected by NLR was involved in the pathophysiology of epilepsy. It is reported that serum albumin can extravasate from blood vessel into the brain parenchyma when the blood-brain barrier is dysfunctional, and this has been suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis of various types of epilepsy (33-35). In this study, we found that low serum albumin was associated with acute seizures, which effectively confirmed albumin extravasation after acute seizures.

Meanwhile, NLR1 level was found to be a significant predictor for recurrent epileptic seizures after admission in this study. According to the ROC analysis for NLR1, we found that the best cut-off value was 5.56 and the AUC was 0.717 (95% CI: 0.611–0.823, P < 0.001) with a sensitivity of 73% and a specificity of 71%. This finding suggested that an elevated NLR shortly after an acute seizure may predict a tendency for recurrent seizures in the following days, which indicates that the inflammation reflected by NLR may play a causative role in epileptogenesis. Multiple studies have shown that there is a reciprocal interaction between inflammation and epilepsy (9, 10, 13). Epileptic seizures can disrupt the bloodbrain barrier and activate a variety of cells including microglia, astrocytes, mononuclear macrophages and neutrophil in the CNS. Subsequently, the activated microglia, reactive astrocytes and infiltrating immune cells release large amounts of proinflammatory mediators including IL-6, IL-1β, TNF-α, COX-2, HMGB1 and chemokines, inducing neuroinflammation through multiple signaling pathways. And the neuroinflammation can further increase excitability of the CNS, along with serum albumin extravasation (14, 35, 36). Thus, neuroinflammation can aggravate the severity, duration, and frequency of epileptic seizures and even lead to new-onset seizures (13, 15, 37). On the other hand, patients with systemic autoimmune diseases, including systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and Hashimoto's



The difference in NLR levels at admission (NLR1, within 24h of acute seizure) and follow-up period (NLR2, 5–14 days after admission) in PWE. Neither NLR1 nor NLR2 level was different between patients with newly diagnosed epilepsy and those with chronic epilepsy (A). There was no significant difference in NLR level between patients with idiopathic epilepsy and those with secondary epilepsy (B), and there was no significant difference in NLR level among the five categories of patients with focal epilepsy (C). NLR2 level in patients on treatment with ASDs was lower than those in patients on no treatment with ASDs (D). NLR1 level in patients with SE was higher than that in patients with self-limited seizures (E). Group comparison was done by Mann-Whitney U test. *P < 0.05



thyroiditis, especially children have a significantly increased risk of epilepsy (38). These results suggest that epilepsy is associated with systemic inflammation that can lead to abnormal neuronal connection and neuronal hyperexcitability, thereby mediating the development of epilepsy (10, 17).

In this study, we also found that NLR and leukocyte levels were higher within 24h of acute seizure than during the follow-up period of 5-14 days after admission. Consistent with previous studies, the increase in NLR level induced by acute seizures subsequently decreased (24), but NLR level remained higher than normal controls during the follow-up period of

5-14 days after admission. From the literature review, most of the previous studies concerning the relationship between epilepsy and NLR were conducted during the acute and subacute stages of seizures, with a maximum follow-up time of 96 h (23, 24). This study is the first to investigate temporal changes in NLR levels during a follow-up period of 5-14 days after an acute epileptic seizure. We found that systemic inflammatory responses reflected by NLR remained increased during 5-14 days of follow-up after acute seizures compared with healthy controls. Some studies have also found that NLR level is higher in patients with chronic temporal lobe epilepsy than in healthy controls (39). Accordingly, it is suggested that the long-lasting systemic inflammatory response induced by acute seizures may be involved in the process of epileptogenesis either in the acute stages or in the chronic stages.

Our study found that there was no difference in NLR levels between the group of patients with newly diagnosed epilepsy and the group of patients with chronic epilepsy, nor between the group of patients with normal brain MRI and the group of patients with focal seizures caused by CD, TBI, HS, FCD and other lesions. This may indicate that the seizure-induced inflammatory response reflected by blood NLR levels is similar in different epileptic causative conditions. Whereas, it should be noted that several studies have shown that the levels of inflammatory cytokines vary with the etiology and historical duration of epilepsy (11, 40). The reason for this inconsistency may be the different inclusion criteria of our study subjects,

or the different of our study to reflect inflammatory response compared with literature reports. Thus, our results suggest that, at least in part, NLR levels depend neither on the simple cumulative effect of recurrent seizures nor on the etiology of epilepsy.

In this study, most patients were already on treatment with ASDs before admission, which mainly included valproic acid, lamotrigine, levetiracetam and carbamazepine. We found that NLR2 level, i.e., NLR level during the follow-up period of 5–14 days after admission, was lower in patients on medications with ASDs than that in patients not on medications with ASDs. On the other hand, previous studies had demonstrated the anti-inflammatory effects of ASDs in epilepsy treatment (41–44). Therefore, we speculate that ASDs may effectively promote the return of NLR to baseline, thereby facilitating the recovery of acute seizure-induced inflammation.

SE is an acute and potentially life-threatening emergency with high morbidity and mortality (45). Proinflammatory events in the periphery or brain have been shown to govern SE occurrence, and SE-induced neurological dysfunction and even death are significantly associated with SE duration (37, 46). In this study, we found that NLR1 level was higher in patients admitted with SE than that in patients admitted with self-limited seizures, implicating that SE induces more severe inflammatory response compared with self-limited seizures. This is consistent with a report that half of the patients developed systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) after SE, which is considered to be an independent risk factor for drug resistance and death (47). Therefore, routine inflammation assessment, especially NLR assessment, should be performed in SE patients to assess the prognosis of epilepsy and intervene as early as possible.

For patients with uncontrolled epilepsy, seizure severity may be more important than seizure frequency (48). The severity of epilepsy can be assessed by various scales in clinical practice. In this study, NHS3, a valid and easy-to-apply measure, was used to quantitatively assess epilepsy severity (27, 28). We found a significant correlation between NLR levels and NHS3 scores not only within 24 h of acute seizure but also during the followup period of 5-14 days after admission. Our study is the first to demonstrate a correlation between NLR level and epilepsy severity, suggesting that NLR is a biomarker for seizure severity. Patients with epilepsy often experience recurrent seizures and generalized tonic-clonic seizures greatly increase the risk of SUDEP depending on the severity of epilepsy (6, 49). Together with the findings that NLR1 level was independently associated with acute seizures and an elevated NLR shortly after an acute seizure may predict a tendency of recurrent seizures in the following days, we believe that monitoring of NLR level can help to assess the severity of acute attacks, so as to identify patients at high risk for developing subsequent seizures and implement effective interventions early to reduce morbidity and mortality.

This study has the following limitations. First, because of its retrospective design, a large number of patients without NLR data were excluded. Second, we recorded NLR2 from a single measure over 5–14 days because the sample size was not large enough. The dynamic changes of neutrophils, lymphocytes and NLR levels can be evaluated more accurately with a larger sample size in the future.

Conclusions

In conclusion, we found that epileptic seizures were associated with inflammatory responses reflected by leukocyte and NLR levels. NLR1 level was independently associated with acute epileptic seizures. Meanwhile, NLR1 level was an important predictor of seizure recurrence after admission. Therefore, NLR-reflected inflammatory responses is a consequence of seizures and may also be responsible for the development of epilepsy. Furthermore, NLR1 and NLR2 levels were respectively associated with SE and use of ASDs, and there was a positive correlation between NLR level and seizure severity, indicating that NLR may be used as a biomarker for seizure severity. We suggest that monitoring of NLR levels should be performed as early as possible to help predict the risk of seizure recurrence following acute epileptic seizure attack and intervene as early as possible.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University. Written informed consent from the participants' legal guardian/next of kin was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the National Legislation and the Institutional Requirements.

Author contributions

HL explained the data and wrote the paper. YY, MH, and XC acquired and analyzed data. CD, QS, and RLi performed the literature search and data collection. RLiu and XX contributed data curation and investigation. HL and YW designed the

study and revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This study was financially supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (YW, Grant No. 82071460).

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the support from the Department of Neurology and the Department of Health Management Center, The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Fisher RS, Acevedo C, Arzimanoglou A, Bogacz A, Cross JH, Elger CE, et al. Ilae official report: a practical clinical definition of epilepsy. *Epilepsia.* (2014) 55:475–82. doi: 10.1111/epi.12550

2. Kaddumukasa M, Mugenyi L, Lhatoo S, Sewankambo N, Blixen C, Sajatovic M, et al. Seizure severity is associated with poor quality of life in people living with epilepsy (Plwe) in Uganda: a cross-sectional study. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2019) 96:104–8. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.04.033

3. Bank AM, Bazil CW. Emergency management of epilepsy and seizures. Semin Neurol. (2019) 39:73-81. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1677008

4. Hesdorffer DC, Benn EK, Cascino GD, Hauser WA. Is a first acute symptomatic seizure epilepsy? mortality and risk for recurrent seizure. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 50:1102–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01945.x

5. Granbichler CA, Zimmermann G, Oberaigner W, Kuchukhidze G, Ndayisaba JP, Taylor A, et al. Potential years lost and life expectancy in adults with newly diagnosed epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:1939–45. doi: 10.1111/epi.13902

6. Beghi E. The epidemiology of epilepsy. Neuroepidemiology. (2020) 54:185-91. doi: 10.1159/000503831

7. Salanova V, Sperling MR, Gross RE, Irwin CP, Vollhaber JA, Giftakis JE, et al. The santé study at 10 years of follow-up: effectiveness, safety, and sudden unexpected death in epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2021) 62:1306–17. doi: 10.1111/epi.16895

8. Ochoa-Urrea M, Lacuey N, Vilella L, Zhu L, Jamal-Omidi S, Rani MRS, et al. Seizure clusters, seizure severity markers, and sudep risk. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:643916. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.643916

9. Terrone G, Salamone A, Vezzani A. Inflammation and epilepsy: preclinical findings and potential clinical translation. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2017) 23:5569-76. doi: 10.2174/1381612823666170926113754

10. Vezzani A, French J, Bartfai T, Baram TZ. The role of inflammation in epilepsy. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2011) 7:31-40. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2010.178

11. Ma H, Lin H. Advances Regarding neuroinflammation biomarkers with noninvasive techniques in epilepsy. *Behav Neurol.* (2021) 2021:7946252. doi: 10.1155/2021/7946252

12. Dupuis N, Auvin S. Inflammation and epilepsy in the developing brain: clinical and experimental evidence. *CNS Neurosci Ther.* (2015) 21:141–51. doi: 10.1111/cns.12371

13. Dey A, Kang X, Qiu J, Du Y, Jiang J. Anti-Inflammatory small molecules to treat seizures and epilepsy: from bench to bedside. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2016) 37:463–84. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2016.03.001

14. Galic MA, Riazi K, Pittman QJ. Cytokines and brain excitability. Front Neuroendocrinol. (2012) 33:116–25. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2011.12.002

15. Rana A, Musto AE. The role of inflammation in the development of epilepsy. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15:144. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1192-7

16. Shah AK, Shein N, Fuerst D, Yangala R, Shah J, Watson C. Peripheral Wbc count and serum prolactin level in various seizure types and nonepileptic events. *Epilepsia*. (2001) 42:1472–5. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2001.11901.x

17. Marchi N, Granata T, Janigro D. Inflammatory pathways of seizure disorders. Trends Neurosci. (2014) 37:55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.11.002

18. Marchi N, Granata T, Freri E, Ciusani E, Ragona F, Puvenna V, et al. Efficacy of anti-inflammatory therapy in a model of acute seizures and in a population of pediatric drug resistant epileptics. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e18200. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018200

19. Gusdon AM, Gialdini G, Kone G, Baradaran H, Merkler AE, Mangat HS, et al. Neutrophil-Lymphocyte ratio and perihematomal edema growth in intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke.* (2017) 48:2589–92. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.018120

20. Lee M, Lim JS, Kim CH, Lee SH, Kim Y, Hun Lee J, et al. High neutrophillymphocyte ratio predicts post-stroke cognitive impairment in acute ischemic stroke patients. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:693318. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.693318

21. Aly M, Abdalla RN, Batra A, Shaibani A, Hurley MC, Jahromi BS, et al. Follow-up neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio after stroke thrombectomy is an independent biomarker of clinical outcome. *J Neurointerv Surg.* (2021) 13:609–13. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2020-016342

22. Kara SP, Altunan B, Unal A. Investigation of the peripheral inflammation (neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio) in two neurodegenerative diseases of the central nervous system. *Neurol Sci.* (2022) 43:1799–807. doi: 10.1007/s10072-021-05507-5

23. Ozdemir HH, Akil E, Acar A, Tamam Y, Varol S, Cevik MU, et al. Changes in serum albumin levels and neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio in patients with convulsive status epilepticus. *Int J Neurosci.* (2017) 127:417–20. doi:10.1080/00207454.2016.1187606

24. Gunes M, Buyukgol H. Relationship between generalized epileptic seizure and neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio, platelet/lymphocyte ratio, and neutrophil mediated inflammation. *Int J Neurosci.* (2020) 130:1095–100. doi: 10.1080/00207454.2020.1722662

25. Scheffer IE, Berkovic S, Capovilla G, Connolly MB, French J, Guilhoto L, et al. Ilae classification of the epilepsies: position paper of the ilae commission for classification and terminology. *Epilepsia.* (2017) 58:512–21. doi: 10.1111/epi.13709

26. Brodie MJ, Barry SJ, Bamagous GA, Norrie JD, Kwan P. Patterns of treatment response in newly diagnosed epilepsy. *Neurology.* (2012) 78:1548–54. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182563b19

27. Cramer JA, French J. Quantitative assessment of seizure severity for clinical trials: a review of approaches to seizure components. *Epilepsia.* (2001) 42:119–29. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2001.19400.x

28. O'Donoghue MF, Duncan JS, Sander JW. The national hospital seizure severity scale: a further development of the chalfont seizure severity scale. *Epilepsia*. (1996) 37:563–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1996.tb00610.x

29. Fabene PF, Navarro Mora G, Martinello M, Rossi B, Merigo F, Ottoboni L, et al. A role for leukocyte-endothelial adhesion mechanisms in epilepsy. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:1377–83. doi: 10.1038/nm.1878

30. Ruhnau J, Tennigkeit J, Ceesay S, Koppe C, Muszelewski M, Grothe S, et al. Immune alterations following neurological disorders: a comparison of stroke and seizures. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:425. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00425

31. Feng L, Murugan M, Bosco DB, Liu Y, Peng J, Worrell GA, et al. Microglial proliferation and monocyte infiltration contribute to microgliosis following status epilepticus. *Glia.* (2019) 67:1434–48. doi: 10.1002/glia.23616

32. Morkavuk G, Koc G, Leventoglu A. Is the Differential diagnosis of epilepsy and psychogenic nonepileptic seizures possible by assessing the neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio? *Epilepsy Behav.* (2021) 116:107736. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107736

33. Marchi N, Teng Q, Ghosh C, Fan Q, Nguyen MT, Desai NK, et al. Blood-brain barrier damage, but not parenchymal white blood cells, is a hallmark of seizure activity. *Brain Res.* (2010) 1353:176–86. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2010.06.051

34. Marchi N, Johnson AJ, Puvenna V, Johnson HL, Tierney W, Ghosh C, et al. Modulation of peripheral cytotoxic cells and ictogenesis in a model of seizures. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52:1627–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03080.x

35. Librizzi L, Vila Verde D, Colciaghi F, Deleo F, Regondi MC, Costanza M, et al. peripheral blood mononuclear cell activation sustains seizure activity. *Epilepsia.* (2021) 62:1715–28. doi: 10.1111/epi.16935

36. Iori V, Frigerio F, Vezzani A. Modulation of neuronal excitability by immune mediators in epilepsy. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2016) 26:118–23. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2015.11.002

37. Wang M, Chen Y. Inflammation: a network in the pathogenesis of status epilepticus. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2018) 11:341. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00341

38. Ong MS, Kohane IS, Cai T, Gorman MP, Mandl KD. Population-Level evidence for an autoimmune etiology of epilepsy. *JAMA Neurol.* (2014) 71:569–74. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.188

39. Simoes PSR, Zanelatto AO, Assis MC, Varella PPV, Yacubian EM, Carrete H, et al. Plasma kallikrein-kinin system contributes to peripheral inflammation in temporal lobe epilepsy. *J Neurochem.* (2019) 150:296–311. doi: 10.1111/jnc.14793

40. Choi J, Kim SY, Kim H, Lim BC, Hwang H, Chae JH, et al. Serum alphasynuclein and il-1beta are increased and correlated with measures of disease severity in children with epilepsy: potential prognostic biomarkers? *BMC Neurol.* (2020) 20:85. doi: 10.1186/s12883-020-01662-y

41. Gibbons HM, Smith AM, Teoh HH, Bergin PM, Mee EW, Faull RL, et al. Valproic acid induces microglial dysfunction, not apoptosis, in human glial cultures. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2011) 41:96–103. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2010.08.024

42. Haghikia A, Ladage K, Hinkerohe D, Vollmar P, Heupel K, Dermietzel R, et al. Implications of antiinflammatory properties of the anticonvulsant drug levetiracetam in astrocytes. *J Neurosci Res.* (2008) 86:1781–8. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21639

43. Wang CH, Hsiao CJ, Lin YN, Wu JW, Kuo YC, Lee CK, et al. Carbamazepine attenuates inducible nitric oxide synthase expression through akt inhibition in activated microglial cells. *Pharm Biol.* (2014) 52:1451–9. doi: 10.3109/13880209.2014.898074

44. Abu-Rish EY, Dahabiyeh LA, Bustanji Y, Mohamed YS, Browning MJ. Effect of lamotrigine on in vivo and in vitro cytokine secretion in murine model of inflammation. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2018) 322:36–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.06.008

45. Unterberger I. Status epilepticus: do treatment guidelines make sense? J Clin Neurophysiol. (2016) 33:10–3. doi: 10.1097/WNP.0000000000222

46. Janigro D, Iffland PH. 2nd, Marchi N, Granata T. A role for inflammation in status epilepticus is revealed by a review of current therapeutic approaches. *Epilepsia*. (2013) 54 Suppl 6:30–2. doi: 10.1111/epi.12271

47. Szklener S, Korchut A, Godek M, Balicka-Adamik L, Bielecki D, Rejdak R, et al. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome in the course of status epilepticus: 7-year, two-center observational study. *Epilepsy Res.* (2017) 137:53–5. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2017.09.003

48. Borghs S, Tomaszewski EL, Halling K. de la Loge C. Understanding the patient perspective of seizure severity in epilepsy: development of a conceptual model. *Patient*. (2016) 9:419–31. doi: 10.1007/s40271-016-0165-0

49. Shorvon S, Tomson T. Sudden unexpected death in epilepsy. Lancet. (2011) 378:2028-38. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60176-1

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Julia Jacobs, University of Freiburg Medical Center, Germany

REVIEWED BY

Maria Paola Canevini, Dipartimento di Scienze della Salute Università degli Studi, Milano, Italy Patrick Van Bogaert, Université d'Angers, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Xiaoshan Wang wangxiaoshan1971@163.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 30 May 2022 ACCEPTED 07 October 2022 PUBLISHED 09 November 2022

CITATION

Li Y, Li Y, Sun J, Niu K, Wang P, Xu Y, Wang Y, Chen Q, Zhang K and Wang X (2022) Relationship between brain activity, cognitive function, and sleep spiking activation in new-onset self-limited epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Front. Neurol.* 13:956838. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.956838

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Li, Li, Sun, Niu, Wang, Xu, Wang, Chen, Zhang and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Relationship between brain activity, cognitive function, and sleep spiking activation in new-onset self-limited epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes

Yanzhang Li¹, Yihan Li¹, Jintao Sun¹, Kai Niu¹, Pengfei Wang¹, Yue Xu¹, Yingfan Wang¹, Qiqi Chen², Ke Zhang¹ and Xiaoshan Wang^{1*}

¹Department of Neurology, Nanjing Brain Hospital, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ²MEG Center, Nanjing Brain Hospital, Nanjing, China

Objective: This study aimed to investigate the relationship between cognitive function sleep spiking activation and brain activity in self-limited epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes (SeLECTS).

Methods: We used spike-wave index (SWI), which means the percentage of the spike and slow wave duration to the total non-REM (NREM) sleep time, as the grouping standard. A total of 14 children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%), 21 children with SeLECTS (SWI < 50%), and 20 healthy control children were recruited for this study. Cognitive function was evaluated using the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, Fourth Edition (Chinese version) (WISC-IV). Magnetic source activity was assessed using magnetoencephalography calculated for each frequency band using the accumulated source imaging (ASI) technique.

Results: Children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) had the lowest cognitive function scores, followed by those with SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) and then healthy controls. There were significant differences in the localization of magnetic source activity between the three groups: in the alpha (8–12 Hz) frequency band, children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) showed deactivation of the medial frontal cortex (MFC) region; in the beta (12–30 Hz) frequency band, children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) showed deactivation of the posterior cingulate cortex (PCC) segment; and in the gamma (30–80 Hz) frequency band, children in the healthy group showed activation of the PCC region.

Conclusion: This study revealed significant decreases in cognitive function in children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) compared to children with SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) and healthy children, as well as significant differences in magnetic source activity between the three groups. The findings suggest that deactivation of magnetic source activity in the PCC and MFC regions is the main cause of cognitive function decline in SeLECTS patients with some frequency dependence.

KEYWORDS

electrical status epilepticus of sleep (ESES), magnetoencephalography (MEG), cognitive function, brain activity, self-limited epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes, sleep spiking activation

Introduction

Self-limited epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes (SeLECTS), which is also known as Rolandic epilepsy (RE) and Benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes (BECTS), is the most common type of childhood idiopathic epilepsy (1). The International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) has changed the term "benign" to "self-limited" in the latest version of the definition in 2022, taking into account that the typical evolution of this type of epilepsy is age-related onset and remission (2, 3). In China, the mean age of onset of SeLECTS is 6.85 years and the male to female ratio is 6:4 (4). Typical clinical presentation is limited motor-sensory seizures on one side of the mouth and face, with extension to generalized tonicclonic seizures (5). In these patients, electroencephalogram (EEG) commonly shows normal background activity and spike discharges in the centrotemporal region with high amplitude that are usually more pronounced during sleep (6). While SeLECTS was previously thought to have a favorable prognosis, a growing number of studies suggest that, even in adulthood when patients are seizure-free, SeLECTS is associated with greater neuropsychiatric dysfunction (7-9).

Children with SeLECTS show significantly more discharges during sleep, some of which reach electrical status epilepticus (ESES) (10). This group of patients is characterized by a poor prognosis and a negative impact on the development of cognitive function (11). It is widely believed that frequent epileptiform discharges affect the formation and establishment of synapses, damage neural circuits, and produce changes in the structure and function of brain tissue that affect the entire functional network of the brain and lead to cognitive decline (12-14). In a clinical study, Overvliet et al. (15) found an association between cognitive impairment and nocturnal epileptiform discharges. This association was interpreted as a disruption of the functional connections responsible for the corresponding cognitive ability. In a functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study of nine children with SeLECTS with ESES, we observed alterations in the salience network (SE) and central executive network (CEN) (10).

ESES is an interictal EEG pattern that occurs during slow wave sleep (16). ESES patterns usually consist of continuous, symmetrical spike patterns with variable discharge frequencies, usually in the range of 1.5–3 HZ. The spike-wave index (SWI), which is the percentage of the spike and slow wave duration to the total non-REM (NREM) sleep time, is commonly used to measure the severity of ESES (17). In general, the higher the SWI, the more epileptiform discharges and the more severe the cognitive impairment (18). It is now generally accepted that a SWI of \geq 85% can be considered ESES, but some studies have also shown that cognitive and behavioral impairment can occur even with a low percentage of sleep. So some authors also use lower SWI values as a cut-off (19, 20), or consider that a SWI of at least \geq 50 should trigger the possibility of an ESES related syndrome (21). In the current study, we decided to divide patients in two groups according to a SWI threshold at 50%, and all EEG interpretations were performed by two experienced EEG physicians.

Magnetoencephalography (MEG) is a non-invasive neuroimaging method with ultra-high spatial and temporal resolution (22). Compared to EEG, the magnetic field is not attenuated as it passes through the skull and scalp, allowing for clearer detection of brain magnetic activity (23). MEG can capture higher frequency information compared to fMRI, which can only retain low frequency information (24, 25). Given the frequency-dependent nature of brain activity (26), MEG can be used to more accurately localize neuromagnetic brain activity in each frequency band.

Previous studies have investigated differences in cognitive function in children with SeLECTS in longitudinal comparisons, as well as differences before and after medication administration (27-29). However, few studies have compared the cognitive function of children with SeLECTS without antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) in a cross-sectional manner with different evolutionary patterns, especially using the MEG technique (30, 31). We use EEG as a basis for grouping because children with developmental epileptic encephalopathy with spike-and-wave activation in sleep (DEE-SWAS) and epileptic encephalopathy with spike-and-wave activation in sleep (EE-SWAS), as defined by the latest ILAE definitions, whose diagnostic criteria include significant behavioral regression and negative myoclonus in addition to EEG manifestations, are difficult to diagnose at first presentation. Most of the patients diagnosed were already taking AEDs, which interfered with the results of this experiment. Therefore, in this trial we used only the EEG, an objective indicator, as a basis for grouping. In the present study, we compared the intensity and localization of magnetic sources in different frequency bands in children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%), children with SeLECTS (SWI < 50%), and healthy control (HC) children. Cognitive function in the three groups was assessed using the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, Fourth Edition (Chinese version) (WISC-IV). We tentatively hypothesized that SeLECTS children (SWI \geq 50%) would have the worst cognitive function and that there would be differences in magnetic source activity intensity and magnetic source localization between the three groups.

Experimental procedures

Participants

Between October 2020 and October 2021, 21 children were diagnosed with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) and 24 children were diagnosed with SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) only at the Neurology Department of the Nanjing Children's Hospital and Nanjing Brain Hospital. Of the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) patients, two were

taking AEDs and one had a history of encephalitis; thus, 21 children were included in this study. Of the SeLECTS patients (SWI \geq 50%), six had a history of AEDs and one had an autism spectrum disorder; thus, only 14 patients were recruited for this study. We also recruited 20 HC children matched with the patients in terms of age, gender, parents educational background, and family socioeconomic status. The inclusion criteria for patients were as follows: (1) a diagnosis of SeLECTS according to the ILAE 2022 classification of epilepsy syndrome (32); (2) no use of AEDs at the time of enrollment; (3) normal brain MRI image; and (4) no other types of epilepsy or other major neuropsychiatric disorders. The exclusion criteria were: (1) did not cooperate when MEG and MRI data were collected which interfered with data collection; (2) brain MRI showed abnormalities; (3) a diagnosis of other types of epilepsy or major neuropsychiatric disorders; and (4) the patients parents did not cooperate with the examination or provide informed consent. All patients were seizure-free for at least 72 h before and 24 h after the MEG and MRI scans were performed.

Based on previous studies (19–21), we hypothesize that there is a significant difference between the cognitive function, brain activity of children with SeLECTS using SWI = 50% as the cutoff. In the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group, two EEG results for patients within 1 month showing SWI \geq 50%; the SWI (%) was obtained as the total number of minutes of all spike and slowwave abnormalities divided by the total number of minutes of NREM and multiplied by 100 (33). All patients were subjected to sleep deprivation to better record the EEG during sleep. The recording time was 2 h and the SWI was calculated on 45 min of NREM sleep. EEG reports for all patients issued by two experienced EEG physicians.

This study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing Brain Hospital and Nanjing Children's Hospital. In addition, the parents of all participants in the study provided informed consent.

Neuropsychological assessment

For all participants, cognitive function was assessed using the Wechsler Children Intelligence Scale, Fourth Edition (Chinese version) (WISC-IV). The test comprises 14 sub-tests that provide a full-scale intelligence quotient (FSIQ) to account for overall cognitive abilities as well as four additional composite scores that account for cognitive abilities in different areas (34). The four composite scores are the Verbal Comprehension Index (VCI), Perceptual Reasoning Index (PRI), Working Memory Index (WMI), and Processing Speed Index (PSI). The VCI, which includes tests of analogy, vocabulary, comprehension, and general knowledge, measures language learning ability, concept formation, abstract thinking, and analytical generalization. The PRI includes block design, picture concepts, matrix reasoning, and fill-in-the-blank tests, which measure reasoning ability, spatial perception, and visual organization, respectively. The WMI includes a recited number test, alphabetic-numeric alignment, and arithmetic test to measure memory ability, comprehension, and application of external information. The PSI includes decoding tests, symbol retrieval, and scratch tests to measure the speed of understanding simple information and the speed and accuracy of recording (35, 36).

MEG recordings

MEG data were collected in the magnetic shielding room of the MEG Center of Nanjing Brain Hospital using a fullhead CTF-275 channel MEG system (VSM Medical Technology Company, Canada). In preparation for data collection, subjects were asked to make sure they were free of any metal objects and to fix three coils at the base of their nose and in front of each ear to determine the position of their head in the MEG system. During data collection, subjects were asked to remain relaxed, stay still, keep their eyes closed, stay awake, and keep their mouth slightly open. If a subject's head moved more than 5 mm during the data collection process, the data were discarded and re-collected. The sampling frequency of MEG was 6,000 Hz and at least six 120 s sessions of MEG data were collected per subject. Noise was eliminated using third-order gradients before data acquisition.

MRI scan

All participants underwent a 3.0 T MRI (Siemens, Germany) scan after MEG data collection. Before MRI scanning, coils similar to those used in MEG data collection were placed at the nose root and in front of both ears to locate each subjects head position.

Data preprocessing

MEG data were processed through the following steps: First, we excluded MEG waveforms with significant noise and artifacts (amplitude > 6 pT), based on previous studies (37). Next, we filtered the MEG data in the frequency range 1–70 Hz and used it to identify high amplitude peaks in SeLECTS. To reduce the impact of spikes, we selected MEG data without spikes for a continuous period of 60 s for processing. Finally, we analyzed the six frequency bands of the selected waveform, namely delta (1– 4 Hz), theta (4–8 Hz), alpha (8–12 Hz), beta (12–30 Hz), gamma (30–80 Hz), and ripple (80–250 Hz). The data were filtered before analysis to avoid environmental alternating current (AC) power interference around the 50 Hz band. MEG data from all subjects were analyzed using the MEG processor (https://sites. google.com/site/braincloudx/).

136

Source localization

Based on previous studies (38–40), we used accumulated source imaging (ASI) to analyze neuromagnetic source activity in multiple frequency bands in the selected MEG data. The sum of the volumes of source activity over a period of time is defined as ASI, which can locate the neuromagnetic sources. ASI can be expressed by the following equation:

$$\operatorname{Asi}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}) = \sum_{t=1}^{t=n} Q(r, t)$$

Where, ASI represents the accumulated source strength at position r, s indicates the time slice, n represents the time point of the MEG data, and Q represents the source activity at source r and at time point t. We defined $s \ge 1$ and $s \le n/2$.

We used two-step beamforming to calculate the source activity and locate the source (37). First, we calculated the lead domain for each source (or voxel), which is called a voxel-based partial sensor, and generated the MEG data matrix. Next, to minimize the influence of coherent sources in the localization of the source, we performed a partial sensor overlay for each voxel (37). We then calculated the covariance of all sensors. We calculated two sets of source images using the vector beamformer and estimated the coherent source and source direction using the variance matrix vector beamformer (41). After these steps, we used the scalar beamformer to generate the source activity (or virtual sensor waveform). The algorithm has been described in detail and validated in prior studies (41).

For each subject, the entire brain was scanned at a resolution of 6 mm. In cases where the distance between two voxels was < 10 mm, they were considered as one source. The individual MRI data were merged with the MEG data by fixing the nasal root and three points in front of the ear at the time of data acquisition. This approach allows us to segment and visualize brain regions.

Statistical analysis

Fisher's exact probability method was used to examine the localization of the main neuromagnetic sources in the three groups. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed on the source strength, Wechsler scale scores, and subject age. We also conducted a homogeneity test of variance. We compared the age at onset and duration of disease between the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group using the two-sample *t*-test. Pearson or Spearman correlation analysis was used to analyze the relationship between the intensity of the magnetic source and the clinical characteristics of each group of frequency bands. The level of statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 with Bonferroni multiple comparison correction (e.g., for six bands in three groups,

p < 0.002). All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 24.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

Participants

The final sample included 14 children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) including eight females, with a mean age of 96.94 \pm 13.68 months, a mean age of onset of 90.89 \pm 15.08 months, a mean disease duration of 6.05 \pm 6.06 months, and an average of 2.64 \pm 1.45 seizures. The 21 children with SeLECTS (SWI < 50%), which included 10 males, had a mean age of 102.59 \pm 19.20 months, a mean age of onset of 97.84 \pm 16.25 months, a mean disease duration of 5.22 \pm 6.68 months, and an average of 2.00 \pm 1.18 seizures. The statistical analysis showed no significant differences between the two groups in terms of gender, age, age of onset, disease duration, or number of seizures. The detailed data of the participants are shown in Table 1.

WISC-IV scores

As shown in Table 2, there were statistically significant differences between the three groups in terms of total score and PRI, with the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group having the lowest score followed by the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group; the HC group had the highest score. In terms of VCI and WMI, both the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group had significantly lower scores than the HC group, but there was no statistically significant difference between the scores of the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group. There were no significant group differences between the PSI scores. Additional details of the performance for each group are provided in Figure 1.

Source location

According to the whole brain accumulative magnetic source imaging, there were 1–3 primary magnetic source locations per subject in the resting state (Figure 2), including the peri-Rolandic area (PR), posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), medial frontal cortex (MFC), medial temporal lobe (MTL), and deep brain area (DBA). In the low frequency band (<80 Hz), there was a significant difference in source localization between the three groups; however, in the high frequency band (>80 Hz), there was not. Specifically, in the alpha (8–12 Hz) band, the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group and HC group were mainly localized in the MFC and PCC regions, while the magnetic source in the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group was mainly localized in the PCC region. In the gamma band (30–80 Hz), the SeLECTS

Participant	Gender	Age (months)	Epilepsy duration (months)	Age at onset (months)	Number of seizures	SWI
1 ^a	F	106	5.8	100.2	4	50-60%
2 ^a	М	86.1	5.8	80.3	2	55%
3 ^a	F	105.5	2	103.5	2	65%
4 ^a	М	103.2	4.4	98.8	3	60%
5 ^a	F	97.2	24	73.2	5	65-70%
6 ^a	М	72.6	8.3	64.3	1	70%
7 ^a	F	82.4	2.5	79.9	6	70%
8 ^a	F	112.5	12.5	100	2	50%
9 ^a	F	116.3	2.6	113.7	2	50%
10 ^a	М	95.9	3	92.9	3	60%
11 ^a	F	117	2.5	114.5	2	65%
12 ^a	F	91.8	2.2	89.6	1	50-60%
13 ^a	М	85.4	8	77.4	2	60%
14 ^a	М	85.2	1.1	84.1	2	50%
15	F	84.8	12	82.8	2	40%
16	М	120.6	12	108.6	3	30%
17	F	132.8	24	108.8	2	30%
18	М	114.5	5.4	109.1	5	35%
19	F	73.5	4	69.5	4	30%
20	М	101.5	1	100.5	2	30%
21	F	99.5	4	95.5	2	25%
22	М	107.3	9.3	98	1	40%
23	М	85	1.8	83.2	1	20%
24	F	99.4	0.6	98.8	1	20%
25	F	74.6	0.7	73.9	1	40%
26	М	131.8	0.6	131.2	3	30%
27	F	96.9	0.6	96.3	1	10%
28	М	135.8	18.4	117.4	1	10%
29	М	110.8	10	100.8	2	15%
30	М	76.8	2.8	74	4	25%
31	F	113.3	0.4	112.9	2	40%
32	М	77.5	0.3	77.2	2	40%
33	F	99.4	0.6	98.8	1	20%
34	F	101.1	0.3	100.8	1	40%
35	F	117.4	0.9	116.5	1	35%

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the included participants.

SWI, spike-wave index; <code>^aSeLECTS</code> (SWI \geq 50%) group.

(SWI \geq 50%) group and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group were mainly localized in the MFC region, while the HC group was mainly localized in the MFC and PCC regions. In the beta (12–30 Hz) frequency band, we found group differences in localization in the PCC region. *Post-hoc* analysis showed a statistically significant difference in localization in the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group compared to the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group and HC group, but no statistically significant difference between the SeLECTS group and healthy controls.

We did not find significant differences in the other three frequency bands. However, as shown in Figure 2, in the higher frequency bands the magnetic source activity is more frequent in the DBA region than in the lower frequency bands, while in the lower frequency bands the magnetic source activity in the PR region is more frequent than in the higher frequency bands. The localization and statistical comparison of the main magnetic sources in each frequency band for the three groups are detailed in Table 3.

WISC-IV	SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) (Group 1, $n = 14$)	SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) (Group 2, <i>n</i> = 21)	HC (Group 3, <i>n</i> = 20)	p	<i>P</i> : Group 1 vs. Group 2	<i>P</i> : Group 1 vs. Group 3	<i>P</i> : Group 2 vs. Group 3
FSIQ	92.21 ± 6.879	103.94 ± 5.117	119.10 ± 10.586	0.00*	0.000**	0.000**	0.000**
VCI	84.64 ± 8.705	96.94 ± 14.263	114.1 ± 15.864	0.00*	0.019	0.000**	0.004**
PRI	102.57 ± 9.387	111.65 ± 6.214	120.7 ± 10.489	0.00*	0.007**	0.000**	0.004**
WMI	90.64 ± 7.652	99.29 ± 8.252	113.3 ± 18.576	0.00*	0.076	0.000**	0.002**
PSI	99.21 ± 14.818	104.71 ± 8.73	107.15 ± 9.549	0.125	0.553	0.253	0.807

TABLE 2 Comparison of WISC-IV scores between the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%), SeLECTS (SWI < 50%), and HC groups.

FSIQ, Full-scale Intelligence Quotient; VCI, verbal comprehension index; PRI, perceptual reasoning index; WMI, working memory index; PSI, processing speed index. *p < 0.05 after one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA); **p < 0.0167 after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons.

Source strength

In the delta (1–4 Hz) frequency band, the magnetic source intensity of the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group was significantly higher than that of the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group and HC group. However, there was no significant difference between the magnetic source intensity of the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group and HC group. In the alpha (8–12 Hz) and gamma (30–80 Hz) frequency bands, we found a statistically significant difference in the magnetic source intensity between the three groups; however, the pairwise comparison showed no statistically significant difference between the two groups. In the other three frequency bands, there were no statistically significant group differences. Detailed statistical analysis of the neuromagnetic sources is shown in Table 4.

Clinical correlation

Our analysis revealed no significant correlation between the magnetic source intensity and clinical data in the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group. Similarly, there was no significant correlation between the age of onset and disease duration in the two groups.

Discussion

This study has revealed significant differences in neuropsychological evaluation results between unmedicated children with SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) and unmedicated children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%). Similarly, there were significant differences in magnetic source localization and magnetic source intensity between these two groups compared to the HC group, and they showed some frequency dependence. This is tentatively consistent with our hypothesis that frequent discharges during sleep would alter normal brain magnetic source activity and thus affect cognitive function. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first MEG study of unmedicated SeLECTS (SWI < 50%), unmedicated SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%), and HC subjects, as

previous studies have mainly used fMRI and focused on relevant functional networks of the brain (42–44).

Clinical data and characteristics

Previous studies (10, 44) suggest that children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) have an earlier age of onset, longer disease duration, and more seizures than children with SeLECTS (SWI < 50%). However, we found no such patterns in our sample. During patient recruitment, we found that parents who become more aware of epilepsy disorders are inclined to go to the hospital immediately for even minor petit mal seizures or nocturnal episodes. This means that, regardless of the outcome of SeLECTS, in most cases patients were recruited at the time of the first one or two seizures, resulting in no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of duration of illness and number of seizures. However, at followup, we found that children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) were not as well controlled as children with SeLECTS (SWI < 50%), even with use of AEDs, and continued to have seizures. This further confirms that children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) have poorer outcomes, more difficult seizure control, and lower neuropsychological scores (42).

We found no significant difference in the age of onset of SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) compared to SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) children, which is likely because of the sample size. In addition, we did not find a significant correlation between the age at onset and duration of illness. We do not believe that there is a simple linear relationship between magnetic source intensity, age at onset, number of episodes, and duration of illness, which we plan to reconfirm in a larger sample (45).

Neuropsychological test results

We found that SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) patients and SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) scored significantly lower than healthy controls on both the VCI and WMI, although there was no significant difference between the two patient groups. This finding is similar



was statistically significant.



Typical magnetic source localization in the frequency band of 1–250 Hz for three groups of subjects. In the 8–12 and 12–30 Hz frequency bands, the SeLECTS (SWI ≥ 50%) group was inactivated in the PCC region, as indicated by the blue arrows. In the 30–80 Hz band, the HC group is activated in the PCC region as shown by the green arrow.

TABLE 3 Comparison of predominant neuromagnetic activity in the SeLECTS (SWI ≥ 50%), SeLECTS (SWI < 50%), and HC groups.

Frequency band (Hz)	Source location	SeLECTS (SWI ≥ 50%) (Group 1, <i>n</i> = 14)	SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) (Group 2, <i>n</i> = 21)	HC (Group 3, <i>n</i> = 20)	Þ	<i>P</i> : Group 1 vs. Group 2	<i>P</i> : Group 1 vs. Group 3	<i>P</i> : Group 2 vs. Group 3
1-4 Hz	PR	3	5	2	0.556			
	PCC	5	5	10	0.222			
	MFC	6	16	13	0.143			
	MTL	2	1	2	0.623			
	DBA	1	2	2	1.000			
4-8 Hz	PR	3	4	2	0.723			
	PCC	4	11	9	0.404			
	MFC	6	13	13	0.451			
	MTL	3	1	0	0.078			
	DBA	2	2	1	0.839			
8–12 Hz	PR	2	3	4	0.902			
	PCC	9	14	12	0.937			
	MFC	3	15	15	0.003*	0.006**	0.004**	1.000
	MTL	2	0	0	0.061			
	DBA	2	2	1	0.839			
12-30 Hz	PR	4	3	3	0.608			
	PCC	1	11	11	0.009*	0.01**	0.009**	1.000
	MFC	6	16	14	0.118			
	MTL	2	2	0	0.287			
	DBA	1	4	2	0.675			
30-80 Hz	PR	0	0	0	-			
	PCC	1	1	10	0.001*	1.000	0.011**	0.001**
	MFC	11	19	18	0.596			
	MTL	1	3	0	0.231			
	DBA	2	6	3	0.522			
80–250 Hz	PR	0	0	0	-			
	PCC	0	0	0	-			
	MFC	10	11	11	0.541			
	MTL	3	8	6	0.617			
	DBA	4	7	5	0.929			

10.3389/fneur.2022.956838

PR, peri-Rolandic area; PCC, posterior cingulate cortex; MFC, medial frontal cortex; MTL, medial temporal lobe; DBA, deep brain area.* p < 0.05 after Fishers exact test; ** p < 0.0167 after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. The number in the columns represents the number of patients showing this source localization.

Li et al.

Frequency band (Hz)	SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) (Group 1, $n = 14$)	SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) (Group 2, <i>n</i> = 21)	HC (Group 3, <i>n</i> = 20)	p	<i>P</i> : Group 1 vs. Group 2	<i>P</i> : Group 1 vs. Group 3	<i>P</i> : Group 2 vs. Group 3
1-4 Hz	89.97 ± 9.13	78.52 ± 5.64	76.34 ± 4.29	0.00*	0.001**	0.000**	0.432
4-8 Hz	79.32 ± 6.18	83.8 ± 5.3	81.55 ± 5.48	0.385	0.461	0.641	0.913
8–12 Hz	86.31 ± 12.38	79.10 ± 6.87	89.91 ± 5.61	0.05*	0.355	0.191	0.015
12-30 Hz	72.64 ± 5.28	72.82 ± 7.52	70.51 ± 4.28	0.414	0.931	0.311	0.221
30-80 Hz	53.86 ± 3.7	51.72 ± 4.54	56.51 ± 7.21	0.03*	0.357	0.429	0.048
80–250 Hz	39.21 ± 2.04	39.79 ± 3.2	41.29 ± 4.35	0.187	0.888	0.201	0.521

TABLE 4 Comparison of neuromagnetic source strength between the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%), SeLECTS (SWI < 50%), and HC groups.

*p < 0.05 after one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA); **p < 0.002 after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons.

to the results of previous scales assessing SeLECTS patients with unilateral and bilateral discharges (46). In the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group, four patients had bilateral discharges; in the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group, all 21 had unilateral discharges. However, we did not find a correlation between SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) and bilateral discharges. We hope to expand the sample size in a future study. In terms of total score and PRI, not only did the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group score significantly lower than the HC group, the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group also scored significantly lower than the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group. There is growing evidence (44, 47, 48) that, because the brain is at a critical stage of development during childhood, frequent epileptiform discharges during this period can affect the formation and development of neural protrusions, leading to widespread cognitive impairment in children with SeLECTS. The neural network theory of epilepsy suggests that abnormal discharges during the interictal period may affect the neuropsychological development of children more than the clinical seizures themselves (9, 49, 50). This could explain why children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) have worse cognitive function than SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) patients and healthy controls (42, 44); the higher the number of discharges during the interictal period, the greater the impact on cognitive function.

Our findings showed no significant difference in PSI between the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group, SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group, and healthy controls, which is inconsistent with previous studies of cognitive function in patients with initially diagnosed SeLECTS (35). However, some studies have reported non-significant differences between SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) patients and healthy controls in terms of PSI (46). A follow-up study of SeLECTS patients taking medication for 1 year found no significant increase in PSI over the1 year period (51). In terms of overall trends, we found that the PSI scores and mean scores of children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) were lower than those of healthy controls, but it did not reach the level of statistical significance. Thus, we plan to expand the sample size for further research.

Source localization

The magnetic source analysis revealed that the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group showed extensive deactivation of the PCC and MFC regions, specifically in the MFC region in the alpha (8–12 Hz) frequency band and in the PCC region in the beta (12–30 Hz) frequency band. In addition, in the gamma (30–80 Hz) frequency band, the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group showed inactivation in the PCC region. Although a clear mechanism of cognitive decline in children with SeLECTS has not been identified, some studies suggest that frequent interictal discharges can lead to altered magnetic sources in important brain regions, thus affecting the corresponding functions (40, 52, 53).

The brain functions with network properties that dynamically regulate information interactions between various systems. The default mode network (DMN) is an important network that maintains the basic state of the nervous system, remaining active during resting states and being inhibited during working states or in the presence of external stimuli. The DMN consists mainly of discrete, bilateral, and symmetrical cortical areas located in the medial and lateral parietal, medial prefrontal, and medial and lateral temporal cortices of the brain (54, 55). The MFC and PCC are well-known as core regions of the DMN, and the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) groups showed deactivation of MFC and PCC regions in the corresponding frequency bands, suggesting that DMN impairment is an important cause of cognitive decline in children with SeLECTS (56, 57).

Previous studies have found that prefrontal regions in patients with SeLECTS are associated with neuropsychological deficits (10). A study of brain white matter in patients with SeLECTS similarly found that reduced function of frontal regions may be responsible for cognitive impairment (58). In the present study, the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group under the alpha frequency band showed deactivation in the MFC region compared to the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) and HC groups, which explains why the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group had poorer cognitive function. Similarly, a study by Li et al. (45) found that

magnetic source activity in children with SeLECTS with poorer cognitive function was deactivated in the MFC region.

In a study of changes in brain magnetic activity and cognitive function in SeLECTS patients before and after AEDs, it was found that children with SeLECTS showed activation of the PCC region in several frequency bands after treatment, especially the gamma frequency band. Treated SeLECTS patients also showed significant improvement in VCI and PRI scores, suggesting that PCC regions are closely related to verbal comprehension and perceptual reasoning functions (51). Similarly, our study found that both the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) groups were inactivated in the PCC region in the gamma frequency band compared to the HC group. In the beta frequency band, only the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group showed deactivation in the PCC region, while the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) and HC groups showed activation, suggesting that PCC deactivation in multiple frequency bands affects, not only a specific band, affects patients cognitive function.

Previous studies (55, 56) suggest that network reorganization of the DMN leads to altered cognitive function in SeLECTS patients. Thus, in the present study, we hypothesized a causal relationship between magnet source inactivation and network reorganization, and that magnet source inactivation would lead to impaired corresponding functional connectivity of the DMN (45). In addition, we found no significant difference in the number of seizures between the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) and SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) groups. However, there was a significant difference in cognitive function between the two groups, which suggests that frequent nighttime sleep discharges are the main cause of cognitive decline in SeLECTS patients, rather than seizures.

Notably, not only in the SeLECTS group, but also in a MEG study of Childhood absence epilepsy (CAE), we found that the higher the frequency band, the more the magnetic source activity in epileptic patients tended to be distributed in the deep brain; the exact mechanism of this has not yet been clarified (40). In the future, we plan to analyze magnetic source activity in higher frequency bands by expanding the sample size and using more sophisticated MEG processing software.

Source strength

In the delta (1–4 Hz) frequency band, the magnetic source intensity in the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group was significantly higher than that in the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) group and HC group. In a prior MEG study (35) examining the cognitive function of children with SeLECTS not taking AEDs, we found that, in the gamma (30–80 Hz) frequency band, the magnetic source activity intensity was highest in SeLECTS children in the group with poorer cognitive function. These results are consistent with a previous MEG study (41) showing that increased magnetic source intensity in children with

epilepsy during the interictal period was attributed to frequent discharges. Another MEG study (53) of interictal discharges in SeLECTS confirmed our finding that patients with epilepsy who had interictal discharges had higher magnetic source intensity in the delta (1–4 Hz) frequency band.

Limitations

This study is subject to several limitations. Firstly, the sample size for each group was relatively small. We plan to expand the sample size to validate the experimental results in future studies. Secondly, because unable to assess the patient's eventual cognitive decline, we were making impossible to make a diagnosis of DEE-SWAS and EE-SWAS, and we will more fully document the patient's seizures and subsequent cognitive decline in a follow-up study. As a third point, we artifacts in EMG, ECG, and other signals may interfere with the acquisition of MEG information, although we utilized various methods to eliminate these effects. Finally, the technology of the magnetic source imaging software used in this study is limited; therefore, we need to use other magnetic source imaging software in follow-up research to validate these results.

Conclusion

This study investigated the relationship between magnetic brain activity and cognitive function in children with SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) compared to SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) patients and healthy controls. We found a significant decrease in cognitive function in the SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) group compared to the SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) and HC groups, and a significant difference in magnetic source activity between the three groups. Deactivation of magnetic source activity in the PCC and MFC regions was the main cause of cognitive function decline in SeLECTS patients and showed some frequency dependence. We intend to follow up with these patients and to clarify the prognosis of SeLECTS (SWI \geq 50%) vs. SeLECTS (SWI < 50%) and the corresponding changes in magnetic brain activity.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing Brain Hospital and Nanjing Children's Hospital. Written informed consent to participate in this study
was provided by the patients/participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

YaL, YiL, JS, and XW designed the research. YaL, YX, KN, and PW recruited the participants and analyzed the data. YaL, YW, KZ, and QC acquired the images. XW revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final submitted version and agreed to be accountable for its content.

Funding

This study was supported by the General Program of Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (Grant No. BK20191127), the Health Department of Jiangsu Province (Grant No. H2018062), the Medical and Health International

References

1. Dryzałowski P, Józwiak S, Franckiewicz M, Strzelecka J. Benign epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes - current concepts of diagnosis and treatment. *Neurol Neurochir Pol.* (2018) 52:677–89. doi: 10.1016/j.pjnns.2018. 08.010

2. Specchio N, Wirrell EC, Scheffer IE, Nabbout R, Riney K, Samia P, et al. International league against epilepsy classification and definition of epilepsy syndromes with onset in childhood: position paper by the ILAE task force on nosology and definitions. *Epilepsia*. (2022) 63:1398–442. doi: 10.1111/epi. 17241

3. Berg AT, Berkovic SF, Brodie MJ, Buchhalter J, Cross JH, van Emde Boas W, et al. Revised terminology and concepts for organization of seizures and epilepsies: report of the ILAE commission on classification and terminology, 2005-2009. *Epilepsia*. (2010) 51:676–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2010.02522.x

4. Liu MJ, Su XJ, Md XS, Wu GF, Zhang YQ, Gao L, et al. Clinical features of benign epilepsy of childhood with centrotemporal spikes in chinese children. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e5623. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000005623

5. Piccinelli P, Borgatti R, Aldini A, Bindelli D, Ferri M, Perna S, et al. Academic performance in children with rolandic epilepsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2008) 50:353–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2008.02040.x

6. Parisi P, Paolino MC, Raucci U, Ferretti A, Villa MP, Trenite DK. "Atypical forms" of benign epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes (BECTS): how to diagnose and guide these children. a practical/scientific approach. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2017) 75:165–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.08.001

7. Genizi J, Shamay-Tsoory SG, Shahar E, Yaniv S, Aharon-Perez J. Impaired social behavior in children with benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *J Child Neurol.* (2012) 27:156–61. doi: 10.1177/0883073811414420

Ciumas C, Laurent A, Saignavongs M, Ilski F, de Bellescize J, Panagiotakaki E, et al. Behavioral and fMRI responses to fearful faces are altered in benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes (BCECTS). *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:1716–27. doi: 10.1111/epi.13858

9. Vannest J, Tenney JR, Gelineau-Morel R, Maloney T, Glauser TA. Cognitive and behavioral outcomes in benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2015) 45:85–91. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.01.041

10. He W, Liu H, Liu Z, Wu Q. Electrical status epilepticus in sleep affects intrinsically connected networks in patients with benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 106:107032. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107032

Cooperation Project of Nanjing Municipal Science and Technology Bureau (Grant No. 201911044), and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 82071455).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

11. Galanopoulou AS, Bojko A, Lado F, Moshé SL. The spectrum of neuropsychiatric abnormalities associated with electrical status epilepticus in sleep. *Brain Dev.* (2000) 22:279–95. doi: 10.1016/S0387-7604(00)00127-3

12. Li R, Liao W, Yu Y, Chen H, Guo X, Tang YL, et al. Differential patterns of dynamic functional connectivity variability of striato-cortical circuitry in children with benign epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2018) 39:1207–17. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23910

13. Magara S, Komatsubara T, Hojo M, Kobayashi Y, Yoshino M, Saitoh A, et al. The association of epileptic focus estimated by magnetoencephalography with cognitive function in non-lesional epilepsy with continuous spikes and waves during slow wave sleep (ECSWS) children. *Brain Dev.* (2019) 41:163–72. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2018.09.005

14. Wickens S, Bowden SC, D'Souza W. Cognitive functioning in children with self-limited epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:1673–85. doi: 10.1111/epi.13865

15. Overvliet GM, Besseling RM, Jansen JF, van der Kruijs SJ, Vles JS, Hofman PA, et al. Early onset of cortical thinning in children with rolandic epilepsy. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2013) 2:434–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2013.03.008

16. Patry G, Lyagoubi S, Tassinari CA. Subclinical "electrical status epilepticus" induced by sleep in children. a clinical and electroencephalographic study of six cases. *Arch Neurol.* (1971) 24:242–52. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1971.00480330070006

17. Weber AB, Albert DV, Yin H, Held TP, Patel AD. Diagnosis of electrical status epilepticus during slow-wave sleep with 100 seconds of sleep. *J Clin Neurophysiol.* (2017) 34:65–8. doi: 10.1097/WNP.00000000000307

18. Wiwattanadittakul N, Depositario-Cabacar D, Zelleke TG. Electrical status epilepticus in sleep (ESES) - treatment pattern and EEG outcome in children with very high spike-wave index. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 105:106965. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.106965

19. Kevelam SH, Jansen FE, Binsbergen E, Braun KP, Verbeek NE, Lindhout D, et al. Copy number variations in patients with electrical status epilepticus in sleep. *J Child Neurol.* (2012) 27:178–82. doi: 10.1177/0883073811416006

20. Inutsuka M, Kobayashi K, Oka M, Hattori J, Ohtsuka Y. Treatment of epilepsy with electrical status epilepticus during slow sleep and its related disorders. *Brain Dev.* (2006) 28:281–6. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2005.09.004

21. Scheltens-de Boer M. Guidelines for EEG in encephalopathy related to ESES/CSWS in children. *Epilepsia.* (2009) 50:13–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02211.x

22. Wilson TW, Heinrichs-Graham E, Proskovec AL, McDermott TJ. Neuroimaging with magnetoencephalography: a dynamic view of brain pathophysiology. *Transl Res.* (2016) 175:17–36. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2016.01.007

23. Guggisberg AG, Honma SM, Findlay AM, Dalal SS, Kirsch HE, Berger MS, et al. Mapping functional connectivity in patients with brain lesions. *Ann Neurol.* (2008) 63:193–203. doi: 10.1002/ana.21224

24. Burgess RC. Evaluation of brain connectivity: the role of magnetoencephalography. *Epilepsia.* (2011) 52:28–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03148.x

25. Harmsen IE, Rowland NC, Wennberg RA, Lozano AM. Characterizing the effects of deep brain stimulation with magnetoencephalography: a review. *Brain Stimul.* (2018) 11:481–91. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2017.12.016

26. Wang Z, Zhang Z, Liao W, Xu Q, Zhang J, Lu W, et al. Frequency-dependent amplitude alterations of resting-state spontaneous fluctuations in idiopathic generalized epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (2014) 108:853–60. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2014.03.003

27. Kudo T, Nishida T, Yagi K. Discontinuation and duration of antiepileptic drug therapy: a retrospective study of factors for specific epileptic syndromes. *Epilepsia.* (2004) 45:26–32. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.458006.x

28. Stephen J, Weir CJ, Chin RF. Temporal trends in incidence of Rolandic epilepsy, prevalence of comorbidities and prescribing trends: birth cohort study. *Arch Dis Child.* (2020) 105:569–74. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2019-318212

29. Xu Q, Hu Z, Yang F, Bernhardt BC, Zhang Q, Stufflebeaskm SM, et al. Resting state signal latency assesses the propagation of intrinsic activations and estimates anti-epileptic effect of levetiracetam in Rolandic epilepsy. *Brain Res Bull.* (2020) 162:125–31. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2020.05.016

30. Wu L, Yang X, Wang X, Yu S, Yang B. The attention networks in benign epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes: a long-term follow-up study. *J Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 88:22–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2021.03.022

31. Tekgul H, Kanmaz S, Serin HM, Yilmaz S. Spike wave characteristics and temporal spike evolution on serial EEG in childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Seizure*. (2021) 87:75–80. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2021.02.032

32. Fisher RS, Cross JH, French JA, Higurashi N, Hirsch E, Jansen FE, et al. Operational classification of seizure types by the international league against epilepsy: position paper of the ILAE commission for classification and terminology. *Epilepsia.* (2017) 58:522–30. doi: 10.1111/epi.13670

33. Gencpinar P, Dundar NO, Tekgul H. Electrical status epilepticus in sleep (ESES)/continuous spikes and waves during slow sleep (CSWS) syndrome in children: an electroclinical evaluation according to the EEG patterns. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 61:107–11. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.05.014

34. Baron IS. Test review: wechsler intelligence scale for childrenfourth edition (WISC-IV). *Child Neuropsychol.* (2005) 11:471– 5. doi: 10.1080/09297040590951587

35. Li Y, Sun Y, Zhang T, Shi Q, Sun J, Xiang J, et al. The relationship between epilepsy and cognitive function in benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Brain Behav.* (2020) 10:e01854. doi: 10.1002/brb3.1854

36. Yang P, Cheng CP, Chang CL, Liu TL, Hsu HY, Yen CF. Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children 4th edition-Chinese version index scores in Taiwanese children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 67:83–91. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12014

37. Xiang J, Tenney JR, Korman AM, Leiken K, Rose DF, Harris E, et al. Quantification of interictal neuromagnetic activity in absence epilepsy with accumulated source imaging. *Brain Topogr.* (2015) 28:904–14. doi: 10.1007/s10548-014-0411-5

38. Jiang W, Sun J, Xiang J, Sun Y, Tang L, Zhang K, et al. Altered neuromagnetic activity in persistent postural-perceptual dizziness: a multifrequency magnetoencephalography study. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2022) 16:759103. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2022.759103

39. Miao A, Wang Y, Xiang J, Liu Q, Chen Q, Qiu W, et al. Ictal source locations and cortico-thalamic connectivity in childhood absence epilepsy: associations with treatment response. *Brain Topogr.* (2019) 32:178–91. doi: 10.1007/s10548-018-0680-5

40. Sun J, Gao Y, Miao A, Yu C, Tang L, Huang S, et al. Multifrequency dynamics of cortical neuromagnetic activity underlying seizure termination in absence epilepsy. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2020) 14:221. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.00221

41. Xiang J, Korman A, Samarasinghe KM, Wang X, Zhang F, Qiao H, et al. Volumetric imaging of brain activity with spatial-frequency decoding of neuromagnetic signals. *J Neurosci Methods*. (2015) 239:114–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.10.007

42. Ucar HK, Arhan E, Aydin K, Hirfanoglu T, Serdaroglu A. Electrical status epilepticus during sleep (ESES) in benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes (BCECTS): insights into predictive factors, and clinical and EEG outcomes. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2022) 26:1885–96. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_202203_28334

43. Uliel-Sibony S, Kramer U. Benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes (BCECTSs), electrical status epilepticus in sleep (ESES), and academic decline-how aggressive should we be? *Epilepsy Behav.* (2015) 44:117– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.01.004

44. Nissenkorn A, Pappo A, Feldmann Y, Heimer G, Bar-Yosef O, Tzadok M, et al. Influence of epileptic activity during sleep on cognitive performance in benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2017) 21:858–63. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2017.07.001

45. Li Y, Sun Y, Niu K, Wang P, Xiang J, Chen Q, et al. The relationship between neuromagnetic activity and cognitive function in benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 112:107363. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107363

46. Wang P, Li Y, Sun Y, Sun J, Niu K, Zhang K, et al. Altered functional connectivity in newly diagnosed benign epilepsy with unilateral or bilateral centrotemporal spikes: a multi-frequency MEG study. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2021) 124:108276. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.108276

47. De Negri M, Baglietto MG, Battaglia FM, Gaggero R, Pessagno A, Recanati L. Treatment of electrical status epilepticus by short diazepam (DZP) cycles after DZP rectal bolus test. *Brain Dev.* (1995) 17:330–3. doi: 10.1016/0387-7604(95)00076-N

48. Luo C, Zhang Y, Cao W, Huang Y, Yang F, Wang J, et al. Altered structural and functional feature of striato-cortical circuit in benign epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Int J Neural Syst.* (2015) 25:1550027. doi: 10.1142/S0129065715500276

49. Kobayashi K, Nishibayashi N, Ohtsuka Y, Oka E, Ohtahara S. Epilepsy with electrical status epilepticus during slow sleep and secondary bilateral synchrony. *Epilepsia*. (1994) 35:1097–103. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1994.tb02561.x

50. Samaitiene R, Norkuniene J, Tumiene B, Grikiniene J. Sleep and behavioral problems in rolandic epilepsy. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2013) 48:115–22. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2012.10.012

51. Niu K, Li Y, Zhang T, Sun J, Sun Y, Shu M, et al. Impact of antiepileptic drugs on cognition and neuromagnetic activity in childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes: a magnetoencephalography study. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2021) 15:720596. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2021.720596

52. Zhang K, Sun J, Sun Y, Niu K, Wang P, Wu C, et al. Pretreatment source location and functional connectivity network correlated with therapy response in childhood absence epilepsy: a magnetoencephalography study. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:692126. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.692126

53. Zhang T, Shi Q, Li Y, Gao Y, Sun J, Miao A, et al. Frequencydependent interictal neuromagnetic activities in children with benign epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes: a magnetoencephalography (MEG) study. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2020) 14:264. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.00264

54. Raichle ME. The brain's default mode network. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2015) 38:433-47. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-071013-014030

55. Parsons N, Bowden SC, Vogrin S, D'Souza WJ. Default mode network dysfunction in idiopathic generalised epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (2020) 159:106254. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2019.106254

56. Fahoum F, Zelmann R, Tyvaert L, Dubeau F, Gotman J. Epileptic discharges affect the default mode network–FMRI and intracerebral EEG evidence. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e68038. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068038

57. Tenney JR, Fujiwara H, Horn PS, Vannest J, Xiang J, Glauser TA, et al. Low- and high-frequency oscillations reveal distinct absence seizure networks. *Ann Neurol.* (2014) 76:558–67. doi: 10.1002/ana. 24231

58. Jiang Y, Song L, Li X, Zhang Y, Chen Y, Jiang S, et al. Dysfunctional white-matter networks in medicated and unmedicated benign epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2019) 40:3113–24. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24584

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rani Sarkis, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

REVIEWED BY

Silvia Kochen, Hospital EL Cruce, Argentina Maurizio Gorgoni, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Taira Uehara tuehara@iuhw.ac.jp

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 27 June 2022 ACCEPTED 25 October 2022 PUBLISHED 10 November 2022

CITATION

Okadome T, Yamaguchi T, Mukaino T, Sakata A, Ogata K, Shigeto H, Isobe N and Uehara T (2022) The effect of interictal epileptic discharges and following spindles on motor sequence learning in epilepsy patients. *Front. Neurol.* 13:979333. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.979333

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Okadome, Yamaguchi, Mukaino, Sakata, Ogata, Shigeto, Isobe and Uehara. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The effect of interictal epileptic discharges and following spindles on motor sequence learning in epilepsy patients

Toshiki Okadome¹, Takahiro Yamaguchi¹, Takahiko Mukaino¹, Ayumi Sakata², Katsuya Ogata³, Hiroshi Shigeto⁴, Noriko Isobe¹ and Taira Uehara^{1,5}*

¹Department of Neurology, Neurological Institute, Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan, ²Department of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine, Kyushu University Hospital, Fukuoka, Japan, ³Department of Pharmacy, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences at Fukuoka, International University of Health and Welfare, Okawa, Japan, ⁴Division of Medical Technology, Department of Health Sciences, Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan, ⁵Department of Neurology, School of Medicine, International University of Health and Welfare Narita Hospital, Narita, Japan

Purpose: Interictal epileptic discharges (IEDs) are known to affect cognitive function in patients with epilepsy, but the mechanism has not been elucidated. Sleep spindles appearing in synchronization with IEDs were recently demonstrated to impair memory consolidation in rat, but this has not been investigated in humans. On the other hand, the increase of sleep spindles at night after learning is positively correlated with amplified learning effects during sleep for motor sequence learning. In this study, we examined the effects of IEDs and IED-coupled spindles on motor sequence learning in patients with epilepsy, and clarified their pathological significance.

Materials and methods: Patients undergoing long-term videoelectroencephalography (LT-VEEG) at our hospital from June 2019 to November 2021 and age-matched healthy subjects were recruited. Motor sequence learning consisting of a finger-tapping task was performed before bedtime and the next morning, and the improvement rate of performance was defined as the sleep-dependent learning effect. We searched for factors associated with the changes in learning effect observed between the periods of when antiseizure medications (ASMs) were withdrawn for LT-VEEG and when they were returned to usual doses after LT-VEEG.

Results: Excluding six patients who had epileptic seizures at night after learning, nine patients and 11 healthy subjects were included in the study. In the patient group, there was no significant learning effect when ASMs were withdrawn. The changes in learning effect of the patient group during ASM withdrawal were not correlated with changes in sleep duration or IED density; however, they were significantly negatively correlated with changes in IED-coupled spindle density.

Conclusion: We found that the increase of IED-coupled spindles correlated with the decrease of sleep-dependent learning effects of procedural memory. Pathological IED-coupled sleep spindles could hinder memory consolidation, that is dependent on physiological sleep spindles, resulting in cognitive dysfunction in patients with epilepsy.

KEYWORDS

interictal epileptic discharge, spindle, focal epilepsy, motor sequence learning, nonrapid eye movement sleep

Introduction

Patients with epilepsy demonstrate chronic cognitive dysfunction, which is a major cause of quality of life impairment (1). Epileptic seizures, interictal epileptic discharges (IEDs), antiseizure medications (ASMs), psychiatric symptoms, and brain pathology are thought to be the causes of the cognitive dysfunction (2). IEDs are paroxysmal electroencephalographic findings and occur specifically in patients with epilepsy (3, 4). IEDs reflect the paroxysmal hypersynchronous firings of large neuronal populations, including normative neurons. Replacing the neuronal firings subserving physiological functions with the pathological ones at each IED could lead to transient cognitive dysfunction (5). Actually, there have been many reports about the instantaneous effects of IEDs during cognitive tasks (5-9). Generalized IEDs and IEDs with long duration are known to delay reaction time to stimuli regardless of the type and severity of epilepsy (10, 11). IEDs in the hippocampus and temporal lobe at the encoding and retrieval phase of the verbal memory tasks worsen recall performance in patients with drug-resistant focal epilepsy (12-15). Furthermore, recent studies indicate that IEDs may also have adverse effects on memory processing on a longer time scale, the consolidation of memory (16-18). IEDs during non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep particularly cause a decline of recall rate in patients with drug-resistant focal epilepsy (17), suggesting IEDs could deteriorate declarative memory consolidation by replacing neural activity involved in synaptic plasticity during NREM sleep. All of these studies were conducted using declarative memory tasks, and no study investigates the effect of IEDs on long-term memory using procedural memory tasks.

Sleep spindles are neural oscillations observed during NREM sleep with a frequency between 9 and 16 Hz and are associated with various cognitive functions. Especially, they have a central role in memory consolidation, in

which synchronous activities across hippocampal sharp-wave ripples, sleep spindles, and cortical slow oscillations enhance hippocampal to cortex information transfer (19). Indeed, reduced coordination between sleep spindles and cortical slow oscillations correlates with impaired memory consolidation in patients with schizophrenia (20) and healthy elderly individuals (21). Among neural activities during NREM sleep, sleep spindles have often been investigated in relation to synaptic plasticity changes, particularly concerning procedural memory. Sleep spindle density increases after procedural memory tasks and the degree of increment correlates with the degree of improvement in performance (22, 23).

Recently, activities in the spindle frequency band following IEDs have been observed during NREM sleep in both rats and humans (24–26). The characteristics of individual IEDcoupled spindles, such as duration, amplitude, frequency, and spatial distribution, are no different from physiological ones (24, 26). These findings indicate physiological and IED-coupled spindles share their generation mechanism. Accordingly, it has been hypothesized that IEDs disturb memory consolidation by inducing sleep spindles with inappropriate timing and replacing their physiological counterparts. Actually, these IEDcoupled spindles have been reported to impair memory in rats (26) but there have been no reports that directly examine the effects of IED-coupled spindles on cognitive function in humans.

Motor sequence learning, classified as procedural memory, is one of the well-established tasks to study synaptic plasticity during sleep (27, 28). It exhibits a sleep-dependent learning effect, in which the content learned before sleep is enhanced by subsequent sleep without additional training and is attenuated by sleep deprivation, especially in NREM sleep (29, 30). This sleep-dependent learning effect positively correlates with spindle density in NREM sleep after learning (23). Only two studies have investigated sleep-dependent learning effect of patients with epilepsy to our knowledge. One compared the learning effect of epilepsy patients with that of healthy subjects; the former tended to be weaker than the latter, although the difference was not significant (31). The other study examined the impact of epileptic seizures on the learning effect of patients

Abbreviations: ASM, antiseizure medication; IED, interictal epileptic discharge; LT-VEEG, log-term video-encephalography; NREM, non-rapid eye movement.

with epilepsy, proposing epileptic seizures themselves could impair learning effect; however, the impact of IEDs was not investigated (32).

The aim of this study is to elucidate the mechanism by which IEDs cause cognitive dysfunction in patients with epilepsy. If the effects of IEDs on cognitive function are clarified in this study, IEDs themselves could be targeted for the treatment of chronic cognitive dysfunction in epileptic patients. We hypothesized that IEDs or IED-coupled spindles during NREM sleep could disrupt sleep-dependent learning effects of motor sequence learning by interfering with physiological neural activity involved in synaptic plasticity. To verify this hypothesis, we conducted motor sequence learning in patients with epilepsy and studied the relationship between results of the overnight electroencephalography (EEG) analysis and sleep-dependent learning effect.

Materials and methods

The present study was a prospective observational study with minor task intervention in patients with focal epilepsy who were treated at Kyushu University Hospital and agematched healthy subjects, approved by the Kyushu University Institutional Review Board for Clinical Research (20192003). We attempted to corroborate the existence of sleep-dependent learning disability in patients with epilepsy by comparing their learning effect with healthy controls. Furthermore, we aimed to determine the effect of IEDs and IED-coupled spindles on learning disability by performing the same intervention to the same patient at two time points (Trials 1 and 2) with different IED densities, then analyzing the correlation between the degree of change in learning effect vs. that of IEDs and IED-coupled spindles.

Subjects selection

In the epilepsy patient group, patients between the ages of 18 and 75 years were included who were diagnosed with focal epilepsy and scheduled to undergo long-term videoelectroencephalography (LT-VEEG) with ASM withdrawal at Kyushu University Hospital between June 1, 2019, and December 31, 2021 for clinical necessity. The validity of diagnosis was assessed by at least two expert epileptologists. We excluded patients who had been previously diagnosed with neurological or psychiatric disorders other than epilepsy, had undergone epilepsy surgery, had upper limb motor dysfunction, were professional musicians or typists, or worked at night.

In the healthy group, subjects between ages of 18 and 75 were included who were physically and mentally healthy and were not professional musicians, typists, nor night shift workers.

Task

The experiment was run in PsychoPy, an open-source experimental-control software package (33). A finger-tapping task was conducted in accordance with previous studies (34-36). Subjects were asked to type on a keyboard a sequence of five numbers from 1 to 4 (e.g., 4-1-3-2-4) with designated fingers of their non-dominant arm (1: index finger, 2: middle finger, 3: ring finger, 4: little finger). We prepared a desktop computer, displayed a digit sequence on the screen, and asked subjects to type the numbers shown on the screen. If they typed correctly, the bar displayed under the number moved to the next number, and if they typed incorrectly, the bar did not move and a warning buzzer sounded. Each block consisted of a 30-s typing period when subjects were instructed to type continuously the numbers as accurately and quickly as possible, followed by a 30-s break period when the subjects were asked to do nothing but stare at the center of the screen. Twelve blocks were performed during the training session before sleep, and three blocks were performed during the retest session the next morning. We prepared two types of digit sequences (4-1-3-2-4 and 2-3-1-4-2) and changed the sequences between Trials 1 and 2 for each subject. The sequence used for each trial was randomly and equally assigned among subjects to avoid bias. The number of digit sequences that were correctly typed for each block was added up, and the average sequence numbers correctly typed during the last three blocks of the training session were compared with those of the retest session (three blocks). The difference between the two sessions was divided by the average of the final three blocks of the training session, multiplied by 100, and expressed as a percentage; this was defined as the sleep-dependent learning effect in this study.

Overall design

The overall design of this study is shown in Figure 1. Since the measurability of IEDs depends on where the seizure onset zone is located (37), we decided to employ percentage differences for normalization by obtaining IED data of two distinct ASM statuses: the ASM withdrawal period when IEDs are expected to increase and the regular medication period when IEDs are expected to stabilize and diminish. Due to conducting the same learning task twice to a subject within a short timeframe, the potential for the skill and familiarity acquired at the first learning intervention causing a cross-learning effect for the second had to be considered. If there was a difference of learning effect between the two interventions, we could not establish whether the difference was attributed to the cross-learning effect or change in IEDs. Thus, we conducted the same interventions to the healthy group for control. Taking into consideration the minimum time needed to return to a steady state after



resuming usual doses of ASMs, the two learning interventions were conducted within a week of each other. This 1-week interval ensured the two interventions could be completed within the same hospital stay. In the healthy group, subjects visited our analysis room in the Kyushu University Hospital at 8:00 p.m., and after a medical interview and brief guidance they underwent the training session of a finger-tapping task. After the training session, the subjects were asked not to practice, recall the task, or use any electronic devices and instruments that required finger tapping, which might interfere with the consolidation of motor sequence learning, and to go to bed as usual. The next morning at 8:00 a.m., they underwent the retest session using the same digit sequence in our analysis room. For the patient group, we visited the patient's room at 8:00 p.m. and the next morning at 8:00 a.m. and administered the same intervention as the healthy subjects. The first trial was conducted on the second night of hospitalization when ASMs were temporarily withdrawn to induce seizures due to clinical necessity as part of LT-VEEG (Trial 1). The second trial was conducted on the ninth night of hospitalization after ASMs were returned to their usual doses (Trial 2). In the healthy control group, the start date of Trial 1 was set according to the subject's convenience, and Trial 2 was conducted 1 week later.

Data acquisition

In the patient group, an overnight EEG was recorded on the night after each training session as part of LT-VEEG using the Nihon Kohden Neurofax. Nineteen scalp electrodes (Fp1/Fp2/F3/F4/C3/C4/P3/P4/O1/O2/F7/F8/T3/T4/T5/T6/Fz/ Cz/Pz) were placed according to the International 10-20 method. The average of C3 and C4 was employed as the system reference for recordings. Referential derivation (unipolar derivation) referring to the electrode placed on the ipsilateral mastoid was used to determine sleep stage and detect spindles, while referential derivation and multiple bipolar derivations were used to detect IEDs. Electrooculogram and electromyogram were recorded simultaneously with EEG. Overnight EEG was recorded in a private hospital ward room specialized for LT-VEEG and soundproofed with adequately controlled temperature. Electrode impedances were measured and dropped below 10 $k\Omega$ by skilled clinical neurophysiologists before recording. EEG recordings were constantly checked, and electrode detachment was promptly corrected. All scalp electrodes (Fp1/Fp2/F3/F4/C3/C4/P3/P4/O1/O2/F7/F8/T3/T4/T5/T6/Fz/ Pz/Cz) were used to detect IEDs and determine the stage of sleep, and nine electrodes (F3/F4/C3/C4/P3/P4/Fz/Cz/Pz) were

used to detect spindles. The sampling frequency was 1 kHz. In line with the 2012 criteria of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM) (38), two expert electroencephalographers determined sleep stages for every 30-s epoch of EEG recordings from 8:00 p.m. to 8:00 a.m. the next morning. They visually identified spikes, sharp waves, spike-and-slow-wave complexes, sharp-and-slow-wave complexes, polyspike complexes, and polyspike-and-slow-wave complexes during NREM sleep as IEDs using standard amplitude and duration criteria (39). Specifically, a spike or sharp wave was recognized as a transient, clearly distinguished from background activity, with a pointed peak, amplitude larger than 50 μ V, and duration between 20 and 70 ms (spike) or 70 and 200 ms (sharp wave). A sequence of two or more spikes was labeled a polyspike complex. They were modified as a spike-and-slow-wave complex, sharp-and-slow-wave complex, or a polyspike-and-slow-wave complex if an associated slow wave separate from background activity followed them. Differences in findings between the two electroencephalographers were reconciled later.

Spindle autodetection

All analyses of the acquired EEG signals were performed in MATLAB 2018b (The Mathworks Inc., Natick, MA, USA). Spindles were automatically detected in all NREM sleep recordings by the previously adopted algorithm in a study on epilepsy patients and model rats (26). In this algorithm that captures activity above a predefined threshold after normalization, contamination by artificial or pathological highamplitude signals could precipitate the underestimation of spindles. Therefore, we excluded epochs containing artifacts or visually detected IEDs from the analysis and rejected all outliers before normalization, as described later. The raw data were downsampled to 256 Hz and then notch-filtered at 60 Hz and its multiples to remove the effects of alternating current. The downsampled data were first band-pass filtered from 1 to 50 Hz to extract broadband data, then band-pass filtered from 10 to 20 Hz to extract spindle-band data. After excluding outliers (exceeding the third quartile + 1.5*interquartile range), the power values of the amplitudes were extracted using the Hilbert transform and standardized for each electrode by its average value. For discerning spindle shape, we selected continuous activity above 1 standard deviation (SD) with a peak of more than 3 SDs and duration between 0.5 and 2s as spindle candidates. To exclude false positives stemming from other frequencies, power spectrum analysis was performed on the broadband data within the timeframe of each detected spindle candidate, and those which maximum frequencies were between 11 and 16 Hz were extracted as spindles. These parameters follow a previous study detecting IED-coupled spindles (26). To validate the possible effects of IEDs on spindle detection, we calculated recall value, precision value, and F-score for each patient by comparing the spindles visually identified by a skilled electroencephalographer, independent from the analysis, with those detected by the algorithm (40). Then, we compared these parameters between the patient groups with and without IEDs. This validation was performed on the continuous 1-h sleep records in Trial 1 at C3 when epileptic activities were assumed to be the most influential due to the withdrawal of ASMs. Among the detected spindles, we defined those that began within 1 s after peak of IED as pathological spindles (24, 26). Pathological spindles were detected for each electrode, and the density of pathological spindles was calculated by dividing the number of spindles by the duration of NREM sleep.

Statistics

All statistical analyses were performed using JMP 14.0 statistical software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). P-value < 0.05 was regarded as statistically significant in all statistical analyses. As epileptic seizures have been reported to impair sleep-dependent learning effects in motor sequence learning, patients who had seizures at the night after training sessions were excluded to focus purely on the effects of IEDs (32). The number of correctly-typed sequences per block was compared between the patient group and control group using a linear mixed model (LMM) for each trial. The number of correctly-typed sequences per block was assigned as the dependent variable; groups (epilepsy and control), blocks (12 training and three retest), and group*block interaction as fixed effects; and each subject as a random effect. The means of sleep-dependent learning effect for each group in each trial was compared to zero using the one-sample t-test. Moreover, to verify whether there was a difference in sleep-dependent learning effect between Trials 1 and 2 excluding the potential cross-learning effect due to acquired skill and familiarity at Trial 1 affecting learning effect at Trial 2, we compared the means of sleep-dependent learning effect between different groups and trials using a LMM. Sleepdependent learning effect was set as the dependent variable; the groups (epilepsy and control), trials (Trials 1 and 2), and their interaction as fixed effects; and each subject as a random effect.

In the epilepsy group, we explored possible factors that could have had an association with the change in learning effect between Trials 1 and 2 using simple linear regression analysis with Bonferroni correction. Changes between Trials 1 and 2 in NREM sleep duration, IED density during NREM sleep, all spindle density during NREM sleep, and pathological spindle density during NREM sleep were assessed. The relationship in absolute values, not in changes, between these explanatory variables and the sleep-dependent learning effect was also evaluated separately for each trial. Since pathological spindles assume the presence of IEDs, patients whose EEG did not have discernable IEDs were excluded from regression analyses on IEDs and pathological spindles.



Study population. Fifteen patients with epilepsy and 12 healthy subjects were recruited. Excluding six patients who had epileptic seizures the night after training and one healthy subject whose recordings were defective, we compared sleep-dependent learning effects between nine patients and 11 healthy controls. Then, we exploratively analyzed the factors associated with changes in sleep dependent-learning effect between Trials 1 and 2. When we analyzed about IED and pathological spindle, we excluded three patients who did not have any IEDs. IED, interictal epileptic discharge.

Results

Demographics

The study population is shown in Figure 2. Fifteen patients with epilepsy and 12 healthy subjects were recruited. Six patients who had epileptic seizures the night after training sessions were excluded. We excluded one healthy subject who had an incomplete study record due to a problem with computer operation. We examined whether there was a difference in sleepdependent learning effects between the nine epilepsy patients and 11 healthy subjects. We also analyzed the correlation with sleep-dependent learning effects in all the nine patients for NREM sleep duration and all detected spindle density, and in six patients, excluding a further three patients without IEDs (Patients 4, 6, and 9), for IED density and pathological spindle density. The demographics of the nine patients are shown in Supplementary Table 1. Mean age was 28.7 years (SD = 10.6years) in the patient group and 30.2 years (SD = 10.8 years) in the healthy group, with no significant difference $[t_{(17.5)}, P =$ 0.76]. All subjects in both the patient and healthy groups were right-handed. Age of onset, duration of illness, seizure focus, and ASM varied among patients. We visually detected IEDs in six patients (Patients 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, and 8). The mean IED density among the six patients was 3.3/min (SD = 4.5/min) in Trial 1 and 2.5/min (SD = 3.9/min) in Trial 2. Sleep variables for the patient group are shown in Supplementary Table 2. Upon

withdrawal of ASMs, six patients (66.7%) experienced reduction in NREM sleep duration, and all six patients with IEDs exhibited a rise in IED density. When the means of these variables between Trials 1 and 2 were compared by the paired *t*-test, there was a significant difference in IED density [$t_{(5)} = -3.1$, P = 0.028], but not in sleep variables (Supplementary Table 2).

Motor sequence learning and its sleep-dependent learning effect

In Trial 1, a LMM for number of correctly typed sequences demonstrated the main effects of group $[F_{(1,18)} = 11.9, P = 0.0028]$ and block $[F_{(14,252)} = 32.2, P < 0.0001]$, and the interaction effect between them to be significant $[F_{(14,252)} = 2.3, P = 0.0052]$. A following *post-hoc* Tukey HSD test clarified that the number of correctly-typed sequences per block in the epilepsy group was significantly lower than in the control group for all blocks of the retest session as shown in Figure 3 [block 1: 13.1 (SD = 5.9) vs. 24.8 (SD = 7.6), P = 0.013; block 2: 15.3 (SD = 6.3) vs. 26.9 (SD = 7.4), P = 0.015; block 3: 28 (SD = 7.9) vs. 15.8 (SD = 5.2), P = 0.0062]. Although a LMM for Trial 2 showed significant main effects in groups $[F_{(1,18)} = 9.0, P = 0.0076]$ and blocks $[F_{(14,252)} = 38.7, P < 0.001]$, there was no significant interaction between them $[F_{(14,252)} = 1.3, P = 0.22]$. While none of the healthy subjects' performances



control group was significantly higher than that of the epilepsy patient group in all blocks of the retest session in Trial 1, as marked by asterisks. HC, healthy controls; Epi, patients with epilepsy.

deteriorated after sleep, two patients (22.2%) in Trial 1 and two patients (22.2%) in Trial 2 had worsened results after sleep. In the healthy group, the mean sleep-dependent learning effect was 13.8% (95%CI = 10.2-17.5%) in Trial 1 and 14.9% (95%CI = 8.24–21.6%) in Trial 2 (Figure 4), and significantly >0 in both Trials 1 $[t_{(10)} = 8.4, P < 0.001]$ and 2 $[t_{(10)} = 5.0, P = 0.006]$. In the patient group, the mean sleep-dependent learning effect was 1.0% (95%CI = -13.7-15.7%) in Trial 1 and 9.3% (95%CI = 1.42–17.3%) in Trial 2, and significantly greater zero in Trial 2 $[t_{(8)} = 2.7, P = 0.026]$ but not Trial 1 $[t_{(8)} = 0.16, P =$ 0.87]. A LMM for sleep-dependent learning effect discovered a significant main effect of group $[F_{(1,18)} = 4.8, P = 0.041]$, but not of trial $[F_{(1,18)} = 2.0, P = 0.17]$, and interaction between group and trial was not significant $[F_{(1,18)} = 1.2, P = 0.29]$.

Pathological spindle

Spindles were automatically detected from nine electrodes (F3/F4/C3/C4/P3/P4/Fz/Cz/Pz) of each patient. Results validating the algorithm are shown in Supplementary Figure 1. An average value of recall among the nine patients was 0.81 (SD = 0.088), that of precision was 0.88 (SD = 0.074), and that of F-score was 0.85 (SD = 0.073). When we compared the means between patients with IEDs (patients 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, and 8) and those without (patients 4, 6, and 9) by student's t-test, there was no significant difference [recall: 0.78 (95% CI = 0.69-0.87) vs. 0.87 (95% CI = 0.73-1.0), P = 0.11; precision: 0.89 (95% CI = 0.80–0.97) vs. 0.87 (95% CI = 0.73–1.0), P =0.84; F-score: 0.83 (95% CI = 0.75-0.92) vs. 0.87 (95% CI = 0.74–1.0), P = 0.40]. The topography of the mean power and density of all detected spindles including pathological spindles showed symmetric distribution dominant in the centro-parietal region (Supplementary Figure 2), consistent with previous reports (21, 41, 42). The density of all detected spindles had no correlation with age (Supplementary Table 3). Pathological spindles were detected in five of the six patients with IEDs (Patients 1, 2, 3, 5, and 8). Mean pathological spindle density among the five patients was 0.058/min (SD = 0.020/min) in Trial 1 and 0.050/min (SD = 0.017/min) in Trial 2. There was no significant difference between Trials 1 and 2 in the density of all detected spindles and that of pathological spindles for each channel (Supplementary Table 4). In contrast to IEDs, pathological spindles did not necessarily increase uniformly with ASM withdrawal; their pattern of change between Trials 1 and 2 varied among patients and electrodes (Figure 5).

10.3389/fneur.2022.979333

Pathological spindles distributed differently among patients and did not overlap with the seizure onset zone.

The factors associated with sleep-dependent learning effect

We next explored the factors influencing sleep-dependent learning effects in the patient group (Table 1). Since changes in density of IEDs and pathological spindles showed Poisson



The comparison of sleep-dependent learning effect between groups. The mean sleep-dependent learning effect of the patient group was compared with the healthy group for each trial. Box-and-whisker plot is shown here. Starting from the bottom, each line represents the minimum, lower quartile, median, upper quartile, and maximum. Diamonds indicate the 95% confidence interval of each mean. One-sample t-test compared to zero showed significance in Trials 1 [$t_{(10)} = 8.4$, P < 0.0001] and 2 [$t_{(10)} = 5.0$, P = 0.0006] of the healthy group and in Trial 2 of the epilepsy group [$t_{(8)} = 2.7$, P = 0.026], but not in Trial 1 of the epilepsy group [$t_{(8)} = 0.16$, P = 0.87]. HC, healthy controls; Epi, epilepsy patients.

distributions, they were converted to the square root. Changes between trials in duration of NREM sleep ($\beta = -0.19$, 95% CI = -0.41-0.042, P = 0.10), the density of IEDs during NREM sleep ($\beta = 8.1$, 95% CI = -1.7-17.9, P = 0.082), and the density of all detected spindle during NREM sleep (C4: $\beta =$ -9.8, 95% CI = -38.1-18.5, P = 1.0; the details of other channels are shown in Table 1) were not associated with changes in sleep-dependent learning effect. Conversely, changes in the density of pathological spindles in C4 during NREM sleep had a significant negative correlation with changes in sleep-dependent learning effect ($\beta = -634$, 95% CI = -858 to -410, P = 0.013) (Figure 6). The results of other channels are shown in Table 1. When focusing on each trial, no significant direct relationship in absolute values was observed between sleep-dependent learning effect and these explanatory variables (Supplementary Table 5).

Discussion

The present study is one of the few studies that examine sleep-dependent learning effects of motor sequence learning in patients with epilepsy. We found that there was no significant sleep-dependent learning effect in epilepsy patients when ASM was withdrawn to augment epileptic activity. Furthermore, we found that the increase of IED-coupled spindles, rather than IEDs themselves, significantly correlated with the decrease of sleep-dependent learning effect. This is the first attempt to clarify the pathological significance of IED-coupled spindles in humans.

Sleep-dependent learning effect

Motor sequence learning is a procedural memory, and whether this kind of memory is impaired in patients with epilepsy has not been well investigated (43). Recently,



IED-coupled spindles between Trials 1 and 2 varied among patients and electrodes.

	β	95% CI	Р
All patients $(N = 9)$			
Change of NREM sleep duration	-0.19	-0.41, 0.042	0.10
(Trial 1 – Trial 2)			
Change of all spindle density (Trial 1	– Trial 2)		
F3	4.8	-26.9, 36.4	1.0
F4	8	-29.4, 45.4	1.0
C3	-5.2	-35.6, 25.2	1.0
C4	-9.8	-38.1, 18.5	1.0
Р3	-7.4	-27.5, 12.7	1.0
P4	-5.1	-21.0, 10.8	1.0
Fz	8.8	-35.6, 53.2	1.0
Cz	-2.8	-18.0, 12.3	1.0
Pz	-2.9	-27.6, 21.8	1.0
Patients with IEDs $(N = 6)$			
Change of IED density during	8.1	-1.7, 17.9	0.082
NREM sleep (Trial 1 – Trial 2)			
Change of pathological spindle densit	y (Trial 1 – Tri	ial 2)	
F3	-156	-267, -45.5	0.16
F4	101	-36.5, 238.7	1.0
C3	-284	-1,040, 473	1.0
C4	-634	-858, -410	0.01
Р3	-85	-247, 77.0	1.0
P4	-123	-214, -32.5	0.18
Fz	-881	-2,885, 1,122	1.0
Cz	-276	-382, -171	0.01
Pz	-144	-255, -32.8	0.21

TABLE 1 Regression analysis with change in sleep-dependent learning effect (Trial 1 – Trial 2).

Simple regression analysis was conducted of differences between Trials 2 to 1 of sleepdependent learning effect against of NREM sleep duration and all spindle density for all the nine patients, and IED density and pathological spindle density for the six patients with IEDs. The estimate (β), the 95% CI, and P-value are shown here. P-values were corrected by Bonferroni correction. P < 0.05 was considered significant and shown in bold italic.

it has become evident that its sleep-dependent learning effect, especially with regards to spatial component, depends on the hippocampus (44–46); patients with epilepsy with damage to the hippocampus could therefore develop impaired sleep-dependent learning effect. Although the impairment of hippocampus-mediated sleep-dependent memory consolidation has been investigated in the field of declarative memory for patients with focal epilepsy (16), there are still few reports in the field of procedural memory such as motor sequence learning. Deak et al. (31) compared the sleep-dependent learning effects of motor sequence learning between patients with temporal lobe epilepsy and healthy subjects. However, there was no significant difference in learning effect between groups, possibly due to the small number of cases. van Schalkwijk et al. (32) examined

the effect of epileptic seizures on motor sequence learning in patients with focal epilepsy and found that sleep-dependent learning effect was reduced in the group with epileptic seizures. There has been no study, however, on IEDs in relation to sleep-dependent learning effect. ASMs could also affect cognitive function in epilepsy patients (47), but it is difficult to align ASMs across patients because ASMs are selected based on individual clinical backgrounds. Therefore, we performed two separate interventions in the same patient, one during ASM withdrawal and the other during usual doses of ASMs, and compared results between the two interventions against controls using a LMM. Nevertheless, the LMM showed no significant interaction between groups and trials in the present study. Low statistical power may be a possible reason for this because when the number of correctly-typed sequences was compared for each trial, the healthy control group showed higher scores than the patient group in the retest session only in Trial 1 (Figure 3A). Furthermore, we found that patients with epilepsy did not display any significant sleep-dependent learning effect only when ASMs were withdrawn. These results suggest that ASM withdrawal and ensuing enhanced IEDs, rather than the disease itself, could affect the learning effect. In this study, we found a significant correlation between changes in learning effect and those in IED-coupled spindle density. However, because IED-coupled spindles can be affected by age, ASM variety (48) and epilepsy type (49), larger sample size experiments controlling for these factors are needed to discuss the causal relationship between IED-coupled spindles and sleep-dependent learning effect.

Pathological spindles

In an exploratory analysis of factors associated with the changes in sleep-dependent learning effects of motor sequence learning, we found a significant correlation not with the density of IEDs *per se*, but with the density of IED-coupled spindles. This is the first report identifying the pathological significance of IED-coupled spindles in humans. A report that examined the pathological significance of IED-coupled spindles in model rats with temporal lobe epilepsy found an increase in IED-coupled spindles exacerbates memory consolidation impairment (26). The present clinical study affirmed exactly the same results in humans.

Spindles are formed in thalamic reticular nucleus neurons and project to the cortex *via* thalamocortical neurons (50). In NREM sleep, neocortical neurons fire synchronously with the Up state of slow oscillation, which stimulates pacemaker cells in the thalamic reticular nucleus to form a spindle in the thalamus and return it to the neocortex *via* thalamocortical neurons (51–53). These rhythmic and synchronous neural firings consistent with the spindle lead to efficient synaptic excitation of cortical neurons, shaping



synaptic plasticity (52). Hippocampal ripples nesting in the slow oscillation-coupled spindles lead to active consolidation of memory via hippocampal-thalamic-neocortical synchronization (19). This synchronization among the three regions is essential for consolidating memory, and its artificial desynchronization impairs memory in rats (26, 54). Furthermore, spindles are perceived to have a labeling effect to assist subsequent rescaling by slow-wave sleep, in which the synchrony of spindles with the hippocampus and neocortex determines whether the labeled memory will undergo long-term potentiation or long-term depression (55-60). Although most of these findings relate to declarative memory, findings on procedural memory have been accumulating mainly in the field of schizophrenia in recent years. In patients with schizophrenia, the synchronization between spindles and slow oscillations was impaired and its degree associated with the sleep-dependent learning effect of motor sequence learning (61, 62). Moreover, synchronization among hippocampal ripples, spindles and slow oscillations was impaired in a mouse model of schizophrenia (20). Although there have been no studies directly analyzing the relationship between hippocampal ripples and procedural memory, it has been found that the sleep-dependent learning effect of motor sequence learning is impaired in subjects with lesions in the hippocampus (46). These findings suggest that synchronization among hippocampal ripples, thalamic spindles, and neocortical slow oscillations is important for memory consolidation in procedural memory as well as in declarative memory (63-65).

On the other hand, IEDs consist of sudden hypersynchronous firings initiated by the paroxysmal depolarization shifts of pathological cortical neurons and are followed by inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (3). Since direct electrical stimulation of the localized cortex (54, 66), depolarization of specific neurons by optogenetic techniques (55), as well as transcranial electrical and magnetic stimulation (67) can induce cortical spindles, the synchronous cortical firing by IEDs could also induce spindles in the thalamus via thalamocortical neurons (26). However, the erratic nature and timing of spindle formation induced by paroxysmal IEDs would mean they would not be synchronized with neocortical slow oscillations or hippocampal ripples. This could not only interfere with physiological memory consolidation but also promote eliminatory labeling which might debilitate spindle-dependent physiological synaptic plasticity (42, 68-70). Patients in this study who demonstrated an attenuation of sleep-dependent learning effect support this hypothesis. In this study, the harmful effect of IED-coupled spindles was most evident near the motor cortex of the intervening limb (i.e., C4), where the positive impact of physiological spindles on sleep-dependent motor learning is most significant (71-73). This finding might indicate that the replacement of physiological spindles with IED-coupled spindles associated with learning disabilities occur in a region-specific manner, but the confirmation by the further studies with larger sample size are required.

Limitations

There are several limitations in this study. Firstly, ASMs were not uniform among patients because the baseline ASMs and ASMs to be withdrawn were decided based on clinical necessity. Secondly, the number of cases was small, forcing sample ages and epilepsy types to be heterogeneous, because

the study was conducted during the prevalence of COVID-19. The number of patients included in the regression analysis on IED-coupled spindles was further limited to six, leading to low reliability. A study with a larger number of patients with comparable ASMs and ages is desirable. Lastly, because many IEDs and spindles could only be detected by intracranial recordings, we might have underestimated IEDs and IEDcoupled spindles. In the future, we hope to perform similar interventions on patients with intracranial electrodes.

Conclusion

We found that patients with epilepsy showed no significant sleep-dependent learning effect of procedural memory during the ASM withdrawal period. Furthermore, we identified that the decrease of sleep-dependent learning effect significantly correlated with the increase of IED-coupled spindles and not the IEDs themselves. This is the first attempt to elucidate the pathological significance of IED-coupled spindles in humans.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Kyushu University Institutional Review Board for Clinical Research (20192003). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

TO and TU have contributed to the conception and design of the study. TO, TY, TM, AS, KO, HS, and TU have contributed to the acquisition and analysis of data. TO, HS, NI, and TU have contributed to the drafting and revising the

References

1. Loge C, Dimova S, Mueller K, Phillips K, Durgin TL, Wicks P, et al. PatientsLikeMe[®] online epilepsy community: patient characteristics and predictors of poor health-related quality of life. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 63:20–8. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016. 07.035

2. Elger CE, Helmstaedter C, Kurthen M. Chronic epilepsy and cognition. *Lancet Neurol.* (2004) 3:663–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00906-8

manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

HS and TU was supported by a grant from JSPS KAKENHI (Grant No. 19K07964). NI was supported by a grant from JSPS KAKENHI (Grant No. 21K07464).

Acknowledgments

The authors are enormously indebted to the index patient and the nursing and physician staff at each facility at the Kyushu University Hospital, including the Brain Center. We are grateful to our colleague Rinako Shimada at Kyushu University for editing a draft of this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fneur.2022.979333/full#supplementary-material

3. de Curtis M, Avanzini G. Interictal spikes in focal epileptogenesis. Prog Neurobiol. (2001) 63:541-67. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(00)00026-5

4. Gotman J. Quantitative measurements of epileptic spike morphology in the human EEG. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol.* (1980) 48:551– 7. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(80)90290-4

5. Landi S, Petrucco L, Sicca F, Ratto GM. Transient cognitive impairment in epilepsy. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2019) 11:458. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00458

6. Faught E, Karakis I, Drane DL. The impact of interictal discharges on performance. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2018) 18:88. doi: 10.1007/s11910-018-0892-9

7. Fu X, Wang Y, Ge M, Wang D, Gao R, Wang L, et al. Negative effects of interictal spikes on theta rhythm in human temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2018) 87:207–12. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.07.014

8. Höller Y, Trinka E. Is there a relation between EEG-slow waves and memory dysfunction in epilepsy? A critical appraisal. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:341. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00341

9. Dinkelacker V, Xin X, Baulac M, Samson S, Dupont S. Interictal epileptic discharge correlates with global and frontal cognitive dysfunction in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 62:197–203. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016. 07.009

10. Nirkko AC, Bernasconi C, Allmen A, Liechti C, Mathis J, Krestel H. Virtual car accidents of epilepsy patients, interictal epileptic activity, and medication. *Epilepsia.* (2016) 57:832–40. doi: 10.1111/epi.13361

11. Shewmon DA, Erwin RJ. Focal spike-induced cerebral dysfunction is related to the after-coming slow wave. *Ann Neurol.* (1988) 23:131–7. doi: 10.1002/ana.410230205

12. Kleen JK, Scott RC, Holmes GL, Roberts DW, Rundle MM, Testorf M, et al. Hippocampal interictal epileptiform activity disrupts cognition in humans. *Neurology.* (2013) 81:18–24. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182 97ce50

13. Horak PC, Meisenhelter S, Song Y, Testorf ME, Kahana MJ, Viles WD, et al. Interictal epileptiform discharges impair word recall in multiple brain areas. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:373–80. doi: 10.1111/epi.13633

14. Matsumoto JY, Stead M, Kucewicz MT, Matsumoto AJ, Peters PA, Brinkmann BH, et al. Network oscillations modulate interictal epileptiform spike rate during human memory. *Brain.* (2013) 136:2444–56. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt159

15. Ung H, Cazares C, Nanivadekar A, Kini L, Wagenaar J, Becker D, et al. Interictal epileptiform activity outside the seizure onset zone impacts cognition. *Brain.* (2017) 140:2157–68. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx143

16. Fitzgerald Z, Thayer Z, Mohamed A, Miller LA. Examining factors related to accelerated long-term forgetting in epilepsy using ambulatory EEG monitoring. *Epilepsia.* (2013) 54:819–27. doi: 10.1111/epi.12090

17. Lambert I, Tramoni-Negre E, Lagarde S, Roehri N, Giusiano B, Trebuchon-Da Fonseca A, et al. Hippocampal interictal spikes during sleep impact longterm memory consolidation. *Ann Neurol.* (2020) 87:976–87. doi: 10.1002/ana. 25744

18. Galer S, Urbain C, De Tiège X, Emeriau M, Leproult R, Deliens G, et al. Impaired sleep-related consolidation of declarative memories in idiopathic focal epilepsies of childhood. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2015) 43:16–23. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2014.11.032

19. Staresina BP, Bergmann TO, Bonnefond M, van der Meij R, Jensen O, Deuker L. Hierarchical nesting of slow oscillations, spindles and ripples in the human hippocampus during sleep. *Nat Neurosci.* (2015) 18:1679–86. doi: 10.1038/nn.4119

20. Phillips KG, Bartsch U, McCarthy AP, Edgar DM, Tricklebank MD. Wafford KA, et al. Decoupling of sleep-dependent cortical and hippocampal interactions in a neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia. *Neuron.* (2012) 76:526-33. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.09.016

21. Helfrich RF, Mander BA, Jagust WJ, Knight RT, Walker MP. Old brains come uncoupled in sleep: slow wave-spindle synchrony, brain atrophy, and forgetting. *Neuron.* (2017) 97:221–30.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.11.020

22. Boutin A, Doyon J. A sleep spindle framework for motor memory consolidation. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2020) 375:20190232. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0232

23. Fogel SM, Smith CT. The function of the sleep spindle: a physiological index of intelligence and a mechanism for sleep-dependent memory consolidation. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2011) 35:1154–65. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.12.003

24. Dahal P, Ghani N, Flinker A, Dugan P, Friedman D, Doyle W, et al. Interictal epileptic discharges shape large-scale intercortical communication. *Brain.* (2019) 1:3502–13. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz269

25. Ferrillo F, Beelke M, Nobili L. Sleep EEG synchronization mechanisms and activation of interictal epileptic spikes. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2000) 111(Suppl. 2):S65–73. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(00)00404-1

26. Gelinas JN, Khodagholy D, Thesen T, Devinsky O, Buzsáki G. Interictal epileptiform discharges induce hippocampal-cortical coupling in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:641–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.4084

27. Doyon J, Gabitov E, Vahdat S, Lungu O, Boutin A. Current issues related to motor sequence learning in humans. *Curr Opin Behav Sci.* (2018) 20:89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.11.012

28. King BR, Hoedlmoser K, Hirschauer F, Dolfen N, Albouy G. Sleeping on the motor engram: the multifaceted nature of sleep-related motor memory consolidation. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2017) 80:1–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.04.026

29. Debarnot U, Castellani E, Valenza G, Sebastiani L, Guillot A. Daytime naps improve motor imagery learning. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci.* (2011) 11:541– 50. doi: 10.3758/s13415-011-0052-z

30. Genzel L, Dresler M, Wehrle R, Grözinger M, Steiger A. Slow wave sleep and REM sleep awakenings do not affect sleep dependent memory consolidation. *Sleep.* (2009) 32:302–10. doi: 10.1093/sleep/32.3.302

31. Deak MC, Stickgold R, Pietras AC, Nelson AP, Bubrick EJ. The role of sleep in forgetting in temporal lobe epilepsy: a pilot study. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2011) 21:462–6. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.04.061

32. van Schalkwijk FJ, Gruber WR, Miller LA, Trinka E, Höller Y. Investigating the effects of seizures on procedural memory performance in patients with epilepsy. *Brain Sci.* (2021) 11:261. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11020261

33. Koessler L, Cecchin T, Colnat-Coulbois S, Vignal JP, Jonas J, Vespignani H. Catching the invisible: mesial temporal source contribution to simultaneous EEG and SEEG recordings. *Brain Topogr.* (2015) 28:5–20. doi: 10.1007/s10548-014-0417-z

34. Peirce JW. Generating stimuli for neuroscience using psychopy. Front Neuroinform. (2009) 2:10. doi: 10.3389/neuro.11.010.2008

35. Albouy G, Fogel S, Pottiez H, Nguyen VA, Ray L, Lungu O, et al. Daytime sleep enhances consolidation of the spatial but not motoric representation of motor sequence memory. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e52805. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052805

36. Karni A, Meyer G, Rey-Hipolito C, Jezzard P, Adams MM, Turner R, et al. The acquisition of skilled motor performance: fast and slow experiencedriven changes in primary motor cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (1998) 95:861–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.3.861

37. Walker MP, Brakefield T, Hobson JA, Stickgold R. Dissociable stages of human memory consolidation and reconsolidation. *Nature*. (2003) 425:616– 20. doi: 10.1038/nature01930

38. Berry RB, Budhiraja R, Gottlieb DJ, Gozal D, Iber C, Kapur VK, et al. Rules for scoring respiratory events in sleep: update of the 2007 AASM Manual for the scoring of sleep and associated events: deliberations of the sleep apnea definitions task force of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. *J Clin Sleep Med.* (2012) 8:597–619. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.2172

39. Kane N, Acharya J, Benickzy S, Caboclo L, Finnigan S, Kaplan PW, et al. A revised glossary of terms most commonly used by clinical electroencephalographers and updated proposal for the report format of the EEG findings. Revision 2017. *Clin Neurophysiol Pract.* (2017) 2:170–85. doi: 10.1016/j.cnp.2017.07.002

40. Lacourse K, Delfrate J, Beaudry J, Peppard P, Warby SC. A sleep spindle detection algorithm that emulates human expert spindle scoring. *J Neurosci Methods*. (2019) 316:3–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2018.08.014

41. Zeitlhofer J, Gruber G, Anderer P, Asenbaum S, Schimicek P, Saletu B. Topographic distribution of sleep spindles in young healthy subjects. *J Sleep Res.* (1997) 6:149–55. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2869.1997.00046.x

42. Boly M, Jones B, Findlay G, Plumley E, Mensen A, Hermann B. Altered sleep homeostasis correlates with cognitive impairment in patients with focal epilepsy. *Brain.* (2017) 140:1026–40. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx017

43. Hoppe C, Elger CE, Helmstaedter C. Long-term memory impairment in patients with focal epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2007) 48(Suppl. 9):26–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2007.01397.x

44. Albouy G, Sterpenich V, Balteau E, Vandewalle G, Desseilles M, Dang-Vu T. Both the hippocampus and striatum are involved in consolidation of motor sequence memory. *Neuron.* (2008) 58:261–72. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.02.008

45. Albouy G, King BR, Maquet P, Doyon J. Hippocampus and striatum: dynamics and interaction during acquisition and sleep-related motor sequence memory consolidation. *Hippocampus.* (2013) 23:985–1004. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22183

46. Schapiro AC, Reid AG, Morgan A, Manoach DS, Verfaellie M, Stickgold R. The hippocampus is necessary for the consolidation of a task that does not require the hippocampus for initial learning. *Hippocampus*. (2019) 29:1091–100. doi: 10.1002/hipo.23101

47. Lin JJ, Mula M, Hermann BP. Uncovering the neurobehavioural comorbidities of epilepsy over the lifespan. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:1180–92. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61455-X

48. Jain SV, Glauser TA. Effects of epilepsy treatments on sleep architecture and daytime sleepiness: an evidence-based review of objective sleep metrics. *Epilepsia.* (2014) 55:26–37. doi: 10.1111/epi.12478

49. Garg D, Charlesworth L, Shukla G. Sleep and temporal lobe epilepsy - associations, mechanisms and treatment implications. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2022) 16:849899. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2022.849899

50. Steriade M. Sleep, epilepsy and thalamic reticular inhibitory neurons. *Trends Neurosci.* (2005) 28:317–24. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2005.03.007

51. Crunelli V, Hughes SW. The slow (<1 Hz) rhythm of non-REM sleep: a dialogue between three cardinal oscillators. *Nat Neurosci.* (2010) 13:9-17. doi: 10.1038/nn.2445

52. Steriade M. Grouping of brain rhythms in corticothalamic systems. Neuroscience. (2006) 137:1087-106. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.10.029

53. Mak-McCully RA, Rolland M, Sargsyan A, Gonzalez C, Magnin M, Chauvel P. Coordination of cortical and thalamic activity during non-REM sleep in humans. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:15499. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15499

54. Maingret N, Girardeau G, Todorova R, Goutierre M, Zugaro M. Hippocampo-cortical coupling mediates memory consolidation during sleep. *Nat Neurosci.* (2016) 19:959–64. doi: 10.1038/nn.4304

55. Latchoumane CV, Ngo HV, Born J, Shin HS. Thalamic spindles promote memory formation during sleep through triple phase-locking of cortical, thalamic, and hippocampal rhythms. *Neuron*. (2017) 95:424–35.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.06.025

56. Diekelmann S, Born J. The memory function of sleep. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2010) 11:114-26. doi: 10.1038/nrn2762

57. Niethard N, Born J. Back to baseline: sleep recalibrates synapses. Nat Neurosci. (2019) 22:149–51. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0327-6

58. Rasch B, Born J. About sleep's role in memory. *Physiol Rev.* (2013) 93:681–766. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00032.2012

59. Rosanova M, Ulrich D. Pattern-specific associative long-term potentiation induced by a sleep spindle-related spike train. *J Neurosci.* (2005) 25:9398–405. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2149-05.2005

60. Tononi G, Cirelli C. Sleep and the price of plasticity: from synaptic and cellular homeostasis to memory consolidation and integration. *Neuron.* (2014) 81:12–34. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.12.025

61. Demanuele C, Bartsch U, Baran B, Khan S, Vangel MG, Cox R, et al. Coordination of slow waves with sleep spindles predicts sleep-dependent memory consolidation in schizophrenia. *Sleep*. (2017) 40:zsw013. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsw013

62. Mylonas D, Baran B, Demanuele C, Cox R, Vuper TC, Seicol BJ, et al. The effects of eszopiclone on sleep spindles and memory consolidation in schizophrenia: a randomized clinical trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology.* (2020) 45:2189–97. doi: 10.1038/s41386-020-00833-2

63. Marshall L, Born J. The contribution of sleep to hippocampusdependent memory consolidation. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2007) 11:442– 50. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2007.09.001

64. Born J, Wilhelm I. System consolidation of memory during sleep. *Psychol Res.* (2012) 76:192–203. doi: 10.1007/s00426-011-0335-6

65. Manoach DS, Mylons D, Baxer B. Targeting sleep oscillations to improve memory in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 221:63–70. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.01.010

66. Blumenfeld H, McCormick DA. Corticothalamic inputs control the pattern of activity generated in thalamocortical networks. *J Neurosci.* (2000) 20:5153–62. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-13-05153.2000

67. Ladenbauer J, Ladenbauer J, Külzow N, de Boor R, Avramova E, Grittner U, et al. Promoting sleep oscillations and their functional coupling by transcranial stimulation enhances memory consolidation in mild cognitive impairment. *J Neurosci.* (2017) 37:7111–24. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0260-17.2017

68. Werk CM, Harbour VL, Chapman CA. Induction of long-term potentiation leads to increased reliability of evoked neocortical spindles in vivo. *Neuroscience.* (2005) 131:793–800. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.12.020

69. Clemens Z, Mölle M, Eross L, Barsi P, Halász P, Born J. Temporal coupling of parahippocampal ripples, sleep spindles and slow oscillations in humans. *Brain.* (2007) 130:2868–78. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm146

70. Beenhakker MP, Huguenard JR. Neurons that fire together also conspire together: is normal sleep circuitry hijacked to generate epilepsy? *Neuron.* (2009) 62:612–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.05.015

71. Barakat M, Doyon J, Debas K, Vandewalle G, Morin A, Poirier G, et al. Fast and slow spindle involvement in the consolidation of a new motor sequence. *Behav Brain Res.* (2011) 217:117–21. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.10.019

72. Fogel SM, Smith CT. Learning-dependent changes in sleep spindles and Stage 2 sleep. J Sleep Res. (2006) 15:250–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2006.00522.x

73. Nishida M, Walker MP. Daytime naps, motor memory consolidation and regionally specific sleep spindles. *PLoS ONE.* (2007) 2:e341. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000341

Frontiers in Neurology

Explores neurological illness to improve patient care

The third most-cited clinical neurology journal explores the diagnosis, causes, treatment, and public health aspects of neurological illnesses. Its care.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



